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> END MARKET USE:
steel
non-ferrous

based roducls and services, a position built on
over 100 vears ol experience in the research and

> END MARKET USE:
aluminum

> END MARKET USE:
semiconductor
transportation
power storage
aerospace
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> END MARKET USE:
electronics
transportation
fluid sealing
fire protection
fuel cell power generation *

> END MARKET USE:

silicon
phosphorous

GrafTech International is organized in 3 distinct lines ferro-alloys

of business. Each line of business groups together iron

those product lines that share common raw

materials, production facilities, and customers. This

aligns our production capabilities and resources with

market opportunities, increases productivity and

streamlines the Company’s structure.




SYNTHET RAPHIT NE OF BUSIN

| GRAPHITE ELECTRODES
sraphite electrodes are key components in the conductive power systems used In the production of steel in elec-

sector of the steel industry. n
.-m ng su |C|ent eat to melt scrap metal and other raw materials. There 1s currently no commer-

Eially viable substitute Tor graphite electrodes in e ectric arc furnaces. Graphite electrodes are also usead to retine
Steel in ladle turnaces and in other smelting processes.

iU ATHODE

IPIOH:I'KJM our expertise In graphite technology and high temperature industnal applications together wi
the technology of our strategic partner, Alcan, the world’s leading provider of aluminum smelting technology,

EMelting rurnaces in the aluminum industry because they allow for substantial improvements in process efficiency.

LADVANCED GRAPHITE MATERIALS

bther Industries.

TRONIC IHERMAL MANAGEMENT PRODUCTS
FUEL CELL MATERIALS & COMPONENTS |
ASKET AND SEALING PRODUCTS
the patural graphite line of business develops highly engineered products tor high growth markets. Our products
®

BNVIFoNMents ir = automo lve emical and petrochemical markets.

| CARBON ELECTRODES
l'_
mm es are key components in the conductive power systems necessary to produce ferro-nickel,

G manner similar to that of graphite electrodes aithough at lower tempera ures and with different consumption rates.

=E CA
Walls of bla rnaces. submerged arc furnaces, and cupolas against thermal, mechanical, and chemical attack.
e are manutacturer of hot-pressed carbon and semi-graphite brick and we make the largest carbon
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Craig S. Shular
Chief Executive Officer and President
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2003—IN REVIEW

We set out five major objectives for 2003—return to prof-
tability, reduce debt, sell non-strategic assets, commer-
clalize advantaged technologies and achieve cost savings
targets. Our team successiully delivered on each one of
these objectives.

RETURN TO PROFITABILITY

GrafTech increased its total revenues by approximately
20% to $712 million in 2003. Profitability improved signifi-
cantly to net income of $16 milion™ before non-recurring
items in 2003 as compared to a net loss of $14 million®
before non-recurring items in 2002, Net loss as reported
was $24 milion in 2003 as compared to a loss of $18
million in 2002,

The improvements were driven by higher graphite elec-
trode sales volume and prices and cost savings initiatives.
With supply demand conditions tight in our graphite elec-
trode business in 2003, average seling prices increased
by 12 percent. We also expanded capacity at our world
class, low cost plant In Mexico, which facilitated increas-
ing our graphite electrode sales volume by 11 percent to
200,500 metric tons versus 2002, As a result of the
increased sales volume, we increased our market share in
the global graphite electrode market to about 21 percent
from 19 percent in 2002.

DeBT REDUCTION AND ASSET SALES

In the fourth quarter, we executed a successful equity issue,
raising net proceeds of $190 milion, which were utiized to
pay down debt. We also executed other debt reduction
actions during the year, which included $24 milion of non-
strategic asset sales and the exchange of equity for $55
milion of our 10.25% senior notes. As a result of these
actions, we strengthened our financial position and ended
2003 with net debt of $483 milion® (iotal debt of $503
million), the lowest in our history as a public company.

COMMERCIALIZE ADVANTAGED
TECHNOLOGIES

We made progress in our efforts to commercialize our
advantaged technologies. Our electronic thermal manage-
ment (ETM) sales revenues grew as a result of obtaining
orders from industry leadérs such as Sony, Samsung,
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Hitachi, IBM, and Inte!, ETM revenues were $2 million in
2003, as compared to $500 thousand in 2002. We were
successiul in penetrating diverse applications such as lap-
top computers, cell phones, digital cameras and flat
screen plasma televisions.

One of our ETM products received R&D Magazine's pres-
tigious R&D 100 Award in 2003. Each year, this award
recognizes the top 100 most technologically significant
products and advancements in the world, across all
industries, that exhibit a step change In performance in the
markets they serve.

in addition, we obtaired $1.4 milion In cash grants from
the State of Ohio to support the commercialization of
GrafTech's fuel cell technologies. We will use the grants
primarily to develop high volume manufacturing processes
for flow field plates utilizing our proprietary GRAFCELL®
advanced natural graphite. In 2003, our sales 1o the fuel
cell industry were approximately $1.5 million.

CosT SAVINGS PROGRAM

Under our cost savings program, we achieved $19 million
of cost savings in 2003, despite increasing energy and
raw material costs over the course of the year. We met this
goal, in part, by taking several actions to position our
Company for long-term competitiveness and profitability.
Among other actions, we:

e Completed the expansion of our Monterey, Mexico
graphite electrode manufacturing capacity from 40,000
metric ons to 680,000 metric tons. This is the largest
graphite electrode facility in the world and provides us with
a low cost facility to meet the large demand in NAFTA.

Return to Profitability

Debt Reduction

Commercialize Electronic
Thermal Management
Products

$16 million Cost
Savings Goal

Sell Non-Strategic Assets

2003 Objectives

Achievement

\/ Increased net income"?
before non-recurring items
by $30 million

\/ Net debt reduced from
$706 million* in 2002 to
$483 million® in 2003

\/ Sales increased from
$500 thousand to
$2 million, forecasted to

grow to $8 million in 2004 .

|
l
\/ $19 million achieved }

\/ $24 million sold

e Completed several productivity improverment programs in
our global production facilities, which allow us to reduce

cycle time, lower scrap rates and increase volume.
e |nitiated and completed voluntary and selective sever-
ance pragrams in the U.S., which reduced our salaried

workforce Dy 27 percent,

e Froze the U.S. and other non-U.S. defined benefit
pension plans and replaced these plans with efficient

defined contribution plans.

e |n the U.S., redesigned our healthcare benefit plans for
both active employees and retirees.

W GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD.
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On the cost savings front, we maintain a relentless com-
mitment to continuous productivity improvements and
plan to deliver approximately 360 milion of cumulative
recurring annual pretax cost savings by the end of 2004.
Key components of our cost savings initiatives for 2004
include variable cost reductions, plant productivity
programs, and interest, tax and overhead reductions.

SYNTHETIC GRAPHITE BUSINESS

Qur strategy for the synthetic graphite business is to con-
tinue to grow the sustainable competitive advantages we
have built as the world's largest manufacturer of graphite
electrodes and cathodes.

Graphite electrodes and cathodes, which constituted
about 80 percent of total Company sales in 2003, are
products essential to the production of electric arc furnace

EAF STeEeL PRODUCTION
MILLIONS OF METRIC TONS
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steel and aluminum. In 2003, we had the largest global
market share for these products. We have built a
uniquely positioned giobal manufacturing network, which
we believe cannot be replicated. We believe that our net-
work has the fargest manufacturing capacity, has cne of
the lowest manufacturing cost structures of all our major
competitors and delivers the highest tevel guality prod-
ucts. Over the last few vears, we have repositioned our
production platform. We shut down four of our higher
cost graphite electrode manufacturing facllities and rede-
ployed capacity 1o our six remaining, lower cost facilities.
The repositioning of our network allows us to deliver the
same graphite electrode sales volume that we delivered
over the past few years with a lower fixed cost base,
During 2003, with the completed expansion of our pro-
duction capacity in Mexico and ongoing productivity pro-
grams, we successfully increased our graphite electrode

ALUMINUM PRODUCTION
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2003 VERSUS 2002: NET SALES 1 20%. . .NET INCOME"? 4 $30 MILLI

{before non-recurring items)
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production capability from 190,000 metric tons to more
than 220,000 metric tons.

ANNUAL CUMULATIVE
CosT SAVINGS PROGRAM

We believe that our unigue global manufacturing net-
work provides us with significant advantages in costs, - 280

proximity to customers, timely and rellable delivery and T
$60
833 '

operational flexibility. This also allows us to best satisfy

the requirements of our large growing customers creat-
ed by the continuing consolidation trend in the steel and
aluminum industries,
‘03 ‘04E  0BE

In 2003, each of our six graphite electrode plants set
production records while at the same time achieving
record safety performance.

314

02

Our products and services are among the highest quality
available in the iIndustry. We believe that improvements in
overall guality create significant efficiencies for us, provide
us the opportunity to increase sales and market share,

and deliver production efficiencies for our customers.
QOur intellectual property portfolio is extensive, with over

310 U.S. and foreign patents and 280 U.S. and foreign
pending patent applications, which we believe is more

ADVANTAGED TECHNOLOGIES
Based on over 100 years of experience, we believe that

we are the industry leader in graphite and carbon mate-
rials sclence and high temperature processing know-
how and that we operate the premier research, develop-
ment and testing facilities in our industry. Our capability
and technology In this area has enabled us to develop
new products 1o exploit fast growing markets like
electronic thermal management and fuel cells.

than any of our major competitors. Among our competi-
tors, we hold the largest number of patents for natural
graphite as well as the largest number of patents relating
to the use of natural graphite for PEM fuel cell applica-
tions. Over one third of our patents were granted during
the past four years.

RAPHITE ELECTRODE VOLUME 1" 1 1 %. . .GRAPHITE ELECTRODE PRICES 1 12%

GRATTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD.
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Our eGRAF® thermal management prod-
ucts are designed to manage the increasing
thermal needs of today’s electronics
market. As electronic devices continue to
decrease in size,

heat dissipation

becomes a more critical variable in elec-

HDroves prog

CTROHNIC THERVIAL MANACGEMENT PRCDUCTS~—
TMAL INTERFACE, SPREADERS AND HEAT siNKs

F® natural graphite products provide value-added solutions to the heat dissipation challenges of the

electronics industry. Overall, electronic devices continue to increase in power, generating more heat, which

must be managed in increasingly smaller applications. Our e GRAF® products compete primarily with copper

and aluminum products. eGRAF® products match the thermal performance of copper, which is currently the

mast frequently used solution for demanding applications, but weigh about 80 percent less than copper and

are significantly lower in cost. Relative to aluminum, our products are cost competitive, have significantly better

thermal performance and are about 30 percent lighter.

ELECTRONIC THERMAL
MANAGEMENT

QOur strategy is to work with electronics industry leaders o
develop customized thermal management solutions for
their most demanding applications. Electronics manufac-
turers are currently experiencing constraints in the develop-
ment of more advanced devices because of the Imitations
of current thermal management products and technologies
o dissipate the higher levels of heat generated. We have
developed and are continuing to develop and introduce
highly engineered advanced natural graphite products that
salisty this need. We expect that the superior abllity of our
products to manage heat wil allow our customers to
redesign electronic devices 1o reduce cost, size and
weight while improving performance.

We Increased ETM revenues to over $2 million in 2003
versus $500 thousand in 2002, More importantly, we
expect the ETM business to grow to $8 million in 2004 as
our commercialization efforts continue.

We believe that the global thermal management compo-
nent market for computers, servers, telavisions, cell
phones, and other communications, industrial, military,
office and automotive eguipment is an estimated $1.8
bilion today. We are targeting the most demanding
applications where we can provide to our customers
value-added solutions that exceed the performance of
existing heat dissipation products. Our target market is
approximately $3C0 million today and growing at an
estimated 20 percent per year, offering us significant
opportunity for growth.

FuerL CELLS

Fuel cells continue to be an impartant part of our long-term
growth strategy. We are the leading manufacturer of naiu-
ral graphite products for proton exchange membrans
(PEM) fuel celis and fuel cell systems. We manufacture
GRAFCELL® flow field plates and gas diffusion layers for
transportation, stationary and portable fuel cell applications.




| R&D 100 AWARE
—mmn BAF® thermal interface for use in applications for S Bl

FOR cGRAR® REAT SINKS

This prestigious award recognized one

of our eGRAF® thermal management

aNd IBM's new high-end eatta Unix Servers
heceived prestigious -

products, which is used to dissipate heat

EINK technolog in electronics applications.

santaged Technologies

represent about 85 percent of the fuel cell vehicles
expected to be operational worldwide by the end of 2004,

LOOKING AHEAD

In 2004, we expect significant eamings and cash flow
improvement over 2003 levels. We have executed graphite
electrode price increases for 2004 and expect sales vol-
ume growth of about 5 percent over 2003, We believe that
improved profitability and cash flow will also be achieved as
we progress towards our goal of $80 million in cumulative
recurring annual pretax cost savings by the end of 2006.

We continue 1o work with our strategic partner, Ballard

Power Systems, the world leader in PEM fuel cells, under
our exclusive development and collaboration agreement
that continues through 20171 and our exclusive product
supply agreement that continues through 2016. Three of
Ballard's customers, DaimlerChrysler, Ford and Honda,
have begun to introduce worldwide fleet demonstrations
of 150 fuel cell vehicles, powered by Ballard® fuel cells
which use our GRAFCELL® products. These 180 vehicles

We expect 1o face pressure from higher raw material and
energy costs this year; however, we will direct our cost
savings efforts to work towards mitigating these impacts.

We are excited about ocur growth opportunities in elec-
tronic thermal management and look forward 1o reporting
further progress throughout the year as we continue to
grow our business with industry leaders,

In January, we took advantage of the convertible bond
market and further strengthened our financial position by
executing a $225 milion convertible debenture issue with
a 1.625% coupon,

At GrafTech, our global culture is unified by a commitment
to operational excellence that is responsive 1o the ever-
changing challenges and needs of our customers. We have
worked very hard to build our position as the #1 global, low
cost producer in our major businesses. Our indusiry-lead-
ing position and our embedded philosophies of superior
quality, service and reliability are the foundation for future
growtn. We are committed to enhancing shareholder value

~N GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD
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by building upon this advantaged position and managing our On behalf of the Board of Directors and our management
businesses to deliver maximum long-term cash flow growth. team, we would like to thank our stakeholders for their
support during the past year.
In conclusion, we would like to thank our employees and
their families for their contributions and sacrifices that Sincerely,
made 2003 a success. Their commitment enabled us to
meet our annual goais and estaplish a solid foundation for C ‘ % . gMa&
GrafTech'’s future growth.
Craig S. Shular
Chief Executive Officer and President
March 15, 2004

(1) Caloculated beginning with the 2003 net loss, as reporied in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), of $24
milion, plus $19 million ($27 milion before tax) of restructuring and impairment charges and $29 million (832 million before tax) of charges for
antitrust investigations and related lawsuits and claims, less $7 milion ($12 million before tax) of other (income) expense, net, and $1 million
gain on disconinued operations.

(2) Calculated beginning with the 2002 net loss, as reported in accordance with GAAP, of $18 milion, plus $16 milion $23 milion before tax) of
restructuring and impairment charges, less $8 million of special tax beneft associated with GrafTech's legal and tax restructuring and $6 million
($2 milion beiore tax) of other (income) expense, net.

(3) Calculated beginning with December 31, 2003 toial debt as reported in accordance with GAAP of $502 milion of long-term debt and 31 million
of short-term debt, plus $18 million fair value of hedged debt obligation, less $4 milion of unameritized bond premium and §34 milion of cash
and cash eguivalents.

(4) Calculated beginning with December 31, 2002 total debt as reported in accordance with GAAP of $713 million of long term debt and $18 mil-
lion of short term debt, less $8 million fair value of hedged debt obligation, $6 milion of unamoritized bond premium and $171 milion of cash
and cash equivalents.
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

FOR ANNUAL AND TRANSITION REPORTS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

{Mark One)
®E ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934 for the transition period from to

Commission file number: 1-13888

GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 06-1385548
(State or other jurisdiction of (L.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

1521 Concord Pike ]
Brandywine West, Suite 301
Wilmington, Delaware 19803

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (302) 778-8227

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common stock, par value $.01 per share New York Stock Exchange
Preferred Share Purchase Rights New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes & No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2).
Yes @ No O

The aggregate market value of our outstanding common stock held by non-affiliates, computed by reference to the
closing price of our common stock on June 30, 2003, was approximately $332 million. On February 27, 2004, 93,735,669
shares of our common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information required under Part IIT is incorporated by reference from the GrafTech International Ltd. Proxy
.Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 26, 2004, which will be filed on or about April 14,
2004.
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PARTI
Preliminary Notes

Important Terms. We use the following terms to identify various matters. These terms
help to simplify the presentation of information in this Report.

“AET” refers to Advanced- Energy Technology Inc only. AET is our 97 5% owned
subsidiary engaged in the development, manufacture and sale of natural graphite
products. Prior to January 1, 2003, AET was named Graftech Inc.

“Carbone Savoie” refers to Carbone Savoie S.A.S. and its subsidiaries. Carbone Savoie
is our 70% owned subsidiary engaged in the development, manufacture and sale of
cathodes.

“Common stock” means GTI common stock, par value $.01 per share.

“Debt Securities” means our 10.25% senior notes due 2012 (the “Senior Notes™) and
~our 1 5/8% convertible senior debentures due 2024 (the “Debentures™) . The Senior
~ Notes were issued under an Indenture dated February 15, 2002 (as supplemented, the
- “Senior Note Indenture”). The Debentures were issued under an Indenture dated
- January 22, 2004 (the “Debenture Indenture”). .

“GrafTech Finance” refers to GrafTech Finance Inc. only. GrafTech Finance is a direct
wholly owned, special purpose finance subsidiary of GTI and the borrower under our
principal senior secured bank credit facilities (as amended, the “Senior Facilities™),
‘'which includes our principal revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Facility”).
. GrafTech Finance is the issuer of the Senior Notes and a guarantor of the Debentures.
“Prior to- June 7, 2002, GrafTech Finance was named UCAR Finance Inc.

“GrafTech Global” refers to GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc. only. GrafTech Global is
a direct wholly owned subsidiary of GTI and the direct or indirect holding company for
all of our operating subsidiaries. GrafTech Global is a guarantor of the Senior Notes, the
Debentures and the Senior Facilities. Prior to June 7, 2002, GrafTech Global Enterprrses
Inc. was named UCAR Global Enterprises Inc.. .

“GTI” refers to GrafTech International Ltd. only. GTI is our public parent company and
the issuer of the Debentures and our publicly traded common stock and the related
preferred share purchase rights registered under the Exchange Act and listed on the
NYSE. GTI is a guarantor of the Senior Notes and the Senior Facilities. Prior to our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders for 2002, GTI was named UCAR International Inc.

“Subsidiaries” refers to those companies that, at the relevant time, are or were majority

- owned or wholly owned directly or indirectly by GTI or its predecessors to the extent that
those predecessors’ activities related to the graphite and carbon business. All of GTI’s
subsidiaries have been wholly owned (with de minimis exceptions in the case of certain




foreign subsidiaries) from at least January 1, 2000 through December 31, 2003, except
for: ‘

e (Carbone Savoie, which has been and is 70% owned; and
e AET, which was 100% owned until it became 97.5% owned in June 2001.

Our 100% owned Brazilian cathode manufacturing operations were contributed to
Carbone Savoie and, as a result, became 70% owned on March 31, 2001.

“UCAR Carbon” refers to UCAR Carbon Company Inc. only. UCAR Carbon is our
wholly owned subsidiary through which we conduct most of our U.S. operations. UCAR
~ Carbon is a guarantor of the Senior Notes, the Debentures and the Senior Facilities.

“We,” “us” or “our” refers to GTI and its subsidiaries collectively or, if the context so
requires, GTI, GrafTech Global or GrafTech Finance, individually.

Presentation of Financial, Market and Legal Data. We present our financial
information on a consolidated basis. This means that we consolidate financial information for all
subsidiaries where our ownership is greater than 50%. As a result, the financial information for
Carbone Savoie and AET is consolidated on each line of the Consolidated Financial Statements
and the equity of the other owners in those subsidiaries is reflected on the lines entitled “minority
stockholders’ equity in consolidated entities” and “minority stockholders’ share of income.” We
use the equity method to account for 50% or less owned interests, including our 25% owned joint
venture in China with Jilin Carbon Co. Ltd. (together with its affiliates, “Jilin”).

All financial information at and for periods ended on or before December 31, 2002 has
been restated to reflect changes in accounting for reportable segments (as required by Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 131 to reflect changes in the organization of
our businesses effective January 2003), accounting for discontinued operations (as required by
SFAS No. 144 to reflect the sale of our non-strategic composite tooling business in June 2003)
and reclassification of extraordinary items and corresponding adjustments to provisions for
income taxes (as required by SFAS No. 145, which we adopted effective January 2003). All
financial information at and for periods ended on subsequent dates was originally and is
currently being reported on the same basis as the restated financial information. The restatement
does not change previously reported consolidated net income, basic or diluted earnings per share,
consolidated total assets or liabilities, or consolidated cash flows from operating activities,
investment activities or financial activities.

References to cost in the context of our low cost advantages and strategies do not include
the impact of special or non-recurring charges, expenses or credits, such as those related to
investigations, lawsuits, claims, restructurings or impairments, or the impact of changes in
accounting principles.

The legal and tax restructuring and global realignment mentioned in this Report are part
of the corporate realignment of our subsidiaries. The tax benefits from the realignment have
been recorded separately from expenses to implement the realignment (which are included in
other (income) expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations).




Unless otherwise noted, when we refer to dollars, we mean U.S. dollars.

All cost savings and reductions relating to our 1998 enhanced global restructuring and
rationalization plan are estimates based on a comparison, with respect to provision for income
taxes, to costs in 1998 or, for all other costs, to costs in the 1998 fourth quarter (annualized).
Calculation of cost savings under the 1998 plan includes the effects of changes in currency
exchange rates and production levels. All cost savings and reductions relating to our 2002 major
cost savings plan are estimates or targets based on a comparison to costs in 2001. For purposes
of calculating the cost savings related to the 2002 plan, savings relating to graphite electrode
production cost per metric ton are determined based on annual graphite electrode production
volume of about 180,000 metric tons and certain other savings are determined based on annual -
overhead costs (which includes research and development expense, but excludes variable
compensation expense) of $90 million, annual interest expense of $60 million and an effective
income tax rate of 45% (before taking into account the corporate realignment of our
subsidiaries). These amounts approximate actual amounts in 2001. Calculation of cost savings
under the 2002 plan excludes the effects of the changes in currency exchange rates between the
euro and the dollar, but includes the effects of changes in currency exchange rates between other
currencies and includes the effects of changes in production levels.

" References to spot prices for graphite electrodes mean prices under individual purchase
orders (not part of an annual or other extended purchase arrangement) for near term delivery for
use in large steel melting electric arc furnaces (as distinct from, for example, a ladle furnace or a
furnace producing non-ferrous metals).

Neither any statement made in this Report nor any charge taken by us relating to any
legal proceedings constitutes an admission as to any wrongdoing.

Unless otherwise specifically noted, market and market share data in this Report are our
own estimates. Market data relating to the steel, aluminum, electronics, semiconductor,
transportation, petrochemical and other metals industries, our general expectations concerning
such industries and our market position and market share within such industries, both
domestically and internationally, are derived from trade publications relating to those industries
and other industry sources as well as assumptions made by us, based on such data and our
knowledge of such industries. Market data relating to the fuel cell power generation industry,

- our general expectations concerning such industry and our market position and market share
within such industry, both domestically and internationally, are derived from publications by
securities analysts relating to Ballard Power Systems Inc., other industry sources and public
filings, press releases and other public documents of Ballard Power Systems as well as
assumptions made by.us, based on such data and our knowledge of the industry. Market and
market share data relating to the graphite and carbon industry as well as cost information relating
to our competitors, our general expectations concerning such industry and our market position
and market share within such industry, both domestically and internationally, are derived from
the sources described above and public filings, press releases and other public documents of our
competitors as well as assumptions made by us, based on such data and our knowledge of such
industry. Our estimates involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on
various factors, including those discussed under “Forward Looking Statements and Risks™ in this
Report. We cannot guarantee the accuracy or completeness of this market and market share data




and have not independently verified it. None of the sources mentioned above has consented to
the disclosure or use of data in this Report.

Unless otherwise noted, references to “market shares” are based on sales volumes in
2003, to “major product lines” mean graphite electrodes, cathodes and natural graphite
products, and to “natural graphite products” does not include mined natural graphite flake.

Unless otherwise noted, references to “capacity utilization rates” for the graphite
electrode industry refer to actual or effective annual manufacturing capacity as opposed to
theoretical or rated annual manufacturing capacity and references to capacity utilization rates in
excess of 95% mean maximum or virtually maximum operating levels or utilization rates. In
determining capacity utilization rates, we have used an average of available capacity during the
course of the relevant year.

The GRAFTECH logo, GRAFCELL®, eGRAF®, GRAFOIL®, GRAF GUARD®,
GRAFSHIELD® and SpreaderShield™ are our trademarks and trade names. This Report also
contains trademarks and trade names belonging to other parties.

We make available, free of charge, on or through our web site, copies of our proxy
statements, our annual reports on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file
them with, or furnish them to, the SEC. We maintain a web site at http://www.graftech.com.
The information contained on our web site is not part of this Report.




Item 1. Business
Introduction

We are one of the world’s largest manufacturers and providers of high quality synthetic
and natural graphite and carbon products and related technical and research and development
services. We manufacture graphite electrodes and cathodes, products essential to the production
of electric arc furnace steel and aluminum. We also manufacture thermal management, fuel cell
and other specialty graphite and carbon products for, and provide services to, the electronics,
power generation, semiconductor, transportation, petrochemical and other metals markets. We
have 13 state-of-the-art manufacturing facilities strategically located on four continents, in more
diverse locations than the facilities of any of our competitors. We have customers in about 60 - -
countries, including industry leaders such as Arcelor, Nucor and Bao Steel in steel, Alcoa,
Pechiney and Alcan in aluminum, Cisco, IBM and Intel in electronics, MEMC Electronic
Materials in semiconductors and Ballard Power Systems in fuel cells.

We have the largest share of the worldwide market for electrodes and cathodes. We have
a uniquely positioned global manufacturing network, which we believe cannot be replicated by
any of our competitors due to the capital investment, technology and process know-how required
to do so. We believe that our network has the largest manufacturing capacity, has one of the
lowest manufacturing cost structures of all of our major competitors and delivers the highest
level quality products. Over the last few years, we have rationalized our graphite electrode and
cathode facilities and redeployed capacity to larger facilities in lower cost countries. This allows
us to achieve significant increases in.productivity and -output from our existing assets, including
economies of scale and other cost savings that we believe will increase as we grow our sales.
We believe that our network provides us with the operational flexibility to source customer
orders from the facility that optimizes our profitability and, with the continuing consolidation in
the steel and aluminum industries, provides us a significant growth opportunity in serving larger
multi-plant global customers.

We believe that we are the industry leader in graphite and carbon materials science and
high temperature processing know-how, and that we operate the premier research, development
and testing facilities in our industry. We have over 100 years of experience in the research and
development of these technologies, and our intellectual property portfolio is extensive.

We believe that our technological capabilities for developing products with superior
thermal, electrical and physical characteristics provide a differentiating advantage. These’
capabilities have enabled us to accelerate development and commercialization of our -
technologies to exploit markets with high growth potential for us, including products for
electronic thermal management and fuel cell applications.

We have developed, over the past two years, natural graphite electronic thermal
management products and secured product approvals and purchase commitments from a wide
range of industry leaders, such as Cisco, IBM and Intel, based on superior thermal performance,
weight, adaptability and cost characteristics as compared to alternative products. Thermal
management products are designed to dissipate heat generated by electronic devices. We expect
demand for our products to grow as industry trends continue toward smaller, more powerful
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electronic devices that generate more heat and require more advanced thermal management
solutions.

We are the leading manufacturer of natural graphite products for proton exchange
membrane (“PEM”) fuel cells and fuel cell systems. Fuel cells provide environmentally friendly
electrical power generation. We expect continued commercialization of fuel cells, encouraged
by current governmental programs and driven by concerns relating to the U.S. electrical power
grid, environmental protection, foreign oil dependency and other factors. We estimate that the
market for our fuel cell products in 2012 will exceed $500 million. About 85% of the 175 fuel
cell vehicles that were operational worldwide in 2003 and are expected to be operational in 2004
were or will be powered by Ballard Power Systems fuel cells. Our products are essential
components of those fuel cells. Ballard Power Systems, the world leader in PEM fuel cells, is
our strategic partner under an exclusive product supply agreement that continues through 2016
and an exclusive collaboration agreement that continues through 2011.

Lines of Business. We have three lines of business: synthetic graphite; natural graphite;
and advanced carbon materials. Synthetic graphite constitutes its own reportable segment, and
natural graphite and advanced carbon materials together constitute our other reportable segment.
See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for certain financial information regarding
our reportable segments.

Synthetic Graphite. Our synthetic graphite line of business manufactures and delivers
high quality graphite electrodes, cathodes and advanced synthetic graphite products as well as
related services. Electrodes and cathodes are key components of the conductive power systems
used to produce steel, aluminum and other non-ferrous metals. Advanced synthetic graphite
products include primary and specialty products for transportation, semiconductor and other
markets. We believe there is currently no commercially viable substitute for graphite electrodes
in electric arc furnace steel production or for cathodes in aluminum smelting.

Graphite electrodes are consumed primarily in electric arc furnace steel production, the
steel making technology used by all “mini-mills,” typically at a rate of one graphite electrode
every eight to ten operating hours (“a stick a shift”). Mini-mills constitute the higher long term
growth sector of the steel industry.

Cathodes are used in aluminum smelting furnaces, and demand for cathodes is driven by
construction of new smelters and relines and upgrades of existing smelters. We operate our
cathode business through a 70% owned joint venture with Pechiney, the world’s recognized
leader in aluminum smelting technology. In late 2003, Pechiney was acquired by Alcan, one of
the world’s largest aluminum producers.

Natural Graphite. We invented natural graphite products, consisting of advanced
flexible graphite and flexible graphite. Advanced flexible graphite products include highly
engineered thermal interface products, heat spreaders and heat sinks for electronic device
applications. We also manufacture highly engineered flow field plates, gas diffusion layers and
other advanced flexible graphite products for PEM fuel cells and fuel cell systems for use in the
power generation and transportation markets. Flexible graphite products include gasket and
sealing material for high temperature and corrosive environments in automotive, petrochemical




and other applications. We are one of the world’s largest manufacturers of natural graphite
products for all of these uses and applications.

Advanced Carbon Materials. Our advanced carbon materials line of business includes

~ carbon electrodes and refractories as-well as related services, Carbon electrodes are used in the
production of ferro-alloys and silicon metal, a raw material primarily used in the manufacture of
aluminum. Refractories-are used primarily as submerged arc and other furnace hearth walls and
bottoms.

Building Sustainable Competitive Advantages. Over the past few years through late
2002, adverse global and regional economic conditions negatively impacted many of our
markets. Our management team responded to these challenges and transformed our operations,
building sustainable competitive advantages that enable us to compete successfully in our major
product lines regardless of changes in economic conditions, to realize enhanced performance as
economic conditions improve and to exploit growth opportunities from our intellectual property
portfolio. During this period, we successfully implemented the following initiatives: -

- Repositioned Global Manufacturing Network. We repositioned our global manufacturing
network by, among other things, shutting down four of our higher cost graphite electrode
manufacturing facilities and redeploying capacity to our six remaining larger, lower cost,
strategically located facilities. The repositioning of our network allows us to deliver the same
graphite electrode sales volume that we delivered over the past few years with a significantly
lower fixed cost base. With these actions and our proprietary process and technological
improvements, we now have the capability, depending on product demand and mix, to
manufacture more than 220,000 metric tons of graphite electrodes from our existing assets. We
also shutdown cathode and advanced synthetic graphite products manufacturing capacity and
redeployed it to lower cost facilities and expanded our advanced flexible graphite manufacturing
capacity. Together, since 1998, these repositioning actions resulted in a headcount reduction of
over 30% and contributed a majority of the achieved cost savings described in this Report.

We believe that there are significant barriers to entrants to our industry, including the
need for extensive product and process know-how and other intellectual property and a high
initial capital investment. There have been no entrants in the graphite electrode industry for
more than 50 years.

Redesigned Global Manufacturing, Marketing and Sales Processes. We have evaluated
virtually every aspect of our global supply chain, and we have redesigned and implemented
changes to our global manufacturing, marketing and sales processes to leverage the strengths of
our repositioned network. Among other things, we have eliminated manufacturing bottlenecks,
improved product and service quality and delivery reliability, expanded our range of products,
and improved our global sourcing and product mix for our customers. Since 1999, we have
reduced annual customer compensation for graphite electrode quality claims from $3 million to
less than $1 million. We also redirected marketing and sales activities to better service the needs
of both existing and new customers. We estimate that we have increased our share of the
worldwide market for graphite electrodes by more than 10%, from 19% in 2001 to about 21% in
2003.




Accelerated Technology Development. We analyzed our intellectual property portfolio to
identify new product opportunities in markets with high growth potential for us, redirected
research to enhance and exploit our portfolio and accelerated development of products for those
markets. Among other things, we developed patented advanced pin technology for graphite
electrodes, patented processing technology for high performance graphite cathodes, products for
PEM fuel cells that are enabling fuel cell commercialization, and new electronic thermal
management technologies with over 140 product approvals from industry leading strategic
partners, customers and others.

In September 2003, we received R&D Magazine's prestigious R&D 100 Award, granted
to identify the 100 most technologically significant products and advancements each year, for
our achievements in electronic thermal management heat sink products.

Achieved Cost Savings. From 1998 through December 2001, we achieved recurring
annual pretax cost savings of $132 million. From January 2002 through December 31, 2003, we
achieved additional recurring pretax cost savings of $33 million. In addition to the
rationalization of our facilities, we have, among other things, redesigned benefit plans,
completed information technology outsourcing, and consolidated and streamlined administration
and other activities. We believe that our cost savings programs have also enabled us to achieve
one of the lowest manufacturing cost structure of all of our major competitors.

Business Strategies

Our goal is to create stockholder value by maximizing cash flow from operations, and our
business strategies are designed to expand upon the competitive advantages that our initiatives
have created.

Leveraging Our Unique Global Manufacturing Network. We believe that our unique
global manufacturing network provides us with significant competitive advantages in costs and
product quality, proximity to customers, timely and reliable delivery and operational flexibility
to adjust product mix to meet the diverse needs of a wide range of customers. We believe we
can further exploit this advantaged manufacturing network by redirecting our marketing and
sales efforts toward and focusing our superior technical and customer service capabilities on:

o the growing larger global customers created by the continuing consolidation trend
within the steel and aluminum industries, to whom we believe we are better
positioned than any of our competitors to offer products that meet their volume,
product quality, product mix, delivery reliability and service needs at competitive
prices; and

e customers in targeted market segments where we have competitive advantages to
meet identified customer needs due to the locations of our facilities, the range and
quality of our products, the utilization of our capacity, the value of our customer
technical service and other factors.

Our activities have a customer driven focus, and we continually seek to identify customer
needs and adjust our products and services to better service those needs. We believe that, in




many cases, the growing larger global customer created by the continuing consolidation trend
within the steel and aluminum industries are more creditworthy than other customers and that we
are able to better manage our exposure to trade credit risk as we increase the percentage of our
total net sales sold to these customers. :

We believe that our graphite electrode and cathode Businesses have the leading market
shares in the world and that, n _2003, our worldwide market share was:

"« about 21% in graphite electrodes;
e about 25% in carbon electrodes; and
o about 14% n éathodes. .

We sell these products in every major geographic market. Sales of these products outside
the U.S. accounted for about 67% of net sales in 2001, 69% of net sales in 2002 and 67% of net
sales in 2003. No single customer or group of affiliated customers accounted for more than 5%
of our total net sales in 2001, 2002 and 2003.

We have a strategic alliance with Pechiney, the world’s recognized leader in aluminum
smelting technology. In late 2003, Pechiney was acquired by Alcan, one of the world’s largest
aluminum producers. We believe that this alliance strengthens our position as the quality leader
in the low cost production of high quality graphite cathodes. We believe that our advanced
graphite cathode technology is enabling us to increase our market share of graphite cathodes sold
upon the commencement of operation of the new, more efficient aluminum smelting furnaces
that are being built as well as in substitution for carbon cathodes in relines and upgrades of
existing smelting furnaces. o

We believe that we are the manufacturer best positioned to supply natural graphite
products to the electronic thermal management and fuel cell markets. We are one of the world’s
largest manufacturers of natural graphite for these markets as well as for automotive and
petrochemical applications. We believe that, in 2003, our worldwide market share for natural
graphite products was about 23%. We believe that we operate the most technologically
sophisticated advanced natural graphite production line in the world. We have strategic alliances
with leading chip makers and others in the electronics industry and with Ballard Power Systems,
the world leader in PEM fuel cell technology.

Delivering Exceptional and Consistent Quality. We believe that our products are among
the highest quality products available in our industry. We have been awarded preferred or
certified supplier status by many major steel and aluminum companies and have received
numerous technological innovation and other awards by industry groups, customers and others.
Using our technological capabilities, we continually seek to improve the consistent overall
quality of our products and services, including the performance characteristics of each product,

- the uniformity of the same product manufactured at different facilities and the expansion of the
range of our products. We believe that improvements in overall quality create significant
efficiencies for us, provide us the opportunity to increase sales volumes and market share, and
create market opportunities for us and production efficiencies for our customers.




Providing Superior Technical Service. We believe that we are the recognized industry
leader in providing value added technical services to customers for our major product lines. We
believe that we have the largest customer technical service and related supporting engineering
and scientific organizations in our industry, with more than 245 engineers, scientists and
specialists around the world. Our employees assist key steel and other metals customers in
furnace design, operation and upgrade to reduce energy consumption, improve raw material costs
and increase output. In addition, our employees assist customers and others who design, develop
or produce electronic devices to integrate our advantaged advanced flexible graphite product
solutions into their new devices.

Accelerating Commercialization of Advantaged Technologies. We believe that our
leading technological and manufacturing capabilities and strengths provide us with a significant
growth opportunity as well as a competitive advantage. We seek to exploit these capabilities
across all of our businesses, to improve existing products, such as supersize graphite electrodes
used in the most demanding electric arc furnace steel production furnaces and high performance
graphite cathodes that have become the preferred technology in the industry, and to develop and
commercialize new products for markets with high growth potential for us. We analyzed our
intellectual property portfolio to identify new product opportunities in markets with high growth
potential for us, redirected research to enhance and exploit our portfolio and accelerated
development of products for those markets. Among other things, we developed patented
advanced pin technology for graphite electrodes, patented processing technology for high
performance graphite cathodes, products for PEM fuel cells that are enabling fuel cell
commercialization, and new electronic thermal management technologies with over 140 product
approvals from industry leading strategic partners, customers and others.

We also believe that our strategic partners have entered into alliances with us due to,
among other things, the strength of our technology and our research and development
capabilities.

Pursuing Cost Savings. In January 2002, we announced a major cost savings plan that
we believe is one of the most aggressive cost reduction plan being implemented in our industry.
We are targeting cumulative recurring annual pretax cost savings of $60 million in 2004 and
$80 million in 2005. Savings achieved under the 2002 plan are additive to those which we
achieved by the end of 2001 under our 1998 global restructuring and rationalization plan. We
achieved recurring pretax cost savings of $19 million in 2003, for total cumulative savings of
$33 million since January 2002,

As part of the 2002 plan, we are continuing to implement global business and work
process rationalization and transformation initiatives, including:

s the streamlining of our organizational structure within our three major lines of
business;

o the consolidation and streamlining of order fulfiliment, purchasing, finance and
accounting, and human resource processes;

o the identification and implementation of outsourcing opportunities;
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¢ . the improvement in performance through realignment and enterprise-wide
standardization of supply chain processes and systems; and

e the improvement of interfaces and information technology infrastructures with
trading partners.

These activities are targeted for completion by the end of 2005.

Under the 2002 plan, we have sold and intend to sell real estate, non-strategic businesses
and certain other non-strategic assets. Through December 31, 2003, we have completed sales
generating net proceeds aggregating $24 million. We anticipate that the aggregate estimated
pretax cash proceeds from these sales will total about $50 million by the end of 2004. We
believe that these cost savings and asset sales will further enhance our performance.

Our Lines of Business

Carbon is one of the fundamental elements and is capable of forming an enormous
~ variety of compounds. As a result of these characteristics, carbon is one of the most widely used
elements in manufacturing processes of all kinds. Graphite is the crystalline form of carbon.
Graphite can be processed to be resistant to corrosive materials, withstand high temperatures and
act as either a conductor of, or an insulator from, heat and electricity. Graphite is both manmade
~ (called “synthetic graphite”) and occurs naturally (called “natural graphite). Synthetic
graphite is made primarily from petroleum coke, a by-product of petroleum refining. Natural
graphite is a mined mineral that is processed to increase its purity.

Synthetic Graphite Line of Business

Our synthetic graphite line of business, which had net sales of $559 million in 2001, $538
million in 2002 and $639 million in 2003, manufactures and delivers high quality graphite
“electrodes, cathodes and advanced synthetic graphite products as well as related services.
Graphite electrodes accounted for about 75% of the net sales of this line of business in 2003.
Cathodes are manufactured by our subsidiary, Carbone Savoie, and accounted for about 15% of
the net sales of this line of business in 2003.

We estimate that, in 2003, the worldwide market for graphite electrodes and cathodes
~ was about $2.6 billion. Customers for these products are located in all major geographic
markets. ' '

Graphite Electrodes.

Use of graphite electrodes in electric arc furnaces. There are two primary technologies
for steel making: '

. basic oxygen furriace steel production (sometimes called “integrated steel
" ‘production”); and : “

e electric arc furnace steel production.
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Graphite electrodes are consumed primarily in electric arc furnace steel production, the
steel making technology used by all “mini-mills,” typically at a rate of one graphite electrode
every eight to ten operating hours. Electric arc furnace steel makers are called “mini-mills”
because of their historically smaller capacity as compared to basic oxygen furnace steel makers
and because they historically served more localized markets. Mini-mills constitute the higher
long term growth sector of the steel industry. Graphite electrodes are also consumed in the
refining of steel in ladle furnaces and in other smelting processes such as production of titanium
dioxide.

Electrodes act as conductors of electricity: in the furnace, generating sufficient heat to
melt scrap metal, iron ore or other raw materials used to produce steel or other metals. The
electrodes are consumed in the course of that production.

Electric arc furnaces that produce steel typically range in size from those that produce
about 25 metric tons of steel per production cycle to those that produce about 150 metric tons per
production cycle. Electric arc furnaces operate using either alternating or direct electric current.
The vast majority of electric arc furnaces use alternating current. Each of these furnaces
typically uses nine electrodes (in three columns of three electrodes each) at one time. The other
electric arc furnaces, which use direct current, typically use one column of three electrodes. The
size of the electrodes varies depending on the size of the furnace, the size of the furnace’s
electric transformer and the planned productivity of the furnace. In a‘typical furnace using | -
alternating current and operating at a typical number of production cycles per day, one of the
nine electrodes is fully consumed (requiring the addition of a new electrode), on average, every
eight to ten operating hours. The actual rate of consumption and addition of electrodes for a
particular furnace depends primarily on the efficiency and productivity of the furnace.
Therefore, demand for graphite electrodes is directly related to the amount and efficiency of
electric arc furnace steel production.

Electric arc furnace steel production requires significant heat (as high as 5,000 degrees
Fahrenheit, which we believe is the hottest operating temperature in any industrial or commercial
manufacturing process worldwide) to melt the raw materials in the furnace, primarily scrap
metal. Heat is generated as electricity (as much as 150,000 amps) passes through the electrodes
and creates an electric arc between the electrodes and the raw materials. ’

Graphite electrodes are currently the only products available that have the high levels of
electrical conductivity and the capability of sustaining the high levels of heat generated in an
electric arc furnace producing steel. Therefore, graphite electrodes are essential to the
production of steel in electric arc furnaces. We believe there is currently no commercially viable
substitute for graphite electrodes in electric arc furnace steel making. We estimate that, on
average, the cost of graphite electrodes represents about 3% to 4% of the cost of producing steel
in a typical electric arc furnace.

Electric arc furnace steel production has, for many years, been the higher long term
growth sector of the steel industry, at an estimated average annual growth rate of about 3%.
There are currently in excess of 2,000 electric arc steel production furnaces operating worldwide.
Worldwide electric arc furnace steel production grew from about 90 million metric tons in 1970
to 279 million metric tons in 2001, 299 million metric tons in 2002 and 305 million metric tons
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in 2003.. As a percentage of total steel production, worldwide electric arc furnace steel
production grew from about 14% of total steel production’'in 1970 to about 33% of total steel
production in 2001, about 33% of total steel production in 2002 and about 32% of total steel
production in 2003. We estimate that steel makers worldwide added net new electric arc furnace
steel production capacity of about 11 million metric tons in 2001, about 15 million metric tons in
2002 and about 10 million metric tons in 2003. We believe that a portion of the new capacity
added in the past three years has not yet become operational. We are aware of about 28 million
metric tons of announced new electric arc furnace steel production capamty that is scheduled to
be added in 2004 through 2006. - : '

- An electrlc arc furnace used for steel productlon prov1des significant operational
flexibility.” It can be shutdown and restarted relatively quickly compared to a basic oxygen
furnace in response to changing market dynamics. As a result, electric arc furnace steel
" producers are better able to adjust production to respond to changes in demand and prices for
steel on a regional and global basis. The followmg table illustrates the growth in electric arc
steel production since 1970. = :

Worldwide steel production
(Millions of metric tons):

Sources Internatwnal Iron and Steel Inst1tute and GTI estimates -

We'believe that as global economic conditions improve, electric arc furnace steel
production will continue to grow at an average annual long term growth rate of about 3% to 4%.

Relationship Between Graphite Electrode Demand and Electric Arvc Furnace Steel
Production. We believe that the worldwide growth in‘electric arc furnace steel production has
been due primarily to the significantly lower capital requirements to construct a mini-mill as
compared to an integrated steel production plant and to improvements in the cost effectiveness
and operating efficiency of electric arc furnace steel making. We believe that'growth has also
been due to the fact that, as a result of technical-advances, electric arc furnace steel makers are
capable of producing some of'the higher quality steel grades used in flat products that have
historically been produced by basw oxygen furnace steel makers. ‘
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The improved efficiency of electric arc furnaces has resulted in a decrease in the average
rate of consumption of graphite electrodes per metric ton of steel produced in electric arc -
furnaces (called “specific consumption”).. We estimate that specific consumption declined from
about 4.3 kilograms of graphite electrodes per metric ton of steel produced in 1990 to about 2.3
kilograms per metric ton in 2003. We believe that the decline in specific consumption will
continue at a more gradual pace, on average, as the costs (relative to the benefits) increase for
electric arc furnace steel makers to achieve further efficiencies in specific consumption.  We
further believe that the rate of decline in the future will be impacted by the addition of new
electric arc furnace steel making capacity. To the extent that this new capacity replaces old
capacity, it has the effect of reducing industry wide specific consumption due to the efficiency of
new electric arc furnaces. To the extent that this new capacity increases industry wide electric
arc furnace steel production capacity and that capacity is utilized, it creates additional demand
for graphite electrodes. While we believe that the rate of decline of specific consumption over
the long term has become lower, we believe that there was a slightly greater decline in 2001 than -
would otherwise have been the case due to the shutdown of older, less efficient electric arc
furnaces primarily due to industry rationalization and weak global and regional economic
conditions.

The changes in electric arc furnace steel production reflected in the preceding table
resulted in corresponding changes in demand for graphite electrodes. Graphite electrode demand
is expected to grow over the long term at an estimated average annual growth rate of about 1% to
2% based on the anticipated growth of electric arc furnace steel production and decline in
specific consumption described above. Other than in China, for which reliable information is
generally not available, we believe that the graphite electrode industry manufacturing capacity
utilization rate worldwide was about 84% in 2001, about 93% in 2002 and about 97% in 2003
and that, in 2003, graphite electrode manufacturing capacity worldwide was about 750,000
metric tons.

Production Capacity. Currently; there is only one other global manufacturer and about
ten other notable regional or local manufacturers of graphite electrodes. There have been no
entrants in the graphite electrode industry for more than 50 years.

Since 1998, we have reduced our graphite electrode manufacturing capacity by about
55,000 metric tons, net of the expansion of our facility in Mexico and incremental expansions in
our other facilities. We shutdown four graphite electrode manufacturing facilities in Canada,
Germany, the U.S. and Italy, and redeployed capacity to certain of our larger, lower cost,
strategically located facilities in Mexico, South Africa and Spain. In addition, from 1998
through 2003, two of our competitors reduced their annual graphite electrode manufacturing
capacity. Their announced net reductions totaled more than 35,000 metric tons. Two of our
graphite electrode competitors, who had about 60,000 metric tons of annual graphite electrode
manufacturing capacity, filed for bankruptcy protection. These competitors were liquidated, and
the competitor in the U.S. sold a portion of its graphite electrode manufacturing capacity (which
we estimate was approximately 19,000 metric tons) to a third party bidder in a bankruptcy
auction process in April 2003. The third party has begun to produce and sell graphite electrodes.

During the 2002 second quarter, we launched the eXpansion of our facility in Mexico to
increase its capacity from 40,000 metric tons to about 60,000 metric tons annually. We
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completed the expansion during the 2003 first quarter. We-believe that this facility is now the
largest graphite electrode manufacturing facility in the world and strengthens our ability to
satisfy demand from the large NAFTA market on a low cost basis.

As a result of repositioning our global manufacturing network and other actions, as well
as our proprietary process and technological improvements, we now have the capability,
depending on product demand and mix, to manufacture more than 220,000 metric tons of
graphite electrodes annually from our existing facilities. .

We believe that, since 1998, net worldwide graphite electrode manufacturing capacity
has been reduced by about 12%.

~ We believe that there are significant barriers to entrants to our industry, including the
need for extensive product and process know-how and other intellectual property and a high
initial capital investment. We are not aware of any “greenfield” construction of new graphite
electrode manufacturing facilities. We believe that we can significantly expand our graphite
electrode manufacturing capacity at a cost that is less than 15% of the initial investment for
“greenfield” capacity. ‘

Graphite Electrode Market Share. We estimate that about 63% of the electric arc furnace
steel makers worldwide (other than in China, for which reliable information is not generally
available) and about 81% of the electric arc furnace steel makers in the U.S. and the markets
where we have manufacturing facilities purchased all or a portion of their graphite electrodes
from us in 2003. We further estimate that we supplied about 45% of all graphite electrodes
purchased in the U.S. and the markets where we have manufacturing facilities, and about 21%
worldwide, in each case in 2003. We estimate that the worldwide market for graphite electrodes
was about $2.2 billion in 2003. :

We estimate that, in 2003, sales in the U.S. accounted for about 21% of our total net sales
of graphite electrodes and that we sold graphite electrodes in about 50 countries, with no other
country accounting for more than 13% of our total net sales of graphite electrodes.

Over the pasrt several years, we estimate that we increased our share of the worldwide

- market for graphite electrodes by more than 10%, from 19% in 2001 to about 21% in 2003. In
addition to increased volumes, this shift in our customer base enables us to further optimize
efficiencies and reduce costs.

We believe that, in many cases, the growing number of larger global customers created
by the continuing consolidation trend within the steel and aluminum industries are more
creditworthy than smaller producers and that we are able to better manage our exposure to trade
credit risk as we increase the percentage of our total net sales sold to them.

Cathodes. Cathodes consist primarily of blocks used as floor lining for, and conductors
of electricity in, furnaces (called “pots”) used to smelt aluminum. Cathodes are made from
either carbon or graphite. Cathodes are currently the only products available that have the high
levels of electrical conductivity and the capability of surviving the highly corrosive high
temperature environments in an aluminum smelting furnace. We believe that there are no
current commercially viable substitutes for cathodes in aluminum smelting furnaces. In a typical
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aluminum smelting furnace operating at a typical rate and efficiency of production, the cathodes
must be replaced every 5 to 8 years. Since cathodes are used in the construction of pots, demand
for them is directly related to both the number of new aluminum smelting furnaces being built
and the frequency with which existing furnaces are upgraded and relined.

We operate our cathode business through a 70% owned joint venture with Pechiney, the
world’s recognized leader in aluminum smelting technology. In late 2003, Pechiney was
acquired by Alcan, one of the world’s largest aluminum producers. We have developed high
performance graphite cathodes that we believe have become the preferred technology in the
industry. We are benefiting from Pechiney’s smelting technology expertise and our graphite
technology and expertise in high temperature industrial applications to develop further -
improvements in graphite cathodes. We believe that use of graphite cathodes (instead of carbon
cathodes) allows a substantial improvement in process efficiency.

We believe that worldwide demand for aluminum will continue to grow over the long
term at an average annual rate of about 3% to 4%, primarily because of greater use of aluminum
by the transportation industry and higher growth in demand in China. We also believe that, over
the long term, new aluminum smelting furnaces will need to be built to meet the growth in
demand. We believe, therefore, that demand for graphite cathodes will continue to grow, both
for new smelting furnaces as well as for substitution for carbon cathodes in relines and upgrades
of existing smelting furnaces

We believe that we are the largest manufacturer of cathodes in the world. In 2002, we
expanded the manufacturing capacity of our Brazilian facility, the only non-captive manufacturer
of cathodes in the Americas. We estimate that we sold about 14% of all cathodes sold in the
world in 2003. There are seven notable producers of cathodes in the world. We estnnate that the
worldwide market for cathodes was about $410 million in 2003.

Advanced Synthetic Graphite Products. Advanced synthetic graphite products include
isomolded, molded and extruded products in a variety of shapes and grades, weighing from a few
kilograms to ten metric tons, for diverse applications. These materials include primary products
(such as bulk graphite blocks (called “billets”) that are sold to customers for further processing
or finishing for end users) and specialty products (such as pressure casting molds for steel
railroad car wheels).

Our isomolded products are used in applications including continuous casting and hot
press manufacturing processes and resistance heating elements. Our molded products are used in
applications including high temperature furnaces and crucibles, chemical processing equipment
and pressure and centrifugal casting equipment. QOur extruded products are used in applications
including fused refractories, diamond drill molds and semiconductor components as well as in
applications in aluminum smelting.

We manufacture our advanced synthetic graphite products using raw materials, processes

and technologies similar to those we use to make graphite electrodes and cathodes. We estimate
the worldwide market for advanced synthetic graphite products was about $450 million in 2003.
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Natural Graphite Line of Business

- Our natural graphite line of business manufactures advanced flexible graphite products
and flexible graphite products and provides related services and technologies for both established
markets and new markets with high growth potential for us. We currently sell our products
primarily to the electronics, fuel cell power generation, sealing and industrial thermal
management markets. We provide cost effective engineering and other technical services and
license our proprietary technology in markets where we do not anticipate engaging in
manufacturing ourselves. Our natural graphlte products are developed and manufactured by our
subsidiary, AET.

Advanced flexible graphite products include highly engineered eGRAF® thermal
interface products, heat spreaders, including those sold under our SpreaderShield™ brand name,
and heat sinks for electronic device applications. We also manufacture highly engineered
GRAFCELL® flow field plates, gas diffusion layers and other advanced flexible graphite
products for PEM fuel cells and fuel cell systems for use in the power generation and
transportation markets. Flexible graphite products include gasket and sealing material for high
temperature and corrosive environments in automotive, petrochemical and other applications.
We are one of the world’s largest manufacturers of natural graphite products for all of these uses
and applications.

The versatility of our proprietary processes and equipment enables us to modify natural
graphite products to meet a variety of customer needs. We work with our customers to develop
technologically advanced solutions, utilizing our industry-leading technological and
manufacturing strengths and capabilities.

Electronic Thermal Management Products. Thermal management products are
designed to dissipate heat generated by electronic devices. Electronics manufacturers are
currently experiencing constraints in the development of ever more advanced compact devices
because of the limitations of current thermal management products and technologies to-dissipate
the higher levels of heat generated. We have developed and are continuing to develop and
introduce highly engineered advanced flexible graphite products that improve thermal
management in electronic devices. We expect demand for our products to grow as industry
trends continue toward smaller, more powerful electronic devices which generate more heat and
require more advanced thermal solutions.

Advanced flexible graphite products include highly engineered thermal interface
products, heat spreaders and heat sinks for current and next generation electronic device
applications, including computers, servers, televisions, digital video devices, cell phones and
other communications, industrial, military, office and automotive equipment. Thermal interface
products reside between a chip set or other heat generating unit in a device and the remaining
components in the heat dissipation system in the device. Heat sinks are finned units (similar to
radiators) that dissipate heat via air movement into the surrounding environment. Heat spreaders
are engineered plates or tubes that move or spread heat from hot spots, such as a processing chip,
to other locations in the device for dissipation into the environment.
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We expect that the superior ability of our products to manage heat will allow our
customers and others to redesign electronic devices to reduce cost, size and weight while
improving performance. Our products offer many advantages over competitive products such as
copper or aluminum. These advantages include:

¢ excellent ability to conduct heat;

mechanical and thermal stability;

lightweight, compressible and conformable nature;

» cost competitiveness; and

ease of handling.

Our product lines include e GRAF® heat spreaders, including those sold under our
SpreaderShield™ brand name, heat sinks and other thermal management products and eGRAF®
Hi-Therm™ thermal interface materials. We can provide both custom and off-the-shelf products
and sophisticated solutions for cooling complex electronic devices.

During 2002, we began commercializing our line of e§GRAF® thermal management
products. Since then, we have obtained orders for e(GRAF® products from industry leading
electronic companies such as Agilent, Cisco, Hitachi, IBM, Intel, Lucent, Maxtor and Nortel.
We have over 140 product approvals from strategic partners and customers. Throughout 2003,
we obtained new approvals and orders from industry leading electronics companies such as
Sony, NEC and Sharp for a wide range of eGRAF® products. In addition, we obtained approval
from Intel for eGRAF® Hi-Therm™ thermal interface materials for apphcatlons in several Intel
processors, including the Pentium® 4 processor.

We estimate that the market for our current products is about $300 million and expect it
to grow at an annual rate in excess of 20% over the next three years. Sales of our products are
growing, from about $500,000 in 2002 to $2.2 million in 2003 and an estimated $8 million in
2004.

We believe that the thermal management component market for computers, servers,
televisions, digital video devices, cell phones and other communications, industrial, military,
office and automotive equipment was about $3 billion in 2001.

Fuel Cell Products. We are the leading manufacturer of natural graphite products for
PEM fuel cells and fuel cell systems. We manufacture highly engineered flow field plates, gas
diffusion layers and other advanced flexible graphite products for PEM fuel cells and fuel cell
systems for use in transportation and power generation applications.

Fuel cells were invented in 1839 and were first used in practical applications in the 1960s
in NASA’s Gemini and Apollo space programs to provide electricity aboard spacecrafts. Fuel
cells provide environmentally friendly electrical power generation by combining hydrogen
(which can be obtained from a variety of sources such as methanol, natural gas and other fuels)
with oxygen (from air, not necessarily pure) to produce electricity through an electrochemical
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process without combustion. - The only material by-products from this process are water and
heat. We believe that PEM fuel cells have emerged as the leading fuel cell technology because
they offer higher power density, lower weight and lower costs relative to alternative fuel cell
technologies. PEM fuel cells have the potential for use as replacements for existing power
generators in the following markets:

e transportation applications, such as automobiles, buses and other vehicles;

e stationary applications, such as residences, commercial buildings and industrial
operations; and

e portable applications, such as machinery, equipment and electronic devices.
"~ We expect significant growth from this opportunity in the second half of this decade.

Ballard Power Systems, the world leader in PEM fuel cells, is our strategic partner under
an exclusive product supply agreement that continues through 2016 and an exclusive
collaboration agreement that continues through 2011. Our products are essential components of
its fuel cells.

In October 2003, we were awarded two cash grants totaling $1.4 million from the State of
Ohio to support the commercialization of our fuel cell technologies. We will use the grants to
develop high volume manufacturing processes for flow field plates utilizing our GRAFCELL®
advanced flexible graphite products. :

Transportation Market. We believe that manufacturers of automobiles, buses and other
vehicles are searching for a viable alternative to the internal combustion engine. We also believe
that PEM fuel cells have the potential to provide the power of an internal combustion engine, to
reduce or eliminate polluting emissions, and to lower vehicle operating costs through higher fuel
efficiency and lower maintenance costs. Advanced flexible graphite products are used in PEM
fuel cells and fuel cell systems. We market our advanced flexible graphite products for fuel cell
applications under the GRAFCELL® name. According to an Allied Business Intelligence report
published in 2003, the use of fuel cell systems in the global transportation market is projected to
reach 1.5 million units by 2013.

We believe, based on actual revenues and statements by Ballard Power Systems
customers and other automobile manufacturers, that commercial sales of PEM fuel cells for use
in automobiles began in late 2002, increased in 2003 and will continue to increase in 2004.
Ballard Power Systems has announced that about 85% of the 175 fuel cell vehicles that were
operational worldwide in 2003 and are expected to be operational worldwide in 2004 were or
will be powered by its PEM fuel cells that contain GRAFCELL® advanced flexible graphite
products.

We believe that the significant market opportunities for fuel cell vehicles will be
supported by governmental programs. In January 2002, the Bush administration launched a new
program called FreedomCAR aimed at spurring the growth of hydrogen fuel cells for cars and
trucks. In January 2003, the Bush administration launched FreedomFUEL, focusing on
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technologies and infrastructure needed to produce, distribute and store hydrogen for fuel cells.
About $1.7 billion of funding is proposed over the next five years under these programs. The
European Union and Japan have each announced similar initiatives, and the U.S. and the

European Union have agreed to cooperate to overcome barriers to fuel cell commercialization.

In 2003, our sales to the fuel cell industry were approximately $1.5 million. We estimate
that the market for our fuel cell products in 2012 will exceed $500 million.

Stationary Power Market. Fuel cells have the potential to provide electric power for
residential, commercial and industrial stationary applications. Long-term increases in electric
power demand for these applications are expected, driven by continued growth of digital
communications systems and infrastructures and industrialization of developing nations as well
as continued population and personal income growth. We believe that demand for technologies
such as fuel cells will be driven by requirements for uninterruptible electric power with a high
degree of reliability and distributed power generation capability as well as environmental
concerns. During 2003, stationary power products were sold and delivered to customers in the
residential, telecommunications, industrial, research and government sectors. In 2003, Allied
Business Intelligence estimated that the North American market for stationary fuel cells will be
about $5 billion in 2013.

Portable Power Market. Fuel cells have the potential to provide electric power currently
provided by rechargeable and nonrechargeable batteries in many portable electronic devices used
in consumer, construction, marine and industrial applications. The fastest growing market
opportunity is expected to be laptop computers, cell phones and personal digital assistants and
other handheld devices. According to an Allied Business Intelligence report published in 2003,
the estimated North American market for portable devices will be 700 million units by 2013,
with an estimated value of $5.2 billion. Commercial sales are expected to begin with small
portable device applications in 2004.

Sealing products. Flexible graphite is lightweight, conformable, temperature-resistant
and inert to most chemicals. Due to these characteristics, it is an excellent gasket and sealing
material that to date has been used primarily in high temperature and corrosive environments in
the automotive and petrochemical industries. For example, automotive applications for our
flexible graphite products include head gaskets and exhaust gaskets as well as engine and
exhaust heat shields. We market our flexible graphite products used in the sealing industry under
the GRAFOIL® name.

Industrial Thermal Management Products. Advanced flexible graphite products
provide superior heat management solutions for insulation packages, induction furnaces, high
temperature vacuum furnaces and direct solidification furnaces and other industrial thermal
management applications. We market our advanced flexible graphite products for these
applications under the GRAFSHIELD® name.

Advanced Carbon Materials Line of Business

Our advanced carbon materials line of business includes carbon electrodes and
refractories as well as related services.
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Carbon Electrodes. Carbon electrodes are used in the production of silicon metal, a raw
material primarily used in the manufacture of aluminum. Carbon electrodes are also used in the
production of ferro-alloys and thermal phosphorous. Carbon electrodes are used and consumed
in a manner similar to that of graphite electrodes, although at lower temperatures and with
different consumption rates. We believe that demand for carbon electrodes fluctuates based
primarily on changes in production of silicon metal. We also believe that the silicon metal
industry is directly impacted by changes in global and regional economic conditions. We
estimate that demand for carbon electrodes was about 69,000 metric tons in-each of 2001 and
2002 and 81,000 metric tons in 2003.

We estimate that we sold about 25% of the carbon electrodes sold in the world in 2003,
We estimate that the worldwide market for carbon electrodes was about $130 million in 2003.
There are two significant manufacturers of carbon electrodes in the world. We are the only
manufacturer of carbon electrodes in the Western Hemisphere.

Refractories. Refractories are made in a multitude of standard and custom shapes and
sizes. Smaller refractories are sometimes called refractory bricks and larger ones are sometimes
called refractory blocks. Graphite is added to some carbon refractories (called “semi-graphitic”
refractories) to adjust performance characteristics. Carbon and semi-graphitic refractory bricks
are used primarily as chemical industry tank and reactor linings and blast furnace and submerged
arc furnace hearth walls. These refractory bricks have excellent resistance to corrosion and
abrasion. Our carbon refractory brick is one of the established standards for North American
blast furnaces. Our semi-graphitic refractory brick is used where higher conductivity is required
or when additional abrasion resistance is desired.

We also manufacture graphite refractory bricks which are used primarily for their high
thermal conductivity and the ease with which they can be machined to large or complex shapes.
Common applications in blast furnace and submerged arc furnaces are cooling courses in the
hearth bottoms for heat distribution and removal, backup linings in hearth walls for improved
heat transfer and safety, and lintels over copper cooling plates where a single brick cannot span
the cooling plate.

Carbon refractory blocks are used primarily as submerged arc and other furnace hearth
walls and bottoms, for which they are machined to shape and assembled in a variety of designs.
We also provide special shapes (such as sidewall blocks, tap blocks, tuyere surrounds and runner
liners) for blast furnaces, submerged arc furnaces and cupola furnaces.

Production Planning, Product Manufacturing and Distribution

Over the last few years, we have rationalized our facilities and redeployed capacity to
larger facilities in lower cost countries. The repositioning of our network allows us to achieve
significant increases in productivity and output from our existing assets, including economies of
scale and other cost savings that we believe will increase as we grow our sales. For example, we
are able to deliver the same graphite electrode sales volume that we delivered over the past few
years with a significantly lower fixed cost base. In addition, we believe that our network
provides us with the operational flexibility to source customer orders from the facility that
optimizes our profitability and, with the continuing consolidation in the steel and aluminum
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industries, provides us a significant growth opportunity in serving larger multi-plant global
customers. We believe that our unique network provides us with significant competitive
advantages in costs and product quality, proximity to customers, timely and reliable delivery and
operational flexibility to adjust product mix to meet the diverse needs of a wide range of
customers. We also believe that our products are among the highest quality products available in
our industry.

Production Planning

We plan and source our graphite electrode and cathode production globally. We have
evaluated virtually every aspect of our global supply chain, and we have redesigned and
implemented changes to our global manufacturing, marketing and sales processes to leverage the
strengths of our repositioned manufacturing network. Among cther things, we have eliminated
manufacturing bottlenecks, improved product and service quality and delivery reliability,
expanded our range of products, and improved our global sourcing and product mix for our
customers. We continue to implement global business and work process rationalization and
transformation initiatives, including improvements in performance through realignment and
enterprisewide standardization of supply chain processes and systems and consolidation and
streamlining of our order processes. These activities are targeted for completion by the end of
2005. : ‘ :

We deploy synchronous work processes at most of our manufacturing facilities. We have
also installed and continue to install and upgrade proprietary process technologies at our
synthetic graphite manufacturing facilities and use statistical process controls in our
manufacturing processes.

We have developed, and begun installing, a global information system using J.D.
Edwards One World information systems for both enterprise resource planning and advanced
production planning for managing our supply chains. The advanced planning capabilities that
we have developed for our global synthetic graphite manufacturing capacity allow us to use our
modularized capacity to seek to optimize, under then current conditions, timely product delivery
to customers and changes in variables affecting profitability, including variable production costs,
changes in currency exchange rates and changes in product mix. These capabilities also enable
us to seek to maximize capacity utilization at as many of our facilities as possible as well as
minimize our average fixed production cost per unit produced. Our global manufacturing
network also helps us to minimize risks associated with dependence on any single economic
region.

Manufacturing

Electrodes, Cathodes and Refractories. The manufacture of a graphite electrode takes,
on average, about two months. Graphite electrodes range in size from three inches to 30 inches
in diameter and two feet to nine feet in length and weigh between 20 pounds and 4,800 pounds
(2.2 metric tons).

The manufacture of graphite electrodes involves the six main processes described below:

Forming: Calcined petroleum coke is crushed, screened, sized and blended in a heated
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vessel with coal tar pitch. The resulting plastic mass is extruded through a
forming press and cut into cylindrical lengths (called “green” electrodes)
before cooling in a water bath.

Baking: The “green” electrodes are baked at about 1,400 degrees Fahrenheit in
specially designed furnaces to purify and solidify the pitch and burn off
impurities. After cooling, the electrodes are cleaned, inspected and
sample-tested.

Impregnation: Baked electrodes are impregnated with a special pitch when higher density,
mechanical strength and capability to withstand higher electric currents are
required. o »

Rebaking: The impregnated electrodes are rebaked to solidify the speéial pitch and burn
off impurities, thereby adding strength to the electrodes.

Graphitizing: Using a process that we developed, the rebaked electrodes are heated in
longitudinal electric resistance furnaces at about 5,000 degrees Fahrenheit to
restructure the carbon to its characteristically crystalline form, graphite.
After this process, the electrodes are gradually cooled, cleaned, inspected and
sample-tested.

Machining: After graphitizing, the electrodes are machined to comply with international
specifications governing outside diameters, overall lengths and joint details.
Tapered sockets are machine-threaded at each end of the electrode to permit
the joining of electrodes in columns by means of correspondingly
double-tapered machine-threaded graphite nipples (called “pins™).

Cathodes range in size from 5 feet to 12 feet and weigh between 800 pounds and 3,700
pounds. Graphite cathodes are manufactured by a comparable process. Carbon electrodes
(which can be up to 55 inches in diameter) and carbon cathodes are manufactured by a
comparable process (excluding impregnation and graphitization). Refractories are manufactured
using a process comparable to that for carbon electrodes or a proprietary “hot press” process.
We believe that we manufacture the broadest range of sizes in graphite electrodes and cathodes
- and that the quality of our electrodes and cathodes is competitive with or better than that of
comparable products of any other major manufacturer.

We generally warrant to our customers that our electrodes and cathodes will meet our
specifications. Electrode and cathode returns and replacements have aggregated less than 1% of
net sales in each of the last three years.

As a result of repositioning our global manufacturing network and other actions, together
with our proprietary process technology, we now have the capability, depending on product
demand and mix, to incrementally manufacture more than 220,000 metric tons of graphite
electrodes and more than 40,000 metric tons of cathodes annually from our existing assets. We
also have the capacity to manufacture about 30,000 metric tons of carbon electrodes annually.
The following table sets forth certain information regarding our sales volumes.
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(Metric tons)
Volume of graphite electrodes sold ...........c..coeeveenne. 174,000 180,500 200,500
Volume of cathodes sold........ccccceeeeiviiiiiieiienieninn 33,000 37,000 36,000
Volume of carbon electrodes sold................ e 19,000 17,000 21,000

Graphite electrodes are manufactured in Brazil, Mexico, South Africa, France, Spain and
Russia. Cathodes are manufactured in France and Brazil. Carbon electrodes and refractories are
manufactured in the U.S. '

Advanced Synthetic Graphite Products. Advanced synthetic graphite products are
manufactured by a process comparable to that for graphite electrodes. Our facilities have the
‘capability toprocess a wide range of raw materials, mill, mix and extrude or mold small to very
large graphite blocks, impregnate, bake and graphitize the blocks, purify the blocks to reduce the
impurities to parts per million levels, and machine the blocks using advanced machining stations
to manufacture products finished to high tolerances and unique shapes. Advanced synthetic
graphite products are manufactured in the U.S. and France.

Natural Graphite. We use a proprietary process to convert mined natural graphite flake
into expandable graphite, an intermediate product. During this process, we can manufacture
expandable graphite with a number of specific properties. For example, we can change its
sensitivity to temperature, modify its particle size and give it long term stability. We
manufacture flexible graphite by further processing expandable graphite. We fabricate finished
gasket and sealing products by fabricating flexible graphite into sheet, laminate and tape
products. We manufacture advanced flexible graphite by subjecting expandable or flexible
graphite to additional proprietary processing. These additional processing steps alter the
properties and characteristics of the graphite to make materials with modified electrical, thermal
and strength characteristics.

Our natural graphite line of business operates two state-of-the-art manufacturing facilities
in the U.S. These facilities have the capability to chemically treat natural graphite flake, bake
the flake in high temperature furnaces to expand the graphite flake, mechanically form and
calender the expanded flake, and form and shape intermediate and finished products. We believe
that we operate the world’s most technologically sophisticated advanced natural graphite
production line. : ‘

Quality Standards and Maintenance. Certain of our global manufacturing facilities are
certified and registered to QS-9000, the U.S. quality standard, as well as ISO-9002, the
international quality standard. Our natural graphite line of business has a quality assurance
system designed to meet the most stringent requirements of its customers. Major maintenance at
our facilities is conducted on an ongoing basis.

Raw Materials and Suppliers. The primary raw materials for electrodes and cathodes are
engineered by-products and residues of the petroleum and coal industries. We use these raw
materials because of their high carbon content. The primary raw materials for graphite
electrodes and graphite cathodes are calcined petroleum cokes (needle coke for electrodes and
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regular grade cokes for cathodes), coal tar pitch and petroleum pitch. The primary raw materials
for carbon electrodes and carbon cathodes are calcined anthracite coal and coal tar pitch and, in
some instances, a petroleum coke-based material. The primary raw material for our natural
graphite products is natural graphite flake.

We purchase raw materials from a variety of sources. In many cases, we purchase them
under short term contracts or on the spot market, in each case at fluctuating prices. We believe
that adequate supplies of these raw materials are available at market prices. We entered into a
strategic alliance with ConocoPhillips, the largest producer of petroleum coke, to improve the -
supply chain for our primary raw material and, since the beginning of 2001, we have purchased a
majority of our requirements for petroleum coke, at variable prices, from multiple plants of
ConocoPhillips under a supply agreement that continues through the end of 2006. In addition, in
2001, we shut down our coal calcining operations primarily because we entered into a five-year
agreement to purchase calcined coal from a third party at a competitive cost. These agreements
contain customary terms and conditions. We believe that the quality and cost of these raw
materials on the whole is competitive with or better than those available to our major competitors
and that, under current conditions, these raw materials are available in adequate quantities. We
also believe that we are able to purchase these raw materials on a more cost efficient basis than
our competitors who have more limited product lines and production volumes.

We purchase natural graphite flake from a variety of sources. We believe that adequate
, supplies of natural graphite flake are available at market prices. We entered into an arrangement
-~ -with-Mazarin Mining Corporation to develop and commercialize a natural graphite deposit in
Canada. The initial phase of a feasibility study, relating to the quality of the natural graphite - -
flake in the deposit, was completed in 2000 with favorable results. The second phase of the
feasibility study was expected to be completed by the end of 2004. However, based on current
market conditions relating to the fuel cell industry, the timing of the feasibility study is being
reevaluated. The feasibility study is expected to cost us about $2 million, for which we will
receive a 25% interest in the mine. After completion of the study, we may decide to commence
commercial production of the deposit with Mazarin, exercise an option to extend the period for
the development decision for five one-year periods until 2009, or terminate the arrangement. In
the case of extension, we will have to make option payments totaling Cdn. $800,000 if the option
is extended for the full five years. We have the right to purchase the entire production of natural
graphite flake from the deposit. We believe that at full capacity, if developed, the deposit should
produce about 50,000 tons of natural graphite flake per year, which would make it one of the
largest single sources of natural graphite flake in the world. We believe that, if developed, the
deposit would have sufficient reserves to meet our projected needs for the next 10 to 15 years.
Consummation of the arrangement is subject to, among other things, the receipt of any required
governmental approvals. In December 2003, Mazarin completed a reorganization, pursuant to
which the assets of Mazarin were transferred to Sequoia Minerals Inc., a subsidiary of Mazarin
that was subsequently spun off and that is expected to continue Mazarin’s operations and focus
on development of metals and industrial minerals. We do not believe that this reorganization
will have any material impact on our arrangement.

We pufchase energy from a variety of sources. Electric power or natural gas used in
manufacturing processes is purchased from local suppliers primarily under short-term contracts
or in the spot market. We have entered into short duration fixed rate purchase contracts with
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certain of our North American natural gas suppliers in order to mitigate seasonal increases in our
natural gas costs. These contracts expire at the end of the 2004 first quarter. In addition, we
have entered into natural gas hedge contracts, effectively fixing 100% of our direct and indirect
natural gas cost exposure in North America (approximately 45% of direct worldwide exposure)
through April 2004.

Distribution

Our graphite electrode customers generally seek to negotiate prices and anticipated
volumes on an annual basis. These customers then generally place orders for graphite electrodes
three to six months prior to the desired delivery date. These orders are cancelable by the
customer. Therefore, we manufacture graphite electrodes and seek to manage graphite electrode
inventory levels to meet rolling sales forecasts. We generally seek to maintain an appropriate
level of finished graphite electrode inventories, taking into account these factors and the length
of graphite electrode manufacturing cycles. We have entered into long term supply contracts
with purchasers of our cathodes and carbon electrodes, and we may, from time to time in the
future, enter into long term supply contracts with purchasers of graphite electrodes or our other
products. Currently, our other products are generally manufactured or fabricated to meet
customer orders. Currently, we do not manage or operate based on a backlog.

Finished products are generally stored at our manufacturing facilities. Limited quantities
of some finished products are also stored at local warehouses around the world to meet customer
needs. We ship our finished products to customers primarily by truck and ship, using “just in
time” techniques where practical. '

Proximity of manufacturing facilities to customers can provide a competitive advantage
in terms of cost of delivery of electrodes and cathodes. The significance of these costs is
affected by changes in currency exchange rates, methods of shipment, import duties and whether
the manufacturing facilities are located in the same economic trading region as the customer.

We believe that our manufacturing facilities are uniquely located around the world to supply
graphite electrodes and cathodes globally and that the locations of our facilities provide us with a
significant competitive advantage.

Sales and Customer Service

We believe that we are the recognized industry leader in providing value added technical
services to customers for our major product lines and that we have the largest customer technical
service and related supporting engineering and scientific organizations in our industry, with more
than 245 engineers, scientists and specialists around the world. As part of the redesign and
implementation of changes to our global business and work processes, we have redirected
marketing and sales activities to better service the needs of both existing and new customers.

Synthetic Graphite Business. Our synthetic graphite line of business sells products in
every major geographic market primarily through its direct sales force, whose members are
trained and experienced with our products. Its direct sales force operates from about 16 sales
offices located around the world. It also sells products through independent sales agents and
distributors.
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Our synthetic graphite line of business has customer technical service personnel based
around the world who assist customers to maximize their production and minimize their costs. It
employs about 160 engineers and technicians to provide technical service and advice to key steel
and other metals customers in furnace design, operation and upgrade to reduce energy
consumption, improve raw material costs and increase output. In connection therewith, it
recently developed and is now providing the UCAR Connex™ Virtual Meltshop™ Monitor to
key electric arc furnace steel producers. The UCAR Connex™ Virtual Meltshop™ Monitor is a
computer-based furnace data collection and analytic service with real time and web based
capabilities. It is the next generation of service that we believe 1s not available fromany other
source and is particularly valuable to multi-plant customers. We have an agreement with AMI
GE, S.A. de C.V., a Mexican supplier of furnace regulators and other furnace equipment that is
50% owned by General Electric, to market and supply our UCAR Connex™ Virtual Meltshop™
Monitor to their customers. We believe that our synthetic graphite line of business has more
techmcal service- engmeers 1ocated in more countries than: any of its competitors.

The sales and service groups of our synthetlc graphlte line of business mclude those
dedicated to cathodes who are employed by Carbone Savoie. Carbone Savoie’s sales and service
groups work closely with-those of Pechiney, which is our 30% joint venture partner in Carbone
Savo1e to maximize use of their respective products and technologies.

Natural Graphite Business. Our natural graphite line of business has six direct field
sales employees in the U.S. and two in Europe. It also sells products through independent sales
- agents and distributors. Its customer service personnel, supported by a staff of more than 30
development scientists and manufacturing engineers, assist customers in learning about and
using our products, improving their manufacturing processes and operations, and solving their
technical dilemmas. ‘A particular focus is assisting customers and others who design, develop or
produce electronic devices to integrate our advantaged flexible graphite product solutions into
their new devices.

Advanced Carbon Materials Business. Our advanced carbon materials line of business
sells products through the direct global sales force, located in all of its major markets, as well as
through independent agents and distributors. Its U.S. sales office coordinates the activities of an
experienced sales staff and these agents and distributors. Our experienced engineering staff
provides technical service to customers around the world. It provides specialized technical
assistance to submerged arc and other furnace operators with regard to product performance,
furnace monitoring and operations analysis. We believe that its customer technical service staff
is highly regarded.

Technology

We believe that we are the industry leader in graphite and carbon materials science and
high temperature processing know-how and that we operate the premier research, development
and testing facilities in our industry. We have over 100 years of experience in the research and
development of graphite and carbon technologies. Over the past several years, we have analyzed
our intellectual property portfolio to identify new product opportunities in markets with high
growth potential for us, redirected research to enhance and exploit our portfoho and accelerated
development of products for those markets.
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Research and Development. We conduct our research and development both
independently and in conjunction with our strategic partners, customers and others. We have
two dedicated technology centers, one in Ohio, which is used by all of our lines of business, and
the other in France, which is used by Carbone Savoie. We also have a pilot plant located in Ohio
that has the capability to produce small or trial quantities of new or improved synthetic or natural
graphite products. In addition, we have a state-of-the-art testing facility located in Ohio capable
of conducting physical and analytical testing for those products as well as process technology.
The activities at these centers and facilities are integrated with the efforts of our engineers at our
manufacturing facilities who are focused on improving manufacturing processes.

We believe that our technological and manufacturing strengths and capabilities provide
‘us with a significant growth opportunity as well as a competitive advantage and are important
factors in the selection of us by industry leaders and others as a strategic partner. Our
technological capabilities include developing products with superior thermal, electrical and
physical characteristics that provide a differentiating advantage. We seek to exploit these
strengths and capabilities across all of our businesses, to improve existing products and to
develop and commercialize new products for markets with high growth potential for us. In
particular, we believe that our research and development capabilities were an important factor in
the selection of us by Ballard Power Systems to enter into an exclusive long term product
development and collaboration agreement.

Developments by us include:
e larger and stronger graphite electrodes;

e new chemical additives to enhance raw materials used in the manufacture of graphite
electrodes; _

o patented advanced pin technology for graphite electrodes;

e improved supersize graphite electrodes for the most demanding electric arc steel
producing furnaces;

e cold pastes with reduced environmental impact for use with cathodes;

e patented processing technology for high performance graphite cathodes which have
become the preferred products in the industry;

e products for PEM fuel cells that are enabling fuel cell commercialization; and

» new electronic thermal management technologies with over 140 product approvals
from industry leading strategic partners, customers and others.

We have been awarded preferred or certified supplier status by many major steel and aluminum
companies and have received numerous technological innovation and other awards by industry
groups, customers and others. In September 2003, we received R&D Magazine's prestigious
R&D 100 Award, granted to identify the 100 most technologically significant products and
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advancements each year, for our achievements in electronic thermal management heat sink
products.

A significant portion of our research and development is focused on new product
development, including achievement of the objectives of our strategic alliances with companies
that use or specify the use of electronic thermal management technologies and our strategic
alliance with Ballard Power Systems. for PEM fuel cells.

Technology Licensing and Technical Services. We offer, through licensing contracts,
rights to use our inteliectual property to other firms developing or manufacturing products. We
also provide, through service contracts:

¢ research and development services;
e extensive product testing services (such as high temperature testing and analysis);
e high temperature heat treating services;

e graphite and carbon process and product technology consulting and development
services; and

¢ information services to customers, suppliers and universities to assist in their
development of new or improved process and product technology.

Among other things, we provide cost-effective technical services for a broad range of markets
and license our proprietary technology for a broad range of applications through our web site.

The web site includes technical papers on graphite and carbon science, technical literature and
search assistance, and industry news as well as access to our services.

Intellectual Property. We believe that our intellectual property, consisting primarily of
patents and proprietary know-how and information, particularly the intellectual property relating
to electronic thermal management and fuel cell power generation, provides us with competitive
advantages and is important to our growth opportunities. Our intellectual property portfolio is
extensive, with over 310 U.S. and foreign patents and 280 U.S. and foreign pending patent
applications, which we believe is more than any of our major competitors. Among our
competitors, we hold the largest number of patents for flexible graphite as well as the largest
number of patents relating to the use of natural graphite for PEM fuel cell applications. In
addition, we have obtained exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to various U.S. and foreign
patents relating to our technologies. These patents and licenses expire at various times over the
next two decades. Over 110 of these patents were granted during the past four years.

We own, and have obtained licenses to, various trade names and trademarks used in our
businesses. For example, the trade name and trademark UCAR are owned by Union Carbide
Corporation (which has been acquired by Dow Chemical Company) and are licensed to us on a
worldwide, exclusive and royalty-free basis until 2015. This particular license automatically
renews for successive ten-year periods. It permits non-renewal by Union Carbide commencing
after the first ten-year renewal period upon five years’ notice of non-renewal. The trade name
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and trademark CARBONE SAVOIE are owned by Carbone Savoie and are used in connection
with cathodes manufactured by it. The trademark CARBONE SAVOIE is registered in many
countries throughout the world.

We rely on patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws as well as appropriate
agreements to protect our intellectual property. Among other things, we seek to protect our
proprietary know-how and information, through the requirement that employees, consultants,
strategic partners and others, who have access to such proprietary information and know-how,
enter into confidentiality or restricted use agreements.

Strategic Alliances

We pursue strategic alliances that strengthen our business, enhance our research and
development initiatives or support our new product commercialization activities. Strategic
alliances may be in the form of joint venture, licensing, supply or other arrangements.

Synthetic Graphite Business. We have a strategic alliance in the cathode business with
Pechiney, the world’s recognized leader in aluminum smelting technology. Pechiney uses its
technology in its own smelting operations and licenses its technology to other aluminum
producers. Under our alliance, Pechiney is a 30% joint venture partner in our subsidiary,
Carbone Savoie, which holds our entire cathode manufacturing capacity. With this alliance, we
believe that we are positioned as the quality leader in the low cost production of graphite
cathodes, the preferred technology for deployment in new aluminum smelting furnaces due to
their ability to provide substantial improvements in process efficiency. We are using Pechiney’s
smelting technology and our graphite technology and expertise in high temperature industrial
applications to develop further improvements in graphite cathodes. Our cathodes are sold to
Pechiney for use in its own plants under a requirements contract that remains in effect through
2006 and are marketed to Pechiney’s licensees as to well as other aluminum producers.

Natural Graphite Business. We have been working with Ballard Power Systems since
1992 on developing natural graphite products for use in its PEM fuel cells. In 2000, Ballard
Power Systems launched its Mark 900 series fuel cell stack and announced that it was the
foundation for future Ballard Power Systems’ fuel cells for transportation, stationary and
portable applications. The flow field plates used in the Mark 900 are made from our
GRAFCELL® advanced flexible graphite products. In October 2001, Ballard Power Systems
launched its most advanced PEM fuel cell platform to date, the Mark 902. GRAFCELL®
advanced flexible graphite products are a strategic material for the Mark 902. Building upon the
Mark 900, the advantages of the Mark 902 include lower cost, improved design for volume
manufacturing, improved reliability, higher power density and enhanced compatibility with
customer system requirements. The unit cell design of the Mark 902 allows scalable
combinations to achieve a variety of power outputs ranging from 10 kilowatt to 300 kilowatt and
is designed to allow configuration for stationary and transportation applications.

In June 2001, we entered into an exclusive development and collaboration agreement and
an exclusive long term supply agreement with Ballard Power Systems, which significantly
expand the scope and term of prior agreements. In addition, Ballard Power Systems became a
strategic investor in AET, investing $5 million in shares of Ballard Power Systems’ common
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stock for a 2.5% equity ownership interest, to support the development and commercialization of
natural graphite products for PEM fuel cells. As an investor in AET, Ballard Power Systems has
rights of first refusal with respect to certain equity ownership transactions, tag along and drag
along rights, and preemptive and other rights to acquire additional equity ownership under
certain limited circumstances.

The scope of the current exclusive development and collaboration agreement includes
natural graphite products, including flow field plates and gas diffusion layers, for use in PEM
fuel cells and fuel cell systems for transportation, stationary and portable applications. The
initial term of this agreement extends through 2011. Under the new supply agreement, we will
be the exclusive manufacturer and supplier of natural graphite products for Ballard Power
Systems’ fuel cells and fuel cell systems, other than those natural graphite products which
Ballard Power Systems elects in the future to manufacture for itself. The initial term of this
agreement, which contains customary terms and conditions (including certain license and royalty
provisions), extends through 2016. We have the right to manufacture and sell, after agreed upon
release dates, natural graphite products for use in PEM fuel cells to other fuel cell producers.

Competition

Synthetic Graphite and Advanced Carbon Materials Businesses. Competition in the
graphite electrode, cathode, advanced synthetic graphite and advanced carbon materials
businesses is based primarily on price, product quality and customer service.

There is only one other global manufacturer and about ten other notable regional or local
manufacturers of graphite electrodes, including SGL Carbon (whose facilities are located on only
two continents, Europe and North America, virtually all of which are located in higher cost
countries), and four manufacturers in Japan (one of whom, Showa Denko Carbon, also has a
plant located in the U.S.).

Global and regional economic conditions and antitrust investigations, lawsuits and claims
are having an impact on the graphite electrode industry. We believe that, at a minimum, these
impacts include increased price competition and increased debt or cost burdens, or both, for most
manufacturers in the industry.” In October 2001, The Carbide/Graphite Group, Inc. filed for
bankruptcey protection and, in December 2002, ceased operations. In April 2003, it announced
that it sold a portion of its graphite electrode manufacturing capacity (which we estimate was
approximately 19,000 metric tons) to a third party bidder in a bankruptcy auction process. The
third party has begun to produce and sell graphite electrodes. In late 2002, a German competitor
filed for bankruptcy protection and, in early 2003, ceased operations. It is possible that other
competitors could make similar bankruptcy filings. It is not uncommon for companies subject to
bankruptcy filings to enjoy, at least temporarily, a cost advantage as compared to their
competitors. This advantage enables them to compete more aggressively on price. It is also
possible that one or more of our competitors could divest graphite electrode manufacturing
facilities. These divestitures could increase the number or change the capabilities of our
competitors. " '

There are seven notable manufacturers of cathodes in the world. We believe that we and
SGL Carbon are the largest manufacturers in the world. There are two significant manufacturers
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of carbon electrodes in the world, us and SGL Carbon. There are about five significant
manufacturers of advanced synthetic graphite products in the world.

We believe that there are no current commercially viable substitutes for graphite
electrodes in electric arc furnace steel production or for cathodes in aluminum smelting furnaces.
We are aware of commercially viable technologies that are competitive with carbon electrodes.

We believe that there are significant barriers to entrants to our industry, including the
need for extensive product and process know-how and other intellectual property and a high
initial capital investment. It also requires high quality raw material sources and a developed
energy supply infrastructure. There have been no entrants in the graphite electrode industry for
more than 50 years. We are not aware of any “greenfield” construction of new graphite
electrode manufacturing facilities and believe that it is unlikely that new “greenfield” graphite
electrode manufacturing facilities will be built during the next several years by existing
competitors or entrants due to, among other things, the relatively high initial capital investment.
We believe that one or more of our graphite electrode competitors in India are in the process of
incrementally expanding their graphite electrode manufacturing capacity.

Natural Graphite Business. Competition in the natural graphite business with respect to
existing products is based primarily on quality and price. Competition with respect to services
and new products is based primarily on product and service innovation, performance and cost
effectiveness as well as customer service, with the relative importance of these factors varying
among services, products and customers.

Competitors include companies located around the world that develop and manufacture
natural graphite products, including SGL Carbon and Le Carbone, and companies that develop,
manufacture or provide substitute or alternative materials, products, services or solutions. We
are one of the largest manufacturers of natural graphite products in the world.

Our electronic thermal management products and solutions compete with a wide variety
of materials, including copper and other metals, ceramics, conductive rubbers and greases. Our
fuel cell products compete with other graphitic products, including fibers, composites and
synthetic graphite, and metal products such as stainless steel. Our sealing and gasket products
compete with various fiber products such as asbestos, cellulose and synthetic composites as well
as stainless steel and other metals. Our fire retardant products compete with compounds
containing phosphates, halogens and hydrated aluminas as well as many other materials. Our
industrial thermal management products compete with a wide variety of materials, including
natural and synthetic fibers, other carbon forms and metal products.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to a wide variety of federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations
relating to the presence, storage, handling, generation, treatment, emission, release, discharge
and disposal of hazardous, toxic and other substances and wastes governing our current and
former properties and neighboring properties and our current operations. These laws and
regulations (and the enforcement thereof) are periodically changed and are becoming
increasingly stringent. We have experienced some level of regulatory scrutiny at most of our
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current and former facilities, and have been required to take remedial action and incurred related
costs, in the past and may experience further regulatory scrutiny, and may be required to take
further remedial action and incur additional costs, in the future. Although this has not been the
case in the past, these costs could have a material adverse effect on us in the future.

The principal U.S. laws and regulations to which we are subject include:

e the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act and similar state and local laws which regulate air
emissions, water discharges and hazardous waste generation, treatment, storage,
handling, transportation and disposal;

o the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of
1980, as amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986,
and the Small Business Liability Relief and Brownfields Revitalization Act of 2002,
and similar state laws that provide for responses to and liability for releases of -
hazardous substances into the environment; and

e the Toxic Substances Control Act and related laws that are designed to assess the risk
of new products to health and to the environment at early developmental stages.

Further, laws adopted or proposed in various states impose or may impose, as the case may be,
reporting or remediation requirements if operanons cease or property is transferred or sold.

Our manufacturmg operatlons outside the U.S. are subject to the laws and regulat1ons of
the countries in which those operations are conducted. These laws and regulations primarily
relate to pollution prevention and the control of the impacts of industrial activities on the quality
of the air, water and soil. Regulated activities include, among other things: use of hazardous
substances; packaging, labeling and transportation of products; management and disposal of
toxic wastes; discharge of industrial and sanitary wastewater; and emissions to the air.

~ We believe that we are currently in material compliance with the federal, state, local and
foreign environmental laws and regulations to which we are subject. We have received and
continue periodically to receive notices from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the
“USEPA”) or state environmental protection agencies, as well as claims from others, alleging
that we are a potentially responsible party (a “PRP”) under Superfund and similar state laws for
past and future remediation costs at hazardous substance disposal sites. Although Superfund
liability is joint and several, in general, final allocation of responsibility at sites where there are
multiple PRPs is made based on each PRP’s relative contribution of hazardous substances to the
site. Based on information currently available to us, we believe that any potential liability we
may have as a PRP will not have a material adverse effect on us.

As a result of amendments to the Clean Air Act enacted in 1990, certain of our facilities
will be required to comply with new standards for air emissions to be adopted by the USEPA and
state environmental protection agencies over the next several years pursuant to regulations that
have been or will be promulgated, including the USEPA’s anticipated promulgation of maximum
achievable control technology standards for carbon and graphite manufacturing plants. The
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regulations which have been promulgated to date will necessitate the installation of additional
controls and changes in certain manufacturing processes in order for us to achieve compliance
with these regulations. Based on information currently available to us, we believe that
compliance with these regulations will not have a material adverse effect on us.

We have sold or closed a number of facilities that had solid waste landfills. In the case of
virtually all of our sold facilities, we have retained ownership of the landfills. We have closed
these landfills, and we believe that we have done so in material compliance with applicable laws
and regulations. We continue to monitor these landfills pursuant to applicable laws and
regulations. To date, the costs associated with the landfills have not been, and we do not
anticipate that future costs will be, material to us. -

We establish accruals for environmental liabilities where it is probable that a liability has
been incurred and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. We adjust accruals as
new remediation and other commitments are made and as information becomes available which
changes estimates previously made. ‘

Estimates of future costs of environmental protection are necessarily imprecise due to
numerous -uncertainties, including the impact.of new laws and regulations, the availability and
application of new and diverse technologies, the extent of insurance coverage, the identification
of new hazardous substance disposal sites at which we may be a PRP and, in the case of sites
subject to Superfund and similar state laws, the ultimate allocation of costs among PRPs and the
final determination of remedial requirements. Subject to the inherent imprecision in estimating
such future costs, but taking into consideration our experience to date regarding environmental
matters of a similar nature and facts currently known, we believe that costs and capital
expenditures (in each case, before adjustment for inflation) for environmental protection will not
increase materially over the next several years. :

Insurance

We obtain insurance against civil liabilities relating to personal injuries to third parties,
for loss of or damage to property and for environmental matters to the extent that it is currently
available and provides coverage that we believe is appropriate upon terms and conditions and for
premiums that we consider fair. and reasonable. We believe that we have insurance providing
coverage for claims and in amounts that we believe appropriate as described above. We cannot
assure you, however, that we will not incur losses beyond the limits of or outside the coverage of
our insurance. Our insurance has not and will not cover any material liabilities that have or may
become due in connection with antitrust investigations, lawsuits or claims.

Employees

Since 1998, we have reduced our global workforce by about 1,700 employees, or over
30%. At December 31, 2003, we had 3,762 employees, of which 1,868 were in Europe
(including Russia), 841 were in Mexico and Brazil, 373 were in South Africa, 3 were in Canada,
671 were in the U.S. and 6 were in the Asia Pacific region. At December 31, 2003, 2,706 of our
employees were hourly employees.
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At December 31, 2003, about 69% of our worldwide employees were covered by
collective bargaining or similar agreements, which expire at various times in each of the next
several years. At December 31, 2003, about 780 employees, or 21% of our employees, were
covered by agreements, which expire, or are subject to renegotiation, at various times through
December 31, 2004. We believe that, in general, our relationships with our unions are
satisfactory and that we will be able to renew or extend our collective bargaining or similar
agreements on reasonable terms as they expire. We cannot assure you, however, that renewed or
extended agreements will be reached without a work stoppage or strike or will be reached on
terms satisfactory to us.

Excluding our subsidiaries prior to the time when we acquired them, we have not had any
material work stoppages or strikes during the past decade. :

Corporate History

Our business was founded in 1886 by National Carbon Company. In 1917, National
Carbon Company and four other businesses were combined to become the predecessor to Union
Carbide Corporation. National Carbon Company eventually became the Carbon Products
Division of Union Carbide. In 1989, Union Carbide realigned each of its worldwide businesses
into separate subsidiaries. As part of the realignment, the business of the Carbon Products i
Division was separated from Union Carbide’s other businesses and became owned by us. We :
remamed wholly owned by Umon Carbide.

In 1991, Union Carblde sold 50% of our common equlty to-Mitsubishi Corporat10n In =
January 1995, we consummated a leveraged equity recapitalization, following which, among
other things, Blackstone Capital Partners II Merchant Banking Fund L.P. and its affiliates held
about 70% of our then outstanding common stock, Union Carbide held about 25% and certain
members of management held the remaining 5%.

In August 1995, GTI completed an initial public offering of our common stock, in which
Union Carbide sold all of our common stock then held by it.

In March 1996 and April 1997 , Blackstone sold its shares of our common stock in
secondary public offerings and thereafter ceased to be a principal stockholder of GTI.

In June 1997, antitrust investigations by authorities in the U.S. and the European Union
were commenced against us and other producers and distributors of graphite and carbon
products. Subsequently, antitrust investigations by authorities in other countries and civil
antitrust lawsuits were commenced and threatened against us and them. In March 1998, we
began to implement management changes, which resulted in a new senior management team.

In February 2000, we completed a debt recapitalization and obtained the Senior Facilities.
In July 2001, we completed a public offering of our common stock. In February and May 2002,
we completed private offerings of the Senior Notes. In October 2003, we completed a public
offering of our common stock. In January 2004, we completed a private offering of the
Debentures. :
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Risk Factors and Forward Looking Statements

An investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. The risks described below are not
the only ones facing us. Additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem
immaterial may also have a material adverse effect on us. If any of the following risks actually
occur, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or business could be harmed. In
that case, the market price of our securities could decline, and you could lose part or all of your

investment.
Risks Relating to Us

We are dependent on the global steel and aluminum industries and also sell products to the
transportation, semiconductor, petrochemical and other metals industries. Our results of
operations may deteriorate during global and regional economic downturns.

We sell graphite electrodes, which accounted for about 66% of our total net sales in 2003,
primarily to the electric arc furnace steel production industry. We also sell cathodes, which
accounted for about 13% of our total net sales in 2003, to the aluminum industry. Many of our
other products are sold primarily to the transportation, semiconductor, petrochemical and other
metals industries. These are global basic industries, and they are experiencing various degrees of
growth and consolidation. Customers in these industries are located in every major geographic
market. As a result, our customers are affected by changes in global and regional economic
conditions. This, in turn, affects overall demand and prices for our products sold to these
industries. Accordingly, we are directly affected by changes in global and regional economic
conditions. These conditions are affected by events and circumstances beyond our control such
as geopolitical events (such as the war on terror and the circumstances involving Iraq and North
Korea), changes in demand by consumers, businesses and governments and policy decisions by
governments and central banks. - As a result of changes in economic conditions, demand and
pricing for our products sold to these industries has fluctuated significantly.

Demand for our products sold to these industries may be adversely affected by
improvements in our products as well as in the manufacturing operations of customers, which
reduce the rate of consumption or use of our products for a given level of production by our
customers. In the case of graphite electrodes, we estimate that specific consumption declined
from about 4.3 kilograms of graphite electrodes per metric ton of steel produced in 1990 to about
2.3 kilograms per metric ton in 2003. While we believe that the rate of decline of specific
consumption over the long term has slowed, we believe that there was a slightly more significant
decline in 2001 than would otherwise have been the case due to the accelerated shutdown of
older, less efficient electric arc furnaces as a result of global and regional economic conditions.

Sales volumes and prices of our products sold to these industries are impacted by the
supply/demand balance as well as overall demand and growth of and consolidation within the
end markets for our products. In addition to the factors mentioned above, the supply/demand
balance is affected by factors such as business cycles, rationalization within our industry, and
output and productivity within our industry and the end markets for our products, some of which
factors are affected by decisions by us. In the case of graphite electrodes, although our volume
of graphite electrodes sold has increased significantly over the past three years, we have in the
past experienced significant fluctuations in volume. In addition, although we implemented
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graphite electrode price increases over the past eighteen months, prices have dechned since
1998.

Over the past few years, we faced extremely challenging business and industry
conditions. Adverse global and regional economic conditions negatively impacted many of the
end markets for our products, with many customers in these markets reducing production,
becoming less creditworthy or being acquired due to consolidation within their industries.
Industry-wide capacity for most of our products exceeded demand, and competition has been
intense. Although our net sales and net income have improved i in 2003 from 2002, they have
declined significantly since 1999. ‘

We cannot assure you that the electric arc furnace steel production industry will continue
to be the higher long term growth sector of the steel industry, that the aluminum industry will
continue to experience long term growth or that any of the other industries to which we sell
products will experience strong recovery from current economic conditions affecting them.
Accordingly, we cannot assure you that there will be stability or growth in demand for or prices
of graphite electrodes or our other products sold to these industries. An adverse change in global
or certain regional economic conditions could materially adversely affect us.

Any substantial growth in net sales, cash flow from operations or net income from our
natural graphite line of business depends on successfully developing, manufacturing and
selling new products on a profitable basns If we are not successful, we will not achieve our
‘planned growth

Our planned growth of our natural graphite line of business depends on successful and
proﬁtable development, manufacture and sale primarily of thermal management products for
electronic devices and products for PEM fuel cells and fuel cell systems.

.~ Successful and profitable commercialization of products is subject to various risks,
including risks beyond our control such as:

o the possibility that we may not be able to develop viable products or, even if we
develop viable products, that our products may not gain commercial acceptance;

o the possibility that our commercially accepted products could be subsequently
. displaced by other products or technolog1es

e the p0551b111ty that even if our products are mcorporated in new products of our
customers, our customers’ new products may not become viable or commercially

accepted or may be subsequently displaced,

¢ the possibility that a mass market for our commercially accepted products, or for our
customers’ products which incorporate our products, may not develop;

e restrictions under our agreements with Ballard Power Systems on sales of our fuel
cell products to and collaboration with others; and

¢ failure of our customers to purchase our products in the quantities that we expect.
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These risks could be impacted by factors such as adoption of new laws and regulations,
changes in governmental programs, failure of necessary supporting systems (such as fuel
delivery infrastructure for fuel cells) to be developed, and consumer perceptions about costs,
benefits and safety.

Our financial condition could suffer if we experience unanticipated costs as a result of
antitrust investigations and related lawsuits and claims.

Since 1997, we have been subject to antitrust investigations and related lawsuits and
claims. We have recorded pretax charges of $382 million against results of operations as a
reserve for estimated potential liabilities and expenses in connection with antitrust investigations
and related lawsuits and claims. Through December 31, 2003, we have paid an aggregate of
$257 million of fines and net settlements and expenses which has been applied against the
reserve and $19 million of imputed interest (which is described below) that has not been applied
against the reserve. The balance of the reserve (before giving effect to the provisional payment
described below) is available for the $52.5 million balance of the fine (the “DOJ antitrust fine”)
payable by us to the U.S. Department of Justice (the “DQJ”) that was imposed in 1998, the
€50.4 million fine (the “EU antitrust fine”) that was assessed against us in 2001 by the
Directorate General IV of the European Communities (the “EU Competition Authority™) and
which we have appealed, and other antitrust related matters.

The DOJ antitrust fine does not bear interest prior to April 2004 and bears interest at the
statutory rate (which was 1.28% annually at December 31, 2003) after April 2004. The reserve
does not cover interest on the DOJ antitrust fine (including interest that, for accounting purposes,
is imputed on the DOJ antitrust fine for the period during which it is non-interest bearing). Such
interest is recorded in interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In February 2004, we posted a provisional payment of $72 million to the EU Competition
Authority against the EU antitrust fine. The provisional payment included $9 million for accrued
nterest for the period from October 2001 to the date of the provisional payment at the rate of
6.04% per annum. The EU Competition Authority has advised us that its position is that the
provisional payment should have included accrued interest at the rate of 8.04% per annum. We
have advised the EU Competition Authority that we disagree with its position and will file an
interim appeal challenging its position, if necessary.

At December 31, 2003, after giving effect to the provisional payment, $53 million
remained in the reserve. The remaining amount of the reserve is unfunded. We believe that the
amount of the EU antitrust fine will be reduced on appeal. To the extent that the actual amount
of the EU antitrust fine (after all appeals and including any interest thereon) is less than the
amount so provisionally paid, any excess would be refunded to us. To the extent that such actual
amount exceeds the amount so provisionally paid, we will be required to make an additional
payment equal to such excess. Such additional payment may require us to record an additional
charge.

Our insurance has not and will not cover any material liabilities that have or may become
due in connection with antitrust investigations, lawsuits or claims.

38




We cannot assure you that remaining liabilities and expenses in connection with antitrust
investigations, lawsuits and claims will not materially exceed the remaining balance of the
reserve or that the timing of payment thereof will not be sooner than anticipated. If such
liabilities or expenses materially exceed such balance or if the timing of payment thereof is
sooner-than anticipated, such events could materially adversely affect us, and we may not be able
to comply with the financial covenants under the Senior Facilities. In the event of such
noncompliance, we could experience the material adverse consequences described, and be forced
to take the unfavorable actions referenced, in the risk factor relating to restrictive covenants
under the Senior Facilities and Senior Notes on pages 40 through 41, '

We are highly leveraged and our substantial debt and other obligations could limit our
financial resources and ability to compete and may make us more vulnerable to adverse
economic events. ‘ o :

We are highly leveraged, and we have substantial obligations in connection with antitrust
investigations, lawsuits and claims. At December 31, 2003, after giving effect to the issuance
and sale of the Debentures and application of the net proceeds therefrom to repay the remaining
$21 million of term loans outstanding under the Senior Facilities and to make a provisional
payment of $72 million to the EU Competition Authority toward the EU antitrust fine, we had
total debt of $707 million (including unamortized bond premium and fair value of hedged debt
obligation), cash and cash equivalents of $158 million and a stockholders’ deficit of $128
million. In addition, we have historically discounted or factored a substantial portion of our
accounts receivable and used the proceeds to reduce our debt. Certain of our subsidiaries sold
receivables totaling $175 million in 2003. If we had not sold such receivables, our accounts
receivable and our debt would have been about $45 million higher at December 31, 2003. We
~ intend to reduce our factoring of accounts receivable and use a portion of the net proceeds from
the issuance and sale of the Debentures to replace the financing previously provided thereby.
Further, a significant majority of our debt is or has been effectively converted into variable rate
debt. We use cash and cash equivalents, funds available under the Revolving Facility and cash
flow from operations as our primary sources of liquidity. Availability of funds under the
Revolving Facility is subject to continued compliance with the financial covenants under the
Senior Facilities. ‘At December 31, 2003, we were in compliance with the financial covenants
under the Senior Facilities and had no outstanding balance under the Revolving Facility with
$236 million (after consideration of outstanding letters of credit and at currency exchange rates
in effect at December 31, 2003) fully available. We believe that we will have net cash provided
by operating activities in 2004 (excluding payments related to restructurings, antitrust fines and
the impact of the reduction of factoring of accounts receivables). We expect to make payments
of about $15 million related to restructurings, about $82 million related to antitrust fines and
about $45 million related to replacement of financing that would have been provided by
factoring of accounts receivable. We expect that we will have net cash used in operating
activities in 2004 including such exclusions. '

Our high leverage and antitrust related obligations could have important consequences,
including the following: '

e our ability to restructure or refinance our debt or obtain additional debt or equity
financing for payment of these obligations, or for working capital, capital
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expenditures, acquisitions or other general corporate purposes, may be impaired in
the future;

e asubstantial portion of our cash flow from operations must be dedicated to debt
service and payment of antitrust obligations, thereby reducing the funds available to
us for other purposes;

* an increase in interest rates could result in an increase in the portion of our cash flow
from operations dedicated to debt service or interest rate management initiatives, in
lieu of other purposes;

e we may have substantially more leverage and antitrust obligations than certain of our
competitors, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage; and

e our leverage and antitrust obligations may hinder our ability to adjust rapidly to
changing market conditions or other events and make us more vulnerable to
insolvency, bankruptcy or other adverse consequences in the event of a downturn in
general or certain regional economic conditions or in our business or in the event that
these obligations are greater, or the timing of payment is sooner, than expected.

Our ability to service our debt and meet our other obligations depends on certain factors
beyond our control.

Our ability to service our debt and meet our other obligations as they come due is
dependent on our future financial and operating performance. This performance is subject to
various factors, including factors beyond our control such as changes in global and regional
economic conditions, developments in antitrust investigations, lawsuits and claims involving us,
changes in our industry or the end markets for our products, changes in interest or currency
exchange rates, and inflation in raw materials, energy and other costs. -

If our cash flow and capital resources are insufficient to enable us to service our debt and
meet these obligations as they become due, we could be forced to: reduce or delay capital
expenditures; sell assets or businesses; limit or discontinue, temporarily or permanently, business
plans or operations; obtain additional debt or equity financing; or restructure or refinance debt.

We cannot assure you as to the timing of such actions or the amount of proceeds that
could be realized from such actions. Accordingly, we cannot assure you that we will be able to
meet our debt service and other obligations as they become due or otherwise.

We are subject to restrictive covenants under the Senior Facilities and the Senior Notes.
These covenants could significantly affect the way in which we conduct our business. Our
failure to comply with these covenants could lead to an acceleration of our debt.

The Senior Facilities and the Senior Notes contain a number of covenants that, among
other things, significantly restrict our ability to: dispose of assets; incur additional indebtedness;
repay or refinance other indebtedness or amend other debt instruments; create liens on assets;
enter into leases or sale/leaseback transactions; make investments or acquisitions; engage in
mergers or consolidations; make certain payments and investments, including dividend payments
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and stock repurchases; make capital expenditures; or engage in certain transactions with
subsidiaries and affiliates.

The Senior Facilities also require us to comply with specified financial covenants,
including minimum interest coverage and maximum leverage ratios. In addition, pursuant to the
Senior Facilities, we cannot borrow under the Revolving Facility:

¢ if the additional borrowings would cause us to breach the financial covenants; or

o if the aggregate amount of reserves created (plus the aggregate amount of payments
made (excluding payments attributable to imputed interest on the DOJ antitrust fine)
over or outside of any reserve) in connection with antitrust, securities and stockholder
derivative investigations, lawsuits and claims exceed $415 million, reduced by the
principal amount of certain debt ($1 million of which debt was outstanding at
December 31, 2003).

Further, substantially all of our assets are pledged to secure indebtedness as described
under “— Risks Relating to Our Securities and Pledges of Our Assets.”

We are currently in compliance with the covenants contained in the Senior Facilities and
the Senior Notes. However, our ability to continue to comply may be affected by events beyond
our control. The breach of any of the covenants contained in the Senior Facilities, unless
waived, would be a default under the Senior Facilities. This would permit the lenders to
accelerate the maturity of the Senior Facilities. An acceleration of maturity of the Senior
Facilities would permit the holders of the Senior Notes and the Debentures to accelerate the
maturity of the Senior Notes and the Debentures, respectively. A breach of the covenants under
the Senior Notes, unless waived, would be a default under the Senior Notes. This would also
permit the holders of the Senior Notes to accelerate the maturity of the Senior Notes. An
acceleration of maturity of the Senior Notes would permit the holders of the Debentures to
accelerate the maturity of the Debentures and the lenders to accelerate the maturity of the Senior
Facilities. A breach of our obligations under the Debentures, unless waived, would be a default
under the Debentures. This would also permit the holders of the Debentures to accelerate the
maturity of the Debentures. Acceleration of maturity of the Debentures would permit the holders
of the Senior Notes to accelerate the maturity of the Senior Notes and the lenders to accelerate
the maturity of the Senior Facilities. An acceleration of maturity of the Senior Facilities would
also permit the lenders to terminate their commitments to extend credit under the Revolving
Facility. This could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity. If we were unable to repay
our debt to the lenders and holders or otherwise obtain a waiver from the lenders and holders, we
could be forced to take the actions described in the preceding risk factor and the lenders and
holders could proceed against the collateral securing the Senior Facilities and the Senior Notes
and exercise all other rights available to them. We cannot assure you that we will have sufficient
funds to make these accelerated payments or that we will be able to obtain any such waiver on
acceptable terms or at all. :
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We are subject to risks associated with operations in multiple countries.

A substantial majority of our net sales are derived from sales outside of the U.S., and a
substantial majority of our operations and our total property, plant and equipment and other long-
lived assets are located outside the U.S. As a result, we are subject to risks associated with
operating multiple countries, including:

e currency devaluations and fluctuations in currency exchange rates, including impacts
of transactions in various currencies, translation of various currencies into dollars for
U.S. reporting and financial covenant compliance purposes, and impacts on results of
operations due to the fact that costs of our foreign subsidiaries for our principal raw
material, petroleum coke, are incurred in dollars even though their products are
primarily sold in other currencies;

e imposition of or increases in customs duties and other tariffs;

e imposition of or increases in currency exchange controls, including imposition of or
increases in limitations on conversion of various currencies into dollars or euros,
making of intercompany loans by subsidiaries or remittance of dividends, interest or
principal payments or other payments by subsidiaries;

* imposition of or increases in revenue, income or earnings taxes and withholding and
other taxes on remittances and other payments by subsidiaries;

e imposition of or increases in investment or trade restrictions and other restrictions or
requirements by non-U.S. governments;

e 1nability to definitively determine or satisfy legal requirements, inability to effectively
enforce contract or legal rights and inability to obtain complete financial or other
information under local legal, judicial, regulatory, disclosure and other systems; and

e nationalization and other risks which could result from a change in government or
other political, social or economic instability.

We cannot assure you that such risks will not have a material adverse effect on us in the
future.

In general, our results of operations and financial condition are affected by inflation in
each country in which we have a manufacturing facility. We maintain operations in Brazil,
Russia and Mexico, countries which have had in the past, and may have now or in the future,
highly inflationary economies, defined as cumulative inflation of about 100% or more over a
three calendar year period. We cannot assure you that future increases in our costs will not
exceed the rate of inflation or the amounts, if any, by which we may be able to increase prices
for our products.

42




Our ability to grow and compete effectively depends on protecting our intellectual
property. Failure to protect our intellectual property could adversely affect us.

We believe that our intellectual property, consisting primarily of patents and proprietary
know-how and information, particularly the intellectual property relating to electronic thermal
management and fuel cell power generation, is important to our growth. Failure to protect our
intellectual property may result in the loss of the exclusive right to use our technologies. We rely
on patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws and confidentiality and restricted use
agreements to protect our intellectual property. Some of our intellectual property is not covered
by any patent or patent application or any such agreement.

We own, and have obtained exclusive and non-exclusive licenses to, various domestic
and foreign patents related to our technologies. These patents and licenses expire at various
times over the next two decades. When such patents and exclusive licenses expire, we will no
longer have the right to exclude others from making, using or selling the claimed inventions.

Patents are subject to complex factual and legal considerations. Accordingly, there can
be uncertainty as to the validity, scope and enforceability of any particular patent. Therefore, we
cannot assure you that:

e any of the U.S. or foreign patents now or hereafter owned by us, or that third parties
have licensed to us or may in the future license to us, will not be circumvented,
challenged or invalidated; :

e any of the U.S. or foreign patents that third parties have non-exclusively licensed to
us, or may non-exclusively license to us in the future, will not be licensed to others;
or

e any of the patents for which we have applied or may in the future apply will be issued
at all or with the breadth of claim coverage sought by us.

We cannot assure you that agreements designed to protect our proprietary know-how and
information will not be breached, that we will have adequate remedies for any such breach, or
that our strategic alliance partners, consultants, employees or others will not assert rights to
intellectual property arising out of our relationships with them.

In addition, effective patent, trademark and trade secret protection may be limited,
unavailable or not applied for in the U.S. or in any of the foreign countries in which we operate.

Moreover, we cannot assure you that the use of our patented technology or proprietary
know-how or information does not infringe the intellectual property rights of others.

Intellectual property protection does not protect against technological obsolescence due
to developments by others or changes in customer needs.

Our ability to establish and maintain our competitive advantage through our technology

and any intellectual property rights may be achieved, in part, by prosecuting claims against
others whom we believe have misappropriated our technology or have infringed upon our
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intellectual property rights, as well as by defending against misappropriation or infringement
claims brought by others against us. Our involvement 1n litigation to protect or defend our rights
in these areas could result in a significant expense to us, adversely affect the development of
sales of the related products, and divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel,
regardless of the outcome of such litigation.

If necessary, we may seek licenses to intellectual property of others. However, we can
give no assurance to you that we will be able to obtain such licenses or that the terms of any such
licenses will be acceptable to us. Our failure to obtain a license from a third party for its
intellectual property that is necessary for us to make or sell any of our products could cause us to
incur substantial liabilities and to suspend the manufacture or shipment of products or use of
processes requiring the use of such intellectual property.

Our current and former manufacturing operations are subject to increasingly stringent
health, safety and environmental requirements.

We use and generate hazardous substances in our manufacturing operations. In addition,
both the properties on which we currently operate and those on which we have ceased operations
are and have been used for industrial purposes. Further, our manufacturing operations involve
risks of personal injury or death. We are subject to increasingly stringent environmental, health
and safety laws and regulations relating to our current and former properties and neighboring
properties and our current operations. These laws and regulations provide for substantial fines
and criminal sanctions for violations and sometimes require the installation of costly pollution
control or safety equipment or costly changes in operations to limit pollution or decrease the
likelihood of injuries. In addition, we may become subject to potentially material liabilities for
the investigation and cleanup of contaminated properties and to claims alleging personal injury
or property damage resulting from exposure to or releases of hazardous substances or personal
injury as a result of an unsafe workplace. Further, noncompliance with or stricter enforcement of
existing laws and regulations, adoption of more stringent new laws and regulations, discovery of
previously unknown contamination or imposition of new or increased requirements could require
us to 1ncur costs or become the basis of new or increased liabilities that could be material.

We are dependent on supplies of raw materials and energy at affordable prices. Our
results of operations could deteriorate if that supply is substantially disrupted for an
extended period.

We purchase raw materials and energy from a variety of sources. In many cases, we
purchase them under short term contracts or on the spot market, in each case at fluctuating
prices. We purchase a majority of our requirements for petroleum coke, our principal raw
material, at variable prices, from multiple plants of a single supplier under a supply agreement
that continues through the end of 2006. The availability and price of raw materials and energy
may be subject to curtailment or change due to:

¢ limitations which may be imposed under new legislation or regulation;

¢ suppliers’ allocations to meet demand of other purchasers during periods of shortage
(or, in the case of energy suppliers, extended cold weather);
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¢ interruptions in production by suppliers; and
¢ market and other events and conditions.

Petroleum and coal products, including petroleum coke and pitch, our principal raw
materials, and energy, particularly natural gas, have been subject to significant price fluctuations.
Over the past several years, we have largely mitigated the effect of price increases on our results
of operations primarily through our cost reduction efforts. We cannot assure you that such
efforts will successfully mitigate future increases in the price of raw materials or energy. A
substantial increase in raw material or energy prices which cannot be mitigated or passed on to
customers or a continued interruption in supply, particularly in the supply of petroleum coke or
energy, would have a material adverse effect on us. E

Our results of operations could deteriorate if our manufacturing operations were
substantially disrupted for an extended period.

Our manufacturing operations are subject to disruption due to extreme weather
conditions, floods and similar events, major industrial accidents, strikes and lockouts, adoption
of new laws or regulations, changes in interpretations of existing laws or regulations or changes
in governmental enforcement policies, and other events. We cannot assure you that no such
events will occur. If such an event occurs, it could have a material adverse effect on us.

We have significant non-dollar-denominated intercompany loans and significant interest
rate swaps and may in the future have significant foreign currency financial instruments.
Translation gains and losses due to changes in currency exchange rates or interest rates
have in the past resulted and may in the future result in significant gains or losses.

We have non-dollar-denominated intercompany loans between GrafTech Finance and
some of our foreign subsidiaries. At December 31, 2003, the aggregate principal amount of
these loans was $423 million (based on currency exchange rates in effect on December 31,
2003). These loans are subject to translation gains and losses due to changes in currency
exchange rates. A portion of these loans are deemed to be essentially permanent and, as a resuit,
translation gains and losses on these loans are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The balance of these loans are deemed to be temporary
and, as a result, translation gains and losses on these loans are recorded as unrealized gains or
losses in other expense (income), net, on the Consolidated Staterments of Operations. We have
the ability to replace each intercompany loan with a substantially identical new intercompany
loan. When we replace such a loan, we record net cumulative realized translation gains or losses
~ with respect to that loan in other expense (income), net. Those realized gains or losses are,
however, non-cash gains or losses. Foreign currency translation gains and losses relating to
these loans included in other expense (income), net, were a gain of $39 million in 2003,

We have interest rate swaps that effectively convert fixed rate debt (represented by the
Senior Notes) into.variable rate debt in order to seek to minimize interest expense and optimize
the risk in our portfolio of fixed and variable interest rate obligations. At December 31, 2003,
we had swaps for a notional amount of $485 million. Our swaps are designated as hedging the
exposure to changes in the fair value of the related debt (called a fair value hedge). Our swaps

45

_-—



are marked-to-market monthly, and we are required to provide cash collateral to the counterparty
to the extent that the fair value of the derivative exceeds $15 million, net of market value of our
interest rate caps. The fair value of the hedge at the end of a period is recorded on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets on the line entitled “fair value of hedged debt obligation.” At
December 31, 2003, the carrying value of our debt was reduced by $18 million (excluding the
offsetting value of our interest rate caps of $4 million) as a result of our fair value hedge. The
interest rate swap derivative was valued at $18 million at December 31, 2003 and recorded as
part of other long-term obligations on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. When we sell swaps,
the gain or loss realized is amortized as a credit or charge to interest expense over the remaining
term of the Senior Notes. When we effectively reduce the outstanding principal amount of the
Senior Notes (through exchanges or otherwise), the related portion of such credit or charge is
accelerated and recorded in the period in which such reduction occurs. In 2003, we realized net
proceeds of $30 million with respect to the sale of swaps, which will be amortized as a credit to
interest expense over the remaining term of the Senior Notes.

We have foreign currency financial instruments to attempt to limit our risks associated
with changes in currency exchange rates by attempting to hedge existing exposures, firm
commitments and, potentially, anticipated transactions. These instruments are marked-to-market
monthly. Gains and losses are recorded as unrealized gains or losses in other (income) expense,
net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. When we sell the instruments, we record net
cumulative realized gain or loss with respect to the instruments in other expense (income), net on
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. In 2003, we recorded a loss of $7 million with
respect to the instruments held during the course of the year. We had no such contracts
outstanding at December 31, 2003.

We may purchase or sell these financial instruments, and open and close hedges or other
positions, at any time. We cannot assure you that we will have gains, or will not have losses, of -
the type described above. Incurrence of material losses, and provision of material cash
collateral, could materially adversely affect our ability to comply with the financial covenants
under the Senior Facilities.

Our results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of our results of
operations for a full year. '

‘Sales of graphite electrodes and other products fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to
such factors as changes in economic conditions, changes in competitive conditions, scheduled
plant shutdowns by customers, national vacation practices, changes in customer production
schedules in response to seasonal changes in energy costs, weather conditions, strikes and work
stoppages at customer plants and changes in customer order patterns in response to the
announcement of price increases. We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience,
volatility with respect to demand for and prices of graphite electrodes and other products, both
globally and regionally.

We have also experienced volatility with respect to prices of raw materials and energy,
and it has frequently required several quarters of cost reduction efforts to mitigate increases in
those prices. We expect to experience volatility in such prices in the future. We have
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experienced translation gains and losses in the past, some of which have been significant, and
expect to experience translation gains and losses in the future.

Accordingly, results of operations for any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the
results of operations for a full year.

The graphite and carbon industry is highly competitive. Our market share, net sales or net
income could decline due to vigorous price and other competition.

Competition in the graphite and carbon products industry (other than with respect to new
products) is based primarily on price, product quality and customer service. Graphite electrodes,
in particular, are subject to rigorous price competition. Price increases by us or price reductions
by our competitors, decisions by us or our competitors with respect to prices, volumes or profit
margins, technological developments, changes in the desirability or necessity of entering into
long term supply contracts with customers or other competitive or market factors or strategies
could adversely affect our market share, net sales or net income.

Competition with respect to new products is, and is expected to be, based primarily on
product innovation, performance and cost effectiveness as well as customer service.

Competition could prevent implementation of price increases, require price reductions or
require increased spending on research and development, marketing and sales that could
adversely affect us.

We may not be successful in the lawsuit against our former parents initiated by us.

-In February 2000, we initiated a lawsuit against our former parents. In February 2004,
this lawsuit was dismissed. We subsequently appealed the dismissal. Successful prosecution of
this lawsuit is subject to many risks and uncertainties, including:

o failure to successfully challenge the dismissal of that lawsuit;
o failure to successfully prove our claims at trial;

s~ successful assertion by the defendants of substantive defenses, including statute of
limitations defenses, to liability at trial or on appeal; and : _

¢ successful assertion by the defendants of counterclaims or cross claims, including
~ claims for indemnification, at trial or on appeal.

Litigation such as this lawsuit is complex. Complex litigation can be lengthy and
-expensive. This lawsuit is in its earliest stages. We cannot predict the ultimate outcome of this
lawsuit, including the possibility, timing or amount of any settlement or recovery of damages by
us or any liability we may have in connection with any counterclaims or cross claims. In
addition, we cannot assure you as to the effect of this lawsuit on management’s focus and time
available for our ongoing operations.
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We may not be able to complete our planned asset sales.

We intend to continue to sell real estate, non-strategic businesses and certain other non-
strategic assets. We cannot assure you if or when we will be able to complete these sales or that
we will realize proceeds therefrom that meet our current expectations.

We may not achieve the cost savings targeted under our 2002 major cost savings plan.

We are targeting, under the 2002 plan, cumulative annual recurring pretax cost savings of
$60 million in 2004 and $80 million in 2005. We recorded an aggregate of $33 million of
restructuring charges and $48 million of impairment losses on long-lived and other assets and
expect to record an additional $6 million of restructuring charges (primarily for severance
associated with further global business and work process changes, but excluding additional
restructuring charges that may be recorded relating to the closure of the majority of the graphite
electrode manufacturing operations in Italy). These charges include payments through
December 31, 2003 of $8 million of cash costs and expected payments of an additional
$27 million of cash costs. We cannot assure you that the charges and cash costs associated with
the 2002 plan will not be higher than anticipated.

Our targeted cost savings are based on assumptions regarding activities undertaken and to
be undertaken as part of the 2002 plan. We cannot assure you that these assumptions are correct
or that we will be able to implement these activities. If we are unable to implement these
activities as and when we have assumed, we may not be able to meet our cost savings targets.

Risks Relating to our Securities and Pledges of Our Assets

The Senior Notes and the related guarantees have limited security, and the Debentures and
the related guarantees have no security. As a result, the Debt Securities are effectively
subordinated to the Senior Facilities, which are secured by most of our assets, and to
certain other secured debt and obligations. This could result in holders of the Debt
Securities receiving less on liquidation than the lenders under the Senior Facilities and
certain other creditors. In addition, this could result in holders of the Debentures receiving
less on liquidation than the holders of the Senior Notes.

The borrower under the Senior Facilities is GrafTech Finance. The Senior Facilities are
guaranteed by all of our domestic subsidiaries, including AET. Substantially all of our assets in
the U.S. (except for the unsecured intercompany term note obligations described below) are
pledged to secure obligations of GrafTech Finance as borrower under, or guarantees by our
domestic subsidiaries of, the Senior Facilities. In addition, UCAR Carbon and our Swiss
subsidiary are obligors under intercompany revolving notes that are pledged to secure the Senior
Facilities. Substantially all of the assets of our Swiss subsidiary are pledged to secure its
intercompany revolving note. The secured intercompany revolving note of our Swiss subsidiary
is also guaranteed by our other principal foreign subsidiaries. Those guarantees are secured by a
pledge of most of the assets of the foreign subsidiary guarantors. Those guarantees are pledged
to secure the Senior Facilities. As a result, most of our assets outside the U.S. are pledged to
secure the intercompany revolving note of our Swiss subsidiary and guarantees of that note.
Further, our obligation to pay the balance of the DOJ antitrust fine is secured by a lien on all of
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the assets of GTI and we have posted a $72 million provisional payment to the EU Competition
Authority to secure payment of the EU antitrust fine pending the outcome of our appeal.

The Senior Notes have been issued by GrafTech Finance, and the Debentures have been
issued by GTI. Unsecured intercompany term notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to
$528 million.(based on currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003) and unsecured
guarantees of those unsecured intercompany term notes by certain of our foreign subsidiaries
have been pledged by GrafTech Finance to secure the Senior Notes, subject to the limitation that
at no time will the combined value of the pledged portion of any foreign subsidiary’s unsecured
intercompany term note and unsecured guarantee of unsecured intercompany term notes issued
by other foreign subsidiaries exceed 19.99% of the principal amount of the then outstanding
Senior Notes. As a result of this limitation, at December 31, 2003, the aggregate principal
amount of unsecured intercompany term notes pledged to secure the Senior Notes equaled $366
million (based on currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003), or about 74% of the
aggregate principal amount of the then outstanding Senior Notes. The remaining unsecured
intercompany term notes held by GrafTech Finance is about 31% of the aggregate principal
amount of the unsecured intercompany term notes or $162 million (based on currency exchange
rates in effect at December 31, 2003), and any pledged unsecured intercompany term notes that
-cease-to-be pledged.due to a reduction in the principal amount of the then outstanding Senior
Notes due to redemption, repurchase or other events, will not be subject to any pledge and will
be available to satisfy the claims of creditors (including the lenders under the Senior Facilities,
the holders of the Senior Notes and, pursuant to the guarantee by GrafTech Finance of the
Debentures, the holders of the Debentures) of GrafTech Finance, as their interests may appear.
The Senior Notes contain provisions restricting the pledge-of those unsecured intercompany term
notes to secure any debt or obligation. The foreign subsidiaries who are obligors under any of
such unsecured intercompany term notes or the related guarantees are called “unsecured
intercompany term note obligors” and their obligations thereunder are called “unsecured
intercompany term note obligations.”

~ The guarantees of the unsecured intercompany term notes by foreign subsidiaries that are
pledged to secure the Senior Notes are limited as required to comply with applicable law. Many
of these laws effectively limit the amount of the guarantee to the net worth of the foreign
subsidiary guarantor.

Neither the Senior Notes nor the Debentures contain limitations on new secured
intercompany term or revolving loans under the Senior Facilities to, or intercompany guarantees
of such intercompany loans by, foreign subsidiaries, including foreign subsidiaries that are
unsecured intercompany term note obligors.

The Senior Notes are guaranteed by GTI, UCAR Carbon and other U.S. subsidiaries that
collectively hold a substantial majority of our U.S. operating assets. The Debentures are
guaranteed by GrafTech Finance, UCAR Carbon and other U.S. subsidiaries that collectively
hold a substantial majority of our U.S. operating assets. Except for a subsidiary that is being
dissolved and liquidated, the obligors (including the guarantors) under the Senior Notes and the
Debentures are the same. The guarantees of the Senior Notes and the Debentures are unsecured,
except the guarantee of the Senior Notes by UCAR Carbon. Each of the obligors (including
guarantors) under the Senior Notes and the Debentures is also an obligor (including a guarantor)
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under the Senior Facilities, and those obligations are secured. AET has guaranteed the Senior
Facilities, but has not guaranteed the Senior Notes or the Debentures. The guarantee of the
Senior Facilities by AET is secured. The guarantee of the Senior Notes by UCAR Carbon is
secured by a pledge of all of the shares of capital stock (constituting 97.5% of the outstanding
shares of capital stock) of AET held by UCAR Carbon (called the “AET Pledged Stock”).
While all of the AET Pledged Stock is pledged to secure the UCAR Carbon guarantee of the
Senior Notes, at no time will the value of the pledged portion of the AET Pledged Stock exceed
19.99% of the principal amount of the then outstanding Senior Notes. Moreover, the pledge of
the AET Pledged Stock is junior to the pledge of the same shares to secure the UCAR Carbon
guarantee of the Senior Facilities.

None of our foreign subsidiaries has guaranteed the Senior Facilities, the Senior Notes or
the Debentures.

The lenders and creditors whose debt and obligations are secured will have prior claims
on our assets, to the extent of the lesser of the value of the assets securing, or the amount of, the
respective debt or obligations. If we become bankrupt or insolvent or are liquidated or if
maturity of such debt or obligations is accelerated, the secured lenders and creditors will be
entitled to exercise the remedies available to a secured party under applicable law and pursuant
to the relevant agreements and instruments, including the ability to foreclose on and sell the
assets securing such debt or obligations to satisfy such debt or obligations. If they exercise such
remedies, it is possible that our remaining assets could be insufficient to repay in full the debts
and obligations to creditors whose debt and obligations are unsecured, including holders of the
Debentures and, to the extent that the Senior Notes are not repaid in full upon exercise of the
remedies available to holders thereof as secured parties under applicable law and pursuant to the
relevant agreement and instruments, the holders of the Senior Notes.

We have a holding company structure. The issuer of the Senior Notes is a special purpose
finance company. The issuer of the Debentures is our parent holding company.
Accordingly, the Senior Notes and the Debentures are structurally subordinated to certain
of our obligations.

GTI, the issuer of the Debentures, is our parent company. It is a holding company with
no operations, limited assets (all of which are pledged to secure the Senior Facilities and the DOJ
antitrust fine) and substantial debt, liabilities and obligations.

GrafTech Finance, the issuer of the Senior Notes, is a special purpose finance company
with limited operations, limited assets (a substantial majority of which are pledged to secure the
Senior Facilities and the Senior Notes) and substantial debt.

A substantial portion of our operations is conducted by, and a substantial portion of our
cash flow from operations is derived from, our foreign subsidiaries. The foreign subsidiaries that
have issued unsecured intercompany term notes that are pledged to secure the Senior Notes are
our operating subsidiaries in Mexico, France, South Africa and Switzerland and our holding
company in France. The obligations of the holding company in France in respect of its
unsecured intercompany term note are guaranteed, on an unsecured basis, by our operating
company in France engaged in the graphite electrode business. The unsecured intercompany
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term notes are guaranteed, on an unsecured basis, by our operating subsidiaries in Brazil,
Canada, Mexico, Spain, Switzerland and the United Kingdom and the holding company in
France. These subsidiaries have also guaranteed, on a secured basis, the secured intercompany
revolving note of our Swiss subsidiary that is pledged to secure the Senior Facilities.

Our operating subsidiary in Italy engaged in the advanced graphite materials business,
our operating subsidiary in Russia and Carbone Savoie, AET and certain immaterial domestic
and foreign operating and holding companies are neither guarantors of the secured intercompany
revolving note of our Swiss subsidiary, nor guarantors of the Senior Notes or the unsecured
intercompany term notes, nor guarantors of the Debentures. At December 31, 2003, the
aggregate combined book value of their assets was about $189 million. For 2003, their
aggregate combined net loss was about $8 million and their aggregate combined net use of cash
from operations was about $10 million (excluding the impact of payments and borrowings under
a short-term unsecured intercompany cash flow note issued by Carbone Savoie). .

GrafTech Finance has made and may continue to make intercompany revolving loans to
our Swiss subsidiary and UCAR Carbon. At December 31, 2003 (based on currency exchange -
rates in effect on December 31, 2003), the aggregate principal amount of the secured
intercompany revolving loan to our Swiss subsidiary was nil. GTI, GrafTech Finance and our
other domestic subsidiaries may make intercompany term and revolving loans to one or more
other domestic or foreign subsidiaries. To the extent that these loans are made under the Senior
Facilities, any of these loans made to foreign subsidiaries may be secured, and guaranteed on a
secured basis, by other foreign subsidiaries. Neither the Senior Notes nor the Debentures contain
limitations on existing or new secured intercompany revolving loans pursuant to the Senior
* Facilities to domestic or foreign subsidiaries that are guarantors of the Senior Notes or unsecured-
intercompany term note obligors.

GTI relies upon interest and principal payments on intercompany loans, as well as
dividends, loans and advances from our subsidiaries, to generate the funds necessary to meet its
debt service obligations with respect to the Debentures. GrafTech Finance relies upon interest
- and principal payments on intercompany loans, as well as loans, advances and contributions
from GTI and our other subsidiaries, to generate the funds necessary to meet its debt service
obligations with respect to the Senior Facilities and the Senior Notes. GTI and our subsidiaries
are separate entities that are legally distinct from each other. Our subsidiaries that are neither
guarantors of the Senior Notes nor unsecured intercompany term note obligors have no
obligation, contingent or otherwise, to pay debt service on the Senior Notes or to make funds
available for such payments. Our subsidiaries that are not guarantors of the Debentures have no
obligation, contingent or otherwise, to pay debt service on the Debentures or to make funds
available for such payments. The ability of GTI and our subsidiaries to make these payments,
loans, advances or contributions is subject to, among other things and to the extent applicable,
their earnings and cash flows, their need for funds for business purposes, the covenants of their
other debts, guarantees and obligations, and restrictions on dividends, distributions or
repatriation of earnings under applicable corporate laws and foreign currency exchange
regulations. '

The ability of the holders of the Senior Notes or the Debentures to realize upon the assets
of any subsidiary that is neither a guarantor of the Senior Notes or the Debentures, respectively,
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nor, in the case of the Senior Notes only, an unsecured intercompany term note obligor in any
liquidation, bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceedings involving such subsidiary will be
subject to the claims of their respective creditors, including their respective trade creditors,
holders of their respective debt and their respective preferred stockholders.

As a result, the Senior Notes and the Debentures are structurally subordinated to all
existing and future debt and other obligations, including trade payables and obligations to
preferred stockholders, of our subsidiaries that are neither guarantors of the Senior Notes or the
Debentures, respectively, nor, in the case of the Senior Notes only, unsecured intercompany term
note obligors, and the ability of the issuers and guarantors of the Senior Notes and the
Debentures to receive (and therefore the ability of the holders of the Senior Notes and the
Debentures to participate in) the assets of any subsidiary upon liquidation, bankruptcy,
insolvency or similar proceedings involving any such subsidiary will be subject to the claims of
the holders of such debt and other obligations, including trade creditors and preferred
stockholders. In addition, to the extent that the issuers and guarantors of the Senior Notes and
the Debentures are creditors of any such subsidiary, whether as trade creditors, creditors under
the unsecured intercompany term notes or otherwise, their rights as a creditor could be equitably
subordinated to such claims. At December 31, 2003, the debt and liabilities of such subsidiaries
totaled $78 million (excluding intercompany trade and other miscellaneous liabilities of
$20 million).

Except.as otherwise specifically stated, the financial information included in this Report
is presented on a consolidated basis, including both our domestic and foreign subsidiaries. As a
result, such financial information does not completely indicate the assets, liabilities or operations
of each source of funds for payment of debt service on the Senior Notes or the Debentures.

The provisions of the unsecured intercompany term note obligations can be changed, and
the unsecured intercompany term notes can be prepaid in whole or in part, without the
consent of the holders of the Senior Notes under certain circumstances. Prepayment would
increase the structural subordination of the Senior Notes. Prepayment or changes in such
provisions-could reduce or eliminate the ability of holders of the Senior Notes to seek
recovery directly from our foreign subsidiaries upon a default under the Senior Notes.

In general, the unsecured intercompany term notes and the unsecured intercompany term
note guarantees cannot be changed, and the unsecured intercompany term notes cannot be
prepaid or otherwise discharged, without the consent of the holders of the Senior Notes.
However, without the consent of the holders of the Senior Notes:

+ the interest rate, interest payment dates, currency of payment of principal and interest
and currency in which an unsecured intercompany term note is denominated (subject
to certain limitations) can be amended;

s provisions of an unsecured intercompany term note obligation can be amended to
comply with changes in applicable law, so long as such amendments do not change
the enforceability, principal amount, stated maturity, average life, ranking or priority
or prepayment provisions of an unsecured intercompany term note or the
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enforceability of or obligations guaranteed under an unsecured intercompany term
note guaranty; and

e an unsecured intercompany term note can be prepaid in whole or in part if the
proceeds received by GrafTech Finance from such prepayment are (i) invested in or
loaned to a guarantor of the Senior Notes, (ii) loaned to another foreign subsidiary
pursuant to an unsecured mtercompany note that is pledged to secure the Senior
Notes and is, to the extent permitted by applicable law, guaranteed by the unsecured
intercompany term note guarantors or (iii) applied to an offer to purchase Senior
Notes at a purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Senior Notes,
plus accrued and unpaid interest.

The principal amount (expressed in dollars) of any unsecured intercompany term note
that is not denominated in dollars could increase or decrease at any time due to changes in
currency exchange rates.

A reduction in the principal amount of one or more unsecured intercompany notes could
increase the structural subordination of the Senior Notes, as described in the preceding risk
factors, and reduce the ability of holders of the Senior Notes to realize upon the assets of our
foreign subsidiaries upon a default under the Senior Notes. A change in the provisions of the
unsecured intercompany note obligations could also limit such ability.

In the event of the bankruptcy or insolvency of any of the subsidiary guarantors of the
Senior Notes or the unsecured intercompany term note obligors, the guarantee of the
Senior Notes by such guarantor or the unsecured intercompany term note and the
unsecured intercompany term note guarantee of such obligor could be voided or
subordinated. In the event of the bankruptcy or insolvency of any of the subsidiary
guarantors of the Debentures, the guarantee of the Debentures by such guarantor could be
voided or subordinated.

In the event of the bankruptcy or insolvency of any of the subsidiary guarantors of the
Senior Notes or the Debentures or any of the unsecured intercompany term note obligors, its
guarantee, unsecured intercompany term note guarantee or unsecured intercompany term note
would be subject to review under relevant fraudulent conveyance, fraudulent transfer, equitable
subordination and similar statutes and doctrines in a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding or a
lawsuit by or on behalf of creditors of that guarantor or obligor. Under those statutes and
doctrines, if a court were to find that the guarantee or note was incurred with the intent of
hindering, delaying or defrauding creditors or that the guarantor or obligor received less than a
reasonably equivalent value or fair consideration for its guarantee or note and, at the time of its
incurrence, the guarantor or obligor:

e was insolvent or rendered insolvent by reason of the incurrence of its guarantee or
note; or

e was engaged in a business or transaction for which its remaining unencumbered
assets constituted unreasonably small capital to carry on its business; or
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* intended to, or believed that it would, incur debts beyond its ability to pay as they
matured or became due;

then the court could void or subordinate its guarantee or note.

The measure of insolvency varies depending upon the law of the jurisdiction being
applied. Generally, however, a company will be considered insolvent at a particular time if the
sum of its debts at that time is greater than the then fair saleable value of its assets or if the fair
saleable value of its assets at the time is less than the amount that would be required to pay its
probable liability on its existing debts as they become absolute and mature. We believe that each
of the guarantors and obligors was:

e neither insolvent nor rendered insolvent by reason of the incurrence of its guarantee
or note;

e in possession of sufficient capital to run its business effectively; and
e incurring debts within its ability to pay as the same mature or become due.

The assumptions and methodologies used by us in reaching these conclusions about
solvency may not be adopted by a court, and a court may not concur with these conclusions. If
the guarantee of a guarantor or the unsecured intercompany term note guarantee or unsecured
intercompany term note of an unsecured intercompany term note obligor is voided or
subordinated, holders of the Senior Notes, holders of the Debentures or both would effectively be
subordinated to all indebtedness and other liabilities of that guarantor or, in the case of holders of
the Senior Notes, all indebtedness and other liabilities of that obligor.

The unsecured intercompany term note obligors are incorporated in jurisdictions other
than the U.S. and are subject to the bankruptcy and insolvency laws of such other jurisdictions.
We cannot assure you that the bankruptcy and insolvency laws of such jurisdictions will be as
favorable, to the interests of the holders of the Debt Securities as creditors, as the laws of the
U.SS.

We may not have the ability to purchase the Senior Notes upon a change of control as
required by the Senior Notes. We may not have the ability to purchase the Debentures
upon a fundamental change or upon specified dates as required by the Debentures.

Upon the occurrence of certain change of control events, we will be required to offer to
purchase the outstanding Senior Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount,
plus accrued and unpaid interest. Upon the occurrence of certain fundamental change events, we
will be required to offer to purchase the outstanding Debentures at a purchase price equal to
100% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest (including liquidated damages).
These events are the same under the Senior Notes and the Debentures, except that, in the case of
the Debentures, these events also include the failure of the capital stock (or certain equivalents)
into which they are convertible to be listed on a U.S. securities exchange or market and no offer
to purchase is required to be made if certain trading price or transaction consideration thresholds
are met. In addition, on January 15, 2011, January 15, 2014 and January 15, 2019, at the option
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of a holder of Debentures, such holder may require us to purchase some or all of its Debentures
at the same purchase price.

If such an event (including the exercise of such option) were to occur, we cannot assure
you that we would have sufficient funds to pay the purchase price, and we expect that we would
require third party financing to do so. We cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain this
financing on favorable terms or at all. Upon the occurrence of certain of these events, we may be
required to repay all borrowings under the Senior Facilities or obtain the consent of the lenders
under the Senior Facilities to purchase the Senior Notes and the Debentures. If we do not obtain
such consent or repay such borrowings, we may be prohibited from purchasing the Senior Notes
and the Debentures. In such case, our failure to purchase tendered Senior Notes or Debentures
would constitute a default under the Senior Notes or the Debentures, respectively. If the holders:
of the Senior Notes or the Debentures were to accelerate the maturity of the Senior Notes or the
Debentures, respectively, upon such default, the lenders under the Senior Facilities would have
the right to accelerate the maturity of the Senior Facilities. We cannot assure you that we will
have the financial ability to purchase outstanding Senior Notes and Debentures and repay such
borrowings upon the occurrence of any such event.

The Senior Notes, the Debentures and the respective related guarantees rank equally with
each other and certain of our other debt and liabilities.

The Senior Notes and the related guarantees, and the Debentures and the related
guarantees, are general senior obligations of the respective issuers and guarantors. Payments in
respect thereof rank equally with each other and with payments in respect of all other present or
future senior indebtedness of such issuets and guarantors, respectively (including the secured
obligations under or guarantees of the Senior Facilities and, in the case of GTI as issuer or
guarantor, the secured EU antitrust fine and the secured DOJ antitrust fine), and senior to all
present or future subordinated obligations of such issuers and guarantors, respectively. Such
payments are effectively subordinated to all present or future secured indebtedness and
obligations, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness and obligations, as
described above. We currently have no subordinated indebtedness.

GTI and GrafTech Finance may from time to time incur additional debt, including senior
indebtedness and secured indebtedness. Our other subsidiaries may from time to time incur
additional debt, including senior indebtedness and secured indebtedness, as well as other
liabilities. Such additional debt may include indebtedness of subsidiaries that are guarantors of
the Senior Notes or the Debentures to subsidiaries that are not guarantors of the Senior Notes or
the Debentures, subject to certain limitations under the Senior Facilities (but not under the Senior
Notes or the Debentures). GTI and our subsidiaries are subject to certain limitations on
incurrence of debt under the Senior Facilities and the Senior Notes (but not under the
Debentures).

As a result of such ranking, holders of the Senior Notes and the Debentures may receive
less upon liquidation, bankruptcy, insolvency or similar proceedings than they would have
received if they had a more senior or secured ranking.
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The value of the conversion right associated with the Debentures may be substantially
lessened or eliminated if we are party to a merger, consolidation or other similar
transaction.

If we are party to a merger, consolidation, binding share exchange, sale, transfer or lease
of all or substantially all of our assets or similar transaction pursuant to which our common stock
is converted into, or into the right to receive, cash, securities or other property, then, at the
effective time of the transaction, the right to convert a Debenture into our common stock will be
changed into a right to convert it into the kind and amount of cash, securities or other property
which the holder would have received if the holder had converted its Debenture immediately
prior to the transaction. This change could substantially lessen or eliminate the value of the
conversion right associated with the Debentures. For example, if we were acquired in a cash
merger, each Debenture would become convertible solely into cash and would no longer be
convertible into securities whose value would vary depending on future prospects and other
factors.

f

The conditional conversion feature of the Debentures could result in a holder receiving less
than the value of the common stock into which a Debenture is convertible.

The Debentures are convertible into our common stock only if specified conditions are
met. If these conditions are not met, a holder will not be able to convert its Debentures, and a
holder may not be able to receive the value of our common stock into which its Debentures
would otherwise be convertible.

A holder of Debentures is not entitled to any rights with respect to our common stock, but
will be subject to all changes made with respect to our common stock.

Holders of Debentures are not entitled to any rights with respect to our common stock
(including voting rights and rights to receive dividends or other distributions), but will be subject
to all changes affecting our common stock. A holder will have rights with respect to our
common stock only if and when we deliver shares of our common stock to such holder upon
conversion of its Debentures and, to a limited extent, by virtue of the conversion rate adjustments
applicable to the Debentures. For example, if an amendment is proposed to GTI’s Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation or Amended and Restated By-Laws requiring stockholder
approval and the record date for determining the stockholders of record entitled to vote on the
amendment occurs prior to the delivery of shares of our common stock to a holder upon
conversion of its Debenture, such holder will not be entitled to vote on the amendment, although
such holder will nevertheless be subject to any changes in the powers, preferences or rights
pertaining to our common stock affected by the amendment.
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The Debenture Indenture contains only limited covenants, which may not protect a
holder’s investment if we experience significant adverse changes or engage in a highly
leveraged transaction such as a leveraged recapitalization.

The Debenture Indenture does not:

e require us to maintain any financial ratios or specified levels of net worth, revenues,
income, cash flow or liquidity and, therefore, does not protect holders of the
Debentures in the event that we experience significant adverse chanoes in our
financial condition or performance; :

e limit our ability to. incur additional indebtedness, including indebtedness that is equal
in right of payment to the Debentures;

s restrict our ability to pledge our assets;

» restrict our ability to pay dividends or make other payments in respect of our common
- stock or other securities ranking junior to the Debentures

e restrict our ability to make investments; or
e restrict our ability to issue new securities.

Such events may, however, result in an adjustment to the conversion rate applicable to the
Debentures.

Adjustments to the conversion rate appllcable to the Debentures may result in a taxable
distribution to a holder of Debentures.

The conversion rate-applicable to the Debentures will be adjusted if we distribute cash
with respect to our common stock and in certain other circumstances. Under Section 305(c) of
the Internal Revenue Code, an increase in the conversion rate as a result of our distribution of
cash to common stockholders generally will result in a deemed distribution to a holder of
Debentures. Other adjustments in the conversion rate (or failures to make such adjustments) that
have the effect of increasing a holder’s proportionate interest in our assets or earnings may have
the same result. Any deemed distribution to a holder will be taxable as a dividend to the extent
of our current or accumulated earnings and profits.

Conversion or repurchase of Debentures into or with our common stock will dilute the
ownership interests of other stockholders. In addition, to the extent that outstanding
options to purchase shares of our common stock are exerc1sed there will be further
dilution.

Our stock price may be volatile due to the nature of our business as well as the nature of
the securities markets, which could affect the short-term value of an investment in our
common stock, the Debentures or the Senior Notes. '

57




Many factors may cause the market price for our common stock to decline or fluctuate,
perhaps substantially, including:-

o failure of net sales, results of operations or cash flows from operations to meet the
expectations of securities analysts or investors;

» downward revisions in revenue, earnings or cash flow estimates of securities analysts;

e downward revisions or announcements that indicate possible downward revisions in
the ratings on the Senior Notes or the Debentures; :

¢ speculation in the press or investor perception concernmg our industry or our
prospects; and

e changes in general capital market conditions.

The stock markets in general have experienced extreme volatility that has often been
unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. These broad market fluctuations
may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock
have been the subject of securities class action litigation. We could be involved in a securities
class action litigation in the future. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and a
diversion of management’s attention and resources.

Forward Looking Statements

This Report contains forward looking statements. In addition, we or our representatives
have made or may make forward looking statements on telephone or conference calls, by
webcasts or emails, in person, in presentations or written materials, or otherwise. These include
statements about such matters as: future production and sales of steel, aluminum, electronic
devices, fuel cells and other products that incorporate our products or that are produced using our
products; future prices and sales of and demand for such products; future operational and
financial performance of our businesses; strategic plans; impacts of regional and global
economic conditions; interest rate management activities; rationalization, restructuring,
realignment, strategic alliance, raw material and supply chain, technology development and
collaboration, investment, acquisition, joint venture, operational, tax, financial and capital
projects; legal matters; consulting projects; potential offerings, sales and other actions regarding
debt or equity securities of us or our subsidiaries; and future costs, working capital, revenues,
business opportunities, values, debt levels, cash flows, cost savings and reductions, margins,
earnings and growth. The words “will,” “may,” “plan,” “estimate,” “project,” “believe,”
“anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “should,” “would,” “could,” “target,” “goal” and similar
expressions identify some of these statements.

EE 1Y b1

Actual future events and circumstances (including future results and trends) could differ
materially from those set forth in these statements due to various factors. These factors include:
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' the p‘(;ssibility that global or regional economic conditions affecting our ,pr_oduéts may

not improve or may worsen due to geopolitical events, governmental actions or other
factors;

the possibility that additions to capacity for producing steel in electric arc furnaces
may not occur, that reductions in graphite electrode manufacturing capacity may not
continue or that increases in graphite electrode manufacturing capacity may occur;

the possibility that increases in production of steel in electric arc furnaces or
reductions in graphite electrode manufacturing capacity may not result in stable or

increased demand for or prices or sales volume of graphite electrodes;

the possibility that economic or technological developments may adversely affect

- growth in the use of graphite cathodes in lieu of carbon cathodes in the aluminum

smelting process;

the possibility that additions to aluminum smelting capacity using graphite cathodes
may not occur or that increases in production of graphite cathodes by competitors
may occur,

the possibility that increases in production of aluminum or stable production of
graphite cathodes by competitors may not result in stable or increased demand for or
prices or sales volume of graphite cathodes;

the possibility that actual graphite electrode prices in the future may be different than
current spot prices due to changes in product mix, changes in currency exchange
rates; changes in competitive market conditions or other factors;

the possibility of delays in or failure to achieve successful development and
commercialization of new or improved electronic thermal management or other
products; ,

the possibility of delays in or failure to achieve widespread commercialization of
PEM fuel cells which use our products or that manufacturers of PEM fuel cells may
obtain those products from other sources;

- the possibility that end markets for our products (other than those mentioned above)

may not improve or may worsen;

the possibility of delays in meeting or failure to meet contractually specified or other
product development milestones or delays in expanding or failure to expand our
manufacturing capacity to meet growth in demand for existing, new or improved
products, if any;

the possibility that we may be unable to protect our intellectual property or may
infringe the intellectual property rights of others;
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e the occurrence of unanticipated events or circumstances relating to antitrust
investigations, lawsuits or claims or to the lawsuit initiated by us against our former
parents;

e the possibility that expected cost savings from our 2002 major cost savings plan or
our other cost savings efforts will not be fully realized;

e the possibility that the anticipated benefits from the corporate realignment of our
subsidiaries or the refinement of our organizational structure into three lines of
business may be delayed or may not occur;

e the possibility that our provision for income taxes and effective income tax rate (as
distinguished from our tax payments) may fluctuate significantly based on changes in
financial performance of subsidiaries in various countries, changes in estimates of
future ability to use foreign tax credits, changes in tax laws and other factors;

-o  the occurrence of unanticipated events or circumstances relating to health, safety or
environmental compliance or remediation obligations or liabilities to third parties,
labor relations, or raw material or energy supplies or cost;

e . changes in interest rates, in currency exchange rates (including those impacting our
euro-denominated antitrust liabilities or non-dollar denominated intercompany loans),
in competitive conditions or in inflation affecting our raw material, energy or other
COsts;

o the possibility of failure to satisfy conditions or milestones under, or occurrence of
breach of terms of, our strategic alliances with Pechiney, Ballard Power Systems or
others;

o the possibility of changes in appropriation or non-appropriation of government funds
for, or our failure to satisfy eligibility conditions to, government grants awarded to us;

¢ the possibility that changes in financial performance may affect our compliance with
financial covenants or the amount of funds available for borrowing under the Senior
Facilities;

o the possibility that we may not complete planned asset sales for amounts or at times
anticipated or at all or that we may not achieve the earnings estimates that we provide
as guidance from time to time; and

e other risks and uncertainties, including those described elsewhere in this Report or
our other SEC filings, as well as future decisions by us.

Occurrence of any of the events or circumstances described above could also have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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No assurance can be given that any future transaction about which forward looking
statements may be made will be completed or as to the timing or terms of any such transaction.

All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements by or attributable to us or
persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these factors. Except as
otherwise required to be disclosed in periodic reports required to be filed by public companies
with the SEC pursuant to the SEC’s rules, we have no duty to update these statements.
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Item 2. Properties

We operate the following facilities, which are owned or leased as indicated.

Location of Facility

U.s.

Wilmington, Delaware
Lakewood, Ohio
Parma, Ohio

Clarksville, Tennessee
Columbia, Tennessee
Lawrenceburg, Tennessee
Clarksburg, West Virginia

Europe
Calais, France
Notre Dame, France

Vénissieux, France
Caserta, [taly

Malonno, Italy

Saronno, ltaly

Moscow, Russia

Vyazma, Russia
Pamplona, Spain

Etoy, Switzerland
Sheffield, United Kingdom

Other International
Salvador Bahia, Brazil
Sao Paulo, Brazil
Beijing, China

Hong Kong, China
Monterrey, Mexico
Meyerton, South Africa

Primary Use

Corporate Headquarters

Flexible Graphite Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office
Technology Center, Testing Facility, Pilot Plant and
Advanced Flexible Graphite Manufacturing Facility

Sales Office, Shared Service Center and Machine Shop
Carbon Electrode Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office
Advanced Carbon Materials Manufacturing Facility
Advanced Synthetic Graphite Manufacturing Facility and
Sales Office

Graphite Electrode Manufacturing Facility

Graphite Electrode, Advanced Synthetic Graphite and
Cathode Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office
Cathode Manufacturing Facility and Technology Center
Machine Shop

Machine Shop and Sales Office

Sales Office

Sales Office

Graphite Electrode Manufacturing Facility

Graphite Electrode Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office
Sales Office and European Headquarters

Machine Shop and Sales Office

Graphite Electrode and Cathode Manufacturing Facility
Sales Office

Sales Office

Sales Office

Graphite Electrode Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office
Graphite Electrode Manufacturing Facility and Sales Office

Owned or
Leased

Leased
Owned

Owned
Leased
Owned
Owned
Owned

Owned

Owned
Owned
Owned
Owned
Leased
Leased
Owned
Owned
Owned
Owned

Owned
Leased
Leased
Leased
Owned
Owned

We believe that our facilities, which are of varying ages and types of construction, are in
good condition, are suitable for our operations and generally provide sufficient capacity to meet
our requirements for the foreseeable future.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information required by Item 3 is set forth under “Contingencies” in Note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and under “Subsequent Events” in Note 19 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, and is incorporated herein by reference. Such description
contains all of the information required with respect thereto.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders -

None.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the NYSE under the trading symbol “GTL” The closing
sale price of our common stock was $13.50 on December 31, 2003, the last trading day of our
last fiscal year. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing
sales price per share for our common stock as reported by the NYSE.

High Low

2002

FIrst QUATIET .o.eovvvieecreee et r e $ 1430 $ 9.80

Second QUATET........c..ocvieievierieri et 14.05 11.00

Third QUATET........ccecvier et 11.85 7.05

Fourth QUATrter.........cooevvioiereierecr et ecre v e 7.60 3.82
2003

FIrst QUATLET ...vovenioviecceirereeteneie et 5.89 2.57

Second QUATTET..........ovveirerrririiiieree et eneenas 6.30 2.39

Third QUArer........ccoovee et 8.94 5.50

Fourth QUarter..........cccoeoveeiein e 13.82 8.23

At February 27, 2004, there were 109 record holders of common stock. We estimate that
there were about 8,300 stockholders represented by nominees.

Our common stock is included in the Russell 2000 Index.

A description of GTI's Stockholder Rights Plan is set forth under “Stockholder Rights
Plan” in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this Report, and such
description is incorporated herein by reference. Such description contains all of the information
required with respect thereto.

Dividend Policies and Restrictions

1t is the current policy of GTI’s Board of Directors to retain earnings to finance strategic
and other plans and programs, conduct business operations, fund acquisitions, meet obligations
and repay debt. Any declaration and payment of cash dividends or repurchases of common stock
will be subject to the discretion of GTI’s Board of Directors and will be dependent upon our
financial condition, results of operations, cash requirements and future prospects, the limitations
contained in the Senior Facilities and the Senior Notes and other factors deemed relevant by
GTI’s Board of Directors. We do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

GTI is a holding company that derives substantially all of its cash flow from GrafTech
Global and GrafTech Finance. GTD’s ability to pay dividends or repurchase common stock from
earnings or cash flow from operating or investing activities is dependent upon the earnings and
cash flow from operating or investing activities of GrafTech Global and its subsidiaries and the
distribution of those earnings and cash flows by GrafTech Global to GTI.
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Under the Senior Facilities, GTI is permitted to pay dividends on common stock and
repurchase common stock only in an annual aggregate amount of $25 million, plus up to an
additional $25 million if certain leverage ratio and excess cash flow requirements are satisfied.
We are also permitted to repurchase common stock from present or former directors, officers or
employees in an aggregate amount of up to the lesser of $5 million per year (with unused
amounts permitted to be carried forward) or $25 million on a cumulative basis since February 22,
2000. In addition, GrafTech Global is permitted to pay dividends to GTI for those purposes and
also in respect of GTI's administrative fees and expenses and to fund payments in connection
with antitrust, securities and stockholder derivative investigations, lawsuits and claims. The total
amount of dividends to fund those payments (in each case, excluding certain imputed interest),
plus the total amount paid on intercompany debt owed to GTI for the same purpose (in each case,
excluding certain imputed interest), plus the amount of additional reserves created with respect to
these investigations, lawsuits and claims may not exceed $340 million by more than the
difference between $75 million (or $33 million, after giving effect to the $10 million charge
relating to the EU antitrust fine recorded in July 2001 and the $32 million charge recorded in the
2003 fourth quarter) and the principal amount of certain other debt ($1 million of which debt was
outstanding at December 31, 2003).

Under the Senior Notes, GTI is permitted to pay dividends on common stock and
repurchase common stock only in a cumulative (from February 15, 2002) amount of $25 million
(subject to reduction if we make other restricted payments), plus, if certain leverage ratio
requirements are satisfied, an amount of up to the sum of 50% of certain cumulative (from
April 1, 2002) consolidated net income, 100% of net cash proceeds from certain sales of
common stock (subsequent to February 15, 2002) and certain investment returns. We are also
permitted to repurchase common stock from present or former directors, officers or employees of
up to the lesser of §5 million annually or $10 million on a cumulative basis from February 13,
2002. GrafTech Global is permitted to pay dividends to GTI for those and other purposes.

The Debentures do not restrict the payment of dividends or repurchase of our common
stock, but such payment or repurchase may result in an adjustment to the conversion rate
applicable to the Debentures.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth certain information relating to the shares of our common stock
that may be issued under our equity compensation plans at December 31, 2003.

A B C
Number of Securities
Remaining Available
Number of Securities | Weighted-Average for Future Issuance
to be Issued upon Exercise Price of Under Equity
Exercise of Outstanding Compensation Plans
Outstanding Options, | Options, Warrants (excluding securities
Plan Category Warrants and Rights and Rights reflected in column A)
Equity compensation plans
approved by stockholders 6,048,993 $12.82 538,733
Equity compensation plans
not approved by
stockholders 5,460,994 $13.21 910,304
Total 11,509,987 $13.00 1,449,037 ©

(1) Includes the Management Stock Incentive Plan (Original Version), the 1995 Equity
Incentive Plan and the Management Stock Incentive Plan (Senior Version).

) Includes the Management Stock Incentive Plan (Mid-Management Version) and the 1996
Mid-Management Equity Incentive Plan.

3) Of these shares, 538,733 shares are available for awards to non-employee directors and
officers within the meaning of the rules of the NYSE.

See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a more detailed discussion
regarding our equity compensation plans.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data at and for the years ended
December 31, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002 and 2003 have been derived from our audited annual
Consolidated Financial Statements, except for the data under “Other Operating Data.” The data
set forth below should be read in conjunction with “Preliminary Notes-Presentation of Financial,
Legal and Market Data,” “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes

thereto.

Statement of Operations Data:
Net S8leS..cvevvereriiirrerinirccveviecceearreeenn
Gross Profit oo
Selling, administrative and other expenses
Restructuring charges (credit) (a)...............
Impairment loss on long-lived and other
a8SetS (B)eivviieen i,
Antitrust investigations and related
lawsuits and claims () ..ocvieivereerirenenn,
Securities class action and stockholder
derivative lawsuits (d) ...ccoovvevrireeerene
Other expense (income), net (&) .................
Interest EXPenSe.......ocvveerrrerrecnererireienieans
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes .
Income (loss) from continuing operations
@YD) cvvereeerernrierereereccreereieas
Income from discontinued operations (less
applicable income tax expense) ().........
Gain on sale of discontinued operations
(Iess applicable income tax expense) (f)
Net income (loss) (a)}(b)c)(@)}e)D)............
Basic income (loss) per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing
OPETALIONS ..vvrvererereeeieeerreriniveeesnenvrnenes
Income from discontinued operations....

Net income (10SS) ....oovverivmrvinvcierrerrenns

Weighted average common shares

outstanding (in thousands).................. ,

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing
OPETALIONS .vvvevievereeesiereeseaereeneasienaene
Income from discontinued operations....

Net income (1088) ...coveerererereerinioreninnn,

Weighted average common shares
outstanding (in thousands)..................
Balance sheet data (at period end):
Cash and cash equivalents.......c..ccceevvrneneee.
TOtal ASSEIS...cvvevivvrrerrirrerrrirrrrrieirenssarnians
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Year Ended December 31,
1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)
818 § 763 § 634 § 59 $ 712
256 214 179 135 168
84 84 75 81 85
(6) 6 12 6 20
35 3 80 17 7
- - 10 - 32
13 €)) - - ~
® 20 3 %) (12)
84 75 60 60 45
1 2 14 (16) 5
42 10 (89) (19) (26)
—~ - 2 1 1
- - - - 1
42 10 87) (18) (24)
094 § 022 § (1799 § (035) $ (0.38)
~ - 0.04 0.02 0.02
094 $_ 022 $_(1.75) $_(0.33) $__(0.36)
45,114 45224 49,720 55942 67981
091 § 022 8§ (1.79) § (035 $ (0.38)
- — 0.04 0.02 0.02
091 $__022 $_ (175 S$_(0.33y $_(0.36)
46,503 45813 49,720 55,942 67,981
17§ 47 8 38§ 11 3 34
933 908 797 859 967




Year Ended December 31,

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Short-term debt ........ccoecvveeenvcciiien - 3 7 18 1
Payments due within one year on long-

term debt .......cooocereiininii 82 27 - - -
Long-term debt carrying value........c.c..c.c.. 640 705 631 699 516
Fair value of hedged debt obligation.......... - - - 8 (18)
Unamortized bond premium ............ceevee. - - - 6 4
Total debt......ooveerveicniinicirneeiienccns 722 735 638 731 503
Other long-term obligations (excluding the

reserve for antitrust investigations,

lawsuits and claims) (g)......c...ocvverveenenn 120 126 132 163 182
Balance of reserve for antitrust

investigations, lawsuits and claims ........ 131 107 101 98 125
Other long-term obligationS .........cccccvnnne 224 209 231 258 225
Stockholders” deficit......oocvrerrrcererercrcrccnnane (293) 316) (332) (381) {128)
Working capital........ccocvovriincinniinnennn 101 99 112 115 94

Other financial data:

Gross profit margin.........ccccoveeeceirireriennne 31.3% 28.1% 28.2% 22.7% 23.6%
Depreciation and amortization................... $ 44 3 42 3 35 % 28 § 31
Capital expenditures.........ccorovirecerenerennns 56 52 40 50 41
Net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities from continuing operations...... 77 92 14 (60) (26)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating

activities from discontinued operations.. 3 2 3 - 1
Net cash provided by (used in) operating

ACHVIHIES .ovvevvererireiere e 80 94 17 (60) (25)
Net cash used in investing activities .......... (39) (50) (39) (50) (22)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing

ACHIVIEIES .. iveverrerieriirencnren e saneneccsasnasreenane (80) (13) 15 79 69

Other operating data:

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges (h)........ 1.55x 1.20x - - -
Quantity of graphite electrodes sold (in

thousands of metric tons) ... 206 217 174 180 200
Quantity of cathodes sold (in thousands of

PREIFIC FONS) covvivveeveiesieeseevseesaeanreanenaens 31 35 33 37 36

(a)

For 1999, represents a net reduction in the estimate of shutdown costs recorded in 1998.

For 2000, represents a $2 million cash charge in connection with the restructuring of our
advanced synthetic graphite products (then called advanced graphite materials) business
and a $4 million cash charge in connection with a corporate restructuring involving a
workforce reduction. These costs consisted primarily of severance. For 2001, represents a
$5 million charge related to a corporate realignment of our businesses, the relocation of
our corporate headquarters (including severance and related benefits associated with
workforce reductions) and the shutdown of graphite electrode manufacturing operations
in Clarksville and Columbia, Tennessee and coal calcining operations in Niagara Falls,
New York, and a $7 million charge related primarily to the mothballing of graphite
electrode manufacturing operations in Caserta, Italy. The cash portion of these charges
was $10 million. For 2002, represents a $6 million charge related primarily to the
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®)

(©)

(d

(e)

®

(2)

(h)

~ mothballing of graphite-electrode-manufacturing-operations in Caserta, Italy, including
-estimated pension, severance and other employee benefit costs. For 2003, represents a

$9 million charge for organizational changes related to U.S. voluntary and selective
severance programs and related benefits associated with workforce reductions and an
$11 million charge for the closure and settiement of our U.S. non-qualified defined
benefit plan for the participating salaried workforce.

For 1999, represents impairment loss on long-lived advanced synthetic graphite product
assets. For 2000, represents impairment loss on long-lived cathode assets. For 2001,
represents a $53 million impairment loss on Jong-lived assets primarily related to the
shutdowns in Tennessee described in note (a) above, a $1 million impairment loss related
to long-lived assets related to the shutdown in New York described in note (a) above, a
$1 million impairment loss related to the corporate realignment of our subsidiaries, a

$24 million impairment loss related to long-lived assets related to the mothballing in Italy
described in note (a) above and a $3 million impairment loss related to available-for-sale
securities. For 2002, represents a $12 million ($8 million after tax) impairment loss on
long-lived carbon electrode assets in Columbia, Tennessee, a $2 million impairment loss
on available-for-sale securitiés, and a $3 million ($2 million after tax) impairment loss on
our investment in our joint venture with Jilin. For 2003, represents a $5 million
impairment loss on long-lived assets relating to the closure of the majority of the graphite
electrode manufacturing operations in Caserta, Italy and a $2 million net non-cash write-
off of the remaining book value of assets of our former graphite electrode manufacturing
operations in Clarksville, Tennessee. '

Represents additional estimated potential liabilities and expenses in connection with
antitrust investigations and related lawsuits and claims.

Represents estimated liabilities and expenses in connection with securities class action
and stockholder derivative lawsuits, $1 million of which was reversed in 2000.

Includes: for 2000, a $21 million write-off of capitalized bank fees and other costs
resulting from early extinguishment of debt in connection with a debt recapitalization; for
2002, $21 million of gains due to currency translation on intercompany loans and
translation of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries which use the dollar as their
functional currency, $7 million of gains due to transactions with third parties and a

$4 million write-off of capitalized bank fees and other costs in connection with early
extinguishment of debt; and, for 2003, $35 million of gains due to currency exchange
benefits primarily associated with euro-denominated intercompany loans, partially offset
by other expenses.

Represents gain from the sale of our non-strategic compostte tooling business in the 2003
second quarter.

Represents pension, post-retirement and related benefits, employee severance liabilities
and miscellaneous other long-term obligations.

The ratic of earnings to fixed charges has been computed by dividing (i) earnings before
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income taxes, plus minority stockholders’ equity in consolidated entities, plus fixed
charges (excluding capitalized interest), plus amortization of capitalized interest, by (ii)
fixed charges, which consist of interest charges (including capitalized interest), plus the
portion of rental expense that we deem to include an interest factor. Earnings were
insufficient to cover fixed charges by $72 million in 2001, $32 million in 2002 and $23
million 2003. Non-cash restructuring charges and impairment losses on long-lived and
other assets were $82 million 2001, $17 million in 2002 and $11 million in 2003. Cash
restructuring charges were $10 million in 2001, $6 million in 2002 and $16 million in
2003.

The following quarterly selected consolidated financial data have been derived from the
Consolidated Financial Statements for the periods indicated, which have not been audited. The
selected quarterly consolidated financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with
“Preliminary Notes—Presentation of Financial, Legal and Market Data,” “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™” and the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Notes thereto.

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

2002

Net Sales ......coovrrverreeeieecceieeee e ettt $ 133 § 157 $ 150 § 156
GIOSS PIOTIE ..ttt e 30 35 33 37
Loss from continuing Operations .............ccvceevereererrerereeseesensnns 5 ) &) 2
Income from discontinued operations (less applicable ‘
INCOME tAXES EXPEISE) cuveireeirrrirerensereesrasassansserssasssassnassnsasaases 1 - - -

Gain on sale of discontinued operations (less applicable S
INCOME tAX EXPEIISE) ..ooveerererrverirerneierisineireresreereenessarteeneenne - - - -

Net 10ss (A)(D)EHA) c..vvriiovviicinic s 4 @) 3 8§ @
Basic income (loss) per common share: ‘ ,
Loss from continuing Operations ..........ccoeceveveverervirrerirnsesnnnns $ (0.08) $ (0.15) $ (0.09) '$ (0.04)
Income from discontinued operations ..........cccceeveevvveveernnenn, 0.02 001 - _0.01 -
Net 10SS Per Share .......ocoeeveiveirirneee s . $.0.06)  $_(0.14) $_(0.08) $_(0.04)
Diluted income (loss) per common share: :
Loss from continuing Operations .............cooveevrererecnsieeeanens $ (0.08) $ (0.15) $ (0.09) $ (0.04)
Income from discontinued Operations ...........coecevevvereeireevennen 0.02 0.01 0.01 -
Net loss per share ........c.ccooeeeerinnnas e $_(0.06) $_(0.14) $_(0.08) $_(0.04)
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First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

2003 _ -
NEESALES ....veviiirieeere ettt ettt ettt et as s .3 170 $° 181 $§ 173 § 188
GTOSS PIOfIE 1.veureririieieiecteiet ettt 39 43 41 45
Income (loss) from continuing operations ............c.oeveeeeersivennes _ (10) 6 6 (28)
Income from discontinued operations (less applicable

INCOME X EXPENSE) ..-vvvvriisrsrnrsrsrisnssississssessianisninssnsrne 1 - - -
Gain on sale of discontinued operations (less applicable '

INCOME tAX EXPENSE) w.vovvviiiiririiiie sttt ~ 1 - -
Net income (1088) (€)(E)(Z) .ovvververeerirereinicene e R %9 7 6 (28)
Basic income (loss) per common share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations ..., $ (0.17) 8 011§ 009 § (0.30)

Income from discontinued operations.............cceceveeeereriereene. 0.01 0.01 - -

Net income (108s) per Share .........ccoceeeveeeiiereriiceriee i, $ (0.16) $_0.12 $_0.09 $_(0.30)
Diluted income (loss) per common share:
Income (loss) from continuing Operations ..............cco.cccuenan. $ 017) § 011 $ 009 $ (030)
Income from discontinued operations..........ccc.cveeveeeeeiennenn. 0.01 0.01 — —
Net income (1088) Per Share .........cccoovevvvvveveveceieieeiesnrenns $ (0.16) $_0.12 $_0.09 $_(0.30)

(a) The 2002 first quarter includes a restructuring charge of $5 million related primarily to the
mothballing of graphite electrode manufacturing operations in Caserta, Italy.

(b) The 2002 second quarter includes a $12 million ($8 million after tax) impairment loss on
long-lived carbon electrode assets in Columbia, Tennessee and a $1 million impairment loss
on available-for-sale securities.

(c) The 2002 third quarter includes a $1 million impairment loss on available-for-sale securities.

(d) The 2002 fourth quarter includes a $3 million ($2 million after tax) impairment loss on our
investment in our joint venture with Jilin and an additional restructuring charge of $1 million
related to the mothballing of graphite electrode manufacturing operations in Caserta, Italy.

(e) The 2003 first quar:t‘erA includes a restructuring charge of $19 million related to organizational
changes and closure and settlement of our U.S. non-qualified defined benefit plan for the
participating salaried workforce. ' ‘

(f) The 2003 second quarter includes an additional restructuring charge of $1 million related to
organizational changes. : '

(g) The 2003 fourth quarter includes a $5 million impairment loss on long-lived assets relating to
the closure of graphite electrode manufacturing operations in Caserta, Italy and a $2 million
net non-cash write off of the remaining book value of assets of our former graphite electrode
manufacturing operations in Clarksville, Tennessee.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

Reference is made to the information elsewhere in this Report for background
information on our businesses, industry and related matters.

Repositioning Our Global Manufacturing Network and Other Initiatives

In January 2002, we announced a major cost savings plan that we believe is one of the
most aggressive major cost reduction plans being implemented in our industry.

The key elements of the 2002 plan consist of:

o the further rationalization of graphite electrode manufacturing capacity at our higher
cost facilities and the expansion of capacity at our lower cost facilities;

¢ the implementation of global business and work process changes;

o the redesign and implementation of changes in our benefit plans for active and retired
employees;

e the corporate realignment of our subsidiaries to generate significant tax savings; and
¢ sales of non-strategic assets.

Under the 2002 plan, we are targeting cumulative recurring annual pretax cost savings of
$60 million in 2004 and $80 million in 2005. Savings achieved under the 2002 plan are additive
to those which we achieved by the end of 2001 under our 1998 global restructuring and
rationalization plan. All cost savings described below under this section entitled “Repositioning
Our Global Manufacturing Network and Other Initiatives” are included in the aggregate amounts
set forth above. We achieved recurring pretax cost savings of $19 million in 2003, for total
cumulative savings of $33 million since January 1, 2002.

We recorded an aggregate of $33 million of restructuring charges and $48 million of
impairment losses on long-lived and other assets, and expect to record an additional $6 million of
restructuring charges (primarily for severance associated with further global business and work
process changes, but excluding additional restructuring charges that may be recorded relating to
the closure of the majority of the graphite electrode manufacturing operations in Italy), in
connection with the 2002 plan. These charges include payments through December 31, 2003 of
$8 million of cash costs and expected payments of an additional $27 million of cash costs. All
charges described below under this section entitled “Repositioning our Global Manufacturing
Network and Other Initiatives” are included in the aggregate amounts set forth above.

Remaining actions associated with the 2002 plan that could result in additional
restructuring charges relate primarily to the implementation of global work process changes and
additional overhead cost reductions.

72




Rationalization of Our Global Manufacturing Network. We have repositioned our
global manufacturing network by rationalizing our higher cost manufacturing facilities and
redeploying capacity to our remaining larger, lower cost, strategically located facilities.:

Graphite Electrodes. In 1999 and 2000, we shut down the high cost graphite electrode
manufacturing operations at our facilities in Canada and Germany and rationalized the graphite
electrode manufacturing operations at our facilities in Russia. In 2001, we shut down the high
cost graphite electrode manufacturing operations at our facilities in Tennessee. In 2001, we
recorded a $5 million restructuring charge and a $53 million impairment loss on long-lived assets
primarily relating to the shutdown in Tennessee. In addition, in 2001, we incrementally expanded
graphite electrode manufacturing capacity at our lower cost facilities in Mexico, Spain and South
Africa for a capital investment of about $3 million.

In the 2001 fourth quarter, we recorded a $7 million restructuring charge and a $24
million impairment loss on long-lived assets in connection with the planned mothballing of our
high cost graphite electrode manufacturing operations at our facility in Italy. In 2002, we
mothballed the Italian facility and recorded an additional $6 million restructuring charge. These
operations had the capacity to manufacture 26,000 metric tons of graphite electrodes annnally.
At the end of 2003, we announced the permanent closure of the majority of our graphite
electrode manufacturing operations in Italy. We also recorded a $5 million impairment loss on

- long-lived assets relating to the remaining fixed assets. In the next twelve to eighteen months,

‘we may recoid additional restructuring charges and incur additional exit costs in connection with
such closure. It is also possible that we may, at any time, decide to permanently shut down our -
remaining graphite electrode operations in Italy. In such event, we may record additional
restructuring charges and incur additional exit costs.

During the 2002 second quarter, we launched the expansion of our graphite electrode
manufacturing facility in Mexico from about 40,000 metric tons to about 60,000 metric tons
annually. We completed 10,000 metric tons of expansion at this facility by the end of 2002. We
completed the remaining 10,000 metric tons of expansion during the 2003 first quarter. The 2003
second quarter was the first full quarter of operation of the fully expanded capacity. In 2002 and
2003, we also incrementally expanded graphite electrode manufacturing capacity at our other
facilities. The expansions required capital investments of about $15 million.

The repositioning of our network allows us to deliver the same graphite electrode sales
volume that we delivered over the past few years with a significantly lower fixed cost base. With
the repositioning and our proprietary process and technological improvements, we now have the
capability, depending on product demand and mix, to manufacture more than 220,000 metric
tons of graphite electrodes from our existing assets.

Other Products. In 2001, we shut down our coal calcining operations in New York

- primarily because we entered into a five-year agreement to purchase calcined coal from a third

party at a-competitive cost. We recorded a $1 million impairment loss on the related long-lived
assets. '
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In 2001, we also launched operations on our new advanced natural graphite production
line, which was financed with a pornon of the net proceeds from our public offering of common
stock in July 2001. :

In 2002, we recorded a $12 million impairment loss on our long-lived carbon electrode
assets in Tennessee as a result of a decline in demand and loss of market share. The primary end
market for carbon electrodes is silicon metal, which was very depressed in the U.S. where our
main customer base is located. :

Redesign and Implementation of Changes to Global Manufacturing, Marketing and
Sales Processes. We have evaluated virtually every aspect of our global supply chain, and we
have redesigned and implemented changes to our global manufacturing, marketing and sales
processes to leverage the strengths of our repositioned network. Among other things, we have
eliminated manufacturing bottlenecks, improved product and service quality and delivery
reliability, expanded our range of products, and improved our global sourcing and product mix
for our customers. Since 1999, we have reduced annual customer compensation for graphite
electrode quality claims from $3 million to less than $1 million. We also redirected marketing
and sales activities to better service the needs of both existing and new customers.

Redesign and Implementation of Changes to Benefit Plans. In the 2001 fourth quarter
and the 2002 first quarter, we redesigned and implemented changes in our retiree medical
insurance plan and our U.S. retirement and savings plans for active employees. Among other
things, we froze our qualified defined benefit plan and established a new defined contrlbutlon
plan for most of our U.S. employees. :

In July 2002, we amended our U.S. post-retirement medical coverage. Effective
March 31, 2003, we discontinued the Medicare supplement plan (for retirees 65 years ot older or
those eligible for Medicare benefits). This change applies to all active employees except for
some employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement, all current retirees who were not
covered by a collective bargaining agreement when they retired and those retirees who retired
under a former collective bargamlng agreement : :

In June 2003, we announced the termination of the early retiree medical plan for retirees
under age 65, effective December 31, 2005. In addition, we will limit the amount of retiree’s life
insurance after December 31, 2004, ’

The impact of these changes is being amortized over the average remaining period to full
eligibility of the related post-retirement benefits and resulted in a $8 million net benefit in 2003
that is reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Effective March 2003, we froze our qualified defined benefit plan for our remaining U.S.
employees and closed our non-qualified U.S. defined benefit plan for the participating salaried
workforce. The closure and settlement of our non-qualified U.S. defined benefit plan resulted in
a $11 million restructuring charge in the 2003 first quarter.

Implementation of Changes to Global Business Processes. We began to implement in
2000 and continue to implement global business and work process rationalization and
transformation initiatives, including:
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o the streamlining of our organizational structure within our three major lines of
business; :

o the consolidation and streamlining of order fulfillment, purchasing, finance and
accounting, and human resource processes;

o the identification and implementation of outsourcing opportunities;

o the improvement in performance through realignment and enterprise-wide
standardization of supply chain processes and systems; and

¢ the improvement of interfaces and information technology infrastructures with
trading partners

These activities are targeted for completlon by the end of 2005. Through December 31, 2003,
our investment in these initiatives included about $13 million of consulting fees and 1ntemal
costs and $16 million of capital expenditures, primarily for costs related to implementation of
global information technology systems for advanced planning and scheduling software and for
global treasury management systems.

We have also implemented and continue to implement an enterprise-wide risk
management process whereby we assess the business risks to our goal of maximizing cash flow,
using a.structured and disciplined approach. This approach-seeks to align our personnel and
processes with our critical strategic risks so that our management téam and GTI s Board-of
Directors may better evaluate and manage those uncertainties.

.. Effective April 2001, we entered into a ten-year service contract with CGI Group Inc.
(“CGY”) valued at $75 million. Pursuant to this contract, CGI became the delivery arm for our
global information technology service requirements, including the design and implementation of
our global information and advanced manufacturing and demand planning processes, using J.D.
Edwards software. Through this contract, we are seeking to transform our information
technology service capability into an efficient, high quality enabler for our global supply chain
initiatives as well as a contributor to-our cost reduction activities. Under the outsourcing
provisions of this contract, CGI manages our data center services, networks, desktops,
telecommunications and legacy systems. Through this contract, we believe that we will be able
to leverage the resources of CGI to assrst us in achrevmg our 1nformatron technology goals and
our cost savings targets.

In the 2002 third quarter, we entered into a ten year outsourcing contract with CGI valued
at $36 million. Pursuant to this contract, CGI became the delivery arm for out finance and
accounting business process services, including accounts receivable and accounts payable
activities. CGI also provides various related analytical services such as general accounting, cost
accounting and financial analysis activities. Through this contract, we believe that we will be
able to further leverage the resources of CGl to assist us in achieving our cost savings targets.
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Severance Programs. We have implemented and continue to implement voluntary and
selective severance programs, designed to complement our global business and work process
rationalization and transformation initiatives.

Through December 31, 2003, we substantially completed U.S. voluntary and selective
severance programs announced in December 2002, resulting in a reduction of 103 U.S.
employees (or 27% of the U.S. salaried workforce). We recorded an $8 million restructuring
charge in the 2003 first quarter in connection with these programs.

From 1998 through December 31, 2003, we reduced our global workforce by about 1,700
employees, or over 30%. Current severance programs are expected to reduce our global
workforce by about 75 employees (or about 2%) over the next 12 to 18 months.

Corporate Realignment of Our Subsidiaries. 1n the 2002 first half, we substantially
completed the realignment of our foreign subsidiaries under the 2002 plan. Most of the
operations and net sales of our synthetic graphite line of business are located outside the U.S.
and, as a result of the realignment, are held by our Swiss subsidiary or its subsidiaries. Most of
our technology is held by our U.S. subsidiaries.

The realignment of our foreign subsidiaries has resulted and is expected to result in
substantial tax savings. We used opportunities created by the realignment to improve cash
management and corporate services delivery and reallocate intercompany debt as well as reduce
taxes. This reallocation of intercompany debt better matches intercompany debt with cash flow
from operations. Debt service on our intercompany debt provides an important source of funds to
repay our debt to third parties, including the Senior Facilities, the Senior Notes and the
Debentures.

The legal and tax restructuring and global realignment mentioned herein are part of the
corporate realignment of our subsidiaries. The tax benefits from the realignment have been
recorded separately on the Consolidated Financial Statements from expenses to implement the
realignment (which are included in other (income) expense, net).

Sales of Non-Strategic Assets. Net cash proceeds from asset sales in 2003 totaled $24
million, including the sale of our non-strategic composite tooling business based in California in
June 2003 for $16 million (which included a $1 million working capital adjustment) and the
termination of our executive life insurance program and liquidation of our split dollar life.
insurance policies for executives for net cash proceeds of $3 million. We intend to continue to
sell real estate, non-strategic businesses and certain other non-strategic assets. We are targeting
an additional $25 million of asset sales in 2004, for an aggregate total of about $50 million from
January 1, 2002 through the end of 2004.

Recent Strategic Alliance Developments

We have developed a strategic alliance in the cathode business with Pechiney, the
world’s recognized leader in aluminum smelting technology. To broaden our alliance, in March
2001, we contributed our Brazilian cathode manufacturing operations to Carbone Savoie.
Pechiney, our 30% joint venture partner in Carbone Savoie, contributed approximately $9
million in cash to Carbone Savoie as part of this transaction. The cash contribution was used to
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upgrade manufacturing operations in Brazil and France, which was completed by the end of the
2002 first quarter. Ownership in Carbone Savoie remains 70% by us and 30% by Pechiney.
Carbone Savoie holds our entire cathode manufacturing capacity.

We have been working with Ballard Power Systems since 1992 on developing natural
graphite-based materials for use in its PEM fuel cells. In June 2001, our subsidiary, AET, entered
into an expanded exclusive development and collaboration agreement and an expanded exclusive
long-term supply agreement with Ballard Power Systems. In addition, Ballard Power Systems
became a strategic investor in AET in June 2001, investing at that time $5 million in shares of
Ballard Power Systems common stock for a 2.5% equity ownership interest in AET.

In April 2001, we entered into a graphite electrode production joint venture with Jilin in

China. We are required to make capital contributions of $6 million of cash ($2 million of which
has been contributed to date) plus technical assistance ($1 million of which has been contributed
to date) for our 25% ownership interest in the joint venture. During the 2002 fourth quarter, we
recorded an impairment loss of $3 million associated with our investment in the joint venture.
“This impairment resulted from uncertainty about the completion and start-up of the joint venture
facilities in China due to the effects that the challenging 2002 graphite electrode industry

. conditions had on Jilin. We continue to work with Jilin on alternatives. However, we will make
no further contributions to the joint venture until we have agreed upon an alternative.

Global Economic Conditions and Outlook

We are impacted in varying degrees, both positively and negatlvely, as global reg10na1 or
specific country conditions fluctuate. -

Over the past three years through the 2003 first half, we faced extremely challenging
business and industry conditions. Adverse global and regional economic conditions negatively
impacted many of the end markets for our products. Many of the customers in these markets
reduced production levels (which reduced demand and adversely impacted prices for products
sold by us and our competitors), became less creditworthy, filed for bankruptey protection or
were acquired as-part of the consolidation trends within their industries. In the 2003 second half,
global and certain regional economies began to strengthen. In addition, for most of this period,
industry-wide capacity for most of our products exceeded demand. We have been experiencing
intense competition, particularly in the graphite electrode industry. ‘

2001. Economic weakening in North America continued and became more severe in
2001. This economic weakness was exacerbated by the impact on economic conditions of the
terrorist acts in the U.S. in September 2001. Electric arc furnace steel producnon declined in
2001 as compared to 2000 by about 11% in the U.S.

Worldwide electric arc furnace steel production was stable in 2001 as compared to 2000,
as declines in the U.S., Asia (excluding China) and South America were offset by gains in China.
The decline of electric arc furnace steel production in South America was caused primarily by
shortages of electricity brought on by a drought that reduced hydroelectric power generation in
Brazil (that was largely relieved in 2002), and a currency, debt and related economic crisis in
neighboring Argentina. ‘
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Worldwide electric arc furnace steel production in 2001, was 285 million metric tons,
about 33% of total steel production, which was similar to 2000.

While worldwide electric arc furnace steel production was stable, weaker economic
conditions resulted in reduced production and, in some cases, the closing of older, less efficient
electric arc furnaces. This led to a decline in demand for graphite electrodes worldwide. We
estimate that worldwide graphite electrode sales volume declined in 2001 as compared to 2000
by about 9%. Overall pricing worldwide was weak throughout most of this period. While we
implemented increases in local currency selling prices of our graphite electrodes in 2000 and
early 2001 in Europe, the Asia Pacific region, the Middle East and South Africa, we were not
able to maintain all of these price increases. Our volume of graphite electrodes sold declined in
2001 as compared to 2000 by about 20% due primarily to the decline in demand for graphite
electrodes worldwide as well as weak economic conditions in some of our more important
markets, our efforts to implement and maintain local currency selling price increases and our
efforts to seek to minimize credit risks.

The global and regional economic conditions that impacted demand and prices for
graphite electrodes also impacted demand and prices for most of our other products. In general,
demand was relatively stable and pricing remained relatively weak. Demand and prices for
graphite cathodes remained relatively strong primarily due to construction of new aluminum
smelters using graphite cathodes, even as old smelters using carbon cathodes are removed from
service. :

2002. Global economic conditions remained relatively weak into 2002, but strengthened
slightly in certain markets during the course of the year. We estimate that worldwide electric arc
furnace steel production increased by about 5% in 2002 (to a total of about 299 million metric
tons, about 33% of total steel production) from 2001. This increase was primarily due to an
increase in production in the U.S., Mexico, Brazil and Asia.

In March 2002, President Bush announced his decision to impose tariffs, of up to 30%
initially and declining thereafter over a three year period, on most imported steel as part of a
broader plan to rescue the financially troubled steel industry in the U.S. Several additional
exemptions were granted in 2002 by the Bush administration. We believe that the tariffs had a
modest positive impact on electric arc furnace steel production in the U.S. While steel imported
from Mexico was exempt from the tariffs, steel imported from Europe and Asia was not exempt.
Steel production in those regions had been adversely impacted by the tariffs in 2002. In
November 2003, the World Trade Organization ruled that these tariffs are illegal. In December
2003, President Bush announced his decision to lift the tariffs. In turn, the World Trade
Organization dropped its pursuit of retaliation against the U.S. and China cancelled many of its
steel trade safeguards and duties.

Worldwide graphite electrode demand was very depressed in the 2002 first quarter, but
rebounded from those depressed levels during the balance of 2002.- During the last three quarters
of 2002, we utilized virtually all of our graphite electrode manufacturing capacity. For the entire
year 2002, our volume of graphite electrodes sold increased about 4% from 2001. We believe
that worldwide graphite electrode demand increased by 3% in 2002 from 2001. We believe that
graphite electrode pricing declined by about 10% in 2002 as compared to 2001, driven by global
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and industry economic conditions in 2001 and early 2002 and the fact that the prices of graphite
electrodes sold in 2002 were largely negotiated during the order book season in late 2001 when -
global economic conditions were weak.

Demand and- prices for cathodes remained strong primarily due to construction of new .
aluminum smelters using graphite cathodes, even as old smelters using carbon cathodes were
removed from service. We used virtually all of our cathode manufacturing capacity during 2002
and our volume of cathodes sold increased about 10% in 2002 from 2001. Weak economic
conditions in 2002 resulted in relatively low demand and weak pricing for most of our other
products.

2003. Global and certain regional economic conditions began to strengthen in the 2003
second half. Steel production increased globally and was particularly strong in China. We
estimate that worldwide steel production was about 960 million metric tons in 2003. We
estimate that electric arc furnace steel production increased correspondingly, to about 305
million metric tons in 2003. We operated our graphite electrode manufacturing capacity at very
high levels, and estimate that (excluding China, for which reliable information is not available)
1ndustry-w1de graphite electrode manufacturing capacity utilization rate was approx1mately 97%
in 2003.

Graphite electrode price increases announced since September 2002 have been
successfully implemented. In February 2003, we implemented graphite electrode price increases
of €100 per metric ton in Europe, $200 per metric ton in Asia, the Middle East, North Africa and
South America and $0.05 per pound in the U.S. In July 2003, we implemented graphite
electrode price increases in the following regions: South Africa, to an average price range of
$2,500 to $2,600 per metric ton; Asia (except China) and the Middle East of $500 per metric ton;
and North and South America, to $2,600 per metric ton, effective August 1, 2003. In September
2003, we announced additional graphite electrode price increases in Europe of €100 per metric
" ton.’ ' '

Demand for cathodes in 2003 (excluding China) decreased slightly from 2002 because of
reduced construction of new aluminum smelters: We operated our cathode manufacturing
capacity at relatively high operating levels in 2003. Demand for refractories was strong in 2003
as aresult of our increased penetration of various markets, including Europe and China, and
increased blast furnace construction and refurbishment. Weak economic conditions resulted in
relatively low demand and weak pricing in 2003 for most of our other products.

Outlook. We believe that we are well positioned to increase earnings and cash flow from
operations (excluding payments in connection with restructurings, investigations, lawsuits and
claims and the impact of the reduction of factoring of accounts receivable as described under “—
Liquidity and Capital Resources”) under current and improving global and regional economic
conditions. We expect net sales of all our products to increase by about 10% in 2004 from 2003.

Synthetic Graphite. The graphite electrode supply/demand balance has improved, and
supply remains tight primarily due to graphite electrode industry-wide rationalization, including
bankruptcies of competitors, and, to a lesser extent, increased electric arc furnace steel
production. Since September 2002, we have successfully implemented graphite electrode price
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increases around the world as described above. In February 2004, we announced graphite
electrode price increases of $150 per metric ton in North and South America (bringing the spot
price to $2,750 per metric ton) and $150/€115 per metric ton in Europe, Russia and the other
countries in the Community of Independent States, the Middle East, Africa and Asia. These
price increases are driven by continued upward pressure on energy and raw material costs,
strength in steel production and the tight supply/demand balance in the graphite electrode
industry. As the majority of our graphite electrode order book has been placed, this recent price
increase is expected to impact less than 10% of our 2004 business.

For 2004, we continue to fill our graphite electrode order book and expect average sales
revenue per metric ton of graphite electrodes to be approximately $2,550 for 2004. This
represents an increase of approximately $200 over the average for 2003, an estimated one-
quarter of which is associated with expected benefits from net changes in currency exchange
rates. We expect graphite electrode sales volume for 2004 to be approximately 210,000 metric
tons.

We expect demand for our cathodes in 2004 to be similar to 2003. Our strategic alliance’
with Pechiney, which is a 30% owner of our cathode business and purchases cathodes from us
under a requirements contract that remains in effect through 2006, continues to position us as the
leading supplier of cathodes to the aluminum industry.

Operation of our synthetic graphite facilities at capacity is expected to positively impact
synthetic graphite cost of sales in 2004 as compared to 2003, offset by higher energy, freight and
other raw material costs and the negative impact of net changes in currency exchange rates on
costs. In addition, we expect to benefit from our rationalization and other initiatives that allow us
to achieve significant increases in productivity and output from our existing assets, including
economies of scale and other cost savings that we believe will increase as we grow our sales.

Other. We expect growing net sales of our electronic thermal management products and
services, due to our continuing successful product development and commercialization
initiatives, the development of new, higher performance electronic devices and the strengthening
economic condition of the electronics industry. We have developed new electronic thermal
management technologies with over 140 product approvals from industry leading strategic
partners, customers and others. Sales of our products are growing, from about $500,000 in 2002
to $2.2 million in 2003 and an estimated $8 million in 2004.

We expect financial performance of most of our other businesses to improve from the
current levels primarily due to the recovery of economic conditions in the end markets for their
products. In particular, demand for carbon electrodes in the U.S. and demand for advanced
synthetic graphite products used in the semiconductor, telecommunications and electronics
industries is strengthening. In addition, demand for our refractories has strengthened as a result
of our increased penetration of various markets, particularly Europe and China, and increased
blast furnace construction and refurbishment. We continue to seek to drive productivity and cost
improvements in all of these businesses.

At December 31, 2003, after giving effect to the sale of the Debentures and application of
the net proceeds therefrom to repay the remaining $21 million of term loans outstanding under
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the Senior Facilities and to make a provisional payment of $72 million to the EU Competition
Authority toward the EU antitrust fine, we would have had total debt of $707 million (including
unamortized bond premium and fair value of hedged debt obligation) cash and cash equivalents
of $158 million and a stockholders’ deficit of $128 million.

We continue to implement interest rate management initiatives to seek to minimize
interest expense and optimize the risk in our portfolio of fixed and variable interest rate
obligations as described under “Item 7A—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market
Risks” in this Report. We are targeting interest expense of approximately $40 million for 2004.

* As a result of, among other things, the successful completion of the corporate
realignment of our subsidiaries, we are targeting an effective income tax rate of 35% for 2004.

Our outlook could be significantly impacted by, among other things, changes in interest
rates by the U.S. Federal Reserve Board and the European Central Bank, changes in tax laws and
tax and fiscal policies by the U.S. and other governments, developments in the Middle East, the
occurrence of further terrorist acts and developments (including increases in security, insurance,
data back-up, energy and transportation and other costs, transportation delays and continuing or
increased economic uncertainty and weakness) resulting from terrorist acts and the war on
terrorism, and other factors mentioned elsewhere in this Report.

Financing Transactions

- In July 2001, we completed a public offering of 10,350,000 shares of common stock at a
public offering price of $9.50 per share. The net proceeds from that offering were $91 million.
60% of the net proceeds were used to repay term loans outstanding under the Senior Facilities.

" In February 2002, we completed an offering of $400 million aggregate principal amount
of Senior Notes at a price of 100% of principal amount. In May 2002, we completed an offering
of $150 million aggregate principal amount of additional Senior Notes at a price of 104.5% of
principal amount, plus accrued interest from February 2002. The Senior Notes bear interest at an
annual rate of 10.25% and mature in 2012.

The net proceeds from the offering completed in February 2002 were $387 million. The
net proceeds (excluding accrued interest paid by the purchasers of the Senior Notes) from the
offering completed in May 2002 were $151 million. We used all of the net proceeds to reduce
the balance outstanding under the Revolving Facility and to repay term loans outstanding under
the Senior Facilities. We paid approximately $13 million of debt issuance costs related to the
Senior Notes sold in February 2002 and $6 million related to the Senior Notes sold in May 2002.
These costs are being amortized over the term of the Senior Notes. The $7 million premium
received upon issuance of the additional Senior Notes issued in May 2002 is classified as long-
term liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and amortized (as a credit to interest expense)
over the term of the additional Senior Notes. As a result of our receipt of such premium, the
effective annual interest rate on the additional Senior Notes is about 9.5%. We recorded an
extraordinary charge of §4 million ($3 million, net of tax) in 2002 for write-off of capitalized fees
associated with the term loans repaid with the net proceeds from the issuance of the Senior
Notes. These extraordinary charges have been reclassified and included in other (income)
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expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations, in accordance with SFAS No. 145
relating to SFAS No. 4.

During 2003, we exchanged $55 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes,
plus accrued interest of $2 million, for approximately 9.9 million shares of our common stock
and we purchased $2.5 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes, plus accrued interest,
for $3 million in cash.

In October 2003, we sold an aggregate of 25,300,000 shares of our common stock in a
registered public offering at a public offering price of $8.00 per share. The net proceeds from
this offering were approximately $190 million, of which $114 million was used to repay term
loans outstanding under the Senior Facilities, $56 million was used to reduce the balance
outstanding under the Revolving Facility, and the balance was used to repay other short-term
debt. In connection therewith, we recorded a charge of $2 million for the write-off of capitalized
fees associated with the term loans repaid with the net proceeds. The write-off has been included
in other (income) expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

On January 22, 2004, we completed an offering of $225 million aggregate principal
amount of Debentures at a price of 100% of principal amount. The net proceeds from the
offering were approximately $217 million. We used the net proceeds to repay the remaining $21
million of term loans outstanding under the Senior Facilities and to make a provisional payment
of $72 million to the EU Competition Authority against the EU antitrust fine. We intend to use
the balance for general corporate purposes, including replacement of financing previously
provided by factoring of accounts receivable and strategic acquisitions that are complementary to
our businesses. Pending use for a specific corporate purpose, we intend to initially use the net
proceeds to reduce the outstanding balance under the Revolving Facility, if any, and, to the
extent that at the time there is no such amount outstanding, to invest in short-term, investment
quality, interest-bearing securities or deposits. ‘

Litigation Against Our Former Parent Companies Initiated by Us

In February 2000, we commenced a lawsuit against our former parents, Mitsubishi
Corporation and Union Carbide Corporation, to recover certain payments made to them in
connection with our leveraged equity recapitalization in January 1995 as well as certain unjust
receipts by them from their investments in us and damages for aiding and abetting breaches of
fiduciary duties owed to us by our former senior management in connection with illegal graphite
electrode price fixing activities. We are seeking to recover more than $1.5 billion, including
interest. On January 27, 2004, the court granted the defendants’ motions to dismiss the lawsuits.
We have appealed this decision. We expect to incur $10 million to $20 million for legal
expenses to pursue this lawsuit from the date of filing the complaint through appeal and
ultimately trial. Through December 31, 2003, we had incurred about $6 million of these legal
expenses. This lawsuit is in its earliest stages, and the ultimate outcome of this lawsuit is subject
to many uncertainties.
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Antitrust Litigation Against Us

Since 1997, we and other producers and distributors of graphite and carbon products have
been subject to antitrust investigations by antitrust authorities in the U.S., the European Union,
Canada, Japan and Korea. In addition, civil antitrust lawsuits have been commenced and
threatened against us and other producers and distributors of graphite and carbon products in the
U.S., Canada and elsewhere.

In April 1998, GTI pled guilty to a one count charge of violating U.S. federal antitrust
law in connection with the sale of graphite electrodes and was sentenced to pay a non-interest-
bearing fine in the aggregate amount of $110 million, payable in six annual installments. The
payment schedule has been revised periodically at our request. The payment schedule for the
$52.5 million balance consists of quarterly payments ranging from $3.25 million to $5.375
- million;-payable from April 2004 through January 2007. Beginning in 2004, the DOJ may ask
the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania to accelerate-the payment .
schedule based on a change in our ability to make such payments. Interest will begin to accrue on
the unpaid balance, commencing in April 2004, at the statutory rate of interest then in effect. At
December 31, 2003, the statutory rate of interest was 1.28% per annum. Accrued interest will be
payable together with each quarterly payment. Of the $110 million original aggregate amount,
$90 million is treated as a fine and $20 million is treated as imputed interest for accounting
purposes.

In January 2000, the EU Competition Authority alleged that we and other producers
violated European antitrust [aws in connection with the sale of graphite electrodes. In July 2001,
the EU Competition Authority assessed a fine of €50.4 million ($64 million, based on currency
exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003) against us. This decision established the
maximum obligation with respect to our last major remaining antitrust liability. After an in-
depth analysis of the decision, in October 2001, we filed an appeal to the Court challenging,
among other things, the amount of the EU antitrust fine, including the accrual of interest and the .
rate thereof. The Court has not yet issued its decision. Appeals of this type may take two years
or longer to be decided. ’

Under its decision, the EU Competition Authority stated that, until paid (including a
provisional payment described below), the EU antitrust fine would accrue interest at the statutory
rate of 8.04% per annum, commencing October 2001, provided, however, that if a letter of
credit, sufficient to secure payment of both the fine and interest accrued and accruing thereon,
was provided to the EU Competition Authority, then the rate of interest would be 6.04% per
annum.

Since the filing of our appeal in October 2001 through September 2003, we negotiated
with the EU Competition Authority regarding the appropriate form of collateral security for the
EU antitrust fine during the pendency of our appeal. In September 2003, we filed an interim
appeal to the Court to waive the requirement for provisional payment of the EU antitrust fine or
delivery of a letter of credit as collateral security for payment thereof or to allow us to provide
alternative security for payment during the period prior to the Court’s decision on our appeal.
We withdrew the interim appeal after we posted the provisional payment described below.
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In February 2004, we used net proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Debentures to
post a provisional payment of $72 million to the EU Competition Authority against the EU
antitrust fine. The provisional payment included $9 million for accrued interest for the period
from October 2001 to the date of the provisional payment at the rate of 6.04% per annum. The
EU Competition Authority has advised us that its position is that the provisional payment should
have included accrued interest at the rate of 8.04% per annum. We have advised the EU
Competition Authority that we disagree with its position and will file an interim appeal
challenging its position, if necessary.

A provisional payment constitutes the furnishing of cash collateral intended to secure
payment to the EU Competition Authority of a fine and any interest thereon that is ultimately
determined to be due, is not an admission of or acquiescence to any liability and will not
prejudice our appeal challenging, among other things, the amount of the EU antitrust fine. We
will earn interest on the amount paid at an annual rate of 2.1% until the Court’s decision on our
appeal is issued and becomes final. Such payment does not reflect a change in our assessment of
the outcome of our appeal.

In the 2001 second quarter, we became aware that the Brazilian antitrust authority had
requested written information from various steelmakers in Brazil. In April 2002, our Brazilian
subsidiary received a request for information from that authority. We have provided that
information. '

Except as described above, the antitrust investigations against us in the U.S., Canada, the
European Union, Japan and Korea with respect to graphite electrodes and in the European Union
with respect to isostatic and extruded specialty graphite have been resolved. Under plea
agreements in the U.S. and Canada, we will not be subject to prosecution by the respective
antitrust authorities with respect to any other violations of their respective antitrust laws
occurring prior to the date of the applicable plea agreement in connection with the sale of
graphite and carbon products. All payments due have been timely paid. It is possible that
antitrust investigations seeking, among other things, to impose fines and penalties could be
initiated against us by antitrust authorities in Brazil or other jurisdictions.

We have settled, among other things, virtually all of the actual and potential claims
against us by customers in the U.S. and Canada arising out of alleged antitrust violations
occurring prior to the date of the relevant settlement in connection with the sale of graphite
electrodes. All settlement payments due have been timely paid. None of the settlements or plea
agreements contain restrictions on future prices of our graphite electrodes. There remain,
however, certain pending claims as well as pending lawsuits in the U.S. relating to the sale of
graphite electrodes sold to foreign customers. It is also possible that additional antitrust lawsuits
and claims could be asserted against us in the U.S. or other jurisdictions.

We have recorded pretax charges of $382 million against results of operations as a
reserve for potential liabilities and expenses in connection with antitrust investigations and
related lawsuits and claims. The charges of $382 million are calculated on a basis that (i)
excludes, among other things, both actual and imputed interest on the DOJ antitrust fine and
actual interest, if any, on the EU antitrust fine after the Court’s decision on our appeal is issued
and becomes final and (i) includes, among other things, the impact of changes in currency
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exchange rates on the euro-denominated EU antitrust fine and interest accrued or to accrue on
the EU antitrust fine prior to the time the Court’s decision on our appeal is issued and becomes
final. ‘

Despite the fact that a provisional payment of a fine is only provisional under European
law, generally accepted accounting principles require a charge to be recorded to cover the full
. amount of the provisional payment, to the extent that payment was not already covered by a
reserve. In connection with our provisional payment, we recorded a $32 million charge in the
2003 fourth quarter, which increased our'reserve from $350 million to $382 million. To the
extent that aggregate liabilities and expenses, net, are known or reasonably estimable, as of
December 31, 2003, $382 million represents our estimate of these liabilities and expenses. The
guilty pleas and the decisions by the antitrust authorities make it more difficult to defend against
other investigations, lawsuits and claims. We believe that the amount of the EU antitrust fine
will be reduced on appeal. To the extent that the actual amount of the EU antitrust fine (after all
appeals and including any interest thereon) is less than the amount so provisionally paid, any
excess would be refunded to us. To the extent that such actual amount exceeds the amount so
provisionally paid, we will be required to make an additional payment equal to such excess.
Such additional payment may require us to record an additional charge.

Through December 31, 2003, we paid an aggregate of $257 million of fines and net
settlements and expenses (of which $238 million has been applied against the reserve and $19
million of imputed interest (which is described below) has not been applied against the reserve).
In the aggregate, the fines and net settlements and expenses are within the amounts we used to
evaluate the aggregate charges of $382 million. Our insurance has not and will not materially
cover liabilities that have or may become due in connection with antitrust investigations or
related lawsuits or claims. '

At December 31, 2003, after giving effect to the provisional payment, $53 million
remained in the reserve. The remaining amount of the reserve is unfunded. Such remaining
amount is available for the DOJ antitrust fine and other matters. The reserve does not cover
interest on the DOJ antitrust fine (including interest that, for accounting purposes, is imputed on
the DOJ antitrust fine for the period during which it is non-interest bearing). Such interest is
recorded in interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Interest accruing on
the EU antitrust fine, if any, after the date of the Court’s decision on our appeal will be recorded
in interest expense.

Actual aggregate liabilities and expenses (including settled investigations, lawsuits and
claims as well as continuing investigations, pending appeals and unsettled pending, threatened
and possible lawsuits and claims mentioned above) could be materially higher than $382 million
and the timing of payment thereof could be sooner than anticipated.

Customer Base

We are a global company and serve all major geographic markets. Sales of our products
to customers outside the U.S. accounted for about 70% of our net sales in 2001, 71% of our net
sales in 2002, and 76% of our net sales in 2003. Our customer base includes both steel and non-
- steel producers. In 2003, two of our ten largest customers were purchasers of non-graphite
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electrode products. In 2003, three of our ten largest customers were based in Europe, two were
in the U.S., two were in South Africa and one was based in Brazil. No single customer or group
of affiliated customers accounted for more than 5% of our net sales in 2003.

Results of Operations

Financial information discussed below omits our non-strategic composite tooling
business that was sold in June 2003 and has been accounted for as discontinued operations. The
results of our discontinued operations were not material to our consolidated results of operations.

2003 Compared to 2002. Net sales of $712 million in 2003 represented a $116 million,
or 20%, increase from net sales of $596 million in 2002. The increase in net sales was primarily
due to higher net sales in our synthetic graphite and advanced carbon materials lines of business.
Cost of sales of $544 million in 2003 represented an $83 million, or 18%, increase from cost of
sales of $461 million in 2002. The increase in cost of sales was primarily due to the higher sales
volumes. Gross profit of $168 million in 2003 represented a 24% increase from gross profit of
$135 million in 2002. Gross margin increased to 23.6% of net sales in 2003 from 22.7% in
2002.

Synthetic Graphite Segment. Net sales of $639 million in 2003 represented a $101
million, or 18%, increase from net sales of $538 million in 2002, primarily due to higher sales
volume of graphite electrodes and higher average graphite electrode sales revenue per metric ton.
Volume of graphite electrodes sold was 200,500 metric tons in 2003 as compared to 180,500
metric tons in 2002. The higher volume of graphite electrodes sold represented an increase of
$42 million in net sales. The increase was a result of stronger demand for graphite electrodes
primarily in the United States and Europe. Average sales revenue per metric ton of graphite
electrodes in 2003 was $2,344 as compared to the average in 2002 of $2,100. The higher
average sales revenue per metric ton represented an increase of $49 million in net sales. The
increase was primarily due to net changes in currency exchange rates and, to a lesser extent,
increases in graphite electrode prices. Net sales of cathodes increased in 2003 by 4%, or $4
million, from net sales of $90 million in 2002. The increase was primarily due to the net positive
impact of changes in currency exchange rates, partially offset by lower sales volume and lower
average sales price. :

Cost of sales of $488 million in 2003 represented a $75 million, or 18%, increase from
cost of sales of $413 million in 2002, primarily due to the higher sales volume of graphite
electrodes. Gross profit in 2003 was $151 million, or 21% or $26 million higher than in 2002.
The increase in gross profit was primarily due to higher graphite electrode net sales, and
improved productivity from higher operating levels throughout the production network and the
net positive impact of changes in currency exchange rates. These improvements were partially
offset primarily by higher freight, higher energy and other raw materials costs. Gross margin
was 23.7% of net sales in 2003, higher than the 23.2% of net sales in 2002.

. Other Segment. Net sales of $73 million in 2003 represented a $15 million, or-27%,
increase from net sales of $58 million in 2002, primarily due to higher volume of refractories
sold by our advanced carbon materials line of business. Cost of sales of $56 million in 2003
represented an $8 million, or 19%, increase from cost of sales of $48 million in 2002. The
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increase in cost of sales was primarily related to higher sales volume in our advanced carbon
materials line of business, higher energy costs and changes in product mix, partially offset by
improved productivity from higher operating levels. Gross profit in 2003 was $17 million (a
gross margin of 23.1% of net sales) as compared to gross profit in 2002 of $10 million (a gross
margin of 18.5% of net sales).

Items Affecting Us As a Whole. Research and development was $11 million in 2003, a
decrease of $2 million from 2002.  The decrease was primarily due to cost savings resulting from
our voluntary and selective severance programs.. .

Selling, administrative and other expenses were $85 million in 2003, an increase of $4
million from 2002. In 2003, we recorded higher variable incentive compensation expense and
incurred higher costs from continued strengthening of the euro in 2003 and the continued
implementation of global work process changes and information systems. These higher costs -
were partially offset by cost savings from our voluntary and selective severance programs. In
addition, in 2002, we benefited from a one-time reduction in franchise and other taxes associated
with the corporate realignment of our subsidiaries.

Other (income) expense, net, was income of $12 million in 2003, primarily due to
currency exchange benefits of $35 million, which were primarily associated with euro-
denominated intercompany loans. These benefits were partially offset by other expenses,
including primarily $5 million for bank fees, including losses on sales of accounts receivable, a
$4 million non-cash write down of fixed assets, $4 million for employee benefit curtailment and
related costs, $3 million for non-income taxes in Brazil and Switzerland, $2 million associated
with the write-off of capitalized bank fees and related debt extinguishment costs and a $1 million
charge associated with mark-to-market adjustments on interest rate caps. Other (income) '
expense, net, was net income of $9 million in 2002, primarily due to currency exchange benefits -
of $28 million which were associated with euro-denominated intercompany loans.. These
benefits were partially offset by other expenses, including primarily $4 million for bank fees,
including losses on sales of accounts receivable, $3 million in legal expenses and settlements and
$1 million associated with the curtailment of employee benefit plans.

We recorded $20 million of restructuring charges in 2003, consisting of $9 million for
organizational changes and $11 million for the closure and settlement of our U.S. non-qualified
defined benefit plan for the participating salaried workforce. The $9 million charge for
organizational changes related to U.S. voluntary and selective severance programs and related
benefits associated with a workforce reduction of 103 employees. The closure of our non-
qualified U.S. defined benefit plan resulted in recognition of net actuarial losses of $11 million.
Approximately half of the $9 miillion will involve cash outlays. We recorded $6 million of
restructuring charges in 2002. The charges related primarily to the mothballing of graphite
electrode manufacturing operations in Italy. This charge included estimated pension, severance
and other related employee benefit costs for 102 employees and other cost related to the
mothballing. At the end of 2003, we announced the permanent closure of the majority of our
graphite electrode manufacturing operations in Italy. In the next twelve to eighteen months, we
may record additional restructuring charges and incur additional exit costs in connection with
such closure. It is possible that we may, at any time, decide to permanently shut down our
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remaining graphite electrode operations in Italy. In such event, we may record additional
restructuring charges and incur additional exit costs.

We recorded a $5 million impairment loss on long-lived and other assets relating to the
remaining fixed assets at our graphite electrode manufacturing facility in Italy in connection with
such closure. In 2003, we sold land in Clarksville, Tennessee and received net proceeds of $2
million. We recorded a $2 million net non-cash write off of the remaining book value of assets
at this site. In 2002, we recorded a $12 million impairment loss on our long-lived carbon -
electrode assets in Columbia, Tennessee, a $3 million impairment loss on our investment in our
joint venture with Jilin and a $2 million impairment loss on available-for-sale securities.

We recorded a $32 million charge in the 2003 fourth quarter relating to the EU antitrust
fine.

. Interest expense was $45 million in 2003 as compared to $60 million in 2002. Average
total debt outstanding was $697 million in 2003 as compared to $701 million in 2002. The
average annual interest rate was 7.1% in 2003 as compared to 8.5% in 2002. These average
annual rates include $13 million of interest rate benefit from our interest rate swaps, but exclude
imputed interest on the DOJ antitrust fine, $2 million of amortization of the net proceeds of $30
million with respect to the sale of swaps and a $6 million credit to interest expense from the
acceleration of the amortization of gains realized from the sale of interest rate swaps due to the
early extinguishment of debt from our exchanges of common stock for Senior Notes during
2003.

Provision for income taxes was a charge of $5 million in 2003 as compared to a benefit
of $16 million in 2002. The effective income tax rate was not meaningful in 2003 because we
incurred income tax expense of $5 million even though we recognized a loss from continuing
operations of $20 million, primarily due to tax expense of $8 million associated with non-
deductible antitrust related charges and an additional $5 million from adjustments increasing the
deferred tax asset valuation allowances. The effective income tax rate was a benefit of 49% in
2002, primarily due to higher state tax benefits of $13 million and certain other benefits of $17
million primarily associated with the impact of impairment losses on long-lived and other assets
and restructuring charges, partially offset by tax expense of $16 million from adjustments
increasing the deferred tax asset valuation allowances and $8 million from the impact of
dividends of foreign earnings. The effective income tax rate was 40% in 2003 and about 35% in
2002, in each case excluding the impact of impairment losses on long-lived and other assets,
restructuring charges and the charge related to the EU antitrust fine.

During 2003, we recorded a $1 million gain from the sale of our non-strategic composite
tooling business. The discontinued business recorded a net income from operations of §1 million
in 2003 and 2002.

As a result of the changes described above, net loss was $24 million in 2003 as compared
to net loss of $18 million in 2002.

2002 Compared to 2001. Net sales in 2002 were $596 million, a decrease of $38 million,
or 6%, from net sales in 2001 of $634 million. Gross profit in 2002 was $135 million, a decrease
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* of $44 million, or 24%, from gross profit in 2001 of $179 million. Gross profit margin in 2002
was 22.7% of net sales as compared to gross profit margin in 2001 of 28.2% of net sales. The
decrease in net sales and gross profit was primarily due to lower sales revenue per metric ton for
our graphite electrodes, which reduced net sales by about $43 million.

Synthetic Graphite Segment. Net sales decreased 4%, or $21 million, to $538 million in
2002 from $559 million in 2001. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in average
sales revenue per metric ton of graphite electrodes, partially offset by higher sales volumes for
graphite electrodes and cathodes sold. The volume of graphite electrodes sold increased 6,000
metric tons, or 4%, to 180,500 metric tons in 2002 as compared to 174,000 metric tons in 2001.
The increase in volume of graphite electrodes sold represented an increase in net sales of about
$16 million. The average sales revenue per metric ton (in U.S. dollars and net changes in
currency exchange rates) of our graphite électrodes was $2,100 in 2002 as compared to $2,341 in
2001. The reduced average sales revenue per metric ton of graphite electrodes represented a
decrease of about $43 million in net sales. Unfavorable changes in currency exchange rates
represented a reduction of about $4 million in net sales of graphite electrodes. Volume of
cathodes sold in 2002 was 10% higher than in 2001, with 36,900 metric tons in 2002 as
compared to 33,400 metric tons in 2001, and net sales of cathodes in 2002 were 17% higher than
in 2001. We completed the expansion of our cathode manufacturing capacity in Brazil in 2002
and were successful in selling virtually all of our cathode manufacturing capacity for 2002.

Synthetic Graphite segment cost of sales increased 4%, or $15 million, to $413 million in
2002 from $398 million in 2001. The increase in cost of sales was primarily due to higher
volume of graphite electrodes sold, partially offset by lower average graphite electrode cost of
sales per metric ton. The reduction in average graphite electrode cost of sales per metric ton was
primarily due to cost savings initiatives and lower average fixed cost per metric ton due to
facility closures and, to lesser extent, net changes in currency exchange rates.

Gross profit decreased 22%, or $36 million, to $125 million (23.2% of net sales) in 2002
~ from $161 million (28.8% of net sales) in 2001.

Other Segment. Net sales decreased 23%, or $17 million, to $58 million in 2002 from
$75 million in 2001. We had lower net sales in each of our product lines, especially in advanced
carbon materials due to a cyclical decrease in the volume of refractories sold and in flexible
graphite due to lower sales of sealing products sold to the transportation industry. Cost of sales
decreased 17%, or $9 million, to $48 million in 2002 from $57 million in 2001. The decline was
primarily due to lower volume of products sold. Gross profit decreased 41%, or $8 million, to
$10 million (18.5% of net sales) in 2002 from $18 million (24.3% of net sales) in 2001.

- o= Other Items Affecting Us as a Whole. Selling, administratiVe and other expense increased
by $1 million to $81 million in. 2002 from $75 million in 2001. In 2002, we recorded a $5
million charge related to the accelerated vesting of restricted stock.

Other expense (income), net, was $9 million of income in 2002 as compared to
$3 million of expense in 2001. We recorded both other income and other expense in both periods
resulting from various non-operational activities, including gains from currency transactions and
translation. In 2002, we had $28 million in currency gains, $21 million of which gain was due to
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currency translation on intercompany loans and translation of financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries which use the dollar as their functional currency and $7 million of which related to
transactions with third parties. These gains were partially offset by other expenses, including
primarily $4 million for bank fees resulting partially from losses on sales of accounts receivable,
$3 million in legal expenses and settlements, $3 million in corporate realignment and related
expenses and $1 million associated with the curtailment of employee benefit plans.

In 2002, we recorded a total of $23 mllhon in impairment losses and restructuring
charges as described below:.

e In the 2002 fourth quarter, we recorded a $3 million (82 million after tax) charge

relating to the impairment of our investment in our joint venture with Jilin. This
impairment resulted from uncertainty about the completion and start-up of the joint
venture facilities in China due to the effects that the challenging 2002 graphlte '
electrode industry conditions had on Jilin.

In the 2002 second and third quarters, we recorded a total of $2 million of charges
related to the impairment of available-for-sale securities.

In the 2002 second quarter, we recorded a $12 million ($8 million after tax) charge
primarily related to the impairment of our long-lived carbon electrode assets 1n
Columbia, Tennessee. C

In the 2002 first and fourth quarter, we recorded a total of $6 million of restructuring
charges related primarily to the mothballing of our graphite electrode manufacturing
operations in Caserta, Italy. These charges included estimated pensmn severance and
other related employee benefit costs. :

In 2001, we recorded a total of $92 million, net, in impairment losses and restructuring
charges as described below: ~

In the 2001 fourth quarter, we recorded a $7 million restructuring charge and a

- $27 million impairment loss on long-lived and other assets. The restructuring charge

related primarily to exit costs related to the mothballing of our graphite electrode
manufacturing operations in Caserta, Italy. $24 million of the impairment loss on
long-lived assets related to assets located at our facility in Caserta, Italy. The
remaining $3 million related to the impairment of available-for-sale securities.

In the 2001 third quarter, we recorded a $2 million restructuring charge related to a
corporate realignment of our businesses, the relocation of our corporate headquarters
and the shutdown of our coal calcining operations located in Niagara Falls, New
York. The charge includes severance and related benefits associated with a workforce
reduction of 24 employees and impairment of leasehold improvement assets.

In 2001 third quarter, we reversed $2 million of prior restructuring charges based on
revised lower estimates of workforce reductions and plant closure costs, and we
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- reclassified $4 million of prior restructuring charges related to on-site waste disposal
© post-monitoring costs to other long-term obhgatrons

-e  In the 2001 second quarter, we recorded a $5 8 million charge for restructuring and
- impairment loss on long-lived assets related to the shutdown of our graphite electrode
manufacturing operations in Clarksville and Columbia, Tennessee and our-coal
calcining operations in Niagara Falls, New York. The $58 million charge includes
restructuring charges of $2 million for severance and related benefits associated with
a workforce reduction of 171 employees and $3 million in plant shutdown and related
costs. The remaining $53 million relates-to the impairment.loss on long-lived assets.

In‘addition, in 2001, we recorded a $10 million: charge for addrtlonal potentral lrablhtles
and expenses in connectlon with antitrust 1nvest1gat10ns ’

Interest expense was stable at $60 million in each of 2002 and 2001. Our average. :
outstanding total debt was'$701 million in 2002 as compared to $683 million'in 2001 and our . . -
average.annual interest rate was 8.5% in 2002 as compared to 8.1% in 2001. These average
annual interest rates exclude imputed interest on antitrust ﬁnes Wthh deereased $3 million to
$1 m11hon in 2002 from $4 rmlhon in'2001. o

Beneﬁt from income taxes was §16 million in 2002 as'‘compared to prov1810n for income. .
taxes of $14 million for 2001. The effective income tax rate was a benefit of 49% in 2002,
primarily due to higher state tax benefits of $13 million and certain other benefits of $17 million :
primarily associated with the impact of impairment losses on long-lived and other assets and
restructuring charges, partially offset by tax expense of $16 million from adjustments increasing
the deferred tax asset valuation allowances and $8 million from the impact of dividends of
foreign earnings. During 2001, the benefit from and provision for income taxes reflected an
effective rate of about 35%, excluding the impact of impairment losses on long-lived and other
assets, restructuring charges, the charge related to antitrust investigations and related lawsuits
and claims, and the charge related to the corporate reahgnment of our subsrdlanes

As a result of the changes descrlbed above, net loss was $18 million in 2002, an
improvement of $69 million from net loss of $87 million in 2001.

Effects of Inflation

We incur costs in the U.S. and each of the six non-U.S. countries in which we have a -
manufacturing facility. In general, our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition
are affected by the effects of inflation on our costs incurred in each of these countries. See
“~Currency Translation and Transactions” for a further discussion of highly inflationary
courtries.

During the past three years, we experienced higher freight, energy and other raw material
costs primarily due to substantial increases in regional and worldwide market prices of natural
gas and other petroleum-based raw materials. We have been able to generally mitigate the.
effects of those increases on our cost of sales by a combination of improved operating efficiency-.
and on-going cost savings. In addition, during 2003, we mitigated seasonal increases in our
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natural gas costs by entering into short duration fixed rate purchase contracts with certain of our
North American suppliers. These contracts expire at the end of the 2004 first quarter. In
addition, we have entered into natural gas hedge contracts, effectively fixing 100% of our direct
and indirect natural gas cost exposure in North America (45% of direct worldwide exposure)
through April 2004. Except as described above, we did not experience significant inflation with
respect to our costs. We cannot assure you that future increases in our costs will not occur or
exceed the rate of inflation or the amounts, if any, by which we may be able to increase prices
for our products.

Currency Translation and Transactions

We account for our non-U.S. subsidiaries under SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency
Translation.” Accordingly, except for highly inflationary countries, the assets and liabilities of
our non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated into dollars for consolidation and reporting purposes.
Foreign currency translation adjustments are generally recorded as part of stockholders’ equity
and identified as part of accumulated other comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets until such time as their operations are sold or substantially or completely liquidated.

We have subsidiaries in Russia, Mexico, Brazil and other countries which have had in the
past, and may have now or in the future, highly inflationary economies, defined as cumulative
inflation of about 100% or more over a period of three calendar years. In general, the financial
statements of foreign operations in highly inflationary economies are remeasured as if the
functional currency of their economic environments were the dollar and translation gains and
losses relating to these foreign operations are included in other (income) expense, net, on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations rather than as part of stockholders’ equity on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. We also record foreign currency transaction gains and losses as
part of other (income) expense, net.

We account for our Mexican subsidiary using the dollar as its functional currency,
irrespective of Mexico’s inflationary status, because its sales and purchases are predominantly
dollar-denominated. In addition, we account for our Russian subsidiary using the dollar as its
functional currency because Russia is considered to have a highly inflationary economy.

Significant changes in currency exchange rates impacting us are described under “—
Effects of Changes in Currency Exchange Rates.” Foreign currency translation adjustments
decreased stockholders’ equity by $29 million, including $21 million associated with our South
African subsidiary, in 2001 and $20 million, including $16 million associated with our Brazilian
subsidiary, in 2002. These adjustments increased stockholders’ equity by $12 million in 2003.

Effects of Changes in Currency Exchange Rates .

We incur costs in dollars and the currency of each of the six non-U.S. countries in which
we have a manufacturing facility, and we sell our products in multiple currencies. In general,
our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition are affected by changes in currency
exchange rates affecting these currencies relative to the dollar and, to a limited extent, each
other. ‘ '
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When the currencies of non-U.S. countries in which we have a manufacturing facility
decline (or increase) in value relative to the dollar, this has the effect of reducing (or increasing)
the dollar equivalent cost of sales and other expenses with respect to those facilities. This effect
is, however, partially offset by the cost of petroleum coke, a principal raw material used by us,
which is priced in dollars. In certain countries where we have manufacturing facilities, and in
certain instances where we price our products for sale in export markets, we sell in currencies
other than the dollar. Accordingly, when these currencies increase (or decline) in value relative
to the dollar, this has the effect of increasing (or reducing) net sales. The result of these effects is
to increase (or decrease) operating profit and net income.

Many of the non-U.S. countries in which we have a manufacturing facility have been
subject to significant economic pressures, which have impacted inflation and currency exchange
rates. We seek to mitigate adverse impacts of changes in currency exchange rates on net sales by
increasing local currency prices for some of our products in various regions as circumstances
permit.

During 2001, the euro declined about 5%, the Brazilian real declined about 16% and the
South African rand declined about 36% relative to the dollar.

During 2002, the Brazilian real declined about 35%, the South African rand increased
about 38% and the euro increased about 18% relative to the dollar. During 2003, the average
exchange rate of the euro and the South African rand increased about 20% and 40%,
respectively, when compared to the average exchange rate for 2002. During 2003, the average
exchange rate for the Brazilian real and the Mexican peso declined about 1% and 11%,
respectively, when compared to the average exchange rate for 2002.

In the case of net sales of graphite electrodes, the impact of these events was a reduction
of about $15 million in 2001, a reduction of about $4 million in 2002 and an increase of about
$33 million in 2003. In the case of cost of sales of graphite electrodes, the impact of these events
was a reduction of about $6 million in 2001, a reduction of about $5 million in 2002 and an
increase of about $24 million in 2003.

We seek to mitigate adverse impacts of changes in currency exchange rates on net sales
by increasing local currency prices for some-of our products in various regions as circumstances
permit. We cannot predict changes in currency exchange rates in the future or whether those
changes will have net positive or negative impacts on our net sales, cost of sales or net income.
We cannot assure you that we would be able to mitigate any adverse effects of such changes.

We have non-dollar denominated intercompany loans between GrafTech Finance and
some of our foreign subsidiaries. At December 31, 2003, the aggregate principal amount of
these loans was $423 million (based on currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003).
These loans are subject to translation gains and losses due to changes in currency exchange rates.
A portion of these loans are deemed to.be essentially permanent and, as a result, translation gains

-and losses on these loans are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.  The balance of these loans are deemed to be temporary and, as a
result, translation gains and losses on these loans are recorded as unrealized gains or losses in
other (income) expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. We have the ability
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to replace each intercompany loan with an identical new intercompany loan. When we replace
such a loan, we record net cumulative realized translation gains or losses with respect to that loan
in other expense (income), net. Those realized gains or losses are, however, non-cash gains or
losses. Foreign currency translation gains and losses relating to these loans included in other
expense (income), net, were a loss of $4 million in 2001, a gain of $21 million in 2002 and a
gain of $39 million in 2003. To manage certain exposures to specific financial market risks
caused by changes in currency exchange rates, we use various financial instruments as described
under “Item 7A-Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risks.”

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our sources of funds have consisted principally of invested capital, cash flow from
operations and debt and equity financings. Our uses of those funds (other than for operations)
have consisted principally of debt reduction, capital expenditures, payment of fines, liabilities
and expenses in connection with antitrust investigations, lawsuits and claims and payment of
restructuring costs.

We are highly leveraged, and we have substantial obligations in connection with antitrust
investigations, lawsuits and claims. At December 31, 2003, after giving effect to the issnance
and sale of the Debentures and initial application of the net proceeds therefrom to repay the
remaining $21 million of term loans outstanding under the Senior Facilities and to make a
provisional payment of $72 million to the EU Competition Authority toward the EU antitrust
fine, we had total debt of $707 million (including unamortized bond premium and fair value of
hedged debt obligation), cash and cash equivalents of $158 million and a stockholders” deficit of
$128 million. In addition, we have historically discounted or factored a substantial portion of
our accounts receivable and used the proceeds to reduce our debt. If we had not sold such
receivables, our accounts receivable and our debt would have been about $45 million higher at
December 31, 2003. We intend to reduce our factoring of accounts receivable and use a portion
of the net proceeds from the sale of the Debentures to replace the financing previously provided
by factoring of accounts receivable.

We use cash and cash equivalents, funds available under the Revolving Facility and cash
flow from operations as our primary sources of liquidity. Availability of funds under the
Revolving Facility is subject to continued compliance with the financial covenants under the
Senior Facilities. At December 31, 2003, we were in compliance with the financial covenants
under the Senior Facilities and had no outstanding balance under the Revolving Facility with
$236 million (after consideration of outstanding letters of credit and at currency exchange rates
in effect at December 31, 2003) fully available.

At December 31, 2003, after giving effect to the issuance and sale of the Debentures and
initial application of the net proceeds therefrom to repay the remaining $21 million of term loans
outstanding under the Senior Facilities and to make a provisional payment of $72 million to the
EU Competition Authority toward the EU antitrust fine, 70% (or $493 million) of our total debt
had effectively been converted to variable rate obligations. At December 31, 2003, we also had
interest rate caps for a total notional amount of $500 million through August 2007. These
instruments effectively cap our interest rate exposure (represented by the net impact of our swaps
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on the Senior Notes) to no greater than 428 basis points above the six-month LIBOR rate of 122
basis points at December 31, 2003. : .

. ..2003 Deleveraging Actions. We completed over $300 million in de-leveraging actions in
2003. These actions consisted of sales of non-strategic assets that generated net proceeds of $24
million, including the sale of our non-strategic composite tooling business for $16 million (which
includes a working capital adjustment of $1 million), the sale of interest rate swaps for net cash
proceeds of $30 million, the exchange of common stock for $55 million aggregate principal
amount of Senior Notes, plus accrued interest, and the public offering of shares of our common
stock for net proceeds of $190 million. Virtually all of such proceeds were used to reduce debt.

- Long—Term Cbntractual, Commercial and Other Obligations and Commitments. The
following tables summarize our long-term contractual obligations and other commercial
commitments at December 31, 2003.

Payment Due By Period '
Two Two Years
Year Years Years Ending

Ending Ending Ending After -
i December December December December
Total = 2004 2006 2008 2008
(Dollars in millions)

Contractual and Other Obligations

Long-term debt (a) .....ocooveeinrverinenne. $ 502 $ - $ 1 $ 22 $ 479
Capital lease obligations ...........c........ - - - ~ -
Operating 1€ases.......ccccceeennnn. RO 8 3 5 - -
Unconditional purchase obligations... 45 8 15 10 12

Total contractual obligations (a).. 555 11 21 32 491

Estimiated liabilities and -
expenses in connection with
antitrust investigations and

related lawsuits and claims ............. ‘ 125 82 38 5 -
Postretirement, pension and : ' :
related-benefits................... et 105 286 - - 16 .15 . 46
Other long-term obligations................ 38 7 -3 3 .25
Total contractual and other
- Obligations (&) ..oo..ooooooerere $__823 $_128 $__78 $__55 $_562
- Other Commercial Commitments -
Lines of credit ......ocooveevevveeeeeeiveeene. $ 37 $ 37 $ - $ - A -
Letters of credit .........ocooecricricncicencn 17 17 - - -
Guarantees .............. e, e | 4 1 2 - 1
Total other commercial o ' o '
~COMMItMENtS . ..voveereriirree. S 58 $__ 55 $ 2 S - $ 1

(a) At December 31, 2003, after giving effect to the issuance and sale of the Debentures and the
application of the estimated net proceeds therefrom to repay the remaining $21 million of
- ~termr loans outstanding under the Senior Facilities and to make a provisional payment of $72
million to the EU Competition Authority against the EU antitrust fine, (i) long-term-debt

95

B E——— |




would have been $706 million (all years), nil (year ending December 2004), $1 million (two
years ending December 2006), $1 million (two years ending December 2008), and $704
million (years ending after 2008), (ii) total contractual obligations would have been $759
million (all years), $11 million (year ending December 2004), $21 million (two years ending
December 2006), $11 million (two years ending December 2008), and $716 million (years
ending after December 2008) and (iii) total contractual and other obligations would have
been $955 million (all years), $56 million (year ending December 2004), $78 million (two
years ending December 2006), $34 million (two years ending December 2008), and $787
million (years ending after December 2008).

The first preceding table includes our reserve for estimated liabilities and expenses in
connection with antitrust investigations and related lawsuits and claims, which includes the EU
antitrust fine of €50.4 million. The timing of payment of the EU antitrust fine is, for purposes of
this table, reflected in the column captioned “payments due during year ending December 2004”
on the line entitled “estimated liabilities and expenses in connection with antitrust investigations
and related lawsuits and claims.” In February 2004, we made a provisional payment of $72
million to the EU Competition Authority against the EU antitrust fine. While we cannot assure
you that such will be the case, we believe the amount of the EU antitrust fine will be reduced on
appeal. To the extent that the actual amount of the EU antitrust fine (after all appeals and
including any interest thereon) is less than the amount so provisionally paid, any excess would be
refunded to us. To the extent that such actual amount exceeds the amount so provmonally paid,
we will be required to make an additional payment equal to such excess.

Effective April 2001, we entered into a ten year service contract with CGI valued at $75
million ($38 million of which is the unconditional purchase obligation at December 31, 2003).
Pursuant to this contract, CGI provides a majority of our global information technology service
requirements. We are dependent on CGI for these services. A failure by CGI to provide these
services to us in a timely manner could have an adverse effect on our operations and results of
operations. The first preceding table includes a line entitled “unconditional purchase
obligations” that includes the minimum purchases under that contract. In September 2002, we
entered into a ten year outsourcing contract with CGI to provide finance and accounting business
process services valued at $36 million. That contract does not constitute an unconditional
purchase obligation and therefore is not included in the first preceding table.

The second preceding table includes a line entitled “lines of credit.” These are local lines
of credit established by our foreign subsidiaries for working capital purposes and are not part of
our revolving credit facility.

Our pension benefit obligations were underfunded by about $46 million at December 31,
2003 as compared to about $80 million at December 31, 2002. This decrease in underfunding
was primarily due to contributions in cash and in shares of our common stock made by us and
the increase in asset values resulting from the returns on invested assets in 2003.

Cash Flow and Plans to Manage Liquidity. As a result of our significant leverage, our .
substantial obligations in connection with antitrust investigations, lawsuits and claims, and our
substantial other long-term contractual and commercial obligations and commitments, we have
placed high priority on efforts to manage cash, generate additional cash flow and reduce debt.
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Our longer term efforts include our 1998 major cost savings plan, our 2002 major cost savings
plan and our other cost savings activities, our strategic alliances and our financing activities. Our
shorter term efforts include our interest rate management and working capital initiatives.

During the four years prior to 2002, we had positive annual cash flow from operations,
excluding payments in connection with restructurings and investigations, lawsuits and claims.
Typically, the first quarter of each year resuited in neutral or negative cash flow from operations
(excluding payments in connection with restructurings, antitrust investigations, lawsuits and
claims and the impact of the reduction of factoring of accounts receivable) due to various factors.
These factors included customer order patterns, customer buy-ins in advance of annual price
increases, fluctuations in working capital requirements and payment of variable compensation
with respect to the immediately preceding year. Typically, the other three quarters resulted in
positive cash flow from operations (before such exclusions). The third quarter tended to produce
relatively less positive cash flow primarily as a result of scheduled plant shutdowns by our
customers for vacations.

Our cash flow from operations (before such exclusions) in the first and third quarters
typically is adversely impacted by the semi-annual interest payments on the Senior Notes and
will be further impacted by the semi-annual interest payments on the Debentures beginning in
July 2004. The second and fourth quarters correspondingly benefit from the absence of such
intérest payments.

As part of our cash management activities, we seek to manage accounts receivable credit
risk, collections, and accounts payable and payments thereof to seek to maximize our free cash at
any given time and minimize accounts receivable losses. In addition, we have historically
discounted or factored a portion of our accounts receivable and used the proceeds to reduce our
debt. “Certain of our subsidiaries sold receivables totaling $223 million in 2001, $187 million in
2002 and $175 million in 2003. Accounts receivable sold and remaining on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets was $1 million at December 31, 2002 and nil at December 31, 2003. If we had
not sold such receivables, our accounts receivable and our debt would have been about $46
million higher at December 31, 2002 and $45 million higher at December 31, 2003. When we
sell receivables, we incur costs equal to approximately 3.2% to 8.0% of the amount of the
receivables sold. In addition, careful management of credit risk over at least the past three years
has allowed us to avoid significant accounts receivable losses notwithstanding the poor financial
condition of many of our potential and existing customers. In order to seek to minimize our
credit risks, we reduced our sales of, or refused to sell (except for cash on delivery), graphite
electrodes to some customers and potential customers in the U.S. and, to a limited extent,
elsewhere. Our unrecovered trade receivables worldwide was only 0.2% of global net sales
during this period. We cannot assure you that we will not be materially adversely affected by
accounts receivable losses in the future. We currently intend to reduce factoring of accounts
receivable and use a portion of the net proceeds from the sale of the Debentures to replace the
financing previously provided by factoring of accounts receivable.

We use cash and cash equivalents, funds available under the Revolving Facility and cash
flow from operations as our primary-sources of liquidity. We believe that our cost savings
initiatives will, over the next one to two years, continue to improve our cash flow from
operations for a given level of net sales. Improvements in cash flow from operations resulting
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from these initiatives are being partially offset by associated cash implementation costs, while
they are being implemented. We also believe that our planned sales of non-strategic assets
together with these improvements in cash flow from operations should allow us to reduce our
debt and other obligations over the long term.

We may from time to time and at any time exchange or purchase Senior Notes in open
market or privately negotiated transactions, opportunistically on terms that we believe to be
favorable. These exchanges or purchases may be effected for cash (from cash and cash
equivalents, borrowings under our Revolving Facility or new credit facilities, or proceeds from
sale of debt or equity securities or assets), common stock or other equity or debt securities, or a
combination thereof. We may at any time and from time to time seek and obtain consent from
the lenders under the Senior Facilities with respect to any restrictions thereunder applicable to
such transactions. We will evaluate any such transaction in light of then prevailing market
conditions and our then current and prospective liquidity and capital resources, including
projected and potential needs and prospects for access to capital markets. Any such transactions
may, individually or in the aggregate, be material.

Our significant leverage and substantial antitrust related and other obligations could have
a material impact on our liquidity, reducing funds available to us for other purposes and making
us more vulnerable to economic downturns or changes in the expected amount or timing of
payment of these obligations.

Our ability to service our debt as it comes due, including maintaining compliance with
the financial covenants and the representations regarding absence of material adverse changes
under the Senior Facilities, and to meet our debt service and other obligations as they come due
is dependent on our future performance, which is subject to various factors, including certain
factors beyond our control such as changes in conditions affecting our industry, changes in
global and regional economic conditions, changes in interest and currency exchange rates,
developments in antitrust investigations, lawsuits and claims involving us and inflation in raw
material, energy and other costs. A failure to comply with such covenants, unless waived, would
be a default under the Senior Facilities. This would permit the lenders to accelerate the maturity
of the Senior Facilities and terminate their commitments to extend credit under the Revolving
Facility. An acceleration of maturity of the Senior Facilities would permit the holders of the
Senior Notes to accelerate the maturity of the Senior Notes and the holders of the Debentures to
accelerate the maturity of the Debentures. If we were unable to repay our debt to the lenders and
holders or otherwise obtain a waiver from the lenders and holders, the lenders and holders could
proceed against the collateral securing the Senior Facilities and the Senior Notes, respectively,
and exercise all other rights available to them, and we could be required to undertake significant
actions (which may be inconsistent with our plans or adverse to our stockholders) to raise the
funds necessary for repayment. We cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain any such
waiver or take any of such actions on favorable terms or at all.

As described above, availability of funds under the Revolving Facility is subject to
continuing compliance with the financial covenants under the Senior Facilities. The Senior
Facilities require us to, among other things, comply with financial covenants relating to specified
minimum interest coverage and maximum net senior secured debt leverage ratios that become
more restrictive over time. At December 31, 2003, we were in compliance with the financial
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covenants under the Senior Facilities. If we were to believe that we would not continue to
comply with these covenants, we would seek an appropriate waiver or amendment from the
lenders thereunder. We cannot assure you that we would be able to obtain such waiver or
amendment on acceptable terms or at all.

At December 31, 2003, the Revolving Facility provided for maximum borrowings of up
to €200 million ($253 million, based on currency exchange rates in-effect at December 31,. ..
2003). It is possible that our future ability to borrow under the Revolving Facility could
effectively be less because of the impact of additional borrowings upon our compliance with the
maximum net senior secured debt leverage ratio permitted or minimum interest coverage ratio
required under the Senior Facilities. At December 31,2003, we had no outstanding balance -
under the Revolving Facility and $236 million (after consideration of outstanding letters of credit
and at currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003) fully available thereunder.

We believe that the long term fundamentals of our business continue to be sound.
Accordingly, although we cannot assure you that such will be the case, we believe that, based on
our expected cash flow from operations, our expected resolution of our remaining obligations in
connection with antitrust investigations, lawsuits and claims, and our existing capital resources,
and taking into account our working capital needs and our efforts to reduce costs, improve
efficiencies and product quality, generate growth and cash flow and maximize funds available to
meet our debt service and other obligations, we will be able to manage our liquidity to permit us
to service our debt and meet our obligations when due.

Related Party Transactions. We have not, since January 1, 2001, engaged in or beena .
party to any material transactions with affiliates or related parties other than transactions with our
subsidiaries (including Carbone Savoie and AET), compensatory transactions (including
employee benefits, stock option and restricted stock grants, compensation deferral and executive
employee loans and stock purchases) with directors or officers, and transactions with our 25%
owned joint venture with Jilin in China.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Commitments. We have not, since January 1,
2001, undertaken or been a party to any material off-balance-sheet financing arrangements or
other commitments (including non-exchange traded contracts), other than:

¢ Commitments under non-cancelable operating leases that, at December 31, 2003
totaled less than $3 million individually in each year and $5 million in the aggregate,
respectively. -

e Minimum required purchase commitments under our information technology
outsourcing services agreement with CGI described under “~Long-Term Contractual,
Commercial and Other Obligations and Commitments” that, at December 31, 2003
totaled approximately $5 million in each year and about $38 million in the aggregate.

¢ Factoring accounts receivable as described under “— Cash Flow and Plans to Manage
Liquidity.”
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We have not been, since January 1, 2001, affiliated with or related to any special purpose
entity other than GrafTech Finance.

Cash Flows. In general, during 2001, 2002 and 2003, we used cash in operating activities
(including restructuring and antitrust-related payments) as well as for capital expenditures.
Financing for these uses was provided primarily by net proceeds from our public offerings of
common stock in 2001 and 2003, our incurrence of long-term and short-term debt, and proceeds
from sales of non-strategic assets and interest rate swaps. We believe that we will have net cash
provided by operating activities in 2004 (excluding payments related to restructurings, antitrust
fines and the impact of the reduction of factoring of accounts receivables). We expect to make
payments of about $15 million related to restructurings, about $82 million related to antitrust
fines and about $45 million related to replacement of financing that would have been provided
by factoring of accounts receivable. We expect that we will have net cash used in operating
activities in 2004 including such exclusions.

Cash Flow (Used in) Provided by Operating Activities. Cash flow used in operating
activities was $25 million in 2003 as compared to $60 million in 2002, an improvement of $35
million. Cash flow used in operating activities was $60 million in 2002 as compared to cash
flow provided by operating activities of $17 million in 2001, a decline of $77 million.

Cash used in operating activities was $25 million in 2003. The primary uses consisted of
$36 million for working capital and $10 million use for other liabilities offset by a source of cash
of $20 million from the net loss, after adding back the net effect from non-cash items. Working
capital uses related to decreases in payables from timing of payment patterns and increases in
inventories to support anticipated customer demand. Other liability uses were primarily for
pension and postretirement benefits. Non-cash charges consisted of $32 million related to
antitrust investigations and related lawsuits and claims, $31 million of depreciation amortization,
$27 million of restructuring charges and impairment losses, offset by other non-cash credits of
$46 million related primarily to currency exchange gains on euro-denominated intercompany
loans.

Cash used in operating activities was $60 million in 2002. The primary uses consisted of
$10 million of net loss (after excluding the net effect from non-cash items), $38 million for
working capital and $12 million for other liabilities. Working capital uses primarily related to
$34 million relating to the mothballing of our Italian graphite electrode manufacturing
operations, the shutdown of our U.S. graphite electrode manufacturing operations and the high
level of accounts payable at December 31, 2001. Other liability uses were primarily for pension
and postretirement benefit payments and contributions. Non-cash charges consisted of $17
million of impairment losses and $28 million of depreciation and amortization, offset by $27
million of deferred tax credits and $20 million relating primarily to currency exchange gains on
euro-denominated intercompany loans.

Cash flow provided by operating activities was $17 million in 2001. Sources resulted
primarily from income from continuing operations and an increase in working capital. Net
income after excluding the net effect from non-cash items was $52 million in 2001. Working
capital decreased $32 million in 2001, primarily due to a $21 million increase in inventories, an
$18 million increase in restructuring payments, and $16 million in payments for antitrust
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investigations and related lawsuits and claims, partially offset by a $19 million reduction in
accounts and notes receivables.

Cash Flow Used in Investing Activities. Cash flow used in investing activities was $22
million in 2003 as compared to $50 million in 2002 and $39 million in 2001. Virtually all of
such investing activities consisted of capital expenditures. Capital expenditures in 2003 were
$41 million, in 2002 were $50 million and in 2001 were $40 million. Capital expenditures in
2003 related primarily to the expansion of graphite electrode manufacturing capacity,
implementation of J.D. Edwards information systems and essential capital maintenance. In
2003, $16 million of cash was provided to investing activities, primarily from the sale of our
non-strategic composue toohng business for $16 million (including a §1 million working capital
adjustment). :

We used $50 million of cash flow in investing activities during 2002 as compared to $39
million during 2001. Capital expenditures in 2002 related primarily to expansion of graphite
electrode manufacturing capacity in Mexico, expansion of cathode manufacturing capacity in
France, J.D. Edwards system 1mplementat10n and essential maintenance. In 2001, we limited
capital expenditures to installation of our advanced natural graphite produc‘uon lines, and similar
critical or strateglc capital investments and essential maintenance. :

Cash Flow Provided by Financing Activities. Cash flow provided by financing activities
was $69 million during 2003, $79 million in 2002 and $15 million in 2001. During 2003, we
received net proceeds of $190 million from the registered public offering of common stock and
$30 million from the sale of interest rate swaps. We used these proceeds primarily to repay term
loans of $116 million outstanding under the Senior Facilities, reduce the outstanding balance -
under the Revolving Facility and repay other short-term debt. '

Cash flow. provided by financing activities during 2002 was primarily attributable to $557
million of proceeds from our sale of $550 million of Senior Notes in 2002, of which $392
million was used to repay other long term debt, $86 million was used to repay borrowings under
the Revolving Facility and $21 million was used to pay financing costs. In addition, we received
$10 million from the sale of interest rate swaps.

During 2001, we received net proceeds of $94 million, primarily from our public offering .
of common stock in July 2001. We also received $9 million from an additional minority
investment in connection with the broadening of our strategic alliance in the cathode business
with Pechiney, and made $96 million in debt repayments.

Restrictions on Dividends and Stock Repurchases

Under the Senior Facilities, we are generally permitted to pay dividends on our common
stock and repurchase our common stock in an aggregate annual amount of between $25 million
and $50 million, depending on our leverage ratio and excess cash flow. Under the Senior Notes,
we are generally permitted to pay dividends on our common stock and repurchase our common
stock in an aggregate cumulative (from February 15, 2002) amount of $25 million, plus certain
consolidated net income, equity proceeds and investment gains. Under the Debentures,
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dividends on our common stock and repurchases of our common stock may result in adjustments
to the conversion rate applicable to the Debentures.

Costs Relating to Protection of the Environment

We have been and are subject to increasingly stringent environmental protection laws and-
regulations. In addition, we have an on-going commitment to rigorous internal environmental
protection standards. Environmental considerations are part of all significant capital expenditure
decisions. The following table sets forth certain information regarding environmental expenses
and capital expenditures.

For the Year Ended December 31.

2001 2002 2003

(Dollars in millions)
Expenses relating to environmental protection............iccoe.ovevccvennnenens $12 $10 $13
Capital expenditures related to environmental protection .................... 3 2 2

Critical Accounting Policies

Critical accounting policies are those that require difficult, subjective or complex
judgments by management, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of
matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods.

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Not all of these significant accounting policies require management to make
difficult, subjective or complex judgments. However, the following accountmg pol1c1es could be
deemed to be critical. :

Reliance on Estimates. In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, we use and
rely on estimates in determining the economic useful lives of our assets, obligations under our
employee benefit plans, provisions for doubtful accounts, provisions for restructuring charges and
contingencies, tax valuation allowances, evaluation of goodwill and other intangible assets,
pension and post-retirement benefit obligations and various other recorded or disclosed amounts.
Estimates require us to use our judgment While we believe that our estimates for these matters are
reasonable, if the actual amount is significantly different than the estimated amount, our assets,
liabilities or results of operatlons may be overstated or understated. ‘ ‘

Employee Benefit Plans. We sponsor various retirement and pension plans, including
defined benefit, defined contribution plans and post retirement benefit plans that cover most
employees worldwide. Accounting for these plans requires assumptions as to the discount rate,
expected return on plan assets, expected salary increases and health care cost trend rate. See
Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail on these rates and the effect
of a change in these rates on our results of operations.

Financial Instruments. We are exposed to market risks primarily from changes in
interest rates and currency exchange rates. We routinely enter into various transactions that have
been authorized according to documented policies and procedures to manage well-defined
currency exchange rate risks and interest rate risks. These transactions relate primarily to
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financial instruments described under “Item 7A-Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about
Market Risks.” Since the counterparties to these financial instruments are large commercial
banks and similar financial institutions, we do not believe that we are exposed to material
counterparty credit risk. We do not use financial instruments for trading purposes.-Accounting
for financial instruments requires us to make judgments about the value of those instruments at
specified dates. While we believe that our estimates of values are reasonable, if the actual values
are significantly different than the estimated values, our assets, liabilities or results of operations
may be overstated or understated.

Contingencies. We account for contingencies by recording an estimated loss or gain
from a loss or gain contingency when information available prior to issuance of the Consolidated
Financial Statements indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has
been incurred or a gain has become receivable at the date of the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the amount of the loss or gain can be reasonably estimated. Accounting for
contingencies such as those relating to environmental, legal and income tax matters requires us
to use our )udgment While we believe that our accruals for these matters are adéquate, if the
actual loss or gain from a contingency is significantly different from the estimated loss or gain,
our results of operations may be overstated or understated.

Impairments of Long-Lived Assets. We record impairment losses on long-lived assets
used in operations when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired and
the discounted future cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the
carrying amount of those assets. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated future net cash flows to be generated
by the asset. If the asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is .
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the estimated fair
value of the asset. Assets to be disposed are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair
value less estimated costs to sell. If the actual value is significantly less than the estimated fair
value, our assets may be overstated.

Inventories. We record the value of inventories at the lower of cost or market, and
periodically review the book value of products and product lines to determine if they are
properly valued. We also periodically review the composition of our inventories and seek to
identify slow-moving inventories. In connection with those reviews, we seek to identify
products that may not be properly valued and assess the ability to dispose of them at a price
greater than cost. If it is determined that cost is less than market value, then cost 1s used for
inventory valuation. If a write down to current market value is necessary, the market value
© cannot be greater than the net realizable value, sometimes called the ceiling (defined as selling
price less costs to complete and dispose), and cannot be lower than the net realizable value less a
normal profit margin, sometimes called the floor. Generally, we do not experience issues with
obsolete inventory due to the nature of our products. If the actual value is s1gmﬁcant1y less than
the recorded value, our assets may be overstated.

Accounting for Income Taxes. When we prepare the Consolidated Financial Statements,
we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the Jurlsdlcnons n Wthh we operate
This process requires us to make the following assessments: C
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e Estimate our actual current tax liability in each jurisdiction.

» Estimate our temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such
as lease revenue and related depreciation, for tax and accounting purposes. These
differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which we include within our
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

o Assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future
taxable income and, if we believe that recovery is not likely, we establish a valuation
allowance.

If our estimates are incorrect, our assets or liabilities may be overstated or understated.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

A description of recent accounting pronouncements is set forth under “New Accounting
Standards” in Note 1 to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this
Report, and such description is incorporated herein by reference. Such description contains all of
the information required with respect thereto.

Description of Our Financing Structure

We have the following three principal long term debt instruments and arrangements
outstanding: '

e the Senior Facilities;
¢ the Senior Notes; and

e the Debentures.

GrafTech Finance, a direct wholly owned subsidiary of GTI, is the borrower and primary
obligor under the Senior Facilities. The Senior Facilities have been guaranteed, on a senior
secured basis, by GTI and our other domestic subsidiaries.

GrafTech Finance has loaned and is required to loan all of the proceeds of borrowings
under the Revolving Facility (that is part of the Senior Facilities) to:

» our Swiss subsidiary under a secured intercompany revolving note that is guaranteed,
on a senior secured basis, by most of our other principal foreign subsidiaries; or

e UCAR Carbon under an unsecured intercompany revolving note that is guaranteed,
on an unsecured senior basis, by GT1 and our other domestic subsidiaries.

GrafTech Finance’s obligations under the Senior Facilities are secured by first priority
security interests in these intercompany revolving notes (including the related guarantees and
security) and all of its other assets (other than unsecured intercompany term notes described
below). The guarantees of the Senior Facilities by GTI and our other domestic subsidiaries are

104




secured, subject to certain limitations, by first priority security interests and pledges in all of the
AET Pledged Stock, all of the outstanding capital stock of UCAR Carbon, GrafTech Finance and
GrafTech Global, 65% of the outstanding shares of capital stock of our Swiss subsidiary and our
other first-tier foreign subsidiaries, and all of the other assets of GTI and our other domestic
subsidiaries. The intercompany revolving note of our Swiss subsidiary is secured by a pledge of
all of its assets (including shares of capital stock of its first-tier foreign subsidiaries) and the
guarantees of such intercompany revolving note are secured by pledges of assets of the foreign
subsidiary guarantors. At December 31, 2003, the aggregate principal amount of such
intercompany revolving note was nil.

GrafTech Finance is the issuer of and primary obligor under the Senior Notes. The
Senior Notes have been guaranteed, on a senior unsecured basis, by GTI and our other domestic
subsidiaries that collectively hold a substantial majority of our U.S. assets. GrafTech Finance
loaned most of the proceeds from the sale of the Senior Notes to our principal foreign
subsidiaries under unsecured intercompany term notes that are guaranteed, on an unsecured
senior basis, by the same foreign subsidiaries that guarantee the secured intercompany revolving
note of our Swiss subsidiary. GrafTech Finance’s indebtedness under the Senior Notes is
secured, subject to certain limitations, by first priority pledges of these unsecured intercompany
term notes (including the related guarantees). The guarantee of the Senior Notes by UCAR
Carbon is secured by a second priority pledge of the AET Pledged Stock. At December 31,
2003, the aggregate principal amount of these unsecured intercompany term notes was $528
million (based on currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003). The Senior Note
Indenture contains a limitation that at no time will (i) the value of the pledged portion the AET
Pledged Stock or (ii) the combined value of the pledged portion of any foreign subsidiary’s
unsecured intercompany term note and unsecured guarantee of unsecured intercompany term
notes issued by other foreign subsidiaries exceed 19.99% of the principal amount of the then
outstanding Senior Notes. As a result of such limitation, unsecured intercompany term notes of
our foreign subsidiaries in an aggregate principal amount, at December 31, 2003, equal to $162
-million (based on currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003), that would otherwise
be subject to the pledge to secure the Senior Notes, are available to satisfy the claims of all
creditors of GrafTech Finance (including the lenders under the Senior Facilities, the holders of
the Senior Notes and, pursuant to the subsidiary guarantee of GrafTech Fmance the holders of
the Debentures) as the1r respective interests may appear.

'GTI is the issuer of and primary obligor under the Debentures. The Debentures have
been guaranteed, on a senior unsecured basis, by GrafTech Finance and our other domestic
subsidiaries that collectively hold a substantial majority of our U.S. assets. Except fora
subsidiary that is being dissolved and liquidated, the obligors (including the guarantors) under
the Senior Notes and the Debentures are the same.

GTI has no material assets other than all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of
GrafTech Global and GrafTech Finance, its interest in the lawsuit initiated by us against our
former parents, intercompany notes receivable by it from the subsidiary guarantors and $57.5
million aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes previously acquired by GTI. GTI has no
material liabilities or obligations other than the Debentures, the secured DOJ antitrust fine of
$52.5 million, the secured EU antitrust fine of €50.4 million, intercompany notes payable by it to
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the subsidiary guarantors, its secured guarantee of the Senior Facilities, its unsecured guarantee
of the Senior Notes, and certain guarantees of commercial obligations of its subsidiaries.

GrafTech Finance has no material assets other than intercompany notes receivable by it
from GTI or our other subsidiaries, including those described above. GrafTech Finance has no
material liabilities or obligations other than its secured indebtedness under the Senior Facilities
and the Senior Notes, its unsecured guarantee of the Debentures and its obligations in connection,
with treasury, cash management, cash pooling and hedging activities for GTI and its other
subsidiaries.

GrafTech Global, a direct wholly owned subsidiary of GTI, has no material assets other
than all of the outstanding shares of capital stock of UCAR Carbon, its interest in the lawsuit
initiated by us against our former parents and intercompany notes receivable by it from GTI and
the other subsidiary guarantors. GrafTech Global has no material liabilities or obligations other
than intercompany notes payable by it to GTI or the other subsidiary guarantors, its secured
guarantee of the Senior Facilities, its unsecured guarantee of the Senior Notes and the
Debentures and certain guarantees of commercial obligations of its subsidiaries.

UCAR Carbon, a directly wholly owned subsidiary of GrafTech Global, is our principal
operating subsidiary in the U.S. All of our other subsidiaries are direct or indirect subsidiaries of
UCAR Carbon. Our Swiss subsidiary is a direct wholly owned subsidiary of UCAR Carbon.
Most of our other principal foreign operating subsidiaries are direct or indirect subsidiaries of our
Swiss subsidiary. Union Carbide Grafito, Inc. is a direct, wholly owned, subsidiary of UCAR
Carbon that holds certain real property in Puerto Rico adjacent to property on which one of
GTI’s graphite electrode manufacturing facilities was located. The facility was demolished in
the 1990°s. Graphite Electrode Network LLC is a direct, wholly owned, marketing subsidiary of
UCAR Carbon created primarily to market graphite eléctrodes for specific market segments.
UCAR Holdings V Inc. is a direct wholly owned subsidiary of UCAR Carbon which held and
recently sold our composite tooling business and is being liquidated and dissolved.

Description of Senior Facilities, Senior Notes and Debentures. A-description of the
Senior Facilities, the Senior Notes and the Debentures is set forth under “Long-Term Debt and
Liquidity” in Note 5 to the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in this
Report, and such description is incorporated herein by reference. Such description contains all of
the information required with respect thereto. :

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

‘We are exposed to market risks primarily from changes in interest rates, currency
exchange rates and commercial energy rates. We routinely enter into various transactions that
have been authorized according to documented policies and procedures to manage well-defined
risks. These transactions relate primarily to financial instruments described below. Since the
counterparties to these financial instruments are Iarge commercial banks and similar financial
institutions, we do not believe that we are exposed to material counterparty credit risk. We do
not use financial instruments for trading purposes.
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Our exposure to changes in interest rates results primarily from floating rate long-term
debt tied to LIBOR or euro LIBOR Our exposure to changes in currency exchange rates results
primarily from:

e investments in and intercompany loans to our foreign subsidiaries and our share of -
the earnings of those subsidiaries, to the extent denominated in currencies other than
local currencies; »

e raw material purchases made by our forelgn subsidiaries in currencies other than local
currencies; and

e export sales made by our subsidiaries in currencies other than local currencies.

Our exposure to changes in energy costs results primarily from the purchase of natural
gas and electricity for use in our manufacturing operations.

Interest Rate Management. We implement interest rate management initiatives to seek
to minimize our interest expense and optimize the risk in our portfolio of fixed and variable
interest rate obligations. Use of these initiatives is allowed under the Senior Notes and the
Senior Facilities. We have interest rate swaps that effectively convert fixed rate debt
(represented by the Senior Notes) into variable rate debt in order to-seek to minimize interest -
expense. At December 31, 2003, we had swaps for a notional amount of $485 million.

Our interest rate swaps are designated as hedging the exposure to changes in the fair
value of the related debt (called a fair value hedge). The related debt for our swaps is the Senior
Notes. Our swaps are marked-to-market monthly, and we are required to provide cash collateral
to the counterparty to the extent that the fair value of the derivative exceeds $15 million, net of
market value of our interest rate caps. We may, at any time, exit our position in these swaps.
The fair value of the hedge at the end of a period is recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets
on the line entitled “fair value of hedged debt obligation.” At December 31, 2003, the carrying
value of our debt was reduced by $18 million (excluding the offsetting value of our interest rate
caps of $4 million) as a result of our fair value hedge. The interest rate swap derivative was
valued at $18 million at December 31, 2003 and recorded as part of other long-term obligations
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. When we sell swaps, the gain or loss realized is amortized
as a credit or charge to interest expense over the remaining term of the Senior Notes. When we
effectively reduce the outstanding principal amount of the Senior Notes (through exchanges or-
otherwise), the related portion of such credit or charge is accelerated and recorded in the period
in which such reduction occurs. :

In the 2002 second quarter, we entered into $250 million notional amount of swaps
through the remaining term of the Senior Notes, effectively converting that amount of fixed rate
debt to variable rate debt. In the 2002 third quarter, we sold the entire $250 million notional
amount of swaps for $10 million in cash. In the 2002 fourth quarter, we entered into $250
million notional amount of swaps through the remaining term of the Senior Notes. Interest rate
swaps reduced our interest expense by $6 million in 2002. The credits to interest expense for -
these periods due to amortization of the $10 million proceeds for the sale of swaps was nominal.
At December 31, 2002, the carrying value of our debt was increased by $8 million as a result of
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our fair value hedge. The interest rate swap derivative was valued at $8 million at December 31,
2003 and 1s recorded as part of other long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In the 2003 first quarter, we entered into an additional $200 million notional amount of
swaps (bringing our total notional amount of swaps to $450 million) through the remaining term
of the Senior Notes, effectively converting that amount of fixed rate debt to variable rate debt.
Subsequently in the 2003 first quarter, we sold the entire $450 million notional amount of swaps
for $10 million in cash. Following the sale of the swaps, in the 2003 first quarter, we entered
into $350 million notional amount of swaps through the remaining term of the Senior Notes.
Subsequently, in the 2003 second quarter, we entered into an additional $50 million notional
amount of swaps (bringing our total notional amount of swaps to $400 million). Subsequently in
the 2003 second quarter, we sold the total notional amount of $400 million of swaps for $21
million in cash. In the 2003 third quarter, we entered into $500 million notional amount of
swaps for the remaining term of the Senior Notes. Subsequently in the 2003 third quarter, we
sold $15 million notional amount of swaps and paid §1 million in cash. As a result, at
December 31, 2003, we held $485 million notional amount of swaps for the remaining term of
the Senior Notes. Interest rate swaps reduced our interest expense by approximately $13 million
in 2003. In 2003, we realized net proceeds of $30 million with respect to the sale of swaps,
which will be amortized as a credit to interest expense over the remaining term of the Senior
Notes. Such amortization amounted to $2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The
credit to interest expense for 2003 due to the acceleration of the amortization of cash proceeds
from the sale of swaps as a result of our exchanges of common stock for Senior Notes was $6
million.

We enter into agreements with financial institutions that are intended to limit, or cap, our
exposure to the incurrence of additional interest expense due to increases in variable interest
rates. In the 2003 first quarter, we entered into interest rate caps for a notional amount of $300
million through August 2007. In the 2003 second quarter, we entered into additional interest rate
caps for a notional amount of $200 million through August 2007 (bringing our total notional
amount of caps to $500 million through August 2007). These instruments effectively cap our
interest rate exposure (represented by the net impact of our swaps on the Senior Notes) to no
greater than 428 basis points above the six-month LIBOR rate of 122 basis points at
December 31, 2003. All of our interest rate caps are marked to market monthly. Gains and
losses are recorded as unrealized gains and losses in other (income) expense, net, on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Unrealized losses on caps amounted to $1 million for
2003.

Currency Rate Management. We enter into foreign currency instruments to attempt to
manage exposure to changes in currency exchange rates. These foreign currency instruments,
which include, but are not limited to, forward exchange contracts and purchased currency
options, attempt to hedge global currency exposures, net, relating to euro-denominated debt and
identifiable foreign currency receivables, payables and commitments held by our foreign and
domestic subsidiaries. Forward exchange contracts are agreements to exchange different
currencies at a specified future date and at a specified rate. Purchased foreign currency options
are instruments which give the holder the right, but not the obligation, to exchange different
currencies at a specified rate at a specified date or over a range of specified dates. The resuit is
the creation of a range in which a best and worst price is defined, while minimizing option cost.
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Forward exchange contracts and purchased currency options are carried at market value. All of
these contracts mature within one year and are marked to market monthly. Gains and losses due
to the recording of such contracts at fair value are recognized currently in other expense
(income), net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Unrealized gains and losses on
outstanding foreign currency contracts were nil at December 31, 2001, a loss of $3 million at
December 31, 2002 and nil at December 31, 2003. The notional amount of these contracts at
December 31, 2002 was $56 million and nil at December 31, 2003. In 2003, we recorded a loss
of $7 million with respect to the instruments held during the course of the year. We had no such
contracts outstanding at December 31, 2003; however, we may at any time purchase further

. instruments.

Commercial Energy Rate Management. We have entered into short duration fixed rate
purchase contracts with certain of our North American natural gas suppliers in order to mitigate
seasonal increases in our natural gas costs. These contracts expire at the end of the 2004 first
quarter. In addition, we have entered into natural gas hedge contracts, effectively fixing 100% of
our direct and indirect natural gas cost exposure in North America (45% of direct worldwide
exposure) through April 2004,

Sensitivity Analysis. We used a sensitivity analysis to assess the potential effect of
changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates for 2001, 2002 and 2003. Based on this
analysis, a hypothetical 10% weakening or strengthening in the dollar across all other currencies
would have changed our reported gross margin for 2001 by about $12 million, 2002 by about $4
million and 2003 by about $3 million. In addition, based on this analysis, a hypothetical increase
in interest rates of 100 basis points across all maturities would have increased our interest
expense (excluding the impact of any hypothetical interest rate swaps) for 2001, 2002 and 2003
by about $7 million. o
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
GrafTech International Ltd.
Wilmington, Delaware

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of GrafTech International Ltd.

. (formerly UCAR International Inc.) and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2002

and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and stockholders’-
deficit for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These financial -

~ statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. -

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Un1tcd
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement..

- An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and dlsclosures in
- the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
“significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial staternent
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
- financial position of the Company at December 31, 2002 and 2003, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement
" of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill- and Other Intangible Assets, effectlve
January 1,2002.

- /s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 12, 2004
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

At December 31,

2002 2003
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents..........c.ccocovivcirmincenncornnaeerensenens $ 11 $ 34
Accounts and notes receivable, net 104 . 126
Inventories:
Raw materials and supphies.......coivrniiii e 39 47
WOTK 1 PIOCESS ...vvvieiriaeriieceneietes ettt st st ssas e sr s b s messn e sna b n st st eenas 102 123
FINISREA GOOAS ...ttt sttt et s es e en 30 , 34
, 171 204
Prepaid expenses (including deferred income taxes) 21 24
Assets of discoNtinUEd OPELATIONS. ........cvevereeievirericr ittt et o b et et re e 14 -
TOtA] CUITENE ASSELS .....euvveeericrericiieriree e cre sttt saneestnaeseeseae s e s e sbe st st easebaneenenenseneren 321 388
Property, plant and eqUIPIMENT ......c...ccouieiieirirer ittt eb s erere et nein 995 1,032
Less: accumulated depreciation..... 695 691
INEE FIXEA ASSOLS .euveueerevrieeretireett st ettt st bns et et st ara e saete e easee s aeseban et ceaebnteasasen 300 , 341
Deferred INCOME tAXES ....vviiieieriretristeririee i eree et seestseesaateseesetesssnetessrsetsessssssasseessentasssaneesans 171 : 176
GOOdWIIL. .o _ 15 20
Other assets 52 42
TOLAL ASSELS ..eveerieeerieeiiiesterteniereee e bee e traeesesbaseanse s e beaeeeseae b raaneosareesbesa s s ebassenpaseenenreabens 3 859 $ 967
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities: ‘
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE. ..ottt RS s $ 105 $ 98
Short-term debt......c.ccocoecrnnncnn. 18 1
Accrued income and other taxes... 23 31
Other accrued Habilities.........cvoiviieveeiiciirieie ettt ettt e sb et ve et eas s 57 164
Liabilities of discontinued OPETations...........coorerverrinriivirirniresieeresenssssesceseanseseaesessssessses _ 3 -
Total current HabIHEIEs . ...oooviieire ettt e 206 294
Long-term debt: '
CaITYing VAIUE .....cooviieveeieiee st v e evene e aneaes ettt aean 699 516
Fair value of hedged debt obligation ‘ 8 . (1)
Unamortized Dond premiliim......o..ocviuioiriiieie ettt sre e eeassresae b eesateeaans 6 4
Total 1ong-term debt ..........cocoviiinieiiiieeirec e st e ran 713 502
Other long-term obligations 258 225
Deferred INCOME tAXES ....coo.eeriiiririiirirtiirie ettt sene s eee et st sa e b eaes e sbete s ebenearese e 33 43
Minority stockholders’ equity in consolidated entities...........covemirereiivrcinenmcieeieeinncve s 30 31
Commitments & CONINZEICIES ....veueverirecerrieretiieeni ettt seriess et sernseesrreesesesesessntssessasasssesens - -~

Stockholders’ deficit:
Preferred stock, par value $.01, 10,000,000 shares authorized,
TIONE ASSUEA ..reveeeiieeerienieeiieeertesaesteeritesraes et eetr e eereaessbeasstasreeasasesssnsesanreerssessseanneserars - -
Common stock, par value $.01, 100,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2002,
150,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2003, 59,211,664 shares issued

at December 31, 2002, 96,402,287 shares issued at December 31, 2003.................... 1 1
Additional paid-In CAPIAL ......covvvvririeririerrinieirines e et st nr s ea et nebetes 636 893
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (304) (286)
AcctMUIAted AefiCIt.......vceirieciriireiniiciir sttt ettt ebas (620) (644)
Less: cost of common stock held in treasury, 2,542,539 shares at December 31, 2002,

2,451,035 shares at December 31, 2003 .ot (88) (86)
Common stock held in employee benefit trusts, 426,400 shares at December 31, 2002,

503,232 shares at December 31, 2003 (6) (6)

Total stockholders’ deficit .........c.cocovervvivneieienncecnreann (381) (128)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ defiCit........cvvviiiiviieinieciiree e $ 859 $ 967

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

e For the Year Ended December 31,
2001 --2002 . 2003
INEE SAIES....ooccocrevvcvvcveevensraesasaescescecevsescesereesssmnassssesscssesiesssvcesssnesmmmnnsisee oo $ 634 $ - 596 -8 .. 712
COSt OF SALES ....cevrieeerirircice ettt ettt s 455 461 544
GTOSS PIOfIt...covciiieesirie et et see sttt s renaes 179 135 168
Research and development ...........ccoocviiiirceinieenriec e reaertsreascseresenes 12 13 . i1
Selling, administrative and other expenses........ 75 81 85
Restructuring charges .......c.ccoovceveircrenecniiennon. 12 6 - 20
Impairment loss on long-lived and other assets 80 17 27
Antitrust investigations and related lawsuits and claims...........ccceceernircrnrecnnnans 10 . - 32
Other (inCOME) EXPENSE, NEL .cveverrerireireirerrieinresisiressesseerseseaseeaarecssstrsesssrasens 3 9 (12)
INEETESt EXPEISE oottt teiae st st rs bbb sa s resenesnbne 60 60 .45
252 » 168 188
Loss from continuing operations before provision for (benefit from) .
income taxes and MUNOLILY INETESt.......ccorveirivrrreierrerirrnressieeseeteseereaeeseenreans (73) (33) 20)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes .......c.....oveervvevecrnivncnnnies 14 (16) 5
Loss from continuing operations before minority interest 87) Qa7) 25)
Less: minority stockholders’ share of income 2 2 1
Loss from continuing Operations...........c.ccueecvcrrerrcrenns (89) {19) . (26)
Income from discontinued operations, net of 12X .......ovcevvveerrrircvrrrrrieireans 2 1 1
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of taxX..........cccoveinverenrinennennieeens - ~ 1
INEE 0SS ..ottt ettt et s ebe s ea s anen s s st § 87) % $(18) 3 (24)
Basic:
Loss from contining OPErations ...........ccoceveeeieieieinssiecesserniesscesansaveressens $ (179 § (0.35) $ (0.38)
' 0.04 0.02 0.02
Nt 10SS PEI SNATE......eviveieisirieisierss e s tenevs s ssesees v teaseesasssnereasarans $ (1.75) $ 033) $ (0.36)
Diluted:
Loss from continuing OPerations ......c.....cccoiveerrieereerveeseveesseseressrensessesesenns $ (179) § 035) $ (0.38)
Income from discontinued OPErationS ... ...cccuirerrirrrarnenerirnesisesrnieresnneneinenes - 0.04 0.02 _0.02
INEt 10SS PET SHATC ...t smrce ettt asa e $ (1.75) § (033) 8§ . (0.36)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
Cash flow from operating activities:
NNEE LOSS 1.vuvevevecerierctaniseee s esseberas e s s bbbt et et sasas e se e e e on bt $§ (87) $ (18) $ (24)
Income from discontinued operations, net of taX.........cccvvcrerrnrcrierincrennnenes 2 1 1
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net 0f tax .......cc.ccoeveecvnecrernerinncerenne —~ - 1
Loss from continuing Operations ..........cueereerecirememeieresmsereseconensersaresersesnens (89) (19) (26)
Non-cash (credits) charges to net loss:
Depreciation and amortiZation.........c.ocovecermmiecrnriererenierennersee e 35 28 31
Deferred HNCOME tAXES ...iivieivir it riiserraeeiaeresarressesaessereseasessesses ionnessesensn 9) 27) 2
Antitrust investigations and related lawsuits and claims ... 10 - 32
ReStruCturing ChAIZeS ....oooevevvieirere s criessaseerevan s sstassessasnesasssaessene 12 6 20
Impairment loss on long-lived and other asSets.........cccovcriniinnrrcnenns 80 17 7
Restricted StOCK VESHNZ ...cveeimiercerirnrecnerrercirrereresnscsmensreseseennes - 5 -
Other NON-Cash ChaIZES .....c.cvvvvverremnriiinieinier ettt 13 20) (46)
Working capital® ... e (32) (38) (36)
Long-term assets and Habilities ........cocecveimmiicn {6) (12) (10)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from continuing
OPETAtIONS 1uuvveueiereasevereree e tesestscasanesssaressesaetnassaer et eseabesesnsebessntensarnsesenceens 14 (60) (26)
Net cash provided by operating activities from discontinued operations..... 3 - 1
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities..........cooveerrmeevencrnnnes 17 (60) (25)
Cash flow from investing activities:
Capital eXPENAItUIES ..ottt sacesens 40) {50) 41)
Purchase of INVESHIENT.......ocviiieririnieeneieneisee e s saes e bsreseseessesenes 2) - -
Proceeds from sale 0f assets ........ccovvvieiicciniiiccr s 3 - 3
Proceeds from sale of discontinued Operations..........c.ovvcvvvciinnniicnenen, - = 16
Net cash used in investing aCtiVities .......ccerveerrrreierircneniecniee e (39) (50) (22)
Cash flow from financing activities:
Short-term debt (payments) bOITOWINGS, NEt .....c.covrveiirerrirrerermiecrimiesesnnsan 3 11 (19)
Revolving Facility (payments) borrowings, net 7 (86) 10)
Long-term debt borrowings ..........cccovnenvcviciinnnas 2 557 -
Long-term debt reductions........cocoieiviiiincirnrniiic it 96) (392) (116)
Investment received from minority stockbolder ..o 9 - -
Debt fINANCING COBS ...vurveiierirreeerrirririiesirenssrns e seesenssecrraresssensesnesassessonssernane “4) 1) (1)
Proceeds from sale of interest rate swaps, net - 10 30
Purchase Of INtErest TAte CAPS....cc..vvverireeterire et reecrie e cmesserr et saeseasaes - - (5)
Net proceeds from sale of common StocK.........ooviinniiincicinnii 94 - 1 190
Proceeds from exercise of stock options - - 4
Dividends paid to minority stockholder...........cccovnniccnnincnnn. - (1) 4)
Net cash provided by financing activities 15 79 69
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ... (7) 31) 22
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 2) 4 1
Cagsh and cash equivalents at beginning of period 47 38 11

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ..........cccooiencciiirinicnncinicnne $ 38 h 11 3 34
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Net cash paid during the year for:

TIEETESL ... .cvoeareerereerercrrenerseaesessenesseeesemenceasecsssceseebsbecssetesemebtesreecssasesabetsssnacans 3 56 $ 48 $ 61

*Net change in working capital due to the following components:
(Increase) decrease in current assets:

Accounts and notes receivable, Net. ... 19 6) 4)
INVENLOTIES ... vt et e 1) 11 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets - @) -
Payments for antitrust investigations and related lawsuits and claims......... (16) 3) 4)
ReSIrUCtUIING PAYINIENLS ...civvrrieririeirieriereneeienineeeiareee e snsessrssesssessresssesinne (18) (4) )
Increase (decrease) in payables and accruals........cooveviviniicnininiiiiin, 4 (34) (14)
WOrKing Capital.....coovecivieiiiiini et e $  (32) $ (38) $ (36)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

§)) Discussion of Business and Structure
Our businesses are organized around three lines of business:

e asynthetic graphite line of business, which primarily serves the steel, aluminum,
transportation and semiconductor industries and includes graphite electrodes,
cathodes and other advanced synthetic graphite products as well as related services;

e anatural graphite line of business, which primarily serves the automotive,
petrochemical, electronics and power generation industries and includes advanced
flexible graphite and flexible graphite as well as related services; and

e an advanced carbon materials line of business, which primarily serves the silicon
metal and ferro-alloy industries and includes carbon electrodes and refractories.

Important Terms

We use the following terms to identify various matters. These terms help to simplify the
presentation of the information in these Notes.

“AET?” refers to Advanced Energy Technology Inc. only. AET is our 97.5% owned
subsidiary engaged in the development, manufacture and sale of natural graphite
products. Prior to January 1, 2003, AET was named Graftech Inc.

“Carbone Savoie” refers to Carbone Savoie S.A.S. and its subsidiaries. Carbone Savoie
is our 70% owned subsidiary engaged in the development, manufacture and sale of
cathodes.

“Debentures” mean our 1 5/8% convertible senior debentures due 2024, which were
issued under an Indenture dated January 22, 2004 (the “Debenture Indenture”).

“GrafTech Finance” refers to GrafTech Finance Inc. only. GrafTech Finance is a
direct, wholly owned, special purpose finance subsidiary of GTI and the borrower under
our principal senior secured bank credit facilities (as amended, the “Senior Facilities”),
which includes our principal revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Facility™).
GrafTech Finance is the issuer of the Senior Notes and a guarantor of the Debentures.
Prior to June 7, 2002, GrafTech Finance was named UCAR Finance Inc.

“GrafTech Global” refers to GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc. only. GrafTech Global is
a direct, wholly owned subsidiary of GTI and the direct or indirect holding company for
all of our operating subsidiaries. GrafTech Global is a guarantor of the Senior Notes, the
Debentures and the Senior Facilities. Prior to June 7, 2002, GrafTech Global Enterprises
Inc. was named UCAR Global Enterprises Inc.
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“GTI” refers to GrafTech International Ltd. only. GTI is our public parent company and
the issuer of the Debentures and our publicly traded common stock and the related.
preferred share purchase rights registered under the Exchange Act and listed on the
NYSE. GTI is a guarantor of the Senior Notes and the Senior Facilities. Prior to our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders for 2002, GTI was named UCAR International Inc.

“Senior Notes” means our 10.25% senior notes due 2012, Which were issued under an
Indenture dated February 15, 2002 (as supplemented, the “Senior Note Indenture”).

“Subsidiaries” refers to those companies that, at the relevant time, are or were majority
owned or wholly owned directly or indirectly by GTI or its predecessors to the extent that
those predecessors’ activities related to the graphite and carbon business. All of GT1’s
subsidiaries have been wholly owned (with de minimis exceptions in the case of certain
foreign subsidiaries) from at least January 1, 2000 through December 31, 2003, except
for: : : ' . '

. Carbone Savoie, which has been and is 70% owned, and
e AET, which was 100% owned until it became 97.5% owned in June 2001.

Our 100% owned Brazilian cathode manufacturing operations were contributed to
Carbone Savoie and, as a result, became 70% owned on March 31, 2001.

“UCAR Carbon” refers to UCAR Carbon Company Inc. only. UCAR Carbon is our
wholly owned subsidiary through which we conduct most of our U.S. operations. UCAR
Carbon is a guarantor of the Seniof Notes, the Debentures and the Senior Facilities.

“We,” “us” or “our” refers to GTI and its subsidiaries collectively or, if the context so
requires, GT1, GrafTech Global or GrafTech Finance, individually.

) Suminary of Signiﬁcant Accounting Policies

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of GTI and its
majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. '

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of overnight repurchase agreements and certificates of deposit
with an initial term of less than three months. For purposes of the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows, we consider all highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.

Investments .

Investments in marketable debt and equity securities are generally classified and
accounted for as investment, held-to-maturity or available-for-sale securities. We determine the
appropriate classification of debt and equity securities at the time of purchase and reassess the
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classification at each reporting date. Debt securities classified as held-to-maturity are reported at
amortized cost plus accrued interest. Securities classified as available-for-sale are reported at fair
value with unrealized gains and losses, net of related tax, recorded as a separate component of
comprehensive loss on the Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Deficit until realized.
Interest and amortization of premiums and discounts for debt securities are included in interest
expense. Gains and losses on securities sold are determined based on the specific identification
method and are included in other (income) expense, net. Unrealized losses on investment
securities that are other than temporary are recognized in net income (loss). We do not hold
securities for speculative or trading purposes.

Revenue Recognition o ~

Sales of our products and technology are recognized when persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, title has passed, the revenue amount is determinable
and collection is reasonably assured. Licenses of technology are recognized over the term of the
license agreements. Revenue from service transactions is recognized when service is rendered.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at cost or market, whichever is lower. Cost is determined on the
“first-in first-out” (“FIFO”) or the “average cost” method.

Fixed Assets and Depreciation

Fixed assets are carried at cost. Expenditures for replacements are capitalized and the
replaced assets are retired. Gains and losses from the sale of property are included in other
(income) expense, net.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets. We generally use accelerated depreciation methods for tax purposes, where appropriate.

The average estimated useful lives are as follows:

Years
BUIdINGS ...ocveiiireiiineeieeicieeee e 25
Land improvements.........oc..ccerieeenreenresreneenaess 20
Machinery and equipment .......c.....cocceccreeerireenn. 20
Furniture and fiXtures ..........ccoevvecivieviiisinieeenns 10
Transportation eqUIPMEnt..........cccoceevrveecreennenne 6

The carrying value of fixed assets is assessed when events and circumstances indicating
impairment are present. We determine such impairment by measuring undiscounted estimated
future cash flows. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of
the carrying amount of the assets to future net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets.
If the assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the
amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. At
December 31, 2003, accumulated depreciation included about $223 million related to previously
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impaired long-lived assets. Assets to be disposed are reported at the lower of the carrying amount
or fair value less costs to sell. We capitalized $1 million of interest expense in 2002 and 2003.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Effective January 1, 2001, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS”) No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as
amended by SFAS No. 137, SFAS No. 138 and SFAS No. 149. The adoption did not have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. We do not use
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. They are used to manage well-defined
currency exchange rate risks, interest rate risks and commercial energy contract risks. -

We enter into foreign currency instruments to manage exposure to changes in currency
exchange rates. These instruments, which include, but are not limited to, forward exchange
contracts and purchased currency options, attempt to hedge global currency exposures, net,
relating to euro-denominated debt and identifiable foreign currency receivables, payables and
commitments held by our foreign and domestic subsidiaries. Forward exchange contracts are
agreements to exchange different currencies at a specified future date and at a specified rate.
Purchased foreign currency options are instruments which give the holder the right, but not the
obligation, to exchange different currencies at a specified rate at a specified date or over a range
of specified dates. The result is the creation of a range in which a best and worst price is defined,
while minimizing option cost. Forward exchange contracts and purchased currency options are
carried at market value. All of these contracts mature within one year and are marked to market
monthly. Gains and losses due to the recording of such contracts at fair value are recogmzed
currently in other expense (income), net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

We implement interest rate management initiatives to seek to minimize our interest
expense and optimize the risk in our portfolio of fixed and variable interest rate obligations. Use
of these initiatives is allowed under the Senior Notes and the Senior Facilities. We have interest
rate swaps that effectwely convert fixed rate debt (represented by the Senior Notes) into Varlable
rate debt.

We enter into agreements with financial institutions that are intended to limit, or cap, our
exposure to the incurrence of additional interest expense due to increases in variable interest
rates. All of our interest rate caps are marked to market monthly. Gains and losses are recorded
as unrealized gains and losses in other (income) expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Since the counterparties to these financial instruments are large commercial banks and
similar financial institutions, we do not believe that we are exposed to material counterparty
credit risk.

We have entered into certain short duration fixed rate natural gas purchase contracts in
order to mitigate seasonal increases in our natural gas costs. In addition, we have entered into
natural gas hedge contracts to effectively fix a portion of our natural gas cost exposure. Natural
gas contracts are marked-to-market monthly. Gains and losses are recorded as part of cost of
sales on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Research and Development
Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred.
Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases and for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets
and liabilities of a change in tax rate is recognized in the period that includes the enactment date.
A valuation allowance is recorded when it is determined that it is more likely than not that any
portion of a recorded deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

We account for stock-based compensation plans using the intrinsic value method
prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees.” As such, compensation expense is recorded on the date of award only if
the market price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price or if ultimate vesting is
subject to performance conditions. If an award results in recordable compensation expense, the
total amount of recorded compensation expense is based on the number of awards that eventually
vest. No compensation expense is recognized for forfeited awards, including awards forfeited
due to a failure to satisfy a service requirement or failure to satisfy a performance condition. Our
accruals of compensation expense for awards subject to performance conditions are based on our
assessment of the probability of satisfying the performance conditions.

No compensation expense has been recognized for our time vesting options granted with
exercise prices at not less than market price on the date of grant. At December 31, 2003, all
awards subject to performance conditions were fully vested. If compensation expense for our
stock-based compensation plans was determined by the fair value method prescribed by SFAS
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,” our net loss and net loss per share would
have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

For the Year Ended December 31
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Net 1088 @S TEPOItEd.c.vvvuirvririeiriereieenisieerene s eeas $ (87) $ (18) $ (24
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all

awards, net of related tax effects ........cccoceverrvrrienrrnns %) (6) 1)

Pro forma net 0SS ....ccvvvorirreeine s $_(92) $_(24) $_(295)
Loss per share:

‘Basic—as reported..........cuvvvvrvererirnernninninieeis e, $(1.75) $(0.33) $(0.36)

Basic—pro forma ... (1.85) (0.43) (0.37)




Diluted—as reported.......c.oovcviiminienicei e (1.75) (0.33) (0.36)
Diluted—pro forma .....ccveeevrcnnrieiie e cee e (1.85) (0.43) (0.37)

Retirement Plans

The cost of pension benefits under our retirement plans is recorded in accordance with
SFAS No. 87, “Employee Accounting for Pensions,” as determined by independent actuarial
firms using the “projected unit credit” actuarial cost method. Contributions to the qualified U.S.
retirement plan are made in accordance with the requirements of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, Benefits under the non-qualified retirement plan have been
_accrued, but not funded. Plan settlements and curtailments are recorded in accordance with
SFAS No. 88, “Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit..
Pension Plans and Termination Benefits.” Effective March 2003, we froze our qualified defined
benefit plan for our remaining U.S. employees and closed our non-qualified U.S. defined benefit
plan for the participating salaried workforce. The closure and settlement of our non-qualified
U.S. defined benefit plan resulted in a $11 million restructuring charge in the 2003 first quarter.
We started a new defined contribution plan on January 1, 2002 for U.S. employees.

Postretivement Health Care and Life Insurance Benefits

The estimated cost of future postretirement medical and life insurance benefits is
determined by independent actuarial firms using the “projected unit credit” actuarial cost
method. Such costs are recognized as employees render the service necessary to earn the
postretirement benefits. Benefits have been accrued, but not funded. Effective November 1,
2001, the U.S. plan was modified to limit our cost of future annual postretirement medical
benefits to the cost in 2001. Effective March 31, 2003, we discontinued the Medicare
supplement plan (for retirees 65 years or older or those eligible for Medicare benefits). This
change applies to all active employees except for some employees covered by a collective
bargaining agreement, all current retirees who were not covered by a collective bargaining
agreement when they retired and those retirees who retired under a former collective bargaining
agreement. In June 2003, we announced the termination of the early retiree medical plan for
retirees under age 65, effective December 31, 2005. In addition, we will limit the amount of
retiree’s life insurance after December 31, 2004. These modifications are accounted for
prospectively.

Environmental, Health and Safety Matters

Our operations are governed by laws addressing protection of the environment and
worker safety and health. These laws provide for civil and criminal penalties and fines, as well as
injunctive and remedial relief, for noncompliance and require remediation at sites where
hazardous substances have been released into the environment.

We have been in the past, and may become in the future, the subject of formal or
informal enforcement actions or proceedings regarding noncompliance with these laws or the
remediation of company-related substances released into the environment. Historically, such
matters have been resolved by negotiation with regulatory authorities resulting in commitments
to compliance, abatement or remediation programs and in some cases payment of penalties.
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Historically, neither the commitments undertaken nor the penalties imposed on us have been
material.

Environmental considerations are part of all significant capital expenditure decisions.
Environmental remediation, compliance and management expenses were approximately
$12 miltion in 2001, $10 million in 2002 and $13 million in 2003. The accrued liability relating
to environmental remediation was $5 million at December 31, 2002 and $6 million at
December 31, 2003. A charge to income is recorded when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the cost can be reasonably estimated. Our environmental liabilities do not take into
consideration possible recoveries of insurance proceeds. Because of the uncertainties associated
with environmental remediation activities at sites where we may be potentially liable, future
expenses to remediate sites could be considerably higher than the accrued liability. However,
while neither the timing nor the amount of ultimate costs associated with known environmental
remediation matters can be determined at this time, management does not believe that these
matters will have a material adverse effect on our financial position.

Post-employment Benefits

We accrue the estimated cost of post-employment benefits expected to be paid before
retirement, principally severance, over employees’ active service periods.

Use of Estimates

We have made a number of estimates and assumptions relating to the recording and
disclosure of assets and liabilities, including contingent assets and liabilities, to prepare the
Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. Actual amounts and values could differ from those estimates.

Reclassification

Certain amounts previously reported have been reclassified to conform to the current year
presentation.

Foreign Currency Translation

Generally, except for operations in Russia where high inflation has existed, unrealized
gains and losses resulting from translation of the financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries
from their functional currencies into dollars are accumulated in other comprehensive income on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets until such time as the operations are sold or substantially or
completely liquidated. Translation gains and losses relating to operations, where high inflation
has existed, are included in other (income) expense, net, on the Consolidated Statements of
Operations. Our Mexican subsidiary uses the dollar as its functional currency because its sales
and purchases are predominantly dollar-denominated. We have intercompany loans between
GrafTech Finance and some of our subsidiaries. Some of these loans are denominated in
currencies other than the dollar and, accordingly, are subject to translation gains and losses due
to changes in currency exchange rates. Some of these intercompany loans are deemed to be
essentially permanent and, as a result, translation gains and losses on these loans are reflected in
accumulated other comprehensive loss. The remaining intercompany loans are expected to be
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repaid in the foreseeable future and, as a result, translation gains and losses on these loans are
reflected in other (income) expense, net. Translation gains and losses on these intercompany
loans amounted to a $35 million gain in 2002 and a $48 million gain in 2003 recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss, and a $4 million loss in 2001, a $21 million gain in 2002
and a $39 million gain in 2003 recorded in other (income) expense, net.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets
acquired and amounted to $15 million at December 31, 2002 and $20 million at December 31,
2003. Prior to January 1, 2002, goodwill was amortized on a straight-line basis over the
expected periods to be benefited, generally 20 years. Effective January 1, 2002, we adopted
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” The adoption of SFAS No. 142 did not
have a significant impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations, except
that we no longer amortize goodwill. Goodwill amortization was $2 million in 2001. We have
performed the goodwﬂl impairment reviews required by SFAS No. 142 and the results of these
reviews d1d not require our existing goodwﬂl to be ertten down

'For the Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

Reported net income (10SS) .......oovivveveeerereiirerisesenseinsiessensesensans $ @8 $ (18) $ (29
Add back: Goodwill amortization (net (3 E7:5.4 JO T 1 - =
Adjusted net INCOME ..o e ———— $§ @86 § _(18) § _(24)
Basic earnings per share: - :
Reported net income (10SS) ....oeeveveerinninas rvenrivrernenenirtsaasnrarens $ (1.75) % (0.33) § (0.36)
Goodwill amortization (net 0f tax) ...i..ccoeecevvirionirenineicreiienens 0.03 - =
Adjusted Nt INCOME ....covvverieiereiincnerere e secnecnenericnennes 8 72y §-033) § (0.36)
Diluted earnings per share: : , S ‘
Reported net income (108S) ..........covveververruenriennns s . % (1.75) 8 (033) $ (0.36)
Goodwill amortization (net of tax) ettt snnens ' 0.03 = o~
Adjusted net income.............. s SRR $ (L.72) $ (033) $ (0.36)

Impairment review

Periodically, we assess the carrying value of our long-lived and intangible assets. Our
assessment involves comparing the carrying value of the asset on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets to the cash flows we expect to generate in the future from that asset. We forecast the cash
flows based on our assessment of our business. If the expected cash flows are less than the
asset’s carrying value, we record an impairment loss on the asset. B

At December 31, 2003, there were no additional impairments required that we have not
already recorded in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. However, future events and
circumstances, some of which are described below, may result in an impairment charge:

e new technological developments that provide significantly enhanced benefits over our

123

‘—



current technology;
¢ significant negative economic or industry trends;
¢ changes in our business strategy that alter the expected usage of the related assets;
¢ significant increases or decreases in our cost of capital; and

e future economic results that are below our expectations used in the current
assessments.

New Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS
No. 132 (revised 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement
Benefits — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88 and 106.” SFAS No. 132 replaces
existing FASB disclosure requirements for pensions and requires additional disclosures about the
assets, obligations, cash flows and net periodic benefit costs of defined benefit pension plans and
other defined benefit postretirement plans. SFAS No. 132 was initiated by FASB in response to
concerns raised by investors and other users of financial statements about the need for greater
transparency as to pension information. SFAS No. 132 is effective for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2003 and for the first fiscal quarter of the year following initial application of the
annual disclosure requirements. The adoption of SFAS No. 132 as revised did not have a
significant impact on our consolidated results of operations or financial position because the
impact was limited to additional disclosure.

In May 2003, FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial
Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS No. 150 establishes
standards for the classification and measurement of certain financial instruments with
characteristics of both liabilities and equity. SFAS No. 150 requires that an issuer classify a
financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability or, in some circumstances, as an asset,
with such financial instruments having been previously classified as equity. SFAS No. 150 is
effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise
effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption
of SFAS No. 150 did not have a significant impact on our consolidated results of operations or
financial position, as we had no financial instruments which met these requirements. FASB is
addressing certain implementation issues associated with the application of SFAS No. 150. On
October 29, 2003, FASB decided to defer certain provisions of SFAS No. 150 related to
mandatorily redeemable financial instruments representing noncontroiling interests in
subsidiaries included in consolidated financial statements. We will monitor the actions of FASB
and assess the impact, if any, that these actions may have on the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In April 2003, FASB issued SFAS No. 149 “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 149 amends and clarifies accounting for
derivative instruments, including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts, and
for hedging activities under SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 149 is effective for contracts entered into
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or modified, and for hedging relationships designated, after June 30, 2003. Other provisions of
SFAS No. 149 that related to SFAS No. 133 implementation issues should continue to be applied
in accordance with their respective dates. The adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have a
significant impact on our consolidated results of operations or financial position.

In December 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 148 “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation — Transition and Disclosure.” SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” to provide alternative methods of transition fora
voluntary change to the fair value method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. In addition, SFAS No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123
to require prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the
method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used
on reported results. SFAS No. 148 was effective for financial statements with fiscal years
ending after December 15, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 148 did not have a significant
impact on our consolidated results of operations or financial position because the impact was
limited to additional disclosure. The additional disclosure is set forth under “~Stock-Based
Compensation Plans” above. '

In June 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit

or Disposal Activities,” which is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after
December 31, 2002. SFAS No. 146 addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs
associated with exit or disposal activities and nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force Issue
No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to

- Exit an ' Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” SFAS No. 146 requires
that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the
liability is incurred. Under Issue No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cost as defined in Issue No. 94-3
is recognized at the date an entity commits to an exit plan. We adopted SFAS No. 146 effective -
January 1, 2003 and recorded $20 million of restructuring charges in 2003, $9 million of which
was related to organizational changes and $11 million of which related to the closure and
settlement of our U.S. non-qualified defined benefit plan for the participating salaried workforce.

In April 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44
and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” The provisions of
SFAS No. 145 related to the rescission of SFAS No. 4 shall be applied in fiscal years beginning
after May 135, 2002. The provisions of SFAS No. 145 related to SFAS No. 13 shall be effective
for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002 and all other provisions of SFAS No. 145 shall be
effective for financial statements issued on or after May 15, 2002. SFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS
No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” and an amendment thereto,
and SFAS No. 64, “Extinguishments of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking-Fund Requirements.” .
Previously, generally accepted accounting principles required that gains and losses from
extinguishment of debt be classified as an extraordinary item, net of related income tax effect.
Based on SFAS No. 145, gains and losses from extinguishment of debt are classified as
extraordinary items only if they meet the criteria of APB No. 30, “Reporting the Effects of
Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring -
Events and Transactions.” The provisions of APB No. 30 distinguish transactions that are part of
an entity’s recurring operations from those that are unusual or infrequent or that meet the criteria
for classification as an extraordinary item. As such, those that do not meet the criteria of APB

125

—




No. 30 are included in the statement of operations before income (loss) before provisions
(benefits) for income taxes, minority interest and extraordinary items. Items presented in prior
periods that do not meet the criteria in APB No. 30 for classification as an extraordinary item
have been reclassified. SFAS No. 145 also rescinds SFAS No. 44, “Accounting for Intangible
Assets of Motor Carriers.” SFAS No. 145 amends SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases,” to
eliminate an inconsistency between the required accounting for sale-leaseback transactions and
the required accounting for certain lease modifications that have economic effects that are
similar to sale-leaseback transactions. SFAS No. 145 also amends other existing authoritative
pronouncements to make various technical corrections, clarify meanings or describe their
applicability under changed conditions. We adopted SFAS No. 145 relating to SFAS No. 4
effective January 1, 2003. The effect of the adoption was to require reclassification of certain
write-offs of capitalized bank fees and other debt extinguishment costs in the amount of
approximately nil and $4 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively,
from extraordinary items to other (income) expense, net. The corresponding provisions for
income taxes have been adjusted accordingly in the amount of approximately nil and $1 million
for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2002, respectively. The provisions of SFAS No. 145
relating to SFAS No. 13 and the other provisions of SFAS No. 145, excluding the provisions
relating to SFAS No. 4, did not have a significant impact on our consolidated results of
operations or financial position.

In August 2001, FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets,” which addresses financial accounting and reporting for the impairment or
disposal of long-lived assets, excluding goodwill and other intangible assets not being amortized
pursuant to SFAS No. 142, and certain other assets. SFAS No. 144 is effective for financial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001. We adopted SFAS
No. 144 effective January 1, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have a significant
impact on our consolidated results of operations or financial position. See Note 18 for a
discussion about discontinued operations.

In July 2001, FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations.” SFAS No. 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair
value can be made. SFAS No. 143 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 did not have a significant impact
on our consolidated results of operations or financial position.

In June 2001, FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” and SFAS
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 141 requires business combinations
initiated after June 30, 2001 to be accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. It also
specifies the types of acquired intangible assets that are required to be recognized and reported
separately from goodwill. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and certain other intangibles no
longer be amortized, but instead be tested for impairment at least annually. SFAS No. 142 was
effective January 1, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 141 and SFAS No. 142 did not have a
significant impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations, except that we
no longer amortize goodwill. Goodwill amortization was $2 million in 2001. We have performed
the goodwill impairment reviews required by SFAS 142 and the results of these reviews did not
require our existing goodwill to be written down.
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In January 2003, FASB issued Financial Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 46, “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities.” FIN No. 46 clarifies the application of Accounting Research Bulletin
No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which equity investors do not
have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk
for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. FIN No. 46 applies immediately to variable interest entities created after J anuary 31,
2003, and must be applied in the first period beginning after June 15, 2003 for entities in which
an enterprise holds a variable interest entity that it acquired before February 1, 2003. We
currently have no entities which have these characteristics. FASB has been addressmg various
1mplementat10n issues that could potentially broaden the application of FIN No. 46 to entities
outside its originally interpreted scope and has issued and proposed several FASB staff positions.
We do not expect FASB’s proposed positions to have a significant impact on our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In November 2002, FASB issued FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness to Others.” The
initial recognition and measurement provisions of FIN No. 45 are applicable on a prospective
basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002, and require that we record a
liability, if any, for the fair value of such guarantees on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. We
adopted FIN No. 45 effective January 1, 2003. The adoption of FIN No. 45 did not have a-
significant impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations because the
impact was limited to additional disclosure. The additional disclosure is set forth below.

Certain of our subsidiaries have guaranteed the Senior Facilities and the Senior Notes as
described in Note 5 — “Long-Term Debt and Liquidity” and Note 17 — “Financial
Information About the Parent, the Issuer, the Guarantors and the Subsidiaries Whose
Securities Secure the Senior Notes and Related Guarantees.”

We generally sell products with a limited warranty. We accrue for known warranty
claims if a loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated, and accrue for estimated
incurred but unidentified claims based on historical activity. The accruals were not
significant for either 2001, 2002 or 2003. -

(3) - Financial Instruments

-We do not use derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. They are used to
manage well-defined currency exchange rate, interest rate risks and commercial energy contract
risks.

Foreign Currency Contracts

The notional amount of foreign exchange contracts used by us to minimize foreign
currency exposure was $56 million at December 31, 2002. Of the total foreign exchange
contracts outstanding, approximately $43 million (77%) were offsetting at December 31, 2002.
We had no such contracts outstanding at December 31, 2003..
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Sale of Receivables

Certain of our U.S. and foreign subsidiaries sold receivables of $223 million in 2001,
$187 million in 2002 and $175 million in 2003. Receivables sold and remaining on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets were $1 million at December 31, 2002 and nil at December 31,
2003. :

Interest Rate Risk Management

At December 31, 2003, we had interest rate swaps for a notional amount of $485 million
that effectively convert fixed rate debt (represented by the Senior Notes) into variable rate debt
in order to hedge against changes in the fair value of debt.

Our swaps are marked-to-market monthly, and we are required to provide cash collateral
to the counterparty to the extent that the fair value of the swaps exceed $15 million, net of
market value of our interest rate caps. We may, at any time, exit our position in these swaps.
The fair value of the hedge at the end of a period is recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets
on the line entitled “fair value of hedged debt obligation.” At December 31, 2003, the carrying
value of our debt was reduced by $18 million as a result of our fair value hedge. The swaps were
valued at $18 million (excluding the offsetting value of our interest rate caps of $4 million) at -
December 31, 2003 and recorded as part of other long-term obligations on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. When we sell swaps, the gain or loss realized is amortized as a credit or charge
to interest expense over the remaining term of the Senior Notes. When we effectively reduce the
outstanding principal amount of the Senior Notes (through exchanges or otherwise), the related
portion of such credit or charge is accelerated and recorded in the period in which such reduction
occurs.

In the 2002 second quarter, we entered into $250 million notional amount of swaps
through the remaining term of the Senior Notes, effectively converting that amount of fixed rate
debt to variable rate debt. In the 2002 third quarter, we sold the entire $250 million notional
amount of swaps for $10 million in cash. In the 2002 fourth quarter, we entered into $250
million notional amount of swaps through the remaining term of the Senior Notes. Interest rate
swaps reduced our interest expense by $6 million in 2002. The credits to interest expense for
these periods due to amortization of the $10 million proceeds for the sale of swaps was nominal.
At December 31, 2002, the carrying value of our debt was increased by $8 million as a result of
our fair value hedge. The interest rate swap derivative was valued at $8 million at December 31,
2002 and 1s recorded as part of other long-term assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

In the 2003 first quarter, we entered into an additional $200 million notional amount of
swaps (bringing our total notional amount of swaps to $450 million) through the remaining term
of the Senior Notes, effectively converting that amount of fixed rate debt to variable rate debt.
Subsequently in the 2003 first quarter, we sold the entire $450 million notional amount of swaps
for $10 million in cash. Following the sale of the swaps, in the 2003 first quarter, we entered
into $350 million notional amount of swaps through the remaining term of the Senior Notes.
Subsequently, in the 2003 second quarter, we entered into an additional $50 million notional
amount of swaps (bringing our total notional amount of swaps to $400 million). Subsequently in
the 2003 second quarter, we sold the total notional amount of $400 million of swaps for $21
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million in cash. In the 2003 third quarter, we entered into $500 million notional amount of
swaps for the remaining term of the Senior Notes. Subsequently in the 2003 third quarter, we
sold $15 million notional amount of swaps and paid $1 million in cash. As a result, at
December 31, 2003, we held $485 million notional amount of swaps for the remaining term of
the Senior Notes. Interest rate swaps reduced our interest expense by approximately $13 million
in 2003. In 2003, we realized net proceeds of $30 million with respect to the sale of swaps,
which will be amortized as a credit to interest expense over the remaining term of the Senior
Notes. Such amortization amounted to $2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The
credit to interest expense for 2003 due to the acceleration of the amortization of cash proceeds
from the sale of swaps as a result of our exchanges of common stock.for Senior Notes was $6
million. ' -

In the 2003 first quarter, we entered into interest rate caps for a notional amount of $300
million through August 2007. In the 2003 second quarter, we entered into additional interest rate
caps for a notional amount of $200 million through August 2007 (bringing our total notional
amount of caps to $500 million through August 2007). These instruments effectively cap our
interest rate exposure (represented by the net impact of our swaps on the Senior Notes) to no
greater than 428 basis points above the six-month LIBOR rate of 122 basis points at December
31, 2003. All of our interest rate caps are marked to market monthly. Gains and losses are
recorded as unrealized gains and losses in other (income) expense, net, on the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. Unrealized losses on caps amounted to $1 million for 2003.

Fair Market Value Disclosures k

| SFAS No. 107, “Disclosure about Fair Market Value of Financial Instruments,” defines
the fair value of a financial instrument as the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties. Such fair values must often be determined by
using one or more methods that indicate value based on estimates of quantifiable characteristics
as of a particular date. Values were estimated as follows: ’

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term notes and accounts receivables, accounts payable
and other current payables—The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the
short maturity of these instruments.

Debr—Fair value of debt was $586 million at December 31, 2002 and $573 million at
December 31, 2003.

Foreign currency contracts—Foreign currency contracts are carried at market value. The
unrealized loss on outstanding contracts was $3 million at December 31, 2002. We did
not have any such contracts outstanding at December 31, 2003.

Interest rate swaps and caps—See “Interest Rate Risk Management” above.

Natural gas contracts—Natural gas contracts are carried at market value. We did not
have any such contracts outstanding at December 31, 2002. The unrealized gain on
outstanding contracts was $1 million at December 31, 2003.
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(4)  Segment Reporting

We evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on gross profit.
Intersegment sales and transfers are not material. We may in the future evaluate performance
based on additional or different measures. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are
the same as those described in Note 2.

In 2002, our businesses were organized around two operating divisions, the Graphite
Power Systems Division, which included the electrode and cathode businesses, and the
Advanced Energy Technology Division, which included the natural graphite and advanced
synthetic graphite and carbon materials businesses. In accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Segment
Reporting,” we segregated our businesses into two reportable segments which corresponded with
our two divisions.

In 2003, we further refined the organization of our businesses into three lines of business:
synthetic graphite, natural graphite and advanced carbon materials, as described under Note 1.

In accordance with SFAS No. 131, we segregated our businesses into the following
segments: Synthetic Graphite, which consists of the synthetic graphite line of business; and
Other, which consists of the natural graphite and advanced carbon materials lines of business.
We began reporting financial information using these new segments in our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.

As required by SFAS No. 131, consolidated financial statements published by us in the
future will reflect modifications to our reportable segments resulting from this organizational
change, including reclassification of all comparable prior period segment information.

The following tables summarize financial information concerning our reportable
segments.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)
Net sales to external customers:
Synthetic Graphite.......cc.coveeerireeinicceccereneee $ 559 $ 538 $ 639
10111 T ORI 75 __58 73
Consolidated net sales.......ccooovvvvvevivirieeieveireeseennn $_0634 $_596 $_712
Gross profit:
Synthetic Graphite..........cociieiivnninnnnnscrsnesscessesns $ 161 $ 125 $ 151
L 11 41 RO TRT ORI 18 __10 17
Consolidated gross profit..........ccoeeevvvereierereririenianenns §_1 §_135 $_168
Depreciation and amortization:
Synthetic GIaphite.........ccvvveierieiiirnice s $ 29 $ 24 $ 26
Other. i e e 6 4 __5
Consolidated depreciation and amortization............. $__35 $__28 $_31
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“Other” in the table above, which includes natural graphite and advanced carbon
materials, has been restated for the periods presented to exclude our composite tooling business
that was sold in June 2003. o

We do not report assets by reportable segment. Assets are managed based on geographic
location because both reportable segments share certain facilities. The following tables
summarize information as to our operations in different geographic areas.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)

Net sales (a):

L O T U O U TS SOV SOUROUPRRURN $ 176 $ 164 $ 206
Canada ...o.eovrveeniiccre e 21 12 6
MEKICO 1vrierieriieriecreeete et eete ettt eesrereeebessvessaeas 33 : 37 33
BIrazil oot 44 33 41
FIANCE c.oiiirieeeeir ettt s s e a e e 137 150 168
TEALY it 30 22 32
Switzerland ......ccocoevivieciiie e 79 77 103
South AfTIca.. .o e 53 47 65
SPAIN ottt e 29 30 28
Other COUNTIIES......iicricrericere e rare e reee e ' 32 24 30

TOtal .. bt $ 634 $ 59 § 712

(a) Net sales are based on location of seller.

At December 31,
2001 2002 003

(Dollars in millions)
Long-lived assets (b):

UL S et $ 66 $ 61 $ 62
IMEXICO vvvvevreiiiaetre e sireseeessrestvasareser e aesseesanesreeenae 37 48 49
BIazil oo e s 34 ' 25 26
FIance coceveieiie e 94 - 109 134
TEALY oo e e 6 - 7 4
South AfriCa....ccviieieriiiie e 27 37 45
Switzerland .......cooiriiriiicnie e 7 8 9
Other COUNITIES...occoverirerierirenreiere e 17 20 32

TOtal .o $ __288 §__315 $ __361

(b) Long-lived assets represent fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation and goodwill.
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(8)  Long-Term Debt and Liquidity

The following table presents our long-term debt.

At December 31,
2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)

Senior Facilities:
Tranche A euro facility.......ccovevveeeereernencereisiennn. § - $ -
Tranche A U.S. dollar facility ........cccovvvirvniriecncriernaniennns - -
Tranche B U.S. dollar facility.......ccvvvieineninarciceeceninenne 137 21
Revolving credit facility ......ccocvvvvverrviiieieiicrene e _10 _ =
Total Senior Facilities ......c.ocoocevveee v 147 21
Other European debt.......c.coocvvviviiievinicieee e 2 2
Senior Notes:
Senior Notes due 2012 550 493
Fair value of hedged debt obligation..........cccccocevvnrennne, 8 (18)
Unamortized bond premium.........ccoeeevverierenerenieeennenns _ b 4
Total SENIOr NOES ...vvvviricieeeiciee e crie e 564 479
TOtAL ittt $713 $.502

The aggregate maturities of long-term debt (excluding the fair value of hedged debt
obligation and unamortized bond premium relating to the Senior Notes) for each of the five years
subsequent to December 31, 2003 are set forth in the following table.

2008
2004 2005 2006 2007 (and thereafter) Total
(Dollars in millions)
8- ' $- $1 822 $493 §516

Senior Notes

On February 15, 2002, GrafTech Finance issued $400 million aggregate principal amount
of Senior Notes. Interest on the Senior Notes is payable semi-annually on February 15 and
August 15 of each year, commencing August 15, 2002, at the rate of 10.25% per annum. The
Senior Notes mature on February 15, 2012.

In April 2002, we obtained consent from the holders of the Senior Notes issued in
February 2002 to amend the Senior Note Indenture so as to waive the requirement to use the
gross proceeds from the issuance of up to $150 million aggregate principal amount of additional
Senior Notes to make intercompany loans to our foreign subsidiaries. On April 30, 2002, we
entered into a supplement to the Senior Note Indenture.

On May 6, 2002, GrafTech Finance issued $150 million aggregate principal amount of
additional Senior Notes at a purchase price of 104.5% of principal amount, plus accrued interest
from February 15, 2002, under the Senior Note Indenture. All of the Senior Notes constitute one
class of debt securities under the Senior Note Indenture. The additional Senior Notes bear
interest at the same rate and mature on the same date as the Senior Notes issued in February
2002. The $7 million premium received upon issuance of the additional Senior Notes was added

132




~ to the principal amount of the Senior Notes shown on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and is
amortized (as a credit to interest expense) over the term of the additional Senior Notes. As a
result of our receipt of such premium, the effective annual interest rate on the additional Senior
Notes is about 9.5%.

On June 5, 2002, GrafTech Finance offered to exchange new registered Senior Notes
(and related guarantees) that are substantially identical to the previously outstanding Senior
Notes (and related guarantees), except that certain transfer restrictions and registration rights
relating to the previously outstanding Senior Notes would not apply to the new registered Senior
Notes (and related guarantees). All of the previously outstanding Senior Notes (and related
guarantees) were exchanged under the exchange offer.

Except as described below, GrafTech Finance may not redeem the Senior Notes prior to
February 15, 2007. On or after that date, GrafTech Finance may redeem the Senior Notes, in
whole orin part, at specified redemption prices beginning at 105.125% of the principal amount
redeemed for the year commencing February 15, 2007 and reducing to 100.00% of the principal
. amount redeemed for the years commencing February 15, 2010 and thereafter, in each case plus

accrued and unpaid interest to the redemption date. . :

In addition, before February 15, 2005, GrafTech Finance is entitled at its option on one or
" more occasions to redeem Senior Notes at a redemption price of 110.25% of the principal
amount redeemed, plus accfued and unpaid interest to the redemption date, with the net cash
proceeds from one or more underwritten primary public offerings of shares of our common stock
pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act so long as:

o at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes originally issued
remains outstanding immediately after each such redemption (excludmg Senior Notes
held, directly or indirectly, by us); and

¢ cach such redemption occurs within 60 days after the date of the related public
offering.

Upon the occurrence of a change of control, GrafTech Finance will be required to make
an offer to repurchase the Senior Notes at a price equal to 101.00% of the principal amount
redeemed, plus accrued and unpald mterest to the redemptlon date. For this purpose, a change in
control occurs on: ’ - L

e the date on whichény person beneficially owns more than 35% of the total voting
power of GTI;

- o the date on which individuals, who on the issuance date of the Senior Notes were
~directors of GTI (or individuals nominated or elected by a vote of 66%:% of such’
directors or directors prev1ously so elected or nominated), cease to constitute a
majority of GTI’s Board of Directors then in office;

o the date on which a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of GTI is adopted,;
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o the date on which GTI merges or consolidates with or into another person, or another
person merges into GTI, or all or substantially all of GTI’s assets are sold
(determined on a consolidated basis), with certain specified exceptions; or

o the date on which GTI ceases to own, directly or indirectly, all of the voting power of
GratTech Global, UCAR Carbon and GrafTech Finance. -

The Senior Notes rank senior to present and future subordinated debt and equally with
present and future senior debt and obligations of GrafTech Finance. The Senior Notes are
effectively subordinated to present and future secured debt and obligations of GrafTech Finance,
to the extent of the value of the assets securing such debt and obligations, and are structurally
subordinated to debt and obligations, including trade payables, of subsidiaries that are neither
guarantors of the Senior Notes nor unsecured intercompany term note obligors.

GTI, GrafTech Global and UCAR Carbon and other U.S. subsidiaries that collectively
hold a substantial majority of our U.S. assets have guaranteed the Senior Notes on a senior
unsecured basis, except that the guarantee by UCAR Carbon is secured as described below.
None of AET, Graphite Electrode Network LLC or Union Carbide Grafito, Inc. are guarantors of
the Senior Notes. UCAR Holdings V Inc. is a guarantor of the Senior Notes, but is being
liquidated and dissolved. Additional information with respect-to the guarantees is set forth in
Note 17 to'the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Unsecured intercompany term notes in an aggregate principal amount, at December 31,
2003, equal to $528 million (based on currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003)
and guarantees of those unsecured intercompany term notes by certain of our foreign subsidiaries
have been pledged by GrafTech Finance to secure the Senior Notes, subject to the limitation that
at no time will the combined value of the pledged portion of any foreign subsidiary’s.unsecured
intercompany term note and unsecured guarantee of unsecured intercompany term notes issued
by other foreign subsidiaries exceed 19.99% of the principal amount of the then outstanding
Senior Notes. As a result of this limitation, the principal amount of unsecured intercompany
term notes pledged to secure the Senior Notes at December 31, 2003 equals $366 million (based
on currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003), or about 74% of the principal
amount of the outstanding Senior Notes. The remaining unsecured intercompany term notes held
by GrafTech Finance in an aggregate principal amount at December 31, 2003 of $162 miliion
(based on currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003), or about 31% of the
aggregate principal amount of the unsecured intercompany term notes, and any pledged
unsecured intercompany term notes that cease to be pledged due to a reduction in the principal
amount of the then outstanding Senior Notes due to redemption, repurchase or other events, will
not be subject to any pledge and will be available to satisfy the claims of creditors (including the
lenders under the Senior Facilities, the holders of the Senior Notes and, pursuant to the
subsidiary guarantee by GrafTech Finance of the Debentures, the holders of the Debentures) as
their interests may appear. The Senior Notes contain provisions restricting, subject to certain
exceptions, the pledge of these unsecured 1ntercompany term notes or related guarantees to
secure any other debt or obligation.

The guarantee by UCAR Carbon has been secured by a pledge of all of the shares of
capital stock (constituting 97.5% of the outstanding shares of capital stock) of AET held by
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UCAR Carbon (called the “AET Pledged Stock™), but at no time will the value of the pledged
portion of the AET Pledged Stock exceed 19.99% of the principal amount of the then
outstanding Senior Notes. The pledge of the AET Pledged Stock is junior to the pledge of the
AET Pledged Stock to secure UCAR Carbon’s guarantee of the Senior Facilities.

~ Each of the guarantees of the Senior Notes is full, unconditional and joint and severable.
Payment under the guarantees could be required immediately upon the occurrence of an event of
default under the Senior Notes. If a guarantor makes a payment under its guarantee, it would
have the right under certain circumstances to seek contribution from the other guarantors.

The unsecured intercompany term note obligations rank senior to present and future
subordinated guarantees, debt and obligations of the respective obligors, and equally with present
and future senior guarantees, debt and obligations of the respective obligors. The unsecured
intercompany term note obligations are effectively subordinated to present and future secured
guarantees, debt and obligations of the respective obligors, to the extent of the value of the assets
securing such guarantees, debt and obligations, and are structurally subordinated to guarantees,
debt and obligations, including trade payables and preferred stock, of subsidiaries of the
respective obligors that are not also unsecured intercompany term note obligors.

The Senior Notes contain a number of covenants that, among other things, restrict our
ability to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends, make investments, create or permit to
exist restrictions on distributions from subsidiaries, sell assets, engage in certain transactions
with affiliates, or enter into certain mergers and consolidations. The covenants may restrict our
ability to repurchase or redeem the Debentures, even if so required thereby. Under the Senior
Notes, GTI is permitted to pay dividends on common stock and repurchase common stock only
in a cumulative amount of $25 million (subject to reduction if we make other restricted
payments), plus, if certain leverage ratio requirements are satisfied, an amount of up to the sum
of 50% of certain cumulative consolidated net income, 100% of net cash proceeds from certain
sales of common stock and certain investment returns. We are also permitted to repurchase
common stock from present or former directors, officers or employees of up to the lesser of $5
million annually or $10 million on a cumulative basis from February 15, 2002. GrafTech Global
1s permitted to pay dividends to GTI for those and other purposes.

In addition to the failure to pay principal and interest when due or to repurchase Senior
Notes when required, events of default under the Senior Notes include: failure to comply with
applicable covenants; failure to pay at maturity or upon acceleration indebtedness exceeding $10
million; judgment defaults in excess of $10 million to the extent not covered by insurance; and
certain events of bankruptcy.

The Senior Notes contain provisions as to legal defeasance and covenant defeasance.
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Senior Facilities

In February 2002, we completed a debt recapitalization and obtained the Senior Facilities
which are described below. The Senior Facilities consist of:

e A Tranche A Facility, which provided for initial term loans of $137 million and €161
million to GrafTech Finance. The Tranche A Facility was fully repaid and terminated
in 2002.

¢ A Tranche B Facility providing for initial term loans of $350 million to GrafTech
Finance. At December 31, 2003, the principal amount of term loans outstanding
under the Tranche B Facility was $21 million. The Tranche B Facility was fully
repaid and terminated in January 2004.

e A Revolving Facility providing for dollar and euro-denominated revolving and swing
line loans to, and the issuance of dollar and euro-denominated letters of credit for the
account of, GrafTech Finance and certain of our other subsidiaries in an aggregate
principal and stated amount at any time not to exceed, initially, €250 million and, at
December 31, 2003, €200 million (€25 million of which can only be used to pay or
secure payment of the EU antitrust fine). The Revolving Facility terminates on
February 22, 2006. As a condition to each borrowing under the Revolving Facility,
we are required to represent, among other things, that the aggregate amount of
payments made (excluding certain imputed interest) and additional reserves created in
connection with antitrust, securities and stockholder derivative investigations,
lawsuits and claims do not exceed $340 million by more than the difference between
$75 million (being $33 million, after giving effect to the $10 million charge relating
to the EU antitrust fine recorded in July 2001 and the $32 million charge relating to
the EU antitrust fine recorded in the 2003 fourth quarter) and the principal amount of
certain other debt ($1 million of which debt was outstanding at December 31, 2003).

We are generally required to make mandatory prepayments in the amount of:

e Either 75% or 50% (depending on our net debt leverage ratio, which is the ratio of
our net debt to our EBITDA (as defined in the Senior Facilities)) of excess cash flow.
The obligation to make these prepayments, if any, arises after the end of each year
with respect to adjusted excess cash flow during the prior year.

e 100% of the net proceeds of certain asset sales or incurrence of certain indebtedness.
e 50% of the net proceeds of the issuance of certain GTI equity securities.

We may make voluntary prepayments under the Senior Facilities. There is no penalty or
premium due in connection with prepayments (whether voluntary or mandatory).

GrafTech Finance has made and is required to make domestic intercompany loans and
foreign secured intercompany loans of the net proceeds of borrowings under the Senior Facilities
to GrafTech Global’s subsidiaries. The obligations of GrafTech Finance under the Senior
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Facilities are secured, with certain exceptions, by first priority security interests in all of these
intercompany loans (including the related security interests and guarantees). - We used the
proceeds from the issuance of the Senior Notes in February 2002 to finance the repayment of all
such foreign intercompany term loans that were outstanding at such time. The only other such

~ intercompany loans that were outstanding at such time or thereafter were and are intercompany
revolving loans to UCAR Carbon and our Swiss subsidiary. At December 31, 2003, the
outstanding balance on the UCAR Carbon and our Swiss sub51d1ary intercompary revolving
loans were $96 million and nil, respectively.

GTI guarantees the obligations of GrafTech Finance under the Senior Facilities. This
guarantee is secured, with certain exceptions, by first priority security interests in all of GT1’s
assets, including all of the outstanding capital stock of GrafTech Global and GrafTech Finance:

GrafTech Global and each of GrafTech Global’s domestic subsidiaries (including AET,
Graphite Electrode Network LLC, Union Carbide Grafito, Inc. and UCAR Holdings V Inc.),
with certain exceptions, guarantees the obligations of GrafTech Finance under the Senior
Facilities. These guarantees are secured, with certain exceptions, by first priority security
interests in all of their assets (including the AET Pledged Stock), except that no more than 65% -
of the capital stock or other equity interests in our foreign subsidiaries held directly by our U.S.
subsidiaries, and no other foreign assets, are pledged to secure these guarantees.

The intercompany revolving loan to our Swiss subsidiary is secured, with certain
exceptions, by a first priority security interest in substantially all of its assets, including a first
priority pledge of all of the outstanding capital stock of our foreign subsidiaries that are owned
directly by it, and is guaranteed by most of our other principal foreign operating subsidiaries.
These guarantees are secured, with certain exceptions, by first priority security interests in their
assets.

Each of the guarantees is full, unconditional and joint and several, except as otherwise
required to comply with applicable non-U.S. laws. Payment under the guarantees could be
required immediately upon the occurrence of an event of default under the Senior Facilities. If a
guarantor makes a payment under its guarantee, it would have the right under certain
circumstances to seek contribution from the other guarantors.

The interest rate applicable to the Revolving Facility is, at our option, either LIBOR plus
a margin ranging from 1.375% to 3.375% (depending on our leverage ratio) or, in the case of
dollar-denominated loans, the alternate base rate plus a margin ranging from 0.375%to 2.375%
(depending on our leverage ratio). The interest rate applicable to the Tranche B Facility is, at our
option, either euro LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 2.875% to 3.625% (depending on our
leverage ratio) or the alternate base rate plus a margin ranging from 1.875% to 2.625%
(depending on our leverage ratio).” The alternate base rate is the higher of (i) the prime rate
announced by JP Morgan Chase Bank or (ii) the federal funds effective rate ptus 0.50%.
GrafTech Finance pays a per annum fee ranging from 0.375% to 0.500% (depending on our
leverage ratio) on the undrawn portion of the commitments under the Revolving Facility. At
December 31, 2002 and 2003, the interest rate on outstanding debt under the Tranche B Facility -
was 5.4 and 4.8%, respectively. At December 31, 2002 and 2003, there was $10 million and nil
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outstanding under the Revolving Facility, respectively. During 2001, 2002 and 2003, the
weighted average interest rate on the Senior Facilities was 8.1%, 5.6% and 5.1%, respectively.

The Senior Facilities contain a number of significant covenants that, among other things,
significantly restrict our ability to sell assets, incur additional debt, repay or refinance other debt
or amend other debt instruments, create liens on assets, enter into sale and lease back
transactions, make investments or acquisitions, engage in mergers or consolidations, make
capital expenditures, make intercompany dividend payments to GTI, pay intercompany debt
owed to GTI, engage in transactions with affiliates, pay dividends to stockholders of GT1 or
make other restricted payments and that otherwise significantly restrict corporate activities. In
addition, we are required to comply with financial covenants relating to specified minimum
interest coverage ratios and maximum net senior secured debt leverage ratios (which is the ratio
of our net senior secured debt to our EBITDA (as defined in the Senior Facilities)), which
become more restrictive over time. The covenants may restrict our ability to repurchase or
redeem the Senior Notes and the Debentures, even if so required thereby.

Under the Senior Facilities, GTT is permitted to pay dividends on, and repurchase,
common stock in an aggregate annual amount of $25 million, plus up to an additional $25
million if certain leverage ratio and excess cash flow requirements are satisfied. We are also
permitted to repurchase common stock from present or former directors, officers or employees in
an aggregate amount of up to the lesser of $5 million per year (with unused amounts permitted to
be carried forward) or $25 million on a cumulative basis since February 22, 2000.

In addition to the failure to pay principal, interest and fees when due, events of default
under the Senior Facilities include: failure to comply with applicable covenants; failure to pay
when due, or other defaults permitting acceleration of, other indebtedness exceeding $7.5
million; judgment defaults in excess of $7.5 million to the extent not covered by insurance,
certain events of bankruptcy; and certain changes in control.

Certain Amendments fo the Senior Facilities

In April 2001, the Senior Facilities were amended to, among other things, exclude certain
expenses incurred in connection with the lawsuit initiated by us against our former parents (up to
a maximum of $20 million, but not more than $3 million in any quarter) from the calculation of
financial covenants.

In February 2002, the Senior Facilities were amended to, among other things, permit us
to issue up to $400 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes. The amendment also
changed the manner in which net debt and EBITDA (as defined in the Senior Facilities) are
calculated for financial covenant purposes with respect to, among other things, certain expenses
incurred in connection with the lawsuit initiated by us against our former parents. In May 2002,
the Senior Facilities were amended to, among other things, permit us to issue up to $150 million
aggregate principal amount of additional Senior Notes. In connection with this amendment, our
maximum permitted leverage ratio was changed to measure the ratio of net senior secured debt to
EBITDA (as defined in the Senior Facilities) as against new specified amounts. Our interest
coverage ratio was also changed. In addition, the amendment reduced the maximum amount
available under the Revolving Facility to €200 million from €250 million (€25 million of which
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could only be.used to pay or secure payment of the EU antitrust fine) and reduced the basket for
certain debt incurred by us that is not incurred under the Senior Facilities (excluding the Senior
Notes) to $75 million (being $33 million after giving effect to the $10 million charge relating to
the EU antitrust fine recorded in July 2001 and the $32 million charge recorded in the 2003
fourth quarter) from $130.million ($1 million of which debt was outstanding at December 31,
2003). ,

In October 2003, the Senior Facilities were amended to, among other things, provide us -
additional flexibility to.make investments and repurchase Senior Notes (up to a maximum of $35
million aggregate principal amount). The amendment also provides for the exclusion from the
calculation of the financial covenants the impacts of providing a letter of credit (except to the
extent that the letter of credit exceeds $70 million) to secure payment of the EU antitrust fine and
of additional .charges against results of operations in connection with antitrust investigations and
related lawsuits and claims due to accrued interest on the EU antitrust fine through the date of
any decision of the court on our appeal of the EU antitrust fine as well as translation of the EU
antitrust fine (and accrued interest thereon) from euros into dollars.

Leverage

We are highly leveraged and, as d1scussed in Note 14, have substantial obhgatlons in
connection with antitrust investigations, lawsuits and claims. At December 31, 2003, we had -
total debt of $503 million (including $4 million of unamortized bond premium and $18 million
(excluding the offsetting value of our interest rate caps of $4 million) for the fair value of the
derivative on the hedged debt obligation), cash and cash equivalents of $34 million and a
stockholders’ deficit of $128 million. In addition, we have historically discounted or factored a
substantial portion of our.accounts receivable and used the proceeds to reduce our debt. Certain
of our subsidiaries sold receivables totaling $187 million in 2002 and $175 million in 2003. -

We use cash and cash equivalents, funds available under the Revolving Facility, subject
to continued compliance with the financial covenants under the Senior Facilities, as well as
monthly or quarterly cash flow from operations as our primary sources of liquidity. At
December 31, 2003 our revolving credit facility provided for maximum borrowings of up to
€200 million (8253 million, based on currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003).
Our ability to borrow under this facility may effectively be less because of the impact of
additional borrowings upon our.compliance with the maximum net senior secured debt leverage
ratio permitted or minimum interest coverage ratio required under the Semor Fac1ht1es See
Note 19- “Subsequent Event—Bank Amendment.”

Our high leverage and substantial o‘bhgatlons in connection with antitrust investigations,
lawsuits and claims could have a material impact on our liquidity. Cash flow from operations -
services payment of our debt and these obligations, thereby reducing funds available to us for
other purposes. Our leverage and these obligations make us more vulnerable to economic
downturns or in the event that these obhgatlons are greater or timing of payment is sooner than
expected . :

Our ability to service our debt, as it comes due, including maintaining compliance with
the covenants under the Senior Facilities, and to meet these and other obligations as they come
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due is dependent on our future financial and operating performance. This performance, in turn, is
subject to various factors, including certain factors beyond our control, such as changes in
conditions affecting our industry, changes in global and regional economic conditions, changes
in interest and currency exchange rates, developments in antitrust investigations, lawsuits and
claims involving us and inflation in raw material, energy and other costs.

Even if we are able to meet our debt service and other obligations when due, we may not
be able to comply with the covenants and other provisions under the Senior Facilities. These
covenants and provisions include financial covenants and representations regarding absence of
material adverse changes affecting us. A failure to so comply, unless waived by the lenders
thereunder, would be a default thereunder. This would permit the lenders to accelerate the
maturity of the Senior Facilities. It would also permit them to terminate their commitments to
extend credit under the Revolving Facility. This would have an immediate material adverse
effect on our liquidity. An acceleration of maturity of the Senior Facilities would permit the
holders of the Senior Notes to accelerate the maturity of the Senior Notes. A breach of the
covenants contained in the Senior Notes would also permit the holders of the Senior Notes to
accelerate the maturity of the Senior Notes. Acceleration of maturity of the Senior Notes would
permit the lenders to accelerate the maturity of the Senior Facilities and terminate their
commitments to extend credit under the Revolving Facility. If we were unable to repay our debt
to the lenders and holders or otherwise obtain a waiver from the lenders and holders, the lenders
and holders could proceed against the collateral securing the Senior Facilities and the Senior
Notes, respectively, and exercise all other rights available to them.

Equity Offerings

On July 31, 2001, we sold an aggregate of 10,350,000 shares of our common stock in a
registered public offering at a public offering price of $9.50 per share. The gross proceeds from
the offering were $98 million and the net proceeds were $91 million. Sixty percent of the net
proceeds were used to prepay term loans outstanding under the Senior Facilities. Repayments of
$23 million under the Tranche A Facility and $32 million under the Tranche B Facility were
applied against scheduled maturities of each Tranche in the order in which they were due. The
balance of the net proceeds were applied to reduce the outstanding balance under the Revolving
Facility.

On October 7, 2003, we sold an aggregate of 25,300,000 shares of our common stock in a
registered public offering at a public offering price of $8.00 per share. The gross proceeds from
the offering were $202 million and the net proceeds were $190 million. $114 million of the net
proceeds were used to repay Tranche B Term Loans outstanding under the Senior Facilities. $56
million of the net proceeds were used to reduce the outstanding balance under the Revolving
Facility. The balance of the net proceeds was used to reduce other short-term debt.

Write-Off of Capz’talizéd Bank Fees and Related Debt Extinguishment Costs

In February 2002, we recorded a charge of $3 million for write-off of cépitalized fees
associated with the term loans under Tranche A and B Facilities repaid with the net proceeds
from the issuance of Senior Notes.
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In May 2002, we recorded a charge of $1 million for write-off of capitalized fees
associated with the term loans under Tranche A and B Facilities repaid with the net proceeds
from the issuance of additional Senior Notes.

In the 2003 fourth quarter, we recorded a charge of $2 million for write-off of capitalized -
fees associated with the term loans repaid with the net proceeds from the issuance and sale of the
common stock in the registered public offering described above.

These charges have been included in other (income) expense, net, on the Consolidated
Statement of Operations. :

(6) Income Taxes

The following table summarizes the U.S. and non-U.S. components of income (loss)
before provision for income taxes, minority interest and income from discontinued operations.

For the Year Ended -
December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)
U S ettt $ (139) $ (88) $  (50)
NOD-ULS ettt s 66 55 30
$___(73) $___(33) $__(20)

Total income taxes were allocated as set forth in the following table.

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)
Income from continuing Operations.......c....cocveervivecervrcevnnins $ 14 § e $ 5
Income from discontinued operations ............occcvvevrreennnen 1 1 1

§__ 15 $__(5) $ 6

Income tax expense attributable to income from operations consists of the items set forth
in the following table.

For the Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)

U.S. federal income taxes:

CULTENE ...ttt eve e s $ - $ (12 $ (5)
Deferred.....covoceiriii e _(10) (25) (7

549y  $__(37 $_d2

Non-U.S. income taxes:

CUITENE oottt ettt et et sbesrees $ 23 $ 22 $§ 8
Deferred.....cooivviiiiiie 1 (§9)] 9
§_ 24 $__ 21 § 17

We have an income tax exemption from the Brazilian government on income generated
from cathode and graphite electrode production through 2005 and 2006, respectively. The




exemption reduced the net expense associated with income taxes by $1 million in 2001 and 2002
and nil in 2003.

In 1998, we obtained an income tax exemption from the Swiss government. The
exemption reduced the net expense associated with income taxes by $8 million in 2001, nil in
2002 and 2003.

Income tax expense attributable to income from continuing operations differed from the
amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 35% to pretax income from
operations as set forth in the following table.

For the Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)

Tax at statutory U.S. federal rate .......coccoooveviivvvrevenierinnnan, § (29 $ (12) $
Nondeductible expenses associated with antitrust
investigations and related lawsuits and claims ..................... 5 - 8
State tax expense (benefit) (net of federal tax benefit) ......... (5) (13) (5)
Restructuring charges with no tax benefit...........ccooveevrenes 9 3 2
Adjustments related to investments in subsidiaries .............. 26 - -
Impact of dividend of foreign earnings...........cc.covrvrecerurenne 9 8 -
Non-U.S. net operating losses with no tax benefit................ - 1) -
Non-U.S. tax exemptions, holidays and credits..................... © - )
Adjustments to deferred tax asset valuation allowance ........ 3 16 5
Previous year’s return to provision true-up..........cceeeeecrenrnns ' - - 3
Tax effect of permanent differences .......c..ccocoocvviveiennininnns - —~ 2)
Foreign withholding taxes for which no tax credit can

be claimed ... - - 2
OHRET et a e ne s 1 _3an —

$_14 $_(16) $__5

The significant components of deferred income tax expense attributable to income from
continuing operations are set forth in the following table.

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)
Deferred tax expense (exclusive of the effects of
changes in the valuation allowance described
BELOW).c.viiiviicereiieieit ettt bt $ (6) § 42 8 O
Increase (decrease) in beginning of the year
balance of the valuation allowance for
deferred tax @SSELS ...cvivvveviiricier et 3) 16 5

$__ ) §__(26) § 2

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2003 are
set forth in the following table.
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At December 31,
2002 2003

4 (Dollars in millions)
Deferred tax assets:

FIXEQ @SSELS.vovviveierireesereserreeentntsnensesasaraessssnsasesenens ettt e $§ 38 $§ 10
Estimated liabilities and expenses associated with antitrust
investigations and related lawsuits and claims.........c.ccoeveveeciniiinnenns 1 5
Postretirement and other employee benefits.........c.occocvvvceniviirninnnas o 65 46
Foreign tax credit and other carryforwards............o.vvovuin JRR 97 115
Provision for scheduled plant closings and other
TESTIUCTUITIIZS .eeuveirririiiii ittt en et e e b b et ere e 2 20
OFHET ...t ettt se e s etseaas revere et een 38 47
Total gross deferred taX @SSELS ...ovvvvvvreriereiiriieene oo 241 243
Less: valuation allowance .......cvvvevceniinnnecinicnenenesene e (43) (2%)
Total deferred taX aSSELS ......cocerrirrreriireerinrierrireeessesessmsrerest e aresesenes $__198 $__218
Deferred tax liabilities:
FIXEA @SSEES ...tveveeririeeiiereesreiiinaes e ete e erenstara et esnsssrasnens e rerens § 43 § 53
INVENIOTY (oo JE RO O P RO UUUUTESUULEEEE N ¢y 6
ONIBT et tr e er e SE 1 16
Total deferred tax Habilities ....oovevrriiie e 50 75
Net deferred tax @SSEt.......ccviiivrrereririiieeeeie e $__ 148 $__143

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are classified on a net current and non-current
basis within each tax jurisdiction. Net deferred income tax assets are included in prepaid
expenses in the amount of $14 million at December 31, 2002 and $16 million at December 31,
2003 and separately stated as deferred income taxes in the amount of $171 million at
December 31, 2002 and $176 million at December 31, 2003. Net deferred tax liabilities are
included in accrued income and other taxes in the amount of $4 million at December 31, 2002
and $6 million at December 31, 2003 and separately stated as deferred income taxes in the
amount of $33 million at December 31, 2002 and $43 million at December 31, 2003.

During the 2000 fourth quarter, we entered into an intercompany sale-leaseback
transaction between two subsidiaries relating to a U.S. graphite electrode facility, which allowed
for utilization of foreign tax credits. This transaction resulted in a tax effect of a book gain of
$22 million being classified as a deferred charge, which was included in other assets and was to
be amortized into income. In June 2001, as a result of the decision to shutdown this facility, the
facility was sold back to the original subsidiary owner and impaired. Accordingly, we then
recognized a deferred tax asset for the resulting tax basis in excess of the amount for financial
reporting.

The net change in the total valuation allowance for 2003 was a decrease of $18 million.
This change results from the write-off of approximately $20 million of foreign tax credits and the
corresponding valuation allowance and a $2 million increase in valuation allowance related to
other deferred tax assets. :

We have total excess foreign tax credit carryforwards of $81 million at December 31,
2003. Of these tax credit carryforwards, $15 million expire in 2004,-$5 million expire in 2005,
$18 million expire in 2006, $37 million expire in 2007 and $6 million expire in 2008 and
beyond. In addition, we have federal, state and foreign net operating losses, on a tax effected
basis, of $27 million. Of these tax loss carryforwards, $1 million expire in 2007, $1 million
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expire in 2008, $1 million expire in 2009, $14 million expire in 2013 through 2022 and $10
million expire in 2023. On a recomputed basis, we used foreign tax credits to reduce U.S.
current tax liabilities in the amount of $16 million in 2001, $2 million in 2002 and nil in 2003.
Based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over
the periods during which these credits are utilizable, we believe it is more likely than not that we
will realize the tax benefits of these deferred tax assets net of the corresponding valuation
allowances that exist at December 31, 2003. It is our intention to pursue tax planning strategies
and one-time events in order to utilize our foreign tax credit carryforwards prior to expiration.

We intend to make distributions of earnings from our wholly-owned subsidiary in
Switzerland that have been previously taxed in the U.S. and can be distributed without any
additional tax cost. With the exception of our Swiss subsidiary, U.S. income taxes have not been
provided on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries because our intention is to reinvest
these undistributed earnings indefinitely. To the extent that our circumstances change or future
earnings are repatriated, we will provide for income tax on the earnings of the affected foreign
subsidiaries. We believe that any U.S. income tax on repatriated earnings would be substantially
offset by U.S. foreign tax credits.

(7)  Other Expense (Income), Net

The following table presents an analysis of other expense (income), net.

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2001 2002 2003

(Dollars in millions)
TNLEIESt INCOIMIE ....viviveveei ettt ettt 5 @ 3 @ 9 -
Currency (Zais) L0SSES....ocvrvrvrieriierie et eieerens s (2) (28) (35)
Bank fees, including loss on sales of accounts receivable...... 5 4 5
Legal expenses and settlements ........ocoeeevevnreiinnniennnenennon - 3
Employee benefit curtailment and other costs......cccovevienenne - | 4
Mark-to-market on interest 1ate Caps .....cooccevevrivevereriveriairensons - 1
Former parent company lawsuit legal expenses .......c.cc.cvveene 1 -

1
Amortization of g00dWill ..o e 2

NOD-INCOME LAXES evvvvieveivereerieeetereciiete et sresesieste e saeinas - 3
Write-off of fixed/other assets .........ccoceevvieininciinniiinns - - 4
Global realighment .........c.cccvvrvniniinninnc s 2 3 -
‘Write-off of capitalized bank fees and related debt

eXNZUISKMENT COSIS c.vniieciiiirinincie e - 4 2
L0 11 11 OO OO USSR O USRS 3) S 3
Total other expense (I1COME), NEL...v.vcvcverererieriiierie e $ 3 SO $_(12

We have non-dollar-denominated intercompany loans between GrafTech Finance and
some of our foreign subsidiaries. At December 31, 2003, the aggregate principal amount of
these loans was $423 million (based on currency exchange rates in effect on December 31,
2003). These loans are subject to translation gains and losses due to changes in currency
exchange rates. A portion of these loans are deemed to be essentially permanent and, as a result,
translation gains and losses on these loans are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The balance of these loans are deemed to be temporary
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and, as a result, translation gains and losses on these loans are recorded as unrealized gains or
losses in other expense (income), net, on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. We have
the ability to replace each intercompany loan with a substantially identical new intercompany
loan. When we replace such a loan, we record net cumulative realized translation gains or losses
with respect to that loan in other expense (income), net. Those realized gains or losses are,
however, non-cash gains or losses. In 2002, we had a net total of $28 million in currency gains,
$21 million of which gain was due to currency translation on intercompany loans and translation
of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries which use the dollar as their functional currency
and $7 million of which related to transactions with third parties. In 2003, we had a net total of
$35 million of currency gains, $39 million of which gains were due primarily to currency
translation on intercompany loans offset by $4 million of currency losses related to transactions
with third parties. : :

(8) Interest Expense

The following table presents an analysis of interest expense.

For the Year Ended
December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)
Interest incurred on debt.........ccoocvviiiieieier e 54 § 62 § 62
Interest rate swap benefit.........cccoeviivivieiiieciie e - (6) (13)
Amortization of gain on sale of SWaps ........cccveicivcnenines - ~ (8)
Amortization of debt iSsuance CostS........ooevvveivveirirviveenncres 2 3 3
Interest imputed on antitrust fine.......ocoovevvecciencenncinennn 4 1 1
Total INtErest EXPEINSE.....cvoviverrerrererrerenerrerienieeraereresins §___60 $___60 $§__ 45

&) Supplementary Balance Sheet Detail

The following tables present supplementary balance sheet details.

At December 31,
2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)

Accounts and notes receivable, net: : .
THAAR - oveeeeeie ettt ettt et e ettt e et e e et st st e naanes $ 85 $ 103

[ 1117 TR . 24 27
‘ 109 130
Allowance for doubtful aCCOUNLS «..uvvvviicvieiicie e (5 (4)

$__104 $__126

Property, plant and equipment:

Land and iMproVemMentS...........oiveeveveriversesoesrecsereressessesesneseens $ 41 $ 29
BUIIAINGS ...ovvevieeiieieieee et e e 166 155
Machinery and equipment and otheT ..., 753 816
ConStrucCtion in PrOZIESS ..c.eeoverireiierieeieetseeeecere sttt e 35 32

$__995 $ 1032

Other assets: _ ,
Fair value of interest rate SWap .........ocovveveeennne. e ——————— $ 8 $ -~
Fair value of interest rate caps .....cooevvverrevenininiciniise e - 4




-At December 31,
2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)

PENSION GSSES ..eeivveereeiceicerieciiireeie st resreeeteeeseeersesbesasrseseseesneesnens 4 5
Long term receivables.......c.oo.oveevervevervesieneererennn, et 2 5
Long term inVeSTMENTS. ...ccveeriieiaeir i eteeer e e seeienesenenes 2 3
Capitalized bank fEES .......iv.ouiiriviieiereeeerenssteress s sssssesrstennes 28 21
Cash surrender value of executive life insurance.........c.occvvvvvvneeen. 3 -
Other oo ettt a et e e e arran . 5 4

: $__ 52 $___42

Accounts payable: S
TIAAC ..ottt ettt ettt b s b s $ 82 $ 78
TEBIEST ovreeiiiei ettt et et bbb e 23 20
$__108 $

Other accrued liabilities: :
Accrued accounts payable.........ocooeviiniciennien s $ 14 § 17

Accrued imputed INTETEST .....ovveeveciirerirrieiecreierer e e s e . 8 1
Payrolls (including incentive programs) ........ocovveverevrevernereiresniens 4 16
RESIUCTUTING. ...t vttt cenie et st sae s b e san s s seae 14 29
Employee compensation and benefits.............ccovvviiiiinnenieinns 10 11
Liabilities and expenses associated with antitrust investigations

and related lawsuits and ¢laims ...

Other long term obligations:

POSHIEtirement BENefits...........oo.ovvrreerirecrneressioresessssseseeesesessiesrenns $ 70 $ 60
Employee SEVErance COSIS.....cooviiriinenrneresereeeisnsreserseressnenesnes 4 4
Pension and related benefits........ocvvvviiviiiiiinnriinieersiereene e 59 45
Liabilities and expenses associated with antitrust investigations
and related lawsuits and Claims.......c..ccocviivirinnce s, 95 43
Long-term environmental liabilities........ccovvrveernienevnnriniinienin, 5 4
Fair value of interest rate swap ........ccoevirrnenenaie. e s = - 18
Unamortized gain on interest rate SWap .........cccoeermeeerersisvonconienises 9 32
Other vt s ererr e et e aesenas 16 19
$__258 $___225

The following table presents an analysis of the allowance for doubtful accounts.

At December 31
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)
Balance at beginning of year ..........ccccccvcrncenn. $ 4 $ 5 $§ 5
AQAIHODNS vt 2 1 -
DeqUCHIONS ...vvevreicvieriee v _M e M
Balance at end of year...........cecovvveecvvvcveeneeennins $_5 §__3 $__4

(10) Leases and Other Long Term Obligations

Lease commitments under noncancelable operating leases extending for one year or more
will require the following future payments:
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(Dollars in millions)

2004 ..ot ettt e et s e a e re s $2
2005 e e e et be s e aaeeas 1
2006 ...ttt st aaeanen 1
2007 e e et e —
2008 ..t ettt e e ae e bt e eneebeene e e aaeate e -
AREr 2008 ..o et -

- Total lease and rental expenses under noncancelable operating leases extending one
month or more were $3 million in 2001, $1 million in 2002 and $1 million in 2003.

During 2001, we outsourced our information technology function to CGI Group Inc.
(“CGI”). Under this ten-year agreement, CGI will manage our data services, networks, desktops,
telecommunications and legacy systems. The following schedule sets forth the future payments
for base services. '

(Dollars in millions)

2004 e $6
2005 et et e e ennaa s 5
2000 ...ttt 5
2007 e et e e st raa e e 5
2008 o ittt rtae s o s s e rntnnareaeeans 5
ATIET 2008 e et et 12

In addition, we have a remaining commitment to purchase $3 million in services above
the base level over the remaining term of the agreement. '

In September 2002, we entered into a ten-year outsourcing contract with CGI to provide
finance and accounting business process services valued at $36 million. The following sets forth
the schedule of future payments for base services.

(Dollars in millions)

(11)  Benefit Plans
Retirement Plans and Postretirement Benefit Plans

Until February 25, 1991, we participated in the U.S. retirement plan of Union Carbide
Corporation (“Union Carbide”). Effective February 26, 1991, we formed our own U.S.

147




retirement plan which covers substantially all U.S. employees. Retirement and death benefits
related to employee service through February 25, 1991 are covered by the Union Carbide plan.
Benefits paid by the Union Carbide plan are based on final average pay through February 25,
1991, plus salary increases (not to exceed 6% per year) until January 26, 1995 when Union
Carbide ceased to own at least 50% of the equity of GTI. All our employees who retired prior to
February 25, 1991 are covered under the Union Carbide plan. Pension benefits under our plan
are based primarily on years of service and compensation levels prior to retirement. Prior to
January 1, 2002, our plan was a defined benefit plan. Effective January 1, 2002, a new defined
contribution plan was established for U.S. employees. Some employees had the option to remain
in the defined benefit plan for an additional period of up to five years. Those employees without
the option to remain in the defined benefit plan for an additional five years began participating in
the defined contribution plan and their benefits under the defined benefit plan were frozen as of
December 31, 2001. Those employees with the initial option to remain in the defined benefit
plan began participating in the defined contribution plan as of April 1, 2003 and their benefits
under the defined benefit plan were frozen as of March 31, 2003.- Effective March 31, 2003, we
froze the qualified defined benefit plan for our remaining U.S. employees and closed our non-
qualified U.S. defined benefit plan for the participating salaried workforce. Under the new
defined contribution plan, we make quarterly contributions to each individual employee’s
account equal to 2.5% of the employee’s pay up to the social security wage base (387,000 in
2003) plus 5% of their pay above the social security wage base.

Pension coverage for employees of foreign subsidiaries is provided, to the extent deemed
appropriate, through separate plans. Obligations under such plans are systematically provided for
by depositing funds with trustees, under insurance policies or by book reserves.

We use a December 31 measurement date for all of our plans.

As aresult of these benefit plan changes, the net pension cost for our plans was reduced
from $11 million in 2001 to $7 million in 2002 and to $3 million in 2003.

The components of our consolidated net pension costs are set forth in the following table.

For the Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)

SETVICE COSLuvrirrinririiiriritcreerreresseneeesbeeresae s etnesteeranes $ 7 $ 6 5 3
INECTESE COSL.rvviniiirenririinreceiocraceaeaerssne e s st esbeneataaans 14 11 12
Expected retirn on assets ......o.occvveeereivevernesvecnerirnneenns (14) (11) (1)
AMOTTIZALION ..oivioiviacrracreaireatrreeearsseeseesaeaseaseeseeaseeeaes - - 1
Special termination benefits ...........ocoevveerviciiiiviinennn, - - 3
Settlement (Zain) 1088 ....coecieriierinveirrere e 4 1 {6)
Curtailment 108S.....c..oveivveiiieveresreeeeeie e seeee s - ~ 1
NEU PENSION COSE ..evvivireiririeereie ettt ere e reen e e $ __ 11 $__ 7 $__3

We also provide healthcare and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees.
These benefits are provided through various insurance companies and health care providers. We
accrue the estimated net post-retirement benefit costs during the employees’ credited service
periods. In July 2002, we amended our U.S. post-retirement medical coverage. Effective
March 31, 2003, we discontinued the Medicare supplement plan (for retirees 65 years or older or
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those eligible for Medicare benefits). This change applies to all active employees except for
some employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement, all current retirees who were not
covered by a collective bargaining agreement when they retired and those retirees who retired
under a former collective bargaining agreement.

In June 2003, we announced the termination of the existing early retiree medical plan
for retirees under age 65, effective December 31, 2005. In addition, we will limit the amount of
retiree’s life insurance after December 31, 2004.

‘The impact of these changes is being amortized over the average remaining period to
full eligibility of the related post-retirement benefits and resulted in a $8 million net benefit in
2003 that is reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The components of our consolidated net postretirement benefit costs are set forth in the
following table.

For the Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)

SEIVICE COSt..ouiiiiiiiririiiei et et $ 2 § - $ -

IOtETESt COST..ueeuiiiiiiriiienti et 6 4 3

Amortization of prior service cost .....coveveernrirenene. & _ & _(an
Net postretirement benefit oSt ..................... $ __6 $__ & $ _(8) -

The reconciliation of beginning and ending balances of benefit obligations under, and fair
value of assets of, all of our pension and postretirement benefit plans, and the funded status of
the plans, are as follows: _ ‘

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

At December 31, At December 31,
2002 2003 2002 2003

(Dollars in miilions)

Changes in benefit obligation: ' ‘
Net benefit obligation at beginning of year................... 8 177 0§ 192 § 63 $ 47

SETVICE COSE.vruvrririririrriirieieieresiee et sssees v 6 3 B 1
INEETESt COSt.c.vieriiiiirii it e 11 12 4 3
Impact of plan amendments..........coeeveeecerririeriennns - 1 9 (17)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes ..................... 6 10 ) 3
ACtUATial LOSS .ovvvveririieiecsieiire ettt 14 18 (3) 12
DIVESHIULE. .vevivieveiieecreeie et sa et s e et enea — (1 — —
CUrtailment ...c..oveerivveereieercr ettt (8) (13) L= —
Settlement ............... e b e e 6) (16) - —
Special termination benefits.........cvcrivineniinn - 3 - -
Gross benefits paid......ccocoveeeeieiienninr e () (1) (7 ()]
Net benefit obligation at end of year.........c...o...... $_192 §__198 §__ 47 $ 44
Changes in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year................ $ 127 § 112 8§ - $ -
Actual return on plam asSets ....coovecvvrerririneneirreeeeannas (11) 29 - -
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Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

At December 31, At December 31,
2002 2003 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)
Foreign currency exchange rate changes ..............o....... 5 8 -
Employer contributions.......cccoevevecviveiecs s, 5 14 7 5
Participants contributions.......o.oococievniniiiecenene - — - -
Settlement .....ocoviviir e e {6) - - -
Gross benefits paid.......ccocvivicriivciic s {8) (11) (7) 5
Fair value of plan assets atend of year.................. § 112 $__152 $ = S =
Reconciliation of funded status:
Funded status at end of year.........ccccceevvveeiviieienenne, $ B8 $ @6 $ 4D I (73
Unrecognized net transifion asset ..........cccoovcrrevevreiernnins ) (2) ~ —
Unrecognized prior SETVICe COSt.e..vvirrrimnmnrereernnieans 1 1 (64) (64)
Unrecognized net actuarial 108 ........ccoevvievivveenenennnn, 49 27 41 48
Net amount recognized at end of year ................. $__(h $_20) §__J0 $ __(60)
Amounts recognized in the statement of financial position
Prepaid benefit Cost ... $ 4 3 5 % - $ -
Accrued benefit Hability ..c.ooooovieeicie (60) 41 {(70) (60)
Intangible asset .....c.cooovviiieiicee e 1 - - .
Accumulated other comprehensive income ................. 24 16 — —
Net amount recognized..........ccocvvververrrecrrennnnns $__ (3 $_(200 $__ (0 § ___(60)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined pension plans was $186 million at
December 31, 2003.

Assumptions used to determine net pension costs, pension projected benefit obligation,
net postretirement benefit costs and postretirement benefits projected benefit obligation are set
forth in the following table.

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
At December 31, At December 31,
2001 2002 2003 2001 2002 2003
Weighted average assumptions as of
measurement date:
DiISCOUNL TALE ....voveveevereeceeirieerie e 7.34% 6.71% 6.36% 7.79%  7.04% 6.68%
Expected return on plan assets ..o 8.59% 7.80% 7.73% - -~ -
Rate of compensation increase.............ccc..... 4.73% 4.04% 4.15% 3.39% - -
Health care cost trend on covered charges:
Inftial oo N/A N/A N/A 6.88% 6.68% 8.33%
UIMALE ....oeeveeceireierrerre e N/A N/A N/A 5.34% 5.38% 4.46%
Years to ultimate .......ocoeeveerevercneneens N/A N/A N/A 6 6 8

Assumed health care cost trend rates had a significant effect on the amounts reported for
net postretirement benefits. A one percentage point change in the health care cost trend rates
would change the accumulated postretirement benefits net benefit obligation by approximately
$5 million at December 31, 2002 and change net postretirement benefit costs by approximately
$1 million for both 2001 and 2002. For 2003, as a result of certain amendments to the U.S.
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postretirement benefits, health care cost trend rates have no material effect on the amounts
reported for net postretirement benefits.

Other Non-Qualified Plans

Since January 1, 1995, we have established various unfunded, non-qualified
supplemental retirement and deferred compensation plans for certain eligible employees. We
established benefits protection trusts (the “Trust”) to partially provide for the benefits of
employees participating in these plans. At December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2003, the Trust
had assets of approximately $2 million, which are included in other assets on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. These assets include 426,400 shares of common stock that we contributed to the
Trust in March 2001. These shares, if later sold, could be used for partial funding of our future
obligations under certain of our compensation and benefit plans. The shares held in Trust are not
considered outstanding for purposes of calculating earnings per share until they are committed to
be sold or otherwise used for funding purposes. In March 2003, we closed our non-qualified U.S.
defined benefit plan for the participating salaried workforce, which resulted in an $11 million
restructuring charge in the 2003 first quarter. We started a new defined contribution plan for the
salaried workforce. :

Savings Plan

Our employee savings plan provides eligible employees the opportunity for long term
savings and investment. Under the plan as in effect through 2001, participating employees could
contribute 1.0% to 7.5% of employee compensation as basic contributions and an additional
0.5% to 10.0% of employee compensation as supplemental contributions. On January 1, 2002,
the plan was revised to allow employees to contribute up to 5% of pay as a basic contribution
and an additional 45% of pay as supplemental contribution. For 2001 and 2002, we contributed
on behalf of each participating employee an amount equal to 50% of the employee’s basic
" contribution. For 2003, we contributed on behalf of each participating employee, in units
relating to our common stock, 100% on the first 3% contributed by the employee and 50% on the
next 2% contributed by the employee. We contributed $1 million in 2001 and 2002 and 315,245
shares of our common stock in 2003.

Additional Ihformation for U.S. Pension Plans

Plan Assets. The following table presents our U.S. retirement plan weighted average
asset allocations at December 31, 2002 and 2003, as well as our target allocations for 2004, by
asset category.

Percentage of Plan Target
Assets at December 31, Allocation
2002 2003 2004
Equity Securities*............. 70.44% 75.07% 70-80%
Debt Securities.................. 29.54 24.26 20-30
Other....oooeviivvvenineicienn, 0.02 0.67 No Target

Total....ccocooiiiiicein 100.00% 100.00%

* Includes shares of our common stock in the amounts of nil and $16 million (17.6%) at
December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively.
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Long-Term Rate of Return Assumption. The investment objective of the plan is to
meet the current and future defined benefit payment obligations of the plan. The existing assets
and required contributions may be invested in both fixed income and equity investments. Equity
investments may include large-cap, mid-cap, and small-cap stocks. Fixed income investments
may include U.S. government securities, corporate bonds, mortgages, cash, and other fixed
income instruments.

The long-term rate of return assumptions were calculated by Aon Investment Consulting
(“Aon”). Twenty year rolling returns net of inflation, volatility and correlations, and inflation
estimates were analyzed and regressed. Target allocations from the investment policy were
utilized with 2.5% inflation. The 8% assumption utilized is below the 8.37% expected result for
a plan with 70% invested in equities.

Investment Policy and Strategy. The investment policy and strategy of the plan is to
invest 70% (60% large cap, 25% small- and mid-cap, 15% international) in equities and 30% in
short duration fixed income securities. The trust allows the plan to be 80% invested in equities,
including shares of our common stock. Rebalancing is undertaken monthly. The goal is to fully
fund the plan as soon as possible while investing plan assets prudently.

Aon conducted an asset/liability study for the plan in 2003. The target equity allocation
of 70% does not include shares of our common stock which was contributed to the plan in 2003
in addition to the minimum required cash contribution.

The following table presents information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit
obligation in excess of plan assets.

December 31
2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)
Projected benefit obligation.................. $ 132 $ 125
Accumulated benefit obligation........... 110 121

Fair value of plan assets...........c.ccevnne. 64 92
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Cash Flows. The following represents projected future cash flow by year.

Other
Postretirement
Pension Plan Plan
(Dollars in millions)

Expected contributions in 2004:
Expected employer contributions ..........cooovvvevivreveninnnenonns $13 to $15 $4
Expected employee contributions.........cccovevveveveenivcrevenenn e $- $~
Estimated future benefit payments reflecting expected
future service for the fiscal year(s) ending:

1273112004 oo e, $6 $4
1273172005 o ieeereteeeeeeeeeeererre et ee et eaeaeereseseseeenen $6 $4
12/31/2006 ... oeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeese e esseres e se e er s esns e $7 $3
1273172007 oo et ee s ee e $7 $3
12/3172008 .o ettt $8 - $3
12/3172009-12/31/2013 1. coovoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $47 $15

(12) Restructuring and Impairment Charges

We have had several restructuring and impairment charges during the past few years. At
December 31, 2003, the outstanding balance of our restructuring reserve was $29 million. The
components of this balance consist primarily of $15 million for organizational changes,
$8 million related to the mothballing of our graphite electrode manufacturing operations in
Caserta, Italy, $2 million related primarily to remaining lease payments on our former corporate
headquarters, and $2 million related to plant closure costs associated with the closure of our
Canadian graphite electrode manufacturing operations.

In the 2003 fourth quarter, we recorded a $2 million net non-cash write-off of the
remaining book value of assets of our former graphite electrode manufacturing operations in
Clarksville, Tennessee. We also recorded a $5 million non-cash impairment of the remaining
fixed assets in Caserta, Italy.

In the 2003 second quarter, we recorded $1 million of restructuring charges for
organizational changes.

In the 2003 first quarter, we recorded $19 million of restructuring charges, consisting of
$8 million for organizational changes and $11 million for the closure and settlement of our U.S.
non-qualified defined benefit plan for the participating salaried workforce. The $8 million
charge for organizational changes related to U.S. voluntary and selective severance programs and
related benefits associated with a workforce reduction of 103 employees. The closure of our
non-qualified U.S. defined benefit plan resulted in recognition of net actuarial losses of $11
million.

In the 2002 fourth quarter, we recorded $3 million (32 million after tax) of impairment
charges relating to our investment in our joint venture with Jilin Carbon Co. (together with its
affiliates, “Jilin”). The impairment results from uncertainty about the completion and start-up of
the planned graphite electrode facility in Changchun, China due to the effects that the
challenging 2002 graphite electrode industry conditions have had on Jilin. We also recorded a
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$1 million (nil after tax) change in estimate for the restructuring charge for our graphite electrode
operations in Caserta, Italy.

In the 2002 third quarter, we recorded a $1 million charge related to the impairment of
available-for-sale securities.

In the 2002 second quarter, we recorded a $13 million ($8 million after tax) charge
primarily related to the impairment of our long-lived carbon electrode assets in Columbia,
Tennessee as a result of a decline in demand and loss of market share. The primary end market
for carbon electrodes is silicon metal, which had been very depressed in the U.S. where our main
customer base is located. This charge also includes $1 million related to the impairment of
available-for-sale securities.

In the 2002 first quarter, we recorded a $5 million restructuring charge that related
primarily to the mothballing of our graphite electrode manufacturing operations in Caserta, Italy.
This charge included estimated pension, severance and other related employee benefit costs for
102 employees and other costs related to the mothballing.

In the 2001 fourth quarter, we recorded a $7 million restructuring charge and a
$27 million impairment loss on long-lived and other assets. The restructuring charge related
primarily to exit costs related to the mothballing of graphite electrode manufacturing operations
in Caserta, Italy. $24 million of the impairment loss on long-lived assets related to assets located
at our facility in Caserta, [taly. The remaining $3 million related to the impairment of available-
for-sale securities.

In the 2001 third quarter, we recorded a $2 million restructuring charge related to a
corporate realignment of our businesses, the relocation of our corporate headquarters and the
shutdown of our coal calcining operations located in Niagara Falls, New York. The relocation
was substantially completed in 2001. The charge includes severance and related benefits
associated with a workforce reduction of 24 employees and impairment of leasehold
improvement assets.

In 2001 third quarter, we reversed $2 million of prior restructuring charges based on
revised lower estimates of workforce reductions and plant closure costs, and we reclassified
$4 million of prior restructuring charges related to on-site waste disposal post-monitoring costs
to other long term obligations. ’ '

In the 2001 second quarter, we recorded a $58 million charge for restructuring and
impairment loss on long-lived assets related to the shutdown of our graphite electrode
manufacturing operations in Clarksville and Columbia, Tennessee and our coal calcining
operations in Niagara Falls, New York. The $58 million charge includes restructuring charges of
$2 million for severance and related benefits associated with a workforce reduction of 171
employees and $3 million in plant shutdown and related costs. The remaining $53 million relates
to the impairment loss on long-lived assets. The shutdown was completed in the 2001 third
quarter.

The fair value of the long-lived assets was calculated on the basis of discounted
estimated future cash flows. Estimates of the discounted future cash flows are subject to
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significant uncertainties and assumptions. Accordingly, actual values could vary 51gn1ﬁcant1y
from such estimates.

The following table summarizes activity relating to the accrued expense in connection
with the restructuring charges.

Plant Post
Severance Shutdown Monitoring
~and Related and Related and Related ‘
(Dollars in millions) o
Balance at January 1, 2001 ............. § 13 $ 9 $ 4 $ 26
Restructuring charges in 2001............ 4 4 8 - 12
Payments in 2001 ......ccccooinieenienne. (13) 5 - (18)
Non—cash write—offs in 2001 ............. - (4) - ©)
Reclassification of on—site disposal
and monitoring costs ...........cceeen.n. - - ‘ {4) 4)
Balance at December 31, 2001 ........ 4 8 - $ 12
Restructuring charges in 2002............ 6 - - 6
Payments in 2002.......c...ccocorevneneenn. (5) 1 ~ 4)
Balance at December 31, 2002 ........ 5 9 - $ 14
Restructuring charges in 2003............ 20 - - 20
Payments in 2003 ...........c.oceeceveeiieenen, 3) (2) - (35
Balance at December 31, 2003 ........ $__ 22 $ 7 $ - $__29

The restructuring accrual is included in other accrued liabilities on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

(13) Management Compensation and Incentive Plans
Stock Options

We have adopted several stock incentive plans. The aggregate number of shares reserved
under the plans since their initial adoption was 14,500,000 shares at December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2003. The plans permit options and restricted stock to be granted to employees
and, in the case of one plan since March 1998, also to non-employee directors.

In 1995, we granted 12-year options to management to purchase 4,761,000 shares at an
exercise price of $7.60 per share, of which options for 3,967,400 shares vested at the time of our
initial public offering in 1995, and the balance were performance options, one fifth of which
were to vest in each of 1995 through 1999 on achievement of designated EBITDA targets. In
December 1997, GTI’s Board of Directors accelerated the vesting of the 1998 performance
options. We did not achieve the 1999 performance targets and, accordingly, the 1999
performance options were cancelled.

In 1996, we granted 10-year options to mid-management to purchase 960,000 shares at
an exercise price of $35.00 per share, and granted additional 10-year options to mid-management
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to purchase 4,000 shares at an exercise price of $40.44 per share. In 1997, we granted 10-year
options to mid-management to purchase 61,500 shares at an exercise price of $39.31 per share.
The options vest eight years from the grant date. Accelerated vesting occurs if the market price
of the common stock equals or exceeds specified amounts. At December 31, 2003, 160,000 of
such options were not yet vested.

In 1997, we granted 10-year options to management to purchase 155,000 shares at an
exercise price of $37.59 per share. At December 31, 2003, all such options were vested.

In 1998, we granted 10-year options to purchase shares as follows:

¢ Options for 641,000 shares were granted to certain officers and directors at exercise
prices ranging from $29.22 to $34.36 per share. Options for 320,000 shares vest one
year from the grant date, options for 221,000 shares vest two years from the grant
date and options for 100,000 shares vest three years from the grant date. At
December 31, 2003, all of such options were vested.

e Options for 1,935,000 shares were granted to certain officers and management at
exercise prices ranging from $15.50 to $17.06 per share. Options for 628,000 shares
vest after one year from the grant date, and all remaining options vest seven years
from the grant date, subject to accelerated vesting if the market price for the common
stock equals or exceeds specified amounts. At December 31, 2003, all of such options
were vested.

In 1999, we granted 10-year options to purchase shares as follows:

¢ Options for 409,000 shares were issued to certain officers, management and directors
at exercise prices ranging from $14.13 to $26.50 per share. Options for 274,101
shares vest one year from the grant date, and all remaining options vest seven years
from the grant date, subject to accelerated vesting if the market price for the common
stock equals or exceeds specified amounts. At December 31, 2003, 6,667 of such
options were not yet vested.

In 2000, we granted 10-year options to purchase shares as follows:

e Options for 2,615,511 shares were issued to certain officers, management and
directors at exercise prices ranging from $8.56 to $19.06 per share. Options for
2,070,100 shares vest two years from the grant date, options for 200,000 shares vest
five years from the grant date, 175,901 shares vest one year from the grant date,
options for 12,200 vested at the grant date, options for 35,040 shares vested ratably
over the course of 2000 and all remaining options vest seven years from the grant
date, subject to accelerated vesting if the market price for the common stock equals or
exceeds specified amounts. At December 31, 2003, 223,334 of such options were not
yet vested.

In 2001, we granted 10-year options to purchase shares as follows:
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e Options for 1,755,170-shares were issued to certain officers, management and
directors at exercise prices ranging from $8.85 to $11.95 per share. Options for
1,644,300 shares vest two years from the grant date and options for 110,870 shares
vested on the grant date. At December 31, 2003, all of such options were vested.

In 2002, we granted 10-year options to purchase shares as follows:

s Options for 89,701 shares were issued to certain officers, management and directors
at exercise prices ranging from $8.44 to $10.77 per share. Options for 8,380 shares
vested on the grant date, options for 41,321 shares vest one year from the grant date
and options for 40,000 shares vest two years from the grant date. At December 31,
2003, 15,000 of these options were not yet vested.

In 2003, we granted options to purchase shares as follows:

e Options for 3,188,435 shares were issued to certain officers, management and
directors at exercise prices ranging from $2.85 to $12.23 per share. We granted
10-year options for 91,935 shares that vest one year from the grant date and 10-year
options for 25,000 shares that vest two years from the grant date. In addition, we
granted options for 3,071,500 shares in connection with our long-term incentive
program. These options vest five years from the grant date and expire five months
later. Accelerated vesting occurs if certain cash flow performance targets are
achieved in each of 2003, 2004 and 2005. At December 31,2003, none of these
options were vested.

The following table summarizes the status of our stock-based compensation plans at the
dates and for the period indicated.

For the Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 ) 2003
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise - Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

(Shares in thousands)
Time vesting options:
- Outstanding at beginning of

VEAL oiieienieiieineriermeenereeriesens e 7,856 $ 1655 9,251 § 1524 8994 § 1534
Granted at market price ................ 1,752 8.99 507 10.55 3,188 6.59
Granted at price exceeding

131113 () SRR ~ - - - - -
Granted at price below market...... - - - - - -
Exercised ..o, (183) 7.60 (546) 7.60 (552) 8.45
Forfeited/canceled ..........ccoeeeveenne (169) 19.80 (218) 13.56 (452) 15.76

Outstanding at end of year ........ 9,251 § 1524 8994 § 1534 11,178 § 13.17

Options exercisable at year

eNd Lo 4,975 § 18.85 6,779 § 16.16 7,582 § 1544
Weighted-average fair value of

options granted during year:
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For the Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
(Shares in thousands)

At market ... 5.58 6.01 6.59

Exceeding market ..........coccovene - - ' -

Below market.........cccoovevvnenn. " ~ ) ~ -~

Performance vesting options:
Outstanding at beginning of ,

VEAT cuovveiiiiienrereieisisensvereeseenas 401 $ 7.60 378§ 7.60 378§ 7.60
Granted.......coovevviviveeniee e - - - - - -
Exercised ......cccooeveirineiiienieennennnn (23) 7.60 - - (46) 7.60
Forfeited/canceled .........cooceeninnne — - - - - -

Outstanding at end of year ........ 378 7.60 378 7.60 332 7.60
Options exercisable at year

€N .o e 378 $ 7.60 378§ 7.60 332§ 7.60

The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions for grants in 2001, 2002
and 2003, respectively: dividend yield of 0.0% for all years; expected volatility of 52% in 2001,
55% in 2002 and 76% in 2003; risk-free interest rates of 4.8% in 2001, 4.3% in 2002 and 4.0%
in 2003; and expected lives of 8 years in 2001 and 2002 and 6 years in 2003.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at
December 31, 2003. ’

Options Qutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Number Contractual Exercise Number Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Prices Exercisable Prices

(Shares in thousands)

Time vesting options:

$2.83-10.77 7,119 6 years $7.62 © 3,936 $8.47
$11.60 to0 $19.06 2,522 5 years 16.48 2,238 16.86
$22.82 to $29.22 141 5 years 25.71 135 2585
$30.59 to $40.44 1,396 3 years 34.31 1,222 34.11
' 11,178 13.00 7,531 15.09

Performance vesting options:
$7.60 332 3 years $7.60 332 $7.60

Incentive Compensation Plans

In 2000, we implemented global incentive programs for our worldwide salaried and
hourly employees. These plans were based on our financial performance and achievement of
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strategic or, in the case of hourly employees, local targets. The cost for this plan was nil in 2001
and 2002. In 2003, the Incentive Compensation Program (“ICP”) replaced the former programs,
creating one program for all employees. The ICP is based primarily on achieving cash flow
targets and, to a lesser extent, strategic targets. The cost for the ICP was $11 million in 2003.

Other

In 1998, we entered into a five-year employment agreement with our former chairman of
the board.

In 2000, we gfanted 100,000 restricted shares to our former chairman of the bo‘érd, and
we are amortizing the value of those shares as of the grant date ($2 million) over the vesting
period which ended in June 2003. :

In 2002, we granted 412,200 shares of restricted stock to employees. We also recorded a
$5 million non-cash compensation charge associated with the accelerated vesting of those shares.

From 1998 to 2002, we maintained an executive employee loan program. No loans were
made in 2001 or 2002. During 2002, all previously outstanding loans were repaid as described
below. From 1998 to 2002, we maintained an executive employee stock purchase program. No
purchases were made in 2001 or 2002. In 2002, management participating in these programs
repaid all outstanding loans with shares of common stock valued at fair market value on the date
of repayment and cash. These programs were discontinued in 2002.

(14) Contingencies
Antitrust Investigations

In April 1998, pursuant to a plea agreement between the U.S. Department of Justice and
GTI, GTI pled guilty to a one count charge of violating U.S. federal antitrust law in connection
with the sale of graphite electrodes and was sentenced to pay a non-interest-bearing fine in the
aggregate amount of $110 million, payable in six annual installments. The plea agreement was
approved by the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania (the “District
Court”). The payment schedule has been revised periodically at our request. In January 2002,
the payment schedule for the $60 million balance outstanding at that time was revised to require
a $2.5 million payment in April 2002, a $5.0 million payment in April 2003 and, beginning in
April 2004, quarterly payments ranging from $3.25 million to $5.375 million, through January
2007. Beginning in 2004, the DOJ may ask the District Court to accelerate the payment schedule
based on a change in our ability to make such payments. Interest will begin to accrue on the
unpaid balance, commencing in April 2004, at the statutory rate of interest then in effect. At
December 31, 2003, the statutory rate of interest was 1.28% per annum. Accrued interest will be
payable together with each quarterly payment. The revised schedule has been approved by the
District Court. Of the $110 million original aggregate amount, $90 million is treated as a fine
and $20 million is treated as 1mputed interest for accounting purposes. All payments due have
been tlmely paid.

In 2002, folléWihg an investigation as to whether there had been any violation of Korean
antitrust law by producers and distributors of graphite electrodes, the Korean antitrust authority
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assessed fines against us and other graphite electrode producers. We paid the fine together with
accrued interest, an aggregate of $584,000, in August 2002.

In January 2000, the EU Competition Authority issued a statement of objections initiating
proceedings against us and other producers of graphite electrodes. The statement alleges that we
and other producers violated antitrust laws of the European Community and the European
Economic Area in connection with the sale of graphite electrodes. In July 2001, the EU
Competition Authority issued its decision regarding the allegations. Under the decision, the EU
Competition Authority assessed a fine of €50.4 million (about $64 million, based on currency
exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003) against us. From the initiation of its
investigation, we have cooperated with the EU Competition Authority. As a result of our
cooperation, the EU antitrust fine reflects a substantial reduction from the amount that otherwise
would have been assessed. After an in-depth analysis of the decision, in October 2001, we filed
an appeal to the Court of First Instance of the European Communities in Luxembourg (the
“Court”) challenging, among other things, the amount of the EU antitrust fine, including the
accrual of interest and the rate thereof. In July 2003, the Court heard oral argument on this
appeal. The Court has not yet issued its decision.

During the pendency of an appeal, provisional payment of the fine or collateral security
for payment thereof would typically be required to be paid or provided. Under its decision, the -
EU Competition Authority stated that, until paid (including a provisional payment described
below), the EU antitrust fine would accrue interest at the rate of 8.04% per annum, commencing
October 2001, provided, however, that if a letter of credit, sufficient to secure payment of both
the fine and interest accrued and accruing thereon, was delivered to the EU Competition
Authority, then the rate of interest would be 6.04% per annum.

Since the filing of our appeal in October 2001 through September 2003, we negotiated
with the EU Competition Authority regarding the appropriate form of collateral security for the
EU antitrust fine during the pendency of our appeal. In September 2003, we filed an interim
appeal to the Court to waive the requirement for provisional payment of the EU antitrust fine or
delivery of a letter of credit as collateral security for payment thereof or to allow us to provide
alternative security for payment during the period prior to the Court’s decision on our appeal.

See Note 19 for developments after December 31, 2003 relating to the interim appeal and
the EU antitrust fine.

In May 2001, we became aware that the Brazilian antitrust authority had requested
written information from various steelmakers in Brazil. In April 2002, our Brazilian subsidiary
received a request for information from that authority. We have provided that information.

Except as described above, the antitrust investigations against us in the U.S., Canada, the
European Union, Japan and Korea with respect to graphite electrodes and in the European Union
with respect to isostatic and extruded specialty graphite have been resolved. We are continuing
to cooperate with the DOJ, EU Competition Authority and the Canadian Competition Bureau in
their continuing investigations of others. In October 1997, we were served with subpoenas by
the DOJ to produce documents relating to, among other things, our carbon electrode and bulk
graphite businesses. Under plea agreements in the U.S. and Canada, we will not be subject to
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prosecution by the respective antitrust authorities with respect to'any other violations of their
respective antitrust laws occurring prior to the-date of the applicable plea agreefment in
connection with the sale of graphite and carbon products. It is possible that antitrust
investigations seeking, among other things, to impose fines and penalties- could be initiated -
against us by antitrust authorrtles in Brazil or other jurisdictions.

To the extent that antitrust investigations involving us have been resolved with guilty . .
pleas or by adverse decisions, such guilty pleas and decisions make it more difficult for us to
defend against other investigations as well as civil lawsuits and claims. ‘We have been
vigorously protecting, and intend to continue to vigorously protect, our interests in connection-
with the investigations described above. We may, however at any time settle any possible
unresolved charges. ‘

Antitrust Lawsuits

Through December 31, 2003, except as described in the following paragraphs, we.have
settled or obtained dismissal of all of the civil antitrust lawsuits (including class action lawsuits)
previously pending against us, certain civil antitrust lawsuits threatened against us and certain
possible civil antitrust claims against us by certain customers who negotiated directly with us. -
The settlements cover, among other things, virtually all of the actual and potential claims against
us by customers in the U.S. and Canada arising out of alleged antitrust violations occurring prior
to the date of the relevant settlements in connection with the sale of graphite electrodes. One of
the settlements also covers actual and potential claims against us by certain foreign customers .
arising out of alleged antitrust violations occurring prior to the date of that settlement in
connection with the sale of graphite electrodes sourced from the U.S. Although each settlement
is unique, in the aggregate they consist primarily of current and deferred cash payments with
some product credits and discounts. All payments due have been timely paid.

In 1999 and 2000, we and other producers of graphite electrodes were served w1th three
complamts commencing three separate civil antitrust lawsuits in the District Court. In March
2002, we were served with another complaint commencing a separate civil antitrust lawsuit in
the District Court. These lawsuits are called the “foreign customer lawsunts ”? The first
complaint, entitled Ferromin International Trade Corporation, et al. v. UCAR International Inc.,
et al., was filed by 27 steelmakers and related parties, all but one of whom are located outside the
U.S. The second complaint, entitled BHP New Zealand Ltd. et al. v. UCAR International Inc., et
al. was filed by 4 steelmakers, all of whom are located outside the U.S. The third complaint,
entitled Saudi Iron and Steel Company v. UCAR International Inc., et al., was filedbya
steelmaker who is located outside the U.S. The fourth complaint, entitled Arbed, S.A., et al. v.-
Mitsubishi Corporation, et al., was filed by 5 steelmakers, all of whom are located outside the
U.S. In each complaint, the plaintiffs allege that the defendants violated U.S. federal antitrust
law in connection with the sale of graphite electrodes sold or sourced from the U.S. and those
sold and sourced outside the U.S. The plaintiffs seek, among other things, an award of treble .
damages resulting from such alleged violations. We believe that we-have strong defenses against
claims alleging that purchases of graphite electrodes outside the U.S. are actionable under U.S.
federal antitrust law. We filed motions to dismiss the first and second complaints. In June and
July 2001, our motions to dismiss the first and second complaints were granted with respect to
substantially all of the plaintiffs’ claims. The claims not dismissed relate to sales invoiced from
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the U.S. Appeals have been filed by the plaintiffs and the defendants with the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the Third Circuit with regard to these dismissals. The U.S. Court of Appeals for the
Third Circuit heard oral argument on these appeals on March 11, 2003, and we are awaiting its
decision. The third complaint was dismissed without prejudice to refile pending the resolution of
such appeals. We filed a motion to stay the lawsuit commenced by the fourth complaint pending
resolution of appeals in the other foreign customer lawsuits, and such motion was granted in July
2002. :

In 1999 and 2000, we were served with three complaints commencing three civil antitrust
lawsuits (the “carbon electrode lawsuits”). The first complaint, filed in the District Court, is
entitled Globe Metallurgical, Inc. v. UCAR International Inc., et al. The second complaint,
initially filed in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Ohio and subsequently
transferred to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, is now
entitled Cohen & Co., Distribution Trustee v. UCAR International Inc., et al. (In re Simetco,
Inc.). The third complaint, filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of West
Virginia, is entitled Elkem Metals Company Inc and Elkem Metals Company Alloy LLP v. UCAR
Carbon Company Inc., et al. SGL Carbon AG is also named as a defendant in the first complaint
and SGL Carbon Corporation is also named as a defendant in the first and third complaints. In
the complaints, the plaintiffs allege that the defendants violated U.S. federal antitrust law in
connection with the sale of carbon electrodes and seek, among other things, an award of treble
damages resulting from such alleged violations. In October 2001, we settled the lawsuit
commenced by the third complaint. In September 2002, we settled the lawsuit commenced by
the first complaint. In January 2003, we settled the lawsuit commenced by the second complaint.
The guilty pleas and decisions described above do not relate to carbon electrodes.

In the 2002 first quarter, we and other producers of cathodes were served with a
complaint commencing a civil antitrust lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the District of
Oregon entitled Northwest Aluminum Company, et al. vs. VAW Aluminum A.G., et al (the
“carbon cathode lawsuit™). The complaint was filed by two producers of aluminum. In the
complaint, the plaintiffs allege that the defendants violated U.S. federal antitrust law in
connection with the sale of cathodes and seek, among other things, an award of treble damages
resulting from such alleged violations. In November 2002, we settled this lawsuit. The guilty
pleas and decisions described above do not relate to cathodes.

In late 2002 and early 2003, we and other producers of bulk graphite were served with
three complaints commencing three civil class action antitrust lawsuits. The first complaint,
filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of New Jersey (the “NJ District Court”), was
entitled Industrial Graphite Products, Inc. v. Carbone Lorraine North America Corporation, et
al. The second complaint, filed in the NJ District Court, was entitled Ceradyne, Inc. v. Carbone
Lorraine North America Corporation, et al. The third complaint, filed in the District Court, was
entitled General Refractories Company v. GrafTech International Ltd., et al. Subsequently in
early 2003, the third complaint was dismissed by the District Court without prejudice, and we
and other producers of bulk graphite were served with two additional complaints commencing
civil class action antitrust lawsuits. The complaints were filed in the NJ District Court and were
entitled General Refractories Company v. GrafTech International Ltd., et al. and Midwest
Graphite Co., Inc. v. SGL Carbon, LLC, et al.. The lawsuits commenced by the first, second,
fourth and fifth complaints, along with a lawsuit commenced by a sixth complaint filed only
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against SGL Carbon, LLC, SGL Carbon A.G. and SGI Carbon GmbH, were subsequently
consolidated into a single class action lawsuit filed in April 2003 in the NJ District Court entitled
In re: Bulk [Extruded] Graphite Products Antitrust Litigation (the “bulk graphite lawsuit”). In
the bulk graphite lawsuit, the plaintiffs allege that the defendants violated U.S. federal antitrust
law in connection with the sale of bulk graphite and seek, among other things, an award of treble
damages resulting from such alleged violations. In the 2003 first half, we reached an agréement
to settle the bulk graphite lawsuit. See Note 19 for developments after December 31,2003
relatrng to the bulk graphite lawsuit.

The foreign customer lawsuits are still in their early stages. We have been vigorously-
defending, and intend to continue to vigorously defend, against these remaining lawsuits as well-
as all threatened lawsuits and possible unasserted claims. We may at any time, however, settle
these lawsuits as well as any threatened lawsuits and possible claims. It is possible that
additional civil antitrust lawsuits seeking, among other things, to recover damages could be
commenced against us in the U.S. and in other Jurrsd1ctrons

Antitrust Earnings Charges and Payments

We have recorded pretax charges of $382 million against results of operations as a
reserve for potential liabilities and expenses in connection with antitrust investigations and
related lawsuits and claims. The charges of $382 million are calculated on a basis that (i)
excludes, among other things, both actual and imputed interest on the DOJ antitrust fine and
actual interest, if any, on the EU antitrust fine after the Court’s decision on our appeal is issued
and becomes final and (ii) includes, among other things, the impact of changes in currency
exchange rates on the euro-denominated EU antitrust fine and interest accrued or to accrue on
the EU antitrust fine prior to the time the Court’s decision on our appeal is issued and becomes
final.

Despite the fact that a provisional payment of a fine is only provisional under European ‘
law, generally accepted accounting principles require a charge to be recorded to cover the full
amount of a provisional payment, to the extent that payment was not already covered by a _
reserve. In connection with the provisional payment that we made in February 2004 as described
in Note 19, we recorded a $32 million charge in the 2003 fourth quarter, which increased our

- estimate of the aggregate expenses for these liabilities from $350 million to $382 million. To the
extent that aggregate liabilities and expenses, net, are known or reasonably estimable, as of
December 31, 2003, $382 million represents our estimate of these liabilities and expenses. We
believe that the amount of the EU antitrust fine will be reduced on appeal. - To the extent that the
actual amount of the EU antitrust fine (after all appeals and including any interest thereon) is less
than the amount so provrsronally paid, any excess would be refunded to us.. To the extent that
such actual amount exceeds the amount so provisionally paid, we will be required to make an
additional payment equal to such excess. Such additional payment may require us to record an
additional charge.

Through December 31, 2003, we have paid an aggregate of $257 million of fines and net
settlements and expenses (of which $238 million has been applied against the reserve and $19
million of imputed interest (as described below) has not been applied against the reserve). In the
aggregate, the fines and net settlements and expenses are within the amounts we used to evaluate
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the aggregate charges of $382 million. Our insurance has not and will not materially cover
liabilities that have or may become due in connection with antitrust investigations or related
lawsuits or claims.

At December 31, 2003, $125 million remained in the reserve. At December 31, 2003, the
remaining . amount of the reserve was unfunded and was available for the DOJ antitrust fine, the
EU antitrust fine and other matters. The reserve does not cover interest on the DOJ antitrust fine
(including interest that, for accounting purposes, is imputed on the DOJ antitrust fine for the
period during which it is non-interest bearing). Such interest is recorded in interest expense on
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Interest accruing on the EU antitrust fine, if any,
after the date of the Court’s decision on our appeal will be recorded in interest expense.

Actual aggregate liabilities and expenses (including settled investigations, lawsuits and
claims as well as continuing investigations, pending appeals and unsettled pending, threatened
and possible lawsuits and claims mentioned above) could be materially higher than $382 million
and the timing of the payment thereof could be sooner than anticipated.

Other Proceedings Against Us

We are involved in various other investigations, lawsuits, claims and other legal
proceedings incidental to the conduct of our business. While it is not possible to determine the
ultimate disposition of each of them, we do not believe that their ultimate disposition will have a
material adverse effect on us.

Lawsuit Initiated by Us Against Our Former Parents

In February 2000, at the direction of a special committee of independent directors of
GTI’s Board of Directors, we commenced a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Southern
District of New York against our former parents, Mitsubishi and Union Carbide. The other
defendants named in the lawsuit include two of the respective representatives of Mitsubishi and
Union Carbide who served on GTI’s Board of Directors at the time of our 1995 leveraged equity
recapitalization, Hiroshi Kawamura and Robert D. Kennedy. Mr. Kennedy, who was a director
of GTI at the time the lawsuit was commenced, resigned as such on March 14, 2000.

In the lawsuit, we allege, among other things, that, in January 1995, Mitsubishi and
Union Carbide had knowledge of facts indicating that GTI had engaged in illegal graphite
electrode price fixing activities and that any determination of GTI’s statutory capital surplus
would be overstated as a result of those activities. We also allege that certain of their
representatives knew or should have known about those activities. In January 2000, Mitsubishi
was indicted by the DOJ on a one count charge of aiding and abetting violations of U.S. federal
antitrust law in connection with the sale of graphite electrodes. Mitsubishi entered a plea of not
guilty. In February 2001, a jury found Mitsubishi guilty of the charge. Mitsubishi entered into a
sentencing agreement with the DOJ, which was approved by the District Court, pursuant to
which Mitsubishi agreed to pay a fine of $134 million and not appeal its conviction. Mitsubishi
has also been named as a defendant in several civil antitrust lawsuits commenced by electric arc
furnace steel producers with respect to its alleged participation in those activities. In addition,
we allege that, in January 1995, GTI did not have the statutory capital surplus required to
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lawfully authorize the payments that GTI made to its former parents. We also allege that
Mitsubishi and Union Carbide were unjustly enriched by receipts from their investments in GTI
and that they knowingly induced or actively and substantially assisted former senior management
of GTI to engage in illegal graphite electrode price fixing activities in breach of their fiduciary
duties to GTL ’

Based on the allegations summarized above, we are seeking to recover from Mitsubishi
- and Union Carbide more than $1.5 billion in damages, including interest. Some of our claims
provide for joint and several liability; however, damages from our various claims would not
generally be additive to each other.

The defendants have filed motions to dismiss this lawsuit and a motion to disqualify
certain of our counsel from representing us in this lawsuit. Oral hearings were held on those
motions in the 2001 first and second quarters. The court approved a motion to disqualify certain
of our counsel in November 2002, and denied our motion to reconsider that decision. See Note
19 for developments after December 31, 2003 relating to this lawsuit.

We expect to incur $10 million to $20 million for legal expenses to pursue this lawsuit
from the date of filing the complaint through appeal and ultimately to trial. Through
December 31, 2003, we had incurred about $6 million of these legal expenses. This lawsuit is in
its earliest stages. The ultimate outcome of this lawsuit is subject to many uncertainties. We
may at any time settle this lawsuit.

(15) Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated based upon the provisions of SFAS
No. 128, adopted in 1997, using the following share data:

2001 2002 2003

Weighted-average common shares outstanding for

basic calculation.........ccccevveiieiiieeeec e, 49,719,938 55,941,878 67,980,838
Add: Effect of stock options ......ccccoveerininnnnene. ~ - o
Weighted-average common shares outstanding,

adjusted for diluted calculation.................... 49,719,938 55,941,878 67,980,838

As a result of the net loss from operations reported in 2001, 2002 and 2003, 690,992,
779,051 and 508,215 potential common shares underlying dilutive securities have been excluded
from the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share because their effect would reduce the
loss per share. The calculation of weighted average common shares outstanding for the diluted
calculation excludes options for 5,243,593 shares in 2001, 5,524,535 shares in 2002 and
4,058,695 shares in 2003 because they were not dilutive due to the fact that the exercise prices
were greater than the weighted average market price of our common stock.

(16) Stockholder Righté Plan
Effective August 7, 1998, GTI adopted a Stockholder“Rights Plan (the “Rights Plan”).
Under the Rights Plan, one preferred stock purchase right (a “Right”) was distributed on
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September 21, 1998 to stockholders of record on August 20, 1998 as a dividend on each share of
common stock outstanding on the record date. Each share of common stock issued after the
record date is accompanied by a Right.

When a Right becomes exercisable, it entitles the holder to buy one one-thousandth of a
share of a new series of preferred stock for $110. The Rights are subject to adjustment upon the
occurrence of certain dilutive events. The Rights will become exercisable only when a person or
group becomes the beneficial owner of 15% or more of the outstanding shares of common stock
or 10 days after a person or group announces a tender offer to acquire beneficial ownership of
15% or more of the outstanding shares of common stock. No certificates representing the Rights
will be issued, and the Rights are not transferable separately from the common stock, unless the
Rights become exercisable.

Under certain circumstances, holders of Rights, except a person or group described above
and certain related parties, will be entitled to purchase shares of common stock (or, in certain
circumstances, other securities or assets) at 50% of the price at which the common stock traded
prior to the acquisition or announcement (or 50% of the value of such other securities or assets).
In addition, if GTI is acquired after the Rights become exercisable, the Rights will entitle those
holders to buy the acquiring company’s common shares at a similar discount.

GTl is entitled to redeem the Rights for one cent per Right prior to the time when the
Rights become exercisable. If not redeemed, the Rights will expire on August 7, 2008.

The preferred stock issuable upon exercise of Rights consists of Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share, of GTI. In general, each share of that
preferred stock will be entitled to a minimum preferential quarterly dividend payment equal to
the greater of $10.00 per share or 1,000 times the quarterly dividend declared on the common
stock, will be entitled to a liquidation preference of $110,000 and will have 1,000 votes, voting
together with the common stock.

(17) Financial Information About the Parent, the Issuer, the Guarantors and the
Subsidiaries Whose Securities Secure the Senior Notes and Related Guarantees

On February 15, 2002, GrafTech Finance (the “Issuer”) issued $400 million aggregate
principal amount of Senior Notes and, on May 6, 2002, $150 million aggregate principal amount
of additional Senior Notes. The Senior Notes have been guaranteed on a senior basis by GTI (the
“Parent”) and GrafTech Global, UCAR Carbon and other subsidiaries that together hold a
substantial majority of our U.S. assets. The other subsidiaries are UCAR International
Holdings Inc., UCAR International Trading Inc., UCAR Carbon Technology LLC, UCAR
Composites Inc. and UCAR Holdings III Inc. The guarantors (other than the Parent) are
collectively called the “U.S. Guarantors.” The guarantees of the Parent and the U.S. Guarantors
are unsecured, except that the guarantee of UCAR Carbon has been secured by a junior pledge of
all of the AET Pledged Stock, subject to the limitation that in no event will the value of the
pledged portion of the AET Pledged Stock exceed 19.99% of the principal amount of the then
outstanding Senior Notes. All of the guarantees are full, unconditional and joint and several, and
the Issuer and each of the U.S. Guarantors are 100% owned by the Parent. Our other subsidiaries,
which are not guarantors, are called the “Non-Guarantors.” The following table sets forth
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condensed consolidating balance sheets at December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2003 and
condensed consolidating statements of operations and cash flows for each of the years in the
period ended December 31, 2003 of the Parent, the Issuer, the U.S. Guarantors and the Non-
Guarantors. Provisions in the Senior Facilities restrict the payment of dividends by our
subsidiaries to the Parent. At December 31, 2003, retained earnings of our subsidiaries subject to
such restrictions were approximately $598 million. Investments in subsidiaries are recorded on
the equity basis. See Note 18 for a discussion regarding discontinued operations.
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

at December 31, 2003
At December 31, 2003
US. Non-
Parent Issuer Guarantors Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .........cc.ccoooenn $ - $ 13§ - 3 21 g - 8 34
Accounts and notes receivable, net............. 2 893 392 114 (1,275) 126
Inventories:
Raw materials and supplies - - 2 45 - 47
Work in process......ccoeveeeennn. - - 32 87 4 123
Finished goods.......ccccovemvenronincannnnns - — 8 29 (3) 34
- - 42 161 1 204
Prepaid expenses (including deferred
INCOME LAXES) .o veveerreinreeieieiesierenceeesrnecans - ~ 10 27 (13) 24
Total current assets ........ccooueveecrnerveneas 2 906 444 323 (1,287) 388
Net fixed aSSetS.....ccovvieiurirnririrreirenreirrevireenans - - 36 307 2) 34
Deferred income taxes, goodwill and other
BSSELS vvevireereerieeriterr e ere e ece e aenrrenaaenan 48 30 (84) 138 106 238
Total aSSetS ..o $ 50 $ 936 § 396 § 768 §  (1,183) 8 967
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’
EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable. ..o, $ 61 $ 20§ 178 % 79 S (240) § 98
Short-term debt.......cccovicniiiinnnnnnenens 188 14 297 526 (1,024) 1
Accrued income and other taxes................. (13) 19 - 24 1 31
Other accrued Habilities......ccoccvviinecrierenns — - 115 51 2) 164
Liabilities of discontinued operations......... — — 2 — (2) -
Total current liabilities..........c..ccevenee.. 236 53 592 680 (1,267) 294
Long-term debt......c.ocecvovieenriicierinc e, (58) 558 - 3 (1) 502
Other long-term obligations...........ccoceeviivernne ~ 50 125 49 { 225
Deferred income taxes........c.coeeeivenereinicieennen - 1 - 56 14) 43
Minority stockholders’ equity in consolidated
ETLEITIES +vivvaeeeieeieie e et et sr e eean e raeeens - - - 31 - 31
Stockholders’ equity {deficit) .......coeerirrninne (128) 274 (321) (51) 98 (128)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
(AefiCit) oo $ 50 $ 936 $ 396 $ 768 0§ (1,183) § 967
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDJARIES

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
at December 31, 2002

At December 31, 2002

US. Non-
Parent Issuer Guarantors Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
ASSETS

Current Assets: )

- .. ..Cash and cash equivalents...........cc.cccoue., $ - $ - 3 4 3 7 $ - % 11
Accounts and notes receivable, net.......... = 752 - 466 -~ 255 - .(1,369) _ ... 104 .
Inventories: : : -

Raw materials and supplies............... - - 2 38 1) 39

Work in process ........cocccervrevccnnnennnn. - - 30 71 1 102

Finished goods.....coooevieiirie — - 10 23 (3) 30

---- - - 42 132 3 171
Prepaid-expenses (including deferred

INCOME 1AXES ..vevctieeerieienieeirceier e — - 3 13 - 21

- Assets of discontinued operations............. - - 14 - - 14

Total current assets .......cc.ceoveeeerecnns - 752 534 407 (1,372) 321

Net fiXed aSSetS .oovviriivrieree i ireeriireeresreeraens - - 36 268 . 4) 300

Deferred income taxes, goodwill and other .

ABSEES et 47 34 (33) 120 70 238
Total assets $ 47 $ 786 % 537 § 795 $  (1,306) S 859
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’

EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities: :
Accounts payable $ 21 $ 26 % 30 § 89 $ 6l) s 105
Short-term debt........c.ococoviericecnn. 416 - 231 668 (1,297) 18
Accrued income and other taxes ............... (24) 3) 36 18 4) 23
Other accrued liabilities .......cc........ e - - 36 39 (18) 57
Liabilities of discontinued operations ....... - — 3 - - 3
Total current liabilities..............cc.u.... 413 23 336 g4 (1,380) 206
Long-term debt .....coovvvniveiiriiicricceee, - 711 - 2 - 713
Other long-term obligations............cccervcreennn, - 9 203 45 1 258
Deferred income taxes .........coovvvrvreerrnene, - ') (1) 36 3 .33
Minority stockholders’ equity in
consolidated entities........c..ccccererricnrinennnns, - - - 30 - 30
Stockholders’ equity (deficit).......cccoerrrirnnne (366) 48 (1) (132) 70 (381)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
(AefiCit) oot $ 47 3 786 § 537§ 795 $ (306 3 859
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003

Us. Non-
Parent Issuer Guarantors  Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)

NEL SALES .ocrovrreeiirenerirnrceresnreerreeeies s eesae s s s e $ - $ - § 234§ 629 % (151) 3 712
Cost of sales.......coovrrreercnnecrernennen s - - 186 509 (151) 544
Gross Profit. ..o - - 48 120 - 168

Research and development, selling,
administrative and other expenses,

. restructuring charges, impairment losses on
long-lived and other assets, restricted stock
vesting, antitrust investigations and related
lawsuits and claims, corporate realignment and
related expenses, and other (income) expenses,

TIEL . everteceveneeere sttt 2 (32) 115 58 - 143
Interest income 3) (60) - - 63 -
Interest expense 36 45 - 27 (63) 45

Loss from continuing operations before

provision for (benefit from) income taxes ....... (3%) 47 67) 35 - (20)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes............... (108) 21 76 16 - 5
' Loss from continuing operations before
MINOTILY INEETESt..eveieeirevereiesr e e 73 26 (143) 19 - 25)
Minority stockholders’ share of income.................. - - - 1 - 1
Income from discontinued operations,

NEL OF tAXES....otvei it - - 1 - - 1
Gain on sale of discounted operations,

NEt OFtAXES...oveiircriireieireeeecere e s - - 1 - - 1
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries............ccoccorveue. 97 — (18) - (79) —

Net income (1088)......cecrvirererrevverenrennerererernns $ (24)3 26 $ (123) § 18 § 79 . $ (24)
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
(continued)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2002

Us. Non-
Parent Issuer Guarantors  Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)

NE SIS oo 'S - s - % 201§ 5290 $  (144) S 596
Cost of sales ~ — 175 408 (122) 461
GrosS PIOfIt ..ccveoeiiiieieicicer et ~ - 36 121 (22) 135

Research and development, selling,
administrative and other expenses,
restructuring charges, impairment losses on
long-lived and other assets, restricted stock
vesting, antitrust investigations and related
lawsuits and claims, corporate realignment and
related expenses, and other (income) expenses,
net ... .

Interest income

Interest eXpense ..o
Loss from continuing operations before

provision for (benefit from) income taxes......

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes..............
Loss from continuing operations before

MINOTILY INEETESE ..uviviiveeerr et

Minority stockholders’ share of income.................

Income from discontinued operations ....................

Equity in earnings of subsidiaries .....c..c.ccocereerecnn,

Net income (108S) o.vvevivvreeeriveierieirnineereeenns




GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003
(continued)

For the Year Ended December 31, 2001

US. Non-
Parent Issuer Guarantors  Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)

NEt SALES ..vcveeiirecreiceree et $ - $ - % 226 % 547 % (139) % 634
Cost of sales - — 201 372 (118) 455

Gross profit - - 25 175 1) 179
Research and development, selling,

administrative and other expenses,

restructuring charges, impairment losses on

long-lived and other assets, restricted stock

vesting, antitrust investigations and related

lawsuits and claims, corporate realignment and

related expenses, and other (income) expenses,

TIEE 1ot den et e 4 2) 110 93 (13) 192
Interest income.... - (73) 4) 21 98 -
Interest expense 34 74 25 24 97) 60

Loss from continuing operations before '

provision for (benefit from) income taxes...... (38) 1 (106) 79 %) (73)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes.............. (15) — 8 21 — 14

Loss from continuing operations before :

TNINOTILY INETESE ...viv i crnerrricie e 23) 1 (114) 58 )] (87)
Minority stockholders’ share of income - - - 2 - 2
Income from discontinued operations ..........cc.veu.. - - 2 - - 2
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries ..........c.coceenunninn. 64 - 47y | - an -

_ Net income (108S) ..vovoveervreeenricieriree s .8 (87) $ J {65) 3 56 % 8§ 8 (87)
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
" for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003 -

" For the Year ended December 31, 2003

o Us. .- Nori- . . .
Parent Issuer Guarantors Guarantors  Eliminations . Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

from continuing OPerations.......c....o.ovovvververreeersunrnnes 228 $ 3 S @81 % 40 3 216) $ (26)
Net cash provided by operating activities from

discontinued operations............ s - - 1 - - 1
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities..... 228 3 (80) 40 (216) (25)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities...... - 97) 11 121 (57) (22)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities...... 228 107 65 (148) 273 69
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .. -~ 13 ) 13 - 22
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

EQUIVALEIILS. ... - -~ - 1 - 1
-Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ....... ~ —~ 4 7 - 11
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ................. - -3 13 8 -3 21 $ - 34

For the Year ended December 31, 2002
U.S. Non-
Parent Issuer Guarantors  Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities :

from continuing OPETatioNS........c....vevveereerenarsnseans 20) § 76 8 81 $§ . (188) % 9 3 (60)
Net cash provided by operating activities from

discontinued Operations........cc.curvrrecrrernreerercareens - - - - ~ -
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ..... (20) 76 81 (188) 9) (60)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities...... - 127 91 77 (345) (50)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ..... 20 (219) . (176) 100 354 79
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .. - (16) 4 490 - 31)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

SQUIVAIEIS. . eevevrrireerire et rcen - - - 4 - 4
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period-...... - 16 3 14 - 38
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ........c........ - $ - 3 4 8% 7 8 - 1

For the Year ended December 31, 2001
Us. Non-
Parent Issuer Guarantors  Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

from continuing OPErations.........c.evvereevrerriereereninn. (38) $ 15 3 183 § ©3) $ (83 $ 14
Net cash provided by operating activities from

discontinued OPerations ............cve.evveevverveerrrrinnns - - 3 - - 3
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ..... (38) 15 186 (63) (83) 17
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities...... - 18 (427) (71) 441 (39)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ..... 38 (48) 242 141 (358) 15
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .. - (15) 1 7 ~ )
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash )

CQUIVAIENLS. .o eeeceemreir e - - - (2) - 2)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period ....... - 31 7 9 - 47
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period ................ - $ 16 $ g8 % 14 3 - 38
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Unsecured intercompany term notes in an aggregate principal amount, at December 31,
2003, equal to $528 million (based on currency exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2003),
and guarantees of those unsecured intercompany term notes, issued to GrafTech Finance by
certain of our foreign subsidiaries have been pledged by GrafTech Finance to secure the Senior
Notes, subject to the limitation that at no time will the combined value of the pledged portion of
any foreign subsidiary’s unsecured intercompany term note and unsecured guarantee of
unsecured intercompany term notes issued by other foreign subsidiaries exceed 19.99% of the
principal amount of the then outstanding Senior Notes.

As described above, the guarantee of the Senior Notes by UCAR Carbon has been
secured by a pledge of all of the AET Pledged Stock, subject to the limitation that at no time will
the value of the pledged portion of the AET Pledged Stock exceed 19.99% of the principal
amount of the then outstanding Senior Notes.

Rule 3-16 of Regulation S-X adopted by the SEC provides that, for each of the
registrant’s affiliates whose securities constitute a “substantial” portion of the collateral for
registered securities, financial statements (that would be required to be filed if the affiliate were a
registrant) must be filed with an annual report on Form 10-K. Under Rule 3-16(b), securities of a
person will be deemed to constitute a “substantial” portion of the collateral if the aggregate
principal amount, par value, or book value of securities as carried by the registrant, or the market
value of such securities, whichever is the greatest, equals 20% or more of the principal amount of
the registered securities. In this case, the pledges of the AET Pledged Stock and the unsecured
intercompany term notes and related guarantees have been limited such that they will never be
more than 19.99% of the principal amount of the then outstanding Senior Notes. Therefore, no
such financial statements are required to be included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(18) Discontinued Operations

As part of our ongoing asset sale program, we sold our non-strategic composite tooling
business based in Irvine, California in June 2003 for approximately $16 million. This business
was previously included in “Other” for segment presentation in accordance with SFAS No. 131.
As a result, under SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets,” the composite tooling business is reflected as a discontinued operation. We have
reflected prior year results of the composite tooling business as a discontinued operation on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations and reclassified the assets and liabilities of the business
separately on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The following table sets forth the results of the discontinued operation.

For the Year Ended December 31,
2001 2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)

NEL SALES....covieiiieiicecit et $20 $17 $9
Income before provision for income taxes....... 3 2 1
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The following table sets forth the assets and liabilities of the discontinued operation.

December 31, December 31,
2002 2003
(Dollars in millions)

CUITENT ASSEES vevevvevieieereees e eeeeeeeteeeeetreneneas RTRURROR R $6 § -
Property, plant and equipment, NEt ............ccovvreeniiinnicninns _8 _
Total 8SSEtS....vceverrireeenreirirnaeieeiernn, $14 $ =
Current Habilities......ocociieiiiiice st var e $ 2 § -
Long-term Habilities.......o..ceevriieirercieririerieeeseeesee s 21 -
Total Habilities ...eevevieeeieeeieieieeeeee e eeeesireereereens $3 $_—

(19) Subsequent Events
Debenture Offering

On January 22, 2004, GTI issued $225 million aggregate principal amount of Debentures.
Interest on the Debentures is payable semi-annually on January 15 and July 15 of each year,
commencing July 15, 2004, at the rate of 1.625% per annum. The Debentures mature on
January 15, 2024, unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased. The net proceeds from the
offering were approximately $217 million. We used the net proceeds to repay the remaining $21
million of term loans outstanding under the Senior Facilities and to-make a provisional payment
of $72 million to the EU Competition Authority against the EU antitrust fine. We intend to use
the balance for general corporate purposes, including replacement of financing previously
provided by factoring of accounts receivable and strategic acquisitions that are complementary to
our businesses. Pending use for a specific corporate purpose, we intend to initially use the net
proceeds to reduce the outstanding balance under the Revolving Facility, if any, and, to the
extent that at the time there is no such amount outstanding, to invest in short-term, investment
quality, interest-bearing securities or deposits.

A holder of Debentures may convert its Debentures into shares of our common stock at a
conversion rate of 60.3136 shares per $1,000 principal amount (equal to a conversion price of
approximately $16.58 per share), subject to adjustment upon certain events, only under the
following circumstances:

e prior to January 15, 2019, in any fiscal quarter after the fiscal quarter ending
March 31, 2004, if the last reported sale price of our common stock for at least 20
trading days during the 30 consecutive trading days ending on the first trading day of
such fiscal quarter is greater than 125% of the then current conversion price;

¢ onor after January 15, 2019, at any time after the last reported sale price of our
common stock on any date is greater than 125% of the then current conversion price;

¢ during the 5 business days after any 10 consecutive trading days in which the trading
price per $1,000 principal amount of Debentures for each such trading day was less
than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our common stock and the
then current conversion rate;
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o ifthe credit rating or ratings on the Debentures are reduced by two rating categories
below those initially assigned to the Debentures by S&P and Moody’s;

e if the Debentures are called for redemption; or
¢ upon the occurrence of certain corporate transactions.

Upon conversion, GTI will have the right to deliver, in lieu of shares of our common
stock, cash or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock.

Prior to January 15, 2011, GTI may redeem the Debentures, in whole or in part, at any
time, for cash at a redemption price equal to 100% of principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid
interest and liquidated damages, if any, only if the last reported sale price of our common stock
has exceeded 125% of the then current conversion price for at least 20 trading days during the 30
consecutive trading days ending on the trading day prior to the date on which we mail the notice
of redemption. If GTI so redeems the Debentures, GTI will make an additional “make whole”
payment in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination thereof on the redeemed
Debentures equal to the present value of all remaining scheduled payments of interest on the
redeemed Debentures through January 15, 2011. On or after January 15, 2011, GTI may redeem
the Debentures, in whole or in part, at any time, for cash at a redemption price equal to 100% of
principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated damages, if any.

A holder may require GTI to repurchase some or all of its Debentures on (i) January 15,
2011, January 15, 2014 or January 15, 2019, or (ii) if we experience a “fundamental change” ata
repurchase price equal to 100% of principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest and
liquidated damages, if any. For this purpose, a fundamental change occurs on:

» the date on which any person beneficially owns more that 35% of the total voting
power of GTI; ’

e the date on which individuals, who on the issuance date of the Debentures were
directors of GTI (or individuals nominated or elected by a vote of two-thirds of such
directors previously so elected and nominated) cease to constitute a majority of GTI’s
Board of Directors then in office; ’

s the date on which a plan relating to the liquidation or dissolution of GTI is adopted;
o the date on which GTI merges or consolidates with or into another person, or another
person merges into GTL, or all or substantially all of GTI’s assets are sold

(determined on a consolidated basis), with certain specified exceptions;

o the date on which GTI ceases to own, directly or indirectly, all of the voting power of
GrafTech Global, UCAR Carbon or GrafTech Finance; or

¢ subject to certain exceptions, the date on which our common stock ceases to be listed
on a U.S. national or regional securities exchange or approved for trading on the
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NASDAQ National Market or similar system of automated dissemination of
quotations of securities prices.

We may, at our option, pay the repurchase price in cash, shares of our common stock or a
combination thereof, except that we will pay accrued and unpaid interest and liquidated
damages, if any, in cash.

The Debentures are general unsecured senior obligations of GTI and rank equally with
present and future senior debt of GTI. The Debentures rank senior to any subordinated debt of
GTI and are effectively subordinated to any secured debt of GTI, to the extent of the value of the
assets securing such debt.

GrafTech Finance, GrafTech Global and UCAR Carbon and other U.S. subsidiaries that
together hold a substantial majority of our U.S. assets have guaranteed the Debentures on a
senior unsecured basis. Each subsidiary guarantee is a general unsecured senior obligation of the
subsidiary guarantor and ranks equally with any present and future senior debt of the subsidiary
guarantor. Each subsidiary guarantee ranks senior to any subordinated debt of the subsidiary
guarantor and is effectively subordinated to any secured debt of the subsidiary guarantor, to the
extent of the value of the assets securing such debt. The Debentures and each subsidiary
guarantee are structurally subordinated to present and future debt and other obligations of each
subsidiary of GTI that is not a subsidiary guarantor.

Each of the guarantees of the Debentures is full, unconditional joint and severable.
Payment under the Debentures could be required immediately upon the occurrence of any event
of default under the Debentures. If a guarantor makes a payment under its guarantee, it would
have the right under certain circumstances to seek contribution from the other guarantors.

“In addition to the failure to pay principal and interest (including liquidated damages, if
any) on the Debentures when due or to repurchase the Debentures when required, events of
default under the Debentures include: failure to deliver shares of our common stock, cash or
other property upon conversion of the Debentures; failure to pay at maturity or upon acceleration
of indebtedness exceeding $10 million to the extent not covered by insurance; and certain events
involving bankruptcy.

We have agreed to file a shelf registration statement under the Securities Act covering
resales of the Debentures and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion, redemption
or repurchase thereof (including upon payment of any “make whole” payment). If the
registration statement is not filed by April 21, 2004 or has not become effective by July 20, 2004,
we have agreed to pay liquidated damages to holders of Debentures. Liquidated damages will be
paid semi-annually in arrears on each January 15 and July 15 and will accrue at a rate per annum
not to exceed 0.50% of principal amount or the then current conversion price, as applicable.
Under certain circumstances, GTT has the right to suspend resales under the registration
statement.

Bank Amendment

In January 2004, the Senior Facilities were amended to, among other things:
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e permit the issuance and sale of the Debentures and the related subsidiary guarantees;

¢ permit use of the net proceeds from the issuance and sale of the Debentures without
any otherwise required reduction in funds available under the Revolving Facility
(except that the €25 million of availability under the Revolving Facility reserved for
use solely to pay or secure payment of the EU antitrust fine was eliminated, which
reduced our availability under the Revolving Facility from €200 million to €175
million); and

e provide additional flexibility to make investments (including repurchases in 2004 of
up to $50 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes with the net proceeds).

EU Antitrust Fine

In February 2004, we posted a $72 million provisional payment with the EU Competition
Authority against the EU antitrust fine. The provisional payment included $9 million for accrued
interest for the period from October 2001 to the date of the provisional payment at the rate of
6.04% per annum. The EU Competition Authority has advised us that its position is that the
provisional payment should have included accrued interest at the rate of 8.04% per annum. We
have advised the EU Competition Authority that we disagree with its position and will file an
interim appeal challenging its position, if necessary. .

A provisional payment constitutes the furnishing of cash collateral intended to secure
payment to the EU Competition Authority of a fine and any interest thereon that is ultimately
determined to be due, is not an admission of or acquiescence to any liability and will not
prejudice our appeal challenging, among other things, the amount of the EU antitrust fine. We
will earn interest on the amount paid at an annual rate of 2.1% until the Court’s decision on our
main appeal challenging, among other things, the amount of the EU antitrust fine, including the
accrual of interest and the rate thereof is issued and becomes final. Such payment does not
reflect a change in our assessment of the outcome of our appeal.

In connection with our provisional payment, we withdrew the interim appeal that we had
filed in September 2003 to the Court to waive the requirement for provisional payment of the EU
antitrust fine or delivery of a letter of credit as collateral security for payment thereof or to allow
us to provide alternative security for payment during the period prior to the Court’s decision on
our main appeal.

Bulk Graphite Lawsuit

In March 2004, the NJ District Court approved the agreement that we had reached in the
2003 first half to settle the bulk graphite lawsuit.

Antitrust Earnings Charges and Payments

At December 31, 2003, after giving effect to our provisional payment of $72 million to
the EU Competition Authority against the EU antitrust fine, $53 million remained in our reserve
for potential liabilities and expenses in connection with antitrust investigations and related
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lawsuits and claims. The rémaining-amount of the reserve is unfunded and is available for the
DOJ antitrust fine and other matters.

- Lawsuit Initiated by Us Against Our Former Parents

In January 2004, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York granted
the defendants” motion to dismiss the lawsuit we commenced against our former parents,
- Mitsubishi and Union Carbide. We have appealed the grant of the motion to dismiss as well as
the grant in November 2002 of a motion to disqualify certain of our counsel to the U.S. Second
Circuit Court of Appeals.

Financial Information About the Issuer Parent and the Guarantors Relating to the
Debentures

On January 22, 2004, GrafTech International Ltd. (the “Issuer Parent”) issued
$225 million aggregate principal amount of Debentures. The Debentures have been guaranteed
on a senior basis by GrafTech Finance, GrafTech Global, UCAR Carbon and other subsidiaries
that together hold a substantial majority of our U.S. assets. The other subsidiaries are UCAR
International Holdings Inc., UCAR International Trading Inc., UCAR Carbon Technology LLC
and UCAR Holdings III Inc. The guarantors are collectively called the “U.S. Guarantors.” The
guarantees of the U.S. Guarantors are unsecured. All of the guarantees are full, unconditional and
joint and several, and the U.S. Guarantors are 100% owned by the Issuer Parent. Our other
subsidiaries, which are not guarantors, are called the “Non-Guarantors.” The following table
sets forth condensed consolidating balance sheets at December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2003
and condensed consolidating statements of operations and cash flows for each of the years in the
period ended December 31, 2003 of the Issuer Parent, the U.S. Guarantors and the Non-
Guarantors.-Provisions in the Senior Facilities restrict the payment of dividends by our
subsidiaries to the Issuer Parent. At December 31, 2003, retained earnings of our subsidiaries
subject to such restrictions were approximately $598 million. Investments in subsidiaries are
recorded on the equity basis. See Note 18 for a discussion regarding discontinued operations.
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

at December 31, 2003
At December 31, 2003
Issuer US. Non-
Parent Guarantors ~ Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalentS......ccoocoerveivieiecrieninnn, b3 - § 13 % 21 3 - $ 34
Accounts and notes receivable, net...........ccc.covevennn.. 2 1,285 114 (1,275) 126
Inventories:
Raw materials and supplies ... ~ 2 45 - 47
WOTK IN PIOCESS....ovvivcrein oo ierenr e - 32 87 4 123
Finished g00ds........cccoorvimvvinvininiiinecveenans ~ 8 29 3) 34
~ 42 161 1 204
Prepaid expenses and deferred income taxes............. - 10 27 (13) 24
Current assets of discontinued operations ................. - - - - -
Total current assets........ocovevoevioeervcreicneennas 2 1,350 323 (1,287) 388
Net fixed assets - 36 307 (2) 341
Deferred income taxes and other assets 48 (54) 138 106 238
TOLAL ASSELS evrivcveererieer et e teee et e s $ 50 % 1,332 % 768 §  (1,183) $§ 967
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
AcCOUnts payable .......cccocvreeiiecriecer et $ 61 $ 198 § 79 (240) $ 98
SHOrt-1erm debl.....ccoiciiiiiir i sricisarnerasaesans 188 311 526 (1,024) 1
Accrued income and other taxes......ccoovcvvrvcernrinnnne (13) 19 24 1 31
Other accrued Habilities.........co.overveveroeiecereeesenenas ~ 115 51 ) 164
Current liabilities of discontinued operations............ - 2 - (2) -
Total current Habilities ....cccoovvvecnircrinenennienn, 236 645 680 (1,267) 294
Long-term debt........coovvineirnciireeceeee (58) 558 3 (1) 502
Other long-term obligations ................. . . - 175 49 1 225
Deferred inCOME taXeS......occrvverirveiereniere i - 1 56 (14) 43
Minority stockholders’ equity in consolidated entities.... -~ - 31 - 31
Stockholders’ equity (deficit).......cociiirciioiicsiinacrinennns (128) “7) (51) 98 (128)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)..... $ 50 % 1,332 8 768 §  (1,183) § 967
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

at December 31, 2002
At December 31, 2002
Issuer UsS. Non-
Parent Guarantors Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
ASSETS
Current Assets: )
Cash and cash equivalents ........c..oovvereeeeremnrerenseas $ - 8 4 S 7 8 - 3 11
-Accounts and notes receivable, N6t .........oovereeveenn, -~ 1,218 255 (1,369) 104
Inventories:
Raw materials and supplies.......coocccvnvcennnenn - 2. 38 1) 39
Work in process - - 30 71 1 102
Finished g200ds .....c.occvenviirinnnne — 10 23 . . (3) 30.
' - 42 . 132 3) 171
Prepaid expenses and deferred income taxes........... -~ 8 ‘ 13 - 21
Current assets of discontinued operations................ ~ 14 - - 14
Total current assets ...o..oovvicerrervrirercmenviecceinnnnn, -~ 1,286 407 (1,372) 321
Net fIXEA BSSELS ..vvvvrernrveerernreceesesecesseressesrssene - 36 268 ) 300
Deferred income taxes and other assets ......c.cccoveveenenne, 47 1 120 70 238
Total A8SEtS ..ovcviiiicieerete e eaes SRITRRIY $ 47 3 1,323 § 795 0§ (1,306) -$ 859
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
AcCoUnts Payable.....ovveveerinneceiminreeieresenerernenen e $ 21§ 56§ 89 3 61) $ 105
Short-term debt ..o 416 231 668 (1,297) 18
Accrued income and other taxes..... 24) 33 18 ) 23
Other accrued liabilitles ........ccocovvicveicenricvecieneenenne - 36 39 (18) 57
Current liabilities of discontinued operations .......... ~ 3 - -~ 3
Total current HabilitieS.....c.ocovvvreveeccinerirannen, 413 359 814 (1,380 - 206
Long-term debt .......cocvmrveiiinmcn e, - 7t 2 ~ 713
Other long-term obligations.........coueeveeinivscnre e, - 212 45 1 258
Deferred inCOmMeE 1aXES .o.vvoververeevrrrreriorcareininrscriennenon, - 6) 36 3 33
Minority stockholders’ equity in consolidated entities .. - - 30 - 30
Stockholders’ equity {(deficit) ......cccvvveiirreveiirnererenienn, (366) 47 (132) 70 (381)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) ... $ 47 1,323 8§ 795§ (1,306) $ 859

181




GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

NEE SALES .evvicvreirerrereseir et err et s e reees e sreeerassae e seesaseasens

Cost OF SAES ...viviie s
Gross profit
Research and development, selling, administrative and
other expenses, restructuring charges, impairment
losses on long-lived and other assets, restricted stock
vesting, antitrust investigations and related lawsuits
and claims, corporate realignment and related
expenses, and other (income) expenses, net..................
INTETESE INCOMIE. .v.vuvereeereesieieeas v s eaessnnscseens
Interest Xpense. .....cccvvvevvvenrinecnnine et e e s
Income (loss) before provision for (benefits from)
INCOMIE tAXES.cvvirereverireeentiere e ese e sees e eraesenene
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes...........ccoeeeeennnee
Income (loss) of consolidated entities.........cocecvnrirerneeee
Minority stockholders’ share of income...........coeveenvenien
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes...........
Gain on sale of discounted operations, net of taxes...........
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
Net inComMe (J0SS) cuviveveviverierrieseesieresesaetessnesesases

For the Year Ended December 31, 2003

Issuer Us. Non-
Parent Guarantors Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
- $ 234 § 629 $ (151) § 712
- 186 509 (151) 544
- 48 120 - 168
2 83 58 — 143
(&) (60) - 63 ~-
36 45 27 (63) 45
3%5) (20) 35 - 20)
(108) 97 16 — 5
73 (117) 19 - 25)
- - 1 - 1
- 1 ~ - 1
- 1 - - 1
97 (18) — (79) -
(24) b 97) § 18 § 79 3 (24)
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

(continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2002
(Dollars in miflions)
Issuer US. Nown-
Parent Guarantors Guarantors  Eliminations ~ Consolidated
NEE SALES .ovviviirieiicrcecrei sttt s et e eraneens $ - 8§ 211§ 529 % (144) § 596
Cost 0 sales .....corvneinirriniiiinaiins heterrne e rne s trasenatas — 175 408 (122) 461
GTOSS PIOIt....eiriceiirercere sttt ae e cre v - 36 o121 22) o 135
Research and development, selling, administrative and
other expenses, restructuring charges, impairment
losses on long-lived and other assets, restricted stock
vesting, antitrust investigations and related lawsuits
and claims, corporate realignment and related :
expenses, and other (income) expenses, net .................. 7 37 23 115 108
Interest INCOME .......cveviecvrriciii e ~ (59) 4) 63 ) -
Interest expense : 21 67 35 (63) 60
Income (loss) before provision for (benefits from)
IMCOME tAXES ... ivuiercerreereeir ettt eeteseseeteemsaeeesnns (28) 65 67 . (137) - (33)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes...........cconn..... - (10) (25) 19 - (16)
Income (loss) of consolidated entities ............ccouvevneen.e. (18) 90 43 137y 17)
Minority stockholders’ share of income............. CT - - 2 - 2
Income from discontinued operations ............ccceveecvennnn. - 1 - - 1
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries..........c.ccverveeneirrininnne. — 91 — .(91)

Net 1000ME (J08S)...vevrvvrrreriererereirenscsseesscereeseesiiss $ as) s - 8 46 3 (46) % (18)




GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

(continued)
For the Year Ended December 31, 2001
Issuer Us. Non-
Parent  Guarantors Guarantors  Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
NEt SALES co.virci ettt s et ens $ - $ 226 $ 547 $ (139) $ 634
Cost of sales ....ovviiverivcvcieinn: erees ety ~ - 201 372 (118) 455
GIOSS PIOfit...c.ccrieiiiccriecree et renseenee e - 25 175 - @1 179
Research and development, selling, administrative and N ‘
other expenses, restructuring charges, impairment
losses on long-lived and other assets, restricted stock
vesting, antitrust investigations and related lawsuits
and claims, corporate realignment and related
expenses, and other (income) expenses, net .................. 4 108 - 93 (13) 192
INterest iNCOME .......cooeeviieviieiireere e eas et - a7 21) 98 -
Interest expense 34 99 24 57 60
Income (loss) before provision for (benefits from)
INCOME 1AXES.0rveerrerrrsueeererreassensieseresesrssererssrsssesesenens (38) (105) 79 9) 73)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes..........cooeeune... - (15) 8 21 - C 14
Income (loss) of consolidated entities 23) (113) 58 9) (873
Minority stockholders’ share of income - - : -2 = 2
Income from discontinued operations - 2 - = 2
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries........................ eerveerarns 64 (47) - 17) -
Net income (1088)..vvvvvrrenrverieerieiereecrsosersesereressenns $ 387) % (64) $ 56 $ 8 $ _ (87)
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GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from
CONtINUING OPETALIONS ... vt veeceremniresiee e ssess s stssseveseassssesans

Net cash provided by operating activities from

discontinued Operations ...........cooooveeeririeneionns .
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities ....

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .....

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents..............

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
CONINUING OPETationS........c.vocecenrenerircrercirerernnas
Net cash provided by operating activities from

discontinued OPerations ..........ccvvvereinnenininnnnens
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ...
~ Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

"Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

from

from

CONHUNUING OPETALIONS ....c.vieenerenirveeirtrteee et renreseresenenassenenerens

Net cash provided by operating activities from

discontinued OPETAtIoNS ........... vcrrrmcnerrorsirirrearerressersonens

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities.................

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents..............

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash

EQUIVAIEIS ...t es et nesenns

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period.

. Cash and cash equivalents at end of period.........c.cconnrrnnenenn,

For the Year ended December 31, 2003

Issuer U.S. Non- :
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations  Consolidated
{Dollars in millions)
228 $ 78). §- 40 $ (216) $ . (26)
- 1 - - 1
228 an 40 (216~ " 7 (25Y
—~ (86) “121- - (57) T 22)
228 172 (148) . 273 .69,
- 9 13 ~ 22
- ‘ - 1 - 1
— 4 ‘ 7 — 11
- 3 13 s 20 8. - % 34
‘For the Year ended December 31, 2002
Issuer US. -Non- o :
Parent Guarantors Guarantors’ . Eliminations  Consolidated
(Dollars in millions) '
(20) $ 157 8§ (188) 3 9) $ (60)
(20) 157 (188) ©) (60)
— . 218 - 77 (345) (50)
(20) (395) 100 354 v .79
- (20) (11) - (31)
_ 7 i ) _ ) - 4 ’ _ w ] 4 !
- 24 . 38
— $ . 4 3 .7 $ - B IRY
For the Year ended December 31, 2001
Issuer Us. Non- .
Parent Guarantors Guarantors Eliminations Consolidated
(Dollars in millions)
(38) $ 198 3 (63) $ (83) $ 14
~ 3 - - 3
(38) 201 (63) (83) 17
— (409) 7 441 3%
38 194 141 (358) 15
- (14) 7 - &)
- - (2) - )
~ 38 9 ~ 47
— $ 24 3 14 $ — b 38




Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period
covered by this Report, and, based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that these controls and procedures are effective. There were no
significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these
controls subsequent to the date of that evaluation.

Disclosure controls and procedures are our controls and other procedures that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or
submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
our Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

A control system is subject to inherent limitations and, as a result, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the system’s objectives will be achieved. In the first
instance, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints,
and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Further, decision-making
in connection with system design or operation can be faulty, and breakdowns can occur because
of simple error or mistake. In addition, controls can be circumvented by the acts of single
individuals, by collusion of two or more individuals, or by management override of the controls.
The design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in
achieving its stated objectives under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance
with policies or procedures. In light of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
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PART 111
Items 10 to 14 (inclusive).

Except as set forth below, the information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 will
appear in the GrafTech International Ltd. Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on May 26, 2004, which will be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and is incorporated by reference in this Report pursuant to
General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K (other than the portions thereof not deemed to be “filed”
for the purpose of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). In addition, the

.information set forth below is provided as required by Item 10 and the listing standards of the
NYSE.

Executive Officers and Diféctors :

The following table sets forth information with respect to our current executive officers
and directors, including their ages, as of March 1, 2004. There are no family relationships
between any of our executive officers.

Name Age Position

Craig S. Shular.................. 51 Chief Executive Officer, President and Director

Scott C. Mason.................. 45 President, Synthetic Graphite Line of Business

John J. Wetula................... 45 President, Natural Graphite Line of Business

Corrado F. De Gasperis.... 38 Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Information
C o Officer - ‘

Karen G. Narwold............. 44  Vice President, General Counsel, Human Resources and

. , ) : Secretary

Gilbert E. Playford............ 56 Chairman of the Board

R. Eugene Cartledge ........ . 74 Director

Mary B. Cranston.............. 56 Director

John R. Hall.........ccen 71 Director

Harold E. Layman............. 57 Director

Ferrell P. McClean............ 57 Director

Michael C. Nahl................ 61 Director

Executive Officers

Craig S. Shular became Chief Executive Officer and a director in January 2003 and has
served as President since May 2002. From May 2002 through December 2002, he also served as
Chief Operating Officer. From August 2001 to December 2002, he served as Executive Vice

_President of our former Graphite Power Systems Division. He served as Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer from January 1999, with the additional duties of Executive Vice
President, Electrode Sales and Marketing from February 2000. From 1976 through 1998, he held
various financial, production and business management positions at Union Carbide, including the
Carbon Products Division, from 1976 to 1979. We are the successor to the Carbon Products
Division of Union Carbide.
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Scott C. Mason became President of our synthetic graphite line of business in
January 2003. From February 2001 through December 2002, he was Executive Vice President of
our former Advanced Energy Technology Division. He served as Chief Financial Officer and
Vice President of AET and our Director of Mergers and Acquisitions from April 2000 to
March 2001. Prior to joining us, Mr. Mason was Vice President-Supply Chain Logistics for
Union Carbide. From 1996 to 1999, Mr. Mason served as Director of Operations and then as
Business Director for the Unipol Polymers Business of Union Carbide. Mr. Mason served from
1981 to 1996 in various financial, sales and marketing, operations and mergers and acquisition
management positions at Union Carbide. He began his career in 1981 in the Chemicals and
Plastics Division of Union Carbide.

John J. Wetula became President of our natural graphite line of business in
January 2003. From July 1999 to December 2002, he served as President of AET. From
July 1998 to June 1999, he served as our Director of Export Sales. From October 1996 to
June 1998, he was General Manager of our GRAFOIL® product line. He is a chemu:al
engineering and MBA graduate of Cleveland State University.

Corrado F. De Gasperis became Chief Financial Officer in May 2001 in addition to his
duties as Vice President and Chief Information Officer, which he assumed in February 2000. He
served as Controller from June 1998 to February 2000. From 1987 through June 1998, he was
with KPMG LLP, most recently as Senior Assurance Manager in the Manufacturing, Retail and
Distribution Practice. KPMG had announced his admittance into their partnership effective
July 1, 1998.

Karen G. Narwold became Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary in
September 1999 and also assumed responsibility for the human resources department effective
January 2002. She joined our Law Department in July 1990 and served as Assistant General
Counsel from June 1995 to January 1999 and Deputy General Counsel from January 1999 to
September 1999. She was an associate with Cummings & Lockwood from 1986 to 1990.

Directors

Gilbert E. Playford has been a director since 1998. Mr. Playford has served as the
Chairman of the Board since September 1999. Mr. Playford served as Chief Executive Officer
from June 1998 through December 2002 and as President from June 1998 until May 2002. From
January 2003 until his retirement in June 2003, Mr. Playford served as Chairman of the Board in
an executive capacity, Mr. Playford joined Union Carbide in 1972 and held various management
positions, including Treasurer and Principal Financial Officer, until he resigned in January 1996.
In his capacity as Principal Financial Officer of Union Carbide, he also served as a nominee of
Union Carbide on GrafTech’s Board of Directors from 1992 until our leveraged equity
recapitalization in January 1995. Mr. Playford is currently a director and non-executive Deputy
Chairman of LionOre Mining International Ltd.

R. Eugene Cartledge has been a director since 1996. From 1986 until his retirement in
1994, Mr., Cartledge was the Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Union Camp
Corporation. Mr. Cartledge retired as Chairman of the Board of Savannah Foods &
Industries Inc. in December 1997, and retired as a director of Delta Airlines, Inc. and
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Sunoco, Inc. in May 2002. He is currently a director of Formica Corporation and Blount
International, Inc., and President of the Cartledge Foundation.

Mary B. Cranston has been a director since 2000. Ms. Cranston is a partner and has
served since 1999 as Chairperson of Pillsbury Winthrop LLP, an international law firm.
Ms. Cranston is based in San Francisco, California. Ms. Cranston has been practicing complex
litigation, including antitrust, telecommunications and securities litigation, with Pillsbury
Winthrop LLP since 1975. She is a director of the San Francisco Chamber of Commerce, the
Bay Area Council and the Commonwealth Club, and a trustee of the San Francisco Ballet and
Stanford University.

John R. Hall has been a director since 1995. Mr. Hall was Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer of Ashland Inc. from 1981 until his retirement in January 1997 and
September 1996, respectively. Mr. Hall had served in various engineering and managerial
capacities at Ashland Inc. since 1957. He retired as Chairman of Arch Coal Inc. in 1998. He
served as a director of Reynolds Metals Company from 1985 to 2000. Mr. Hall currently serves
as a member of the Boards of Bank One Corporation, Humana Inc. and USEC Inc. Mr. Hall
graduated from Vanderbilt University in 1955 with a degree in Chemical Engineering and later
served as Vanderbilt’s Board Chairman from 1995 to 1999. Mr. Hall also serves as Chairman of
the Blue Grass Community Foundation and the Commonwealth Fund for Kentucky Educational
Television, and as President of the Markey Cancer Center Foundation.

Harold E. Layman has been a director since 2003. From 2001 until his retirement in
2002, Mr. Layman was President and Chief Executive Officer of Blount International, Inc. Prior
thereto, Mr. Layman served in other capacities with Blount International, including President and
Chief Operating Officer from 1999 to 2001, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer from 1997 to 2000, and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 1993 to
1997. From 1981 through 1992, he held various financial management positions with VME
Group/Volvo AB. From 1970 to 1980, Mr. Layman held various operations and financial
management positions with Ford Motor Company. He is currently a director of Blount
International, Grant Prideco, Inc., Infinity Property and Casualty Corporation and Von Hoffman
Holdings Inc.

Ferrell P. McClean has been a director since 2002. Ms. McClean was a Managing
Director and Senior Advisor to the head of the Global Oil & Gas Group in Investment Banking
at J.P. Morgan Chase & Co. from 2000 through the end of 2001. She joined J.P. Morgan & Co.
Incorporated in 1969 and founded the Leveraged Buyout and Restructuring Group within the
Mergers & Acquisitions Group in 1986. From 1991 until 2000, Ms. McClean was a Managing
Director and co-headed the Global Energy Group within the Investment Banking Group at J.P.
Morgan & Co. Ms. McClean is currently a director of Unocal Corporation.

Michael C. Nahl has been a director since 1999. Mr. Nahl is Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of Albany International Corporation, a manufacturer of paper machine
clothing, which are the belts of fabric that carry paper stock through the paper production
process. Mr. Nahl joined Albany International Corporation in 1981 as Group Vice President,
Corporate and was appointed to his present position in 1983. Mr. Nahl is currently a director of
Lindsay Manufacturing Co. 4 : |
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NYSE Certification

Mr. Shular, Chief Executive Officer and President, has certified to the NYSE, pursuant to
Section 303A.12 of the NYSE’s listing standards, that he is unaware of any violation by us of the
"NYSE’s corporate governance listing standards as of the date of this Report.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K
(a)(1) Financial Statements

See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements at page 110 of this Report.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules
None.
(b) Reports on Form §-K
The following report on Form 8-K was filed during the 2004 fourth quarter.

(1) Current Report on Form 8-K dated October-1, 2003, filed with the SEC on
October 2, 2003.

(c) Exhibits

The exhibits listed in the following table have been filed with this Report.

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibit

2.1.0(1) Recapitalization and Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of
November 14, 1994 among Union Carbide Corporation, Mitsubishi
Corporation, GrafTech International Ltd. and GrafTech International
Acquisition Inc. and Guaranty made by Blackstone Capital Partners II
Merchant Banking Fund L.P. and Blackstone Offshore Capital Partners II
L.P.

2.2.0(2) Amended and Restated Stockholders® Agreement dated as of February 29,

1996 among Blackstone Capital Partners I Merchant Banking Fund L.P.,
Blackstone Offshore Capital Partners II L.P., Blackstone Family Investment
Partnership Il L.P., Chase Equity Associates and GrafTech International Ltd.

2.3.0(1) Exchange Agreement dated as of December 15, 1993 by and among Union
Carbide Corporation, Union Carbide Chemicals and Plastics Company Inc.,
Mitsubishi Corporation and GrafTech International Ltd.

2.4.0(1) Stock Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of November 9, 1990 among
Mitsubishi Corporation, Union Carbide Corporation and UCAR Carbon
Company Inc.
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Exhibit
Number

2.5.0(1)

2.6.0(1)
2.7.0(1)
2.7.1(1)
2.7.2(1)
2.7.3(1)

2.8.0(1)

2.9.0(1)

2.9.1(1)

2.10.0(4)

2.11.0(1)
2.11.1(1)
2.11.2(1)

2.12.0(1)

3.1.003)

3.1.1(9)
3.1.2(17)

31321

3.2.0(19)

Description of Exhibit

Letter Agreement dated January 26, 1995 with respect to termination of the
Stockholders’ Agreement dated as of November 9, 1990 among Mitsubishi
Corporation, Union Carbide Corporation and UCAR Carbon Company Inc.
Settlement Agreement dated as of November 30, 1993 among Mitsubishi
Corporation, Union Carbide Corporation and UCAR Carbon Company Inc.
Transfer Agreement dated January 1, 1989 between Union Carbide
Corporation and UCAR Carbon Company Inc.

Amendment No. 1 to such Transfer Agreement dated December 31, 1989.
Amendment No. 2 to such Transfer Agreement dated July 2, 1990.
Amendment No. 3 to such Transfer Agreement dated as of February 25,
1991.

Amended and Restated Realignment Indemnification Agreement dated as of
June 4, 1992 among Union Carbide Corporation, Union Carbide Chemicals
and Plastics Company Inc., Union Carbide Industrial Gases Inc., UCAR
Carbon Company Inc. and Union Carbide Coatings Service Corporation.
Environmental Management Services and Liabilities Allocation Agreement
dated as of January 1, 1990 among Union Carbide Corporation, Union
Carbide Chemicals and Plastics Company Inc., UCAR Carbon Company
Inc., Union Carbide Industrial Gases Inc. and Union Carblde Coatlngs
Serv1ce Corporation.

Amendment No. 1 to such Env1ronmental Management Services and
Liabilities Allocation Agreement dated as of June 4, 1992.

Trade Name and Trademark License Agreement dated March 1, 1996
between Union Carbide Corporation and UCAR Carbon Technology
Corporation.

Employee Benefit Services and Liabilities Agreement dated January 1, 1990
between Union Carbide Corporation and UCAR Carbon Company Inc.
Amendment to such Employee Benefit Services and Liabilities Agreement
dated January 15, 1991.

Supplemental Agreement to such Employee Benefit Services and Liabilities
Agreement dated February 25, 1991.

Letter Agreement dated December 31, 1990 among Union Carbide
Chemicals and Plastics Company Inc., UCAR Carbon Company Inc., Union
Carbide Grafito, Inc. and Union Carbide Corporation.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of GrafTech International
Ltd.

Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock.
Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of GrafTech International Ltd.

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation of GrafTech International Ltd.

Amended and Restated By-Laws of GrafTech International Ltd. dated
December 13, 2002,
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Exhibit
Number

4.1.0(16)

41.1(17)

4.2.0(16)

42.1(17)

4.3.0*

4.4.009)

4.4.1(16)
4.4.2(18)
4.5.0%

10.1.0(11)

10.1.1(12)
10.1.2(13)
10.1.3(13)
10.1.4(16)
10.1.5(16)
10.1.6(17)
10.1.7*

10.1.8*

Description of Exhibit

Indenture dated as of February 15, 2002 among GrafTech Finance Inc.,
GrafTech International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., UCAR
Carbon Company Inc., and the Subsidiary Guarantors from time to time
party thereto and State Street Bank and Trust Company, as Trustee.

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 30, 2002, among UCAR
Finance Inc., GrafTech International Ltd. (formerly known as UCAR
International Inc.), UCAR Global Enterprises Inc., UCAR Carbon Company
Inc., UCAR Composites Inc., UCAR Carbon Technology LL.C, UCAR
Holdings III Inc. and UCAR International Trading Inc. and State Street Bank
and Trust Company.

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of February 15, 2002 among
GrafTech International Ltd., each of the Subsidiaries listed therein, Credit
Suisse First Boston Corporation, J.P. Morgan Securities Inc., ABN AMRO
Incorporated, Fleet Securities Inc. and Scotial Capital (USA) Inc.
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of May 6, 2002 among GrafTech
International Ltd. (formerly known as UCAR International Inc.), each of the
Subsidiaries listed therein, Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation and J.P.
Morgan Securities Inc.

Indenture dated as of January 22, 2004 among GrafTech International Ltd.,
GrafTech Finance Inc., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., UCAR Carbon
Company Inc., UCAR International Trading Inc. and UCAR Carbon
Technology LLC and U.S. Bank National Association.

Rights Agreement dated as of August 7, 1998 between GrafTech
International Ltd. and The Bank of New York, as Rights Agent.
Amendment No. 1 to such Rights Agreement dated as of November 1, 2000.
Amendment No. 2 to such Rights Agreement dated as of May 21, 2002.
Resale Registration Rights Agreement dated January 22, 2004 among
GrafTech International Ltd., the guarantors listed therein, and J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc.

Credit Agreement dated as of February 22, 2000 among GrafTech
International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc.,
the LC Subsidiaries from time to time party hereto, the Lenders from time to
time party thereto, and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, as
Administrative Agent.

First Amendment to such Credit Agreement dated as of October 11, 2000.
Second Amendment to such Credit Agreement dated as of April 25, 2001.
Third Amendment to such Credit Agreement dated as of July 10, 2001.
Forth Amendment to such Credit Agreement dated as of December 6, 2001.
Fifth Amendment to such Credit Agreement dated as of January 18, 2002.
Sixth Amendment to such Credit Agreement dated as of February 22, 2000.
Seventh Amendment to such Credit Agreement dated as of September 19,
2003. :

Eighth Amendment to such Credit Agreement dated as of January 12, 2004.
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Exhibit
Number

10.2.0(16)

10.2.1(17)

10.3.0(11)

10.4.0(11)

10.5.0(11)

10.6.0(11)

10.7.0(11)

10.8.0(16)
10.9.0(20)
10.10.0(1)

(9)(20)
10.11.0(20)

...

____—

Description of Exhibit

Reaffirmation Agreement dated as of February 15, 2002 among GrafTech
International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance, Inc.,
each Subsidiary Loan Party named therein, each LC Subsidiary named
therein and JPMorgan Chase Bank as Administrative Agent and Collateral
Agent under the Credit Agreement.

Reaffirmation Agreement, dated as of May 6, 2002, among UCAR Finance
Inc., GrafTech International Ltd. (formerly known as UCAR International
Inc.), UCAR Global Enterprises Inc., UCAR Carbon Company Inc., UCAR
Composites Inc., UCAR Carbon Technology LLC, UCAR Holdings 111 Inc.
and UCAR International Trading Inc. and State Street Bank and Trust
Company.

Guarantee Agreement dated as of February 22, 2000 made by GrafTech
International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc.
and each Domestic Subsidiary party thereto in favor of Morgan Guaranty
Trust Company of New York, as Collateral Agent for the Secured Parties.
Security Agreement dated as of February 22, 2000 made by GrafTech
International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc.
and the subsidiaries of GrafTech from time to time party thereto, in favor of
Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, as Collateral Agent for the
Secured Parties.

Indemnity, Subrogation and Contribution Agreement dated as of February
22,2000 among GrafTech International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises
Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc., each of the Domestic Subsidiaries party thereto
and Morgan. Guaranty Trust Company of New York, as Collateral Agent for
the Secured Parties.

Domestic Pledge Agreement dated as of February 22, 2000 by GrafTech
International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., GrafTech Finance Inc.
and the direct and indirect subsidiaries of GrafTech that are signatories
thereto in favor of Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York as
Collateral Agent for the Secured Parties.

Intellectual Property Security Agreement dated as of February 22, 2000
made by GrafTech International Ltd., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc.,
GrafTech Finance Inc. and the subsidiaries of GrafTech from time to time
party thereto in favor of Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, as
Collateral Agent for the Secured Parties.

Pledge Agreement dated as of February 15, 2002, by UCAR SA in favor of
GrafTech Finance Inc.

GrafTech International Ltd. Management Stock Incentive Plan (Ongmal
Version) as-amended and restated through July 31, 2003.

Forms of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement.

GrafTech International Ltd. Management Stock Incentive Plan (Senior
Version) as amended and restated through July 31, 2003.
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Exhibit
Number

10.12.0(19)
(20)
10.13.0(20)
10.14.0(20)
10.15.0(20)
10.16.0*
10.17.0(11)
10.18.0(9)
10.18.1(19)

10.19.0(9)
10.20.0(14)

10.21.0*
10.22.0*
10.23.0*
10.24.0*
10.25.0(8)
10.25.1(14)
10.25.2(15)
10.25.3(18)
10.26.0(7)

10.27.0(13)

Description of Exhibit

Forms of Restricted Stock Agreement.

GrafTech International Ltd. Management Stock Incentive Plan (Mid-
Management Version) as amended and restated through July 31, 2003.
GrafTech International Ltd. 1995 Equity Incentive Plan as amended and
restated through July 31, 2003.

GrafTech International Ltd. 1996 Mid-Management Equity Incentive Plan as
amended and restated through July 31, 2003.

GrafTech International Ltd. Compensation Deferral Program effective
March 31, 2003.

GrafTech International Ltd. Management Incentive Plan amended and
restated as of January 1, 1999.

GrafTech International Ltd. Executive Employee Stock Purchase Program
(Senior Management Version).

GrafTech International Ltd. Executive Employee Stock Purchase Program
(Mid-Management Version).

GrafTech International Ltd. Executive Employee Loan Program.

Forms of Severance Compensation Agreement for senior management (U.S.
Version and International Version).

UCAR Carbon Company Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan amended and
restated as of March 31, 2003.

UCAR Carbon Company Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan
amended and restated as of March 31, 2003.

UCAR Carbon Company Inc. Enhanced Retirement Income Plan amended
and restated as of March 31, 2003.

UCAR Carbon Company Inc. Benefits Protection Trust amended and
restated as of August 1, 2003.

Employment Agreement dated as of June 22, 1998 between GrafTech
International Ltd. and Gilbert E. Playford.

Restricted Stock Agreement dated as of January 1, 2000 between GrafTech
International Ltd. and Gilbert E. Playford.

Amendment to such Employment Agreement and Restricted Stock
Agreement dated as of August 25, 2001.

Letter amending such Employment Agreement and Restricted Stock
Agreement dated as of July 22, 2002.

Plea Agreement between the United States of America and GrafTech
International Ltd. executed April 7, 1998.

Outsourcing Services Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2001, effective
April 2001, between CGI Information Systems and Management
Consultants, Inc. and GrafTech International Ltd. (Confidential treatment
requested as to certain portions.)
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" Exhibit
Number , Description of Exhibit

10.28.0(13)  Joint Development and Collaboration Agreement, effective June 5, 2001,
among UCAR Carbon Company Inc., Advanced Energy Technology Inc.,
and Ballard Power Systems Inc. (Confidential treatment requested as to
certain portions.)

10.29.0(13)  Master Supply Agreement, effectlve June 5, 2001 between UCAR Carbon
Company Inc. and Ballard Power Systems Inc. (Conﬁdentlal treatment
requested as to certain portions.)

10.30.0(13) Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2001, between ConocoPhﬂhps Limited
and UCAR S.A. (Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions.)

10.31.0(13)  Agreement, effective as of January 1, 2001, between Cononco Inc. and
UCAR Carbon Company Inc. and UCAR S.A. (Confidential treatment
requested as to certain portions.)

21.1.0% List of subsidiaries of GrafTech International Ltd.

23.1.0% - Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP. :

24.1.0* Powers of Attorney (included on signature pages). :

31.1%* Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, by
Craig S. Shular, Chief Executive Officer and President. ,

31.2% Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by
Corrado F. De Gasperis, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Information Officer.

32.1%* Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by
Craig S. Shular, Chief Executive Officer and President.

32.2% Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by -

Corrado F. De Gasperis, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Information Officer.

*  Filed herewith.

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement of GrafTech International Ltd. and
GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc. on Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-84850).

(2) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1995 (File No. 1-13888).

(3) Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement of the registrant on Form S-1
(Registration No. 33-94698).

(4) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
guarter ended March 31, 1996 (File No. 1-13888).

(5) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 1996 (File No. 1-13888).

(6) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 1997 (File No. 1-13888).

(7) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 1998 (File No. 1-13888).

(8) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1997 (File No. 1-13888).
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(9) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1998 (File No. 1-13888),

(10) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 1999 (File No. 1-13888).

(11) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1999 (File No. 1-13888).

(12) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2000 (File No. 1-13888).

(13) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2001 (File No. 1-13888).

(14) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2000 (File No. 1-13888).

(15) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2001 (File No. 1-13888).

(16) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2001 (File No. 1-3888).

(17) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2002 (File No. 1-13888).

(18) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2002 (File No. 1-13888). '

(19) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report of the registrant on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2002 (File No. 1-13888).

(20) Incorporated by reference to the Registration Statement of the registrant on Form S-3
(Registration No. 333-108039).

(21) Incorporated by reference to the Quarterly Report of the registrant on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2003 (File No. 1-13888).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

GRAFTECH INTERNATIONAL LTD.

March 15, 2004 By: /s/ Corrado F. De Gasperis
Corrado F. De Gasperis
Title: Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Chief Information Officer-.--

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each individual whose signature
appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Craig S. Shular, Corrado F. De Gasperis and
Karen G. Narwold, and each of them individually, his or her true and Jawful agent, proxy and
attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him-or her and in his or
her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to (i) act on, sign and file with the Securities
and Exchange Commission any and all amendments to this Report together with all schedules
and exhibits thereto, (ii) act on, sign and file with the Securities and Exchange Commission any
and all exhibits to this Report and any and all exhibits and schedules thereto, (iii) act on, sign and
file any and all such certificates, notices, communications, reports, instruments, agreements and
other documents as may be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith and (iv) take any
and all such actions which may be necessary or appropriate in connection therewith, granting
unto such agents, proxies and attorneys-in-fact, and each of them individually, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing necessary or appropriate to be done, as
fully for all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, and hereby approving,
ratifying and confirming all that such agents, proxies and attorneys-in-fact, any of them or any of
his, her or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has
been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.

Signatures Title Date
/s/ Craig S. Shular Chief Executive Officer and March 15, 2004
Craig S. Shular President and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Corrado F. De Gasperis ~ Vice President, Chief March 15, 2004
Corrado F. De Gasperis Financial Officer and Chief
Information Officer (Principal
Accounting Officer)

197




Signatures

/s/ Gilbert E. Playford

Gilbert E. Playford

/s/ R. Eugene Cartledge

R. Eugene Cartledge

/s/ Mary B. Cranston

Mary B. Cranston

/s/ John R. Hall

John R. Hall

/s/ Harold E. Layfnan

Harold E. Layman

/s/ Ferrell P. McClean

Ferrell P. McClean -

/s/ Michael C. Nahl

Michael C. Nahl

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Title
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Date

March 15, 2004

March 15, 2004

March 15, 2004
March 15, 2004
March 15, 2004
March 15, 2004

March 15, 2004




Exhibit
Number
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4.5.0

10.1.7

10.1.8
10.16.0

10.21.0
10.22.0
10.23.0
- 10.24.0
211.0
23.1.0
24.1.0
311

31.2

32.1

32.2

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description of Exhibit

Indenture dated as of January 22, 2004 among GrafTech International Ltd.,
GrafTech Finance Inc., GrafTech Global Enterprises Inc., UCAR Carbon
Company Inc., UCAR International Trading Inc. and UCAR Carbon
Technology LLC and U.S. Bank National Association.

Resale Registration Rights Agreement dated January 22, 2004 among
GrafTech International Ltd., the guarantors listed therein, and J.P. Morgan
Securities Inc.

Seventh Amendment to such Credit Agreement dated as of September 19,
2003.

Eighth Amendment to such Credit Agreement dated as of January 12, 2004.
GrafTech International Ltd. Compensation Deferral Program effective
March 31, 2003.

UCAR Carbon Company Inc. Equalization Benefit Plan amended and
restated as of March 31, 2003.

UCAR Carbon Company Inc. Supplemental Retirement Income Plan
amended and restated as of March 31, 2003.

UCAR Carbon Company Inc. Enhanced Retirement Income Plan amended
and restated as of March 31, 2003.

- UCAR Carbon Company Inc Benefits Protection Trust amended and

restated as of August 1, 2003.

List of subsidiaries of GrafT ech International Ltd.

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Powers of Attorney (included on signature pages).

Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by
Craig S. Shular, Chief Executive Officer and President.

Certification pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by
Corrado F. De Gasperis, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Information Officer. .

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by
Craig S. Shular, Chief Executive Officer and President.

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by

~ Corrado F. De Gasperis, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Chief

Information Officer.
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